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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED December 31, 2010

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File Number: 000-50910
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(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 80-010315¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
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311 Veterans Highway, Suite E
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:
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Common Units The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a walbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c06#turities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act.  Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Secti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastl@s. Yes[X] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant liésnstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥atb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pumtsto Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8232.405 of dtiapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). YEk No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ ocontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge]dfinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part 1l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting

company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited’, “accelerated filer”, and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act (Check one):

Large accelerated filel] Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer J Smaller reporting company
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compa

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsiell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes O No

The aggregate market value of the common units nelibn-affiliates of the registrant was approxieta$243.9 million as of June 30,
2010 based on $20.50 per unit, the closing pridh@tommon units as reported on the NASDAQ Gl&méct Market on that date.1

The number of the registrant’s outstanding comnmatswat March 29, 2011 was 19,337,588.
Documents incorporated by reference: None

1 The aggregate market value of the common unitfogd above equals the number of the registrasdfemon units outstanding, reduced by the numbeowfmon units held by
executive officers, directors and persons owning Hd more of the registrant’'s common units, mukiglby the last reported sale price for the regigts common units on June 30,
2010, the last day of the registrant’'s most regerdimpleted second fiscal quarter. The informagioovided shall in no way be construed as an adorigbiat any person whose
holdings are excluded from this figure is an aifii of the registrant or that any person whoseimgddare included in this figure is not an affdiaf the registrant and any such
admission is hereby disclaimed. The informatiorvzted herein is included solely for record keepmngposes of the Securities and Exchange Commis
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EXPLANATORY NOTE REGARDING RESTATEMENT

This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2010 includes restatemenedbldowing previously filed
consolidated financial statements and data (amdeeidisclosures): (1) our consolidated balancetsired the related consolidated statemer
operations, partners’ capital, and cash flowslierfiscal year ended December 31, 2009 and theagaanded June 30, 2009, September 30,
2009 and September 30, 2010; (2) our selecteddiabdata as of and for our fiscal year ended Ddmar31, 2009, located in Part Il, Item 6 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K; (3) our managerisetiiscussion and analysis of financial conditiowl aesults of operations as of and for
our fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, contam®art Il, Item 7 of this Annual Report on FormK&fQand (4) our unaudited quarterly
financial information for the quarters ended JuBe2D09, September 30, 2009 and September 30,iaNdte 16, “Quarterly Results of
Operations (Unaudited)” of the Notes to Consoliddtamancial Statements in Part Il, Item 8 of thisnr®&al Report on Form 10-K.

We have completed our review of long-term operatiggeements that we entered into that allow upésaie cemeteries on behalf of
certain not-for-profit entities. At the time we ergd into these contracts in 2009 and 2010 wemalighat the relevant accounting guidance
required that we consolidate the assets and li@silof these entities. A subsequent review ofitheature has led us to conclude that only
certain of the assets should be consolidated a@ablafinterest-Entities while others should not.sieh, we reversed the consolidation of
Accounts receivable, Cemetery property and Propertyequipment of the six entities regarding wihighentered into long-term operating
agreements with in 2009 and 2010. Additionally,rerersed the non-cash gain that was recognizdwiperiod of consolidation and reversed
the non-cash cost of land sold and the depreciagilatied to the assets that we did not consolidate.

As a result of this review, we have concluded thatcosts that we paid and the liabilities thatassumed to enter into these operating
agreements should have been included within otbsata on our consolidated balance sheet and aptbdizr the term of the contract.

Financial information included in the Annual RepontForm 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10#@d fby us for the periods ended
June, 30, 2009, September 30, 2009, December 89, &td September 30, 2010, and all earnings, peéessses, and similar communications
issued by us for those periods, should not bedelgn and are superseded in their entirety byAhisual Report on Form 10-K.

For more information regarding the restatemengg#erefer to Part Il, Iltem 6, “Selected Financiatd); Part I, Iltem 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations”; Note 18, “Restatement ofddeber 31, 2009 Consolidated
Financial Statements,” and Note 16, “Quarterly Resaf Operations (Unaudited)df the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemengairt 11,
Item 8; and Part Il, Item 9/ Controls and Procedur’ of this Annual Report on Form -K.
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Iltem 1.—Business
Overview

We were formed as a Delaware limited partnershifydril 2004 to own and operate the assets and bases previously owned and
operated by Cornerstone Family Services, Inc., (f€stone”), which was converted into CFSI LLCinaited liability company, prior to our
initial public offering of common units represergilimited partner interests on September 20, 2Q@4nerstone had been founded in 1999 by
members of our management team and a private eiquiggtment firm, which we refer to as McCown Desle (which transferred certain of
its interests to MDC IV Trust U/T/A November 30,121) MDC IV Associates Trust U/T/A November 30, 2Gi@l Delta Trust U/T/A
November 30, 2010 and may also be referred toee“MDC |V Liquidating Trusts”), in order to acquiregroup of 123 cemetery properties
and 4 funeral homes.

We are currently the second largest owner and tpesécemeteries in the United States. As of Ddwen31, 2010, we operated 257
cemeteries in 25 states and Puerto Rico. We owro28&se cemeteries, and we manage or operatertia@ning 21 under management or
operating agreements with the nonprofit cemeterpam@tions that own the cemeteries. As of Decer8theR010, we also owned and operated
58 funeral homes in 17 states and Puerto Ricotyrhine of these funeral homes are located on thengls of the cemeteries that we own.

The cemetery products and services that we sdlldache following:

Interment Rights Merchandise Services
* burial lots * burial vaults « installation of burial vaults
* lawn crypts » caskets « installation of caskets
* mausoleum crypts » grave markers and grave marker « installation of other cemetery
* cremation niches bases merchandise
» perpetual care righ * memorials » other service item

We sell these products and services both at thes diindeath, which we refer to asreged, and prior to the time of death, which werrgd
as pre-need. Our sales of real property, inclubungal lots (with and without installed vaults)a and mausoleum crypts and cremation
niches, generate qualifying income sufficient ferta be treated as a partnership for federal inclameurposes. In 2010, we performed 41,556
burials and sold 28,008 interment rights (net afoedlations). Based on our sales of interment spac2010, our cemeteries have an
aggregated weighted average remaining sales li260fyears.

Our cemetery properties are located in Alabamafd®aia, Colorado, Delaware, Georgia, Hawaii, itlis, Indiana, lowa, Kansas,
Kentucky, Maryland, Michigan, Missouri, New JersBjgrth Carolina, Ohio, Oregon, Pennsylvania, PuRitm, Rhode Island, South Carolii
Tennessee, Virginia, Washington and West Virgi@iae cemetery in Hawaii that we acquired in Decen2087 is still awaiting regulatory
approval and has not yet been conveyed to us. @uetery operations accounted for approximately%®787.1% and 86.9% of our revenues
in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Our primary funeral home products are caskets aladed items. Our funeral home services includesalvation, the removal and
preparation of remains, and the use of funeral hfawiéties for visitation and prayer services.

Our funeral homes are located in Alabama, ArkanSasifornia, Florida, lllinois, Indiana, Kansas, Mand, Missouri, Ohio, Oregon,
Pennsylvania, Puerto Rico, South Carolina, Tenmeséeginia, Washington and West Virginia. Our fualehome revenues accounted for
approximately 12.9%, 12.9% and 13.1% of our revenn&010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Our funeoahe operations are conducted
through various wholly-owned subsidiaries thatteeated as corporations for U.S. federal incomeptaposes.
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Operations
Segment Reporting and Related Information

We have five distinct reportable segments whichctassified as Cemetery Operations—Southeast, @eyn@perations—Northeast,
Cemetery Operations—West, Funeral Homes, and Catgor

We have chosen this level of organization and djssgation of reportable segments due to the fattaheach reportable segment has
unique characteristics that set it apart from ofl@gments; b) we have organized our managemermtrpesisat these operational levels; and c) it
is the level at which our chief decision makers atiter senior management evaluate performance.

Our Cemetery Operations segments sell intermehts,igaskets, burial vaults, cremation niches, Brarand other cemetery related
merchandise. The nature of our customers diffeesazh of our regionally based Cemetery Operatiegments. Cremation rates in the West
region are substantially higher than they are @Sbutheast region. Rates in the Northeast regiwhto be somewhere between the two.
Statistics indicate that customers who select ctiemaervices have certain attributes that diffenf customers who select other methods of
interment. The disaggregation of cemetery operatioto the three distinct regional segments is arity due to these differences in customer
attributes along with the previously mentioned nggamaent structure and senior management analysiwdmbgies.

Our Funeral Homes segment offers a range of fummelaled services such as family consultation réimeoval of and preparation of
remains and the use of funeral home facilities/fsitation and prayer services. These servicesliatectly different than the cemetery
merchandise and services sold and provided by éme@ry Operations segments.

Our Corporate segment includes various home offéting and administrative expenses that are thotale to the other operating
segments.

Cemetery Operations

Our cemetery operations include sales of cemetgeyrent rights, merchandise and services anddifermance of cemetery
maintenance and other services. An interment eglitles a customer to a burial space in one otteuneteries and the perpetual care of that
burial space. Burial spaces, or lots, are pardgisaperty that hold interred human remains. Ounegries require a burial vault be placed in
each burial lot. A burial vault is a rectangulantaner, usually made of concrete but also madses or plastic, which sits in the burial lot
in which the casket is placed. The top of the bwaalt is buried approximately 18 to 24 inchesdvethe surface of the ground, and the casket
is placed inside the vault. Burial vaults prevertund settling that otherwise occurs when a casleeed directly in the ground begins to decay
creating uneven ground surface. Ground settlingcaty results in higher maintenance costs andeased potential liability for slip-and-fall
accidents on the property. Lawn crypts are a sefieksely spaced burial lots with preinstallediks and other improvements, such as
landscaping, sprinkler systems and drainage. A olaus crypt is an above-ground structure that meagdsigned for a particular customer,
which we refer to as a private mausoleum; or it i@y larger building that serves multiple custanethich we refer to as a community
mausoleum. Cremation niches are spaces in whicadhes remaining after cremation, sometimes reféoras cremains, are stored. Crems
niches are often part of community mausoleumspatih we sell a variety of cremation niches to acomaiate our customers’ preferences.

Grave markers, monuments and memorials are abaeydmproducts that serve as memorials by showingiszhemembered, the dates
of birth and death and other pertinent informatibimese markers, monuments and memorials includelsiplates, such as those used in a
community mausoleum or cremation niche, flush--gfnound granite or bronze markers, headstones@e ktone obelisks.

2



Table of Contents

One of the principal services we provide at our etmies is an “opening and closing,” which is tiggahg and refilling of burial spaces
to install the vault and place the casket intovielt. With pre-need sales, there are usually tpenings and closings. During the initial
opening and closing, we install the burial vaulthie burial space. We usually perform this sergitertly after the customer signs a pre-need
contract. Advance installation allows us to withgrte related funds from our merchandise trustkimgethe amount in excess of our cost to
purchase and install the vault available to ustber uses, and eliminates future merchandisangustquirements for the burial vault and its
installation. During the final opening and closimg remove the dirt above the vault, open thefithe vault, place the casket into the vault,
close the vault lid and replace the ground coveth\W-need sales, we typically perform the inibgkening and closing at the time we perform
the final opening and closing. Our other servicedude the installation of other cemetery merchsmdind the perpetual care related to
interment rights.

As of December 31, 2010, we provided services to&tieteries under management or operating agreeméhtthe nonprofit cemetery
corporations that own the cemeteries. These noigeheteries are organized as such either bectatgelaw requires cemetery properties to
be owned by nonprofit entities, such as in Newelerer because they were originally establishedoaprofit entities. We have voting rights,
along with member owners of burial spaces, in the lew Jersey nonprofit cemeteries as a reswtwafing all of their outstanding certificates
of indebtedness or interest. To obtain the bepnéfirofessional management services, the remaitngonprofit cemeteries have entered into
agreements with us. The agreements under whichperate these 21 nonprofit cemeteries generally teawes ranging from 3 to 40 years (but
some are subject to early termination rights arliyations) and provide us with management or ofrggdees that approximate what we would
earn if we owned those cemeteries and held thdordiprofit entities.

Funeral Home Operations

As of December 31, 2010, we owned, operated andhaoraged 58 funeral homes, 31 of which are locaeithe grounds of cemetery
properties that we own. Our funeral homes offearsge of services to meet a family’s funeral negatdiiding family consultation, the removal
and preparation of remains, provision of casketsratated funeral merchandise, the use of funerailenfacilities for visitation, worship and
funeral services and transportation services. Rufieme operations primarily generate revenues fitbneed sales, for which there is a smi
potential customer base than pre-need sales, ardlda barriers to entry by competitors. By focgsprimarily on cemeteries and deriving
significant revenues from pre-need sales, we mizenour exposure to these types of challenges.

We purchase caskets from Thacker Caskets, Incruansiepply agreement that expires on December@B.2This agreement entitles us
to specified discounts on the price of casketggbugs Thacker Caskets, Inc. the right of first safuon all of our casket purchases. We do not
have minimum purchase requirements under this guggpkeement.

Cremation Products and Services

We operate crematories at some of our cemeterisieral homes, but our primary cremation operatiare sales of receptacles for
cremains, such as urns, and the inurnment of cremainiches or scattering gardens. While cremagiroducts and services usually cost less
than traditional burial products and services, thieyd higher margins on a percentage basis arelualess space than burials. We sell
cremation products and services on both a pre-aeddt-need basis.

Seasonality

The death care business is relatively stable aedigtable. Although we experience seasonal incesiasgeaths due to extreme weather
conditions and winter flu, these increases havehistorically had any significant impact on ouruks of operations. In addition, we perform
fewer initial openings and closings in the wintdrem the ground is frozen.
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Sales Contracts

Pre-need products and services are typically soldminstallment basis. At-need products and sesvéce generally required to be paid
for in full in cash by the customer at the timesafe. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysisrancial Condition and Results of
Operations—Operations—Cemetery Operations—Pre-Batxs” and “—At-need Sales” for a description of pre-need and at-need products
and services.

Trusts

Sales of cemetery products and services are subjectariety of state regulations. In accordanith these regulations, we are required
to establish and fund two types of trusts, mercisnlusts and perpetual care trusts, to ensutevéhaan meet our future obligations. Our
funding obligations are generally equal to a petaga of sales proceeds of the products and senvieesll. For a detailed discussion of these
trusts, see “Management’s Discussion and AnalysiSsrancial Condition and Results of Operations—sfing.”

Sales Personnel, Training and Marketing

As of December 31, 2010, we employed approximatély commissioned salespeople and 90 sales suppbtélemarketing employees.
We have eight regional sales managers coveringemeteries, who report to our Senior Vice PresidéSales. Individual salespersons are
typically located at the cemeteries they serverapdrt directly to the cemetery manager. We haveamastrong commitment to the ongoing
education and training of our sales force and kesg@&rson retention in order to ensure that ouloousrs receive the highest quality customer
service and to ensure compliance with all applieabtuirements. Our training program includes ctasa training at our headquarters, field
training, continuously updated training materiilattutilize media, such as the Internet, for intBva training and participation in industry
seminars. We place special emphasis on traininggpty sales managers, who are key elements tocessfal pre-need sales program.

We reward our salespeople with incentives for gatirey new customers. Sales force performance isiateal by sales budgets, sales mix
and closing ratios, which are equal to the numibeontracts written, divided by the number of preagons that are made. Substantially all of
our sales force is compensated based solely onrpahce. Commissions are augmented with varioussand incentive packages to ensu
high quality, motivated sales force. We pay comiuissto our sales personnel on pre-need contraseschupon a percentage of the value of
the underlying contracts. Such commissions vaneddimg upon the type of merchandise and servidds\&fe also pay commissions on at-
need contracts that are generally equal to a fpexdentage of the contract amount. In addition,etemy managers receive an override
commission that is equal to a percentage of thesgsales price of the contracts entered into bgdlespeople assigned to the cemeteries they
manage.

We generate sales leads through focused telemagkelirect mail, television advertising, funeraldav-up and sales force cold calling,
with the assistance of database mining and otheketiag resources. We have created a marketingrolegeat to allow us to use more
sophisticated marketing techniques to more effettifocus our telemarketing and direct sales effd®ales leads are referred to the sales force
to schedule an appointment, most often at the meste home. We believe these activities complylimaterial respects with legal
requirements.

Acquisitions and Long-Term Operating Agreements
2011

In January of 2011, we purchased three cemeteridsith Carolina for approximately $1.7 million aimdurred approximately $0.5
million of liabilities.
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2010
We completed four acquisitions during the year endecember 31, 2010 and entered into one long-tgrenating agreement.

The first acquisition took place in the first quarof the year and consisted of the acquisitioniné cemeteries in Michigan. We paid
approximately $14.0 million for these propertied &ave preliminarily assessed the fair value ofassets acquired at approximately $21.1
million, resulting in a gain on acquisition of $7illion.

The second acquisition took place in the secondteuaf the year and consisted of eight cemetenekfive funeral homes in Indiana,
Michigan and Ohio from state court-appointed reeeskips. The total consideration at closing was48&#llion, the components of which
were a) $10.4 million in cash; b) $12.5 milliondash to lend monies to the merchandise and pefpstteatrusts of these properties to fund
their current underfunded status; ¢) $5.8 milliocdommon units representing limited partner interésus; and d) $3.7 million in debt, valued
at fair value, which will be settled in future pmats.

We have preliminarily assessed the fair value ¢fissets acquired at approximately $13.5 milliesutting in goodwill of approximately
$18.9 million.

The third acquisition took place in the third qeanf the year and consisted of a single cemeteBennsylvania. We paid $1.5 million
for this cemetery and have preliminarily assesbeddir value of net assets acquired at approxim&te6 million, resulting in a gain on
acquisition of $0.1 million.

The long-term operating agreement (subject to tettamination rights) was entered into during thied quarter of 2010. Under the
terms of this agreement, we became the exclusieeatqr of three cemeteries in Michigan owned byArehdiocese of Detroit. Key terms and
conditions of the operating agreement include doetnot limited to, the following:

» There was no consideration paid by either pargffiect the execution of the agreeme

» The Archdiocese will pay us a fee in the amount$®5 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million durirthe first three years of the
agreement. This fee is in addition to any reveribaswe will earn from operating the property. Nonies will be transferred duri
Year 4. We will pay the Archdiocese a fee in an anmi@qual to 5% of revenues beginning in Year Salf@amounts paid are capg
at $0.3 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million dag years five through seven consecutiv

» The operating agreement is for a term of 40 yesarbsjéct to certain termination right
This agreement did not qualify as an acquisitianeftcounting purposes. We have consolidated trstiegimerchandise trust, which had

a fair value of approximately $3.5 million, as aighle interest entity as we will control and benfbm the operations of the trust. The results
of operations of these 3 cemeteries are includediimesults of operations from the date we begeanaiing the properties.

The fourth acquisition took place in the fourth gaaof the year and consisted of one cemeteryoaeduneral home in Kansas purche
out of receivership. We paid approximately $0.7liovil for these properties and have preliminarilgessed the fair value of net assets acquired
at approximately $0.2 million, resulting in goodigf $0.5 million.

2009

In 2009 we entered into, through certain of ourssdilaries, three long-term operating agreementsjéstito certain early termination
rights and obligations) wherein we have becomeeiutusive operator of the underlying cemetery lango of these agreements were entered
into during the second quarter of 2009, while thiedtwas entered into during the third quarter @92

5
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Total consideration paid for the rights acquiredemthese agreements was approximately $7.0 millibis consisted of $4.1 million in
cash, a note payable of $1.4 million, a commitntemhake capital improvements on one of the proge($0.8 million) and an agreement to
reimburse prior operators for certain liabiliti§®(9 million) offset by an agreement wherein wed véteive approximately $0.2 million over
the next four years. The agreement to reimburse pperators for certain liabilities does not ird#ua market rate of interest. The $0.9 million
consists of a notional amount of approximately $tilion offset by a discount of approximately $Ixlllion. The $0.2 million to be received
does not bear interest and is recorded on ourdiahstatements net of a discount of less than g0llion.

These agreements did not qualify as acquisitionadoounting purposes. We have consolidated tratiegimerchandise trusts and
perpetual care trusts, which had a fair value graximately $1.7 million and $6.3 million, respegtiy, as variable interest entities as we will
control and benefit from the operations of thetsuhe results of operations of these cemeteregaluded in our results of operations from
the date we began operating the properties.

2008

We made four acquisitions in 2008. The first acigjois took place during the first quarter of theay@and consisted of a single cemetery
(the “2008 First Quarter Acquisition”). The secaatjuisition took place in the third quarter of yle&r and consisted of six cemeteries and two
funeral homes (the “2008 Third Quarter Acquisitipahd the third and fourth acquisitions took placéhe fourth quarter of the year and
consisted of two cemeteries and one funeral hohee"@008 Fourth Quarter Acquisition”).

We paid $0.6 million in cash and $0.5 million immmon units representing limited partner interesthé sellers for the 2008 First
Quarter Acquisition. Including the acquisition tsaction costs, the transaction was valued at $ilidmfor accounting purposes.

We paid approximately $0.8 million in cash to tledless for the 2008 Third Quarter Acquisition. lading the acquisition transaction
costs, the transaction was valued at $1.4 mill@ratcounting purposes.

We paid approximately $1.6 million in cash to tleless for the 2008 Fourth Quarter Acquisition.lleing the acquisition transaction
costs, the transaction was valued at $1.8 millmretcounting purposes.

Competition

Our cemeteries and funeral homes generally serstemers that live within a 10- to 15-mile radiusagbroperty’s location. Within this
localized area, we face competition from other demes and funeral homes located in the area. bfastese cemeteries and funeral homes are
independently owned and operated, and most of thesers and operators are smaller than we are arelfewer resources than we do. We
generally face limited competition from the threglicly held death care companies that have U.8raifpns—Service Corporation
International, Stewart Enterprises, Inc. and Cgai8ervices, Inc.-as they do not directly operate cemeteries in dlneeslocal geographic are
where we operate.

Within a localized area of competition, we compatenarily for at-need sales because many of thepeddently owned, local
competitors either do not have pre-need sales anogor have pre-need programs that are not asagecehs ours. Most of these competitors
do not have as many of the resources that areadl@ilo us to launch and grow a substantial pretsaées program. The number of customers
that cemeteries and funeral homes are able tahitréargely a function of reputation and heritagiéhough competitive pricing, professional
service and attractive, well maintained and coreethy located facilities are also important factdrse sale of cemetery and funeral home
products and services on a pre-need basis haggicgly been used by many companies as an importarketing tool. Due to the importance
of reputation and heritage, increases in custorage lare usually gained over a long period of time.
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Competitors within a localized area have an adygntaver us if a potential customer’s family memtaesalready buried in the
competitor’'s cemetery. If any of the three publiosld death care companies operated, or in thecfutere to operate, cemeteries within close
proximity of our cemeteries, they may have a coitipetadvantage over us because they have graagarcial resources available to them
because of their size and access to the capit&latsar

We believe that we currently face limited competitfor cemetery acquisitions. The three publiclidldeath care companies identified
above have historically been the industry’s primeoysolidators but have largely curtailed cemegequisition activity since 1999.
Furthermore, these companies continue to genemraigaity of their revenues from funeral home ofieres. Based on the relative levels of
cemetery operations and funeral home operatiotizseathree publicly traded death care companies;iwaie disclosed in their SEC filings, we
believe that we are the only public death care @mgpghat focuses a significant portion of theioeff on cemetery operations.

Regulation
General

Our operations are subject to regulation, supemisind licensing under federal, state and locas haich impacts the goods and serv
that we may sell and the manner in which we magiflirgoods and services.

Cooling-Off Legislation

Each of the states where our current cemetery piepare located has “cooling-off” legislation vitespect to preeed sales of cemett
and funeral home products and services. This ksl requires us to refund proceeds frommeed sales contracts if canceled by the cust
for any reason within three to thirty days, or @rtain states until death, from the date of thereot, depending on the state (and some states
permit cancellation and require refund beyond tina¢). The Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, adsmires a cooling-off period of three
business days for door to door sales, during wtiiok a contract may be cancelled entitling a custotm refund of the funds paid.

Trusting

Sales of cemetery interment rights and pre-neeax$ sdlcemetery and funeral home merchandise amtssrare generally subject to
trusting requirements imposed by state laws in robtte states where we operate. See “Managemigtsission and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Trusting.”

Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z

Our pre-need installment contracts are subjedtedederal Truth-in-Lending Act, or TILA, and thegulations thereunder, which are
referred to as Regulation Z. TILA and Regulatioprédmote the informed use of consumer credit byiregus to disclose, among other
things, the annual percentage rate, finance chamggamount financed when extending credit to coress.

Other Consumer Credit-Related Laws and Regulations

As a provider of consumer credit and a businegsgisa@erally deals with consumers, we are subjecatimus other state and federal laws
covering matters, such as credit discrimination, ke of credit reports, identity theft, the hamgllof consumer information, consumer privacy,
debt collection, extensions of credit to servicamhers, and prohibitions on unfair or deceptivedrpthctices.
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The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Progction Act, or Dodd-Frank

Dodd-Frank, signed into law by President Obamauty 1, 2010, authorizes the creation of a newr@dgureau of Consumer Financial
Protection, or the Bureau. In addition to transfeyito the Bureau rule-writing authority for neadl federal consumer finangelated laws an
giving the Bureau rule-writing authority in otheeas, Dodd-Frank empowers the Bureau to conduchierdions and bring enforcement
actions against certain consumer credit providedsather entities offering consumer financial pratdwor services. The full impact of these
provisions on us may not be known until regulatiares promulgated. However, we could be subjeck&regnation by the Bureau in connect
with extending credit to consumers. We also co@dbject to enforcement actions by the Bureaalfeged violations of Federal consumer
financial laws, which would include the Bureau'sligpto seek penalties and other relief on belo@ltonsumers that are substantially in excess
of the remedies available under such laws pri@ddd-Frank. On July 21, 2011, the Bureau will dffity assume rule-writing and
enforcement authority for most federal consumearfoe laws, as well as authority to write rulesrmhbit unfair, deceptive or abusive
practices related to consumer finance.

Do Not Call Implementation Act

We are subject to the requirements of two fedaedlites governing telemarketing practices, thepgheae Consumer Protection Act, or
TCPA, and the Telemarketing and Consumer Frauddmde Prevention Act, or TCFAPA. These statutesosesignificant penalties on thc
who fail to comply with their mandates. The Fed&@ammunications Commission, or FCC, is the fedagaincy with authority to enforce the
TCPA, and the FTC, has jurisdiction under the TCRAPhe FTC has established and implemented a redtiomcall registry under the
TCFAPA. The legislation also establishes a privigbt of action for consumers against telemarketintties under certain circumstances. The
FCC has adopted regulations that largely mirrofR€’s no-call rules. Primarily as a result of implentation of the do not call legislation and
regulations, the percentage of our pre-need salesrgted from telemarketing leads has decreasestbsuially in the past ten years. We are
also subject to similar telemarketing consumerearion laws in all states in which we currently igie. These states’ statutes permit
consumers to prevent unwanted telephone solidgitatim addition, in cases where telephone solioitatare permitted, there are various
restrictions and requirements under state and &&tev in connection with such calls.

Occupational Safety and Health Act and EnvironmentalLaw Requirements

We are subject to the requirements of the OccupatiBafety and Health Act, or OSHA, and comparatdée statutes. OSHA'’s
regulatory requirement known as the Hazard Comnatiioic Standard, the Emergency Planning and Commigtht-to-Know Act
(“EPCRA”) and similar state statutes require ussqgort information about hazardous materials usedaintained for our operations to state,
federal and local authorities. We may also be sutittigeTier 1 or Tier 2 Emergency and Hazardous Gbaninventory reporting requirements
under EPCRA depending on the amount of hazardotesriala maintained on-site at a particular faciltye are also subject to the federal
Americans with Disabilities Act and similar laws iwh, among other things, may require that we modify facilities to comply with minimum
accessibility requirements for disabled persons.

Federal Trade Commission

Our funeral home operations are comprehensivelylaged by the FTC under Section 5 of the Federati@iCommission Act and a trade
regulation rule for the funeral industry promulghtbereunder referred to as the “Funeral Rule.” Ftweeral Rule requires funeral service
providers to disclose the prices for their goods services as soon as the subject of price ansasliscussion with a potential customer (this
entails presenting an itemized price list, refeteds the General Price List, if the consultat®im person, and readily answering all price-
related questions posed over the telephone), aaffeotheir goods and services on an unbundledsbakrough these regulations, the FTC
sought to give consumers the ability to comparegsriamong funeral service
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providers and to avoid buying packages containmgrg or services that they did not want. The untigaf goods from services has also
opened the way for third-party, discount caskdeselo enter the market, although they currentiyndt possess substantial market share.

In addition, our pre-need installment contractssfales of cemetery and funeral home merchandissemites are subject to the FTC’s
“Holder Rule,” which requires disclosure in thetalbnent contract that any holder of the contractubject to all claims and defenses that the
consumer could assert against the seller of thegooservices, subject to certain limitations.

Future Enactments and Regulation

Federal and state legislatures and regulatory égfrequently propose new laws, rules and reguiatand new interpretations of
existing laws, rules and regulations which, if @rdmr adopted, could have a material adverseteifeour operations and on the death care
industry in general. A significant portion of oyperations is located in California, PennsylvaniayNlersey, Virginia, Maryland, North
Carolina and West Virginia and any material adversznge in the regulatory requirements of thosestpplicable to our operations could
have a material adverse effect on our results efaipns. We cannot predict the outcome of any gsed legislation or regulations or the ef
that any such legislation or regulations, if endaeadopted, might have on us.

Environmental Regulations and Liabilities

Our operations are subject to federal, state aral Environmental regulations in three principaea: (1) crematories for emissions to air
that may trigger requirements under the Clean Air, £2) funeral homes for the management of hazerdeaterials and medical wastes and
(3) cemeteries and funeral homes for the manageofaaiid waste, underground and above-ground geotanks and discharges to wastewater
treatment systems and/ or septic systems.

Clean Air Act

The Federal Clean Air Act and similar state lawkjol regulate emissions into the air, can affeetratory operations through permitti
and emissions control requirements. Our crematp@rations may be subject to Clean Air Act regutagiander federal and state law and may
be subject to enforcement actions if these operatim not conform to the requirements of these.laws

Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act

As noted above, federal, state and local regulatapply to the use of hazardous materials at oerl homes. Depending on the types
and quantities of materials we manage at any paati¢acility, we may be required to maintain andmit to authorities’ inventories of these
materials present at that location and report®mpiance with EPCRA or similar state statutes.

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatiohl,.iability Act

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensand Liability Act, or CERCLA, and similar s¢alaws affect our cemetery
and funeral home operations by, among other thingsgsing remediation obligations for threatenedaual releases of hazardous substances
that may endanger public health or welfare or thhdrenment. Under CERCLA and similar state lawscsfoint and several liability may be
imposed on generators, site owners and operatwisythers regardless of fault or the legality & tiiginal disposal activity. Our operations
include the use of some materials that may meedefiaition of “hazardous substances” under CERGItAtate laws and thus may give rise to
liability if released to the environment througbkll or release. Should we acquire new propetidis pre-existing conditions triggering
CERCLA or similar state
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liability, we may become liable for responding hos$e conditions under CERCLA or similar state laws. may become involved in
proceedings, litigation or investigations at onemare sites where releases of hazardous substhacesccurred, and we cannot assure you
that the associated costs and potential liabilitiesld not be material.

Underground and Aboveground Storage Tank Laws atid B/aste Laws

Federal, state and local laws regulate the insimtiaremoval, operations and closure of undergdostorage tanks, or USTs and above-
ground storage tanks, or ASTs, which are locatete of our facilities as well as the managemedtdisposal of solid waste. Most of the
USTs and ASTs contain petroleum for heating ouldings or are used for vehicle maintenance, or ggroperations. Depending upon the age
and integrity of the USTs and ASTs, they may regjupgrades, removal and/or closure, and remediatenbe required if there has been a
discharge or release of petroleum into the enviemmAll of the aforementioned activities may requis to incur capital costs and expenses to
ensure continued compliance with environmental irequents. Should we acquire properties with existi§Ts and ASTSs that are not in
compliance with environmental requirements, we ipagome liable for responding to releases to theé@mwent or for costs associated with
upgrades, removal and/or closure costs, and waaiassure you that the costs or liabilities wilt be material in that event. Solid wastes |
been disposed of at some of our cemeteries, bafiallg and unlawfully. Prior to acquiring a cemetean environmental site assessment is
usually conducted to determine, among other camdhiiiif a solid waste disposal area or landfilséexion the parcel which requires removal,
cleaning or management. Depending upon the existehany such solid waste disposal areas, we magdwered by the applicable regulatory
authority to remove the waste materials or to cahdemediation and we cannot assure you that this ao liabilities will not be material in
that event.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, our general partner andfftliates employed approximately 2,516 full-ticued approximately 55 part-time
employees. A total of 5 employees at one of ourateries located in New Jersey are representedubjoa and are subject to collective
bargaining agreements, one which expires in Sepe®il5 and another that will expire in June 2aldenty-four employees at 11 of our
cemeteries located in Pennsylvania are represégt8different unions and are subject to collecbhaegaining agreements that expire in June
2015. Three employees at 1 of our cemeteries IddatBlinois are represented by a union and af®esu to collective bargaining agreement
that is currently being renegotiated. Ten employesof our locations in California are represdrig a union and are subject to a collective
bargaining agreement that expires in June 2013 rSemployees at 1 cemetery in Ohio are represéytadinion and are subject to collective
bargaining agreement that expires in December ZDd8nty-five employees at 3 of our cemeteries ichijan are subject to collective
bargaining agreement that expired in December 200's currently being renegotiated. We believé dlia relationship with our employees is
good.

Available Information

We maintain an internet website with the addredsttpf//www.stonemor.com. The information on thighsite is not, and should not be
considered part, of this Annual Report on Form 18r4 is not incorporated by reference into thisudeent. This website address is only
intended to be an inactive textual reference. Gopfeour reports filed with, or furnished to, theGon Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K and any
amendments to such reports are available for vigaid copying at such internet website, free ofgdaas soon as reasonably practicable
filing such material with, or furnishing it to, tf&EC.

Financial Information
Information for each of our segments is presemdeairt Il—Item 8 “—Financial Statements and Sup@etary Data” in this report.
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Iltem 1A.—Risk Factors

Risk Factors Related to Our Business

Important factors that could cause actual resaltiffer materially from our expectations includeit are not limited to, the risks set forth
below. The risks described below should not be idensd comprehensive and all-inclusive. Additionsiks that we do not yet know of or that
we currently think are immaterial may also impair business operations, financial condition andlte®f operations. If any events occur that
give rise to the following risks, our businessafigial condition or results of operations couldhieerially and adversely impacted. These risk
factors should be read in conjunction with othdéoiimation set forth in this Annual Report on ForfK, including our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes. Many such faaterseyond our ability to control or predict. Ist@'s are cautioned not to put undue reliance
on forward-looking statements.

We may not have sufficient cash from operationsctantinue paying distributions at their current leeor at all, after we have paid our
expenses, including the expenses of our generaltpar, funded merchandise and perpetual care truated established necessary cash
reserves.

The amount of cash we can distribute on our umitecpally depends upon the amount of cash we ggadrom operations, which
fluctuates from quarter to quarter based on, another things:

» the volume of our sale
» the prices at which we sell our products and sessianc
» the level of our operating and general and adnratise costs

In addition, the actual amount of cash we will havailable for distribution will depend on othecfars, such as working capital
borrowings, capital expenditures and funding rezmients for trusts and our ability to withdraw amsunom trusts.

If we do not generate sufficient cash to continagipg distributions at their current level, the k&trprice of our common units may
decline materially. We expect that we will need king capital borrowings of approximately $21.0 ioifi during the twelve-month period
ending December 31, 2011 in order to have suffiakperating surplus to pay distributions at theiment level on all of our common units for
that period, although the actual amount of worldgagital borrowings could be materially more or lIédsese working capital borrowings
enable us to finance the build up in our accoustgivables, and to construct mausoleums and pwgragucts for our pre-need sales in
advance of the time of need which, in turn, allasdo generate available cash for operating suplas time by accessing the funds held in
trust for the products purchased.

Our substantial level of indebtedness could matéyiadversely affect our ability to generate suffint cash for distribution to our
unitholders, to fulfill our debt obligations and toperate our business.

We have a substantial amount of debt, which reguignificant interest and principal payments. ABecember 31, 2010, after giving
effect to amendments to our credit facilities il 20we would have had approximately $156.0 miltidnotal debt outstanding, and we would
have had approximately $65.0 million of availabterbwing capacity under our acquisition credit fiagiand approximately $55.0 million of
available borrowing capacity under our revolvingdit facility. Leverage makes us more vulnerabledonomic downturns. Because we are
obligated to dedicate a portion of our cash flowseovice our debt obligations, our cash flow avddgor operations and for distribution to our
unitholders will be reduced. The amount of indehtexs we have could limit our flexibility in plangitior, or reacting to, changes in the
markets in which we compete, limit our ability tbtain additional financing, if necessary, for wargsicapital expenditures, acquisitions or
other purposes, and require us to dedicate moteflmas to service our debt than we desire. Ourihib satisfy our indebtedness as required
by the terms of our debt will be dependent on, agrather things,
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the successful execution of our lotegm strategic plan. Subject to limitations in debt obligations, we may incur additional debtha future
for acquisitions or otherwise, and servicing thedtcould further limit our cash flow available foperations and distribution to unitholders.

Restrictions in our existing and future debt agreemts could limit our ability to make distributiont® you or capitalize on acquisition an
other business opportunities.

The operating and financial restrictions and com&han our senior notes and senior secured delgatlins and any future financing
agreements could restrict our ability to financeifa operations or capital needs or to expand msyguour business activities. For example, our
senior notes and senior secured debt obligationsaizocovenants that restrict or limit our ability

* enter into a new line of busine:

* enter into any agreement of merger or acquisit

» sell, transfer, assign or convey ass

e grant certain liens

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedn:

* make certain loans, advances and investm

» declare and pay dividends and distributic

» enter into transactions with affiliates; a

* make voluntary payments or modifications of indebess

In addition, our secured debt obligations contaimenants requiring us to maintain certain finanéibs and tests. These restrictions
may also limit our ability to obtain future finamgjs. Our ability to comply with the covenants aestrictions contained in our senior notes and
senior secured debt obligations may be affecteeMeyts beyond our control, including prevailingmamic, financial and industry conditions.

If market or other economic conditions continueéteriorate, our ability to comply with these coaets may be impaired. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resesre-Long-Term Debt” If we violate
any of the restrictions, covenants, ratios or testaur debt obligations, the lenders will be alol@ccelerate the maturity of all borrowings
thereunder and demand repayment of amounts ouistgrashd our lenders’ commitment to make furthan®to us may terminate. We might
not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient fundetke these accelerated payments. Any subsequeateenent of our obligations or any new
indebtedness could have similar or greater reitrist

In addition, our debt obligations limit our ability make distributions to our unitholders. Our semiotes and senior secured debt
obligations prohibit us from making such distrilouts if we are in default, including with regardatar senior secured debt obligations as a
result of our failure to maintain specified finamlciatios. We cannot assure you that we will maintiaese specified ratios and satisfy these
for distributing available cash from operating susp

If we violate any of the restrictions, covenanggias or tests in our senior secured debt obligatmr senior notes indenture, the applic
lenders will be able to accelerate the maturitglbborrowings thereunder and demand repaymentofuaits outstanding, and our lenders’
commitment to make further loans to us may terneindte might not have, or be able to obtain, sudficfunds to make these accelerated
payments. Any subsequent replacement of our sdeiatrobligations or any new indebtedness could kaw#ar or greater restrictions.
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A material weakness was identified in our intern@bntrols over financial reporting as of December,3010.

Due to a material weakness in our internal cordvelr financial reporting, management concluded dhiatdisclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial répg were not effective as of December 31, 20H3€d on the criteria in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiomaierial weakness is a deficien
or combination of deficiencies, in internal contoofer financial reporting, such that there is asoe@ble possibility that a material misstatement
of the company’s annual or interim financial stagerts will not be prevented or detected on a tirbelsis. We identified the following material
weakness in our assessment of the effectivendasenfial control over financial reporting:

* We did not design and implement adequate contetdged to the implementation of a new accountiagdard for a material cla
of transactions, specifically in this instance, gy consolidation guidance to determine whettret how to consolidate another
entity as it relates to our cemetery operating ements. This material weakness resulted in thateyaent of previously issued
financial statements for the quarters ended Jun2@I®, September 30, 2009 and September 30, 2@iltha year ended Decem
31, 2009 for adjustments that were necessary septahe financial statements for such periodsaoaance with generally
accepted accounting principle

To remediate the material weakness, we have impledea series of controls designed to help ensateatl new accounting
pronouncements are sufficiently researched anditivatonclusions relative to the effect of suchnprancements on us are communicated to
management, the Audit Committee and our auditdnes& controls include the following procedures:

» Once it has been determined that a new accountorgpncement that impacts us has been adopteBjrbetor of Financial
Reporting will disseminate the relevant authoriatiterature to the senior members of the accagrdiepartment, including the
Vice President of Financial Reporting and Inve®fetations and the Chief Financial Offic

» The pronouncement and its impact on the accoumptitigies and disclosure will be discussed amongsh senior members of
accounting departmer

» The Director of Financial reporting will prepare amalysis which will include an item by item asseest of the guidance and
potential impact on us and circulate this anal{@isenior accounting management, the Audit Comméied our external auditor f
discussion and reviey

» Once consensus has been formed as to the appeoaciatunting treatment, the new standard will gt and implemente

In addition, we also restated previously issuedrfiial statements to present the second quart€rfitdncial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles amshagement concluded that our disclosure contralgpancedures and internal control over
financial reporting were not effective as of JuBe 2010. This also related to our application afsmidation guidance in our financial
statements.

We also employed a new Director of Financial Repgrand added a senior accountant to this fund¢tiagive us additional resources to
address and implement new accounting pronouncermdatsagement believes that the procedures descaibek and our changes in
personnel will serve to remediate the material weak identified, once implemented and operatingcéffely.

If we fail to maintain adequate disclosure contaoisl procedures and internal controls over findmejaorting, current unitholders and
potential investors could lose confidence in onaficial reporting, which would harm our businessspects and the trading price of our
common units.

Any reductions in the principal or the earnings tiie investments held in merchandise and perpetuaiectrusts could adversely affect o
revenues and cash flow.

A substantial portion of our revenue is generatethfinvestment returns that we realize from merdismand perpetual care trusts. The
2008 and early 2009 decline in the prices of mogbarate debt and equity
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securities significantly reduced the fair valudlsd assets held in these trusts. Future cash fiowlsl be negatively impacted if we are force:
liquidate assets that are in impaired positions.

We invest primarily for current income. We rely thre interest and dividends paid by the assetsiittrosts to provide both revenue and
cash flow. Interest income from fixed-income setbesiis particularly susceptible to changes inrgderates and declines in credit worthiness
while dividends from equity securities are susd@etto the issuer’s ability to make such payments.

Any decline in the interest rate environment ordhedit worthiness of our debt issuers or any susipa or reduction of dividends could
have a material adverse effect on our financiab@@m and results of operations.

In addition, any significant or sustained unrealir®e/estment losses could result in merchandisggruaving insufficient funds to cover
our cost of delivering products and services. Ia fitenario, we would be required to use our opgraiash to deliver those products and
perform those services, which could decrease alir agailable for distribution.

Pre-need sales typically generate low or negative cistv in the periods immediately following sales vehi could adversely affect our abili
to make distributions to our unitholders.

When we sell cemetery merchandise and servicespoe-aeed basis, we pay commissions on the salertsalespeople and are required
by state law to deposit a portion of the sales geds into a merchandise trust. In addition, mosuofcustomers finance their pre-need
purchases under installment contracts payableawamber of years. Depending on the trusting requénts of the states in which we operate,
the applicable sales commission rates and the anodtime down payment, our cash flow from salesustomers through installment contracts
is typically negative until we have paid the sadenmission due on the sale or until we purchasgtbducts or perform the services and are
permitted to withdraw funds we have deposited enrtterchandise trust. To the extent we increase@ee-sales, state trusting requirement
increased or we delay the purchase of the produgisrformance of the services we sell on a prelhesis, our cash flow immediately
following pre-need sales may be further reduced,aur ability to make distributions to our unithetd could be adversely affected.

The cemetery and funeral home industry continues® increasingly competitive.

We face competition in all of our markets. Mosbof competitors are independent operations. Olityats compete successfully
depends on our management’s forward vision, timefponses to changes in the business environmentemeteries and funeral homes’
ability to maintain a good reputation and high pssiional standards as well as offer products amnites at competitive prices. We have
historically experienced price competition fromépeéndent cemetery and funeral home operators. Hresenable to successfully compete, our
financial condition, results of operations and cfgivs could be materially adversely affected.

Because fixed costs are inherent in our businessierease in our revenues can have a disproportienaffect on our cash flow and profit:

Our business requires us to incur many of the afstperating and maintaining facilities, land aglipment regardless of the level of
sales in any given period. For example, we mustgadaries, utilities, property taxes and mainteparasts on our cemetery properties and
funeral homes regardless of the number of intermmenfuneral services we perform. If we cannot dase these costs significantly or rapidly
when we experience declines in sales, declineal@san cause our margins, profits and cash fiadetline at a greater rate than the decline
in our revenues.

Our failure to attract and retain qualified salesgpsonnel and management could have an adverse éffecour business and financial
condition.

Our ability to attract and retain a qualified sdil@xe and other personnel is an important fact@ahieving future success. Buying
cemetery and funeral home products and servicpecisly at-need products and
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services, is very emotional for most customersygosales force must be particularly sensitiveuoaustomers’ needs. We cannot assure you
that we will be successful in our efforts to attraed retain a skilled sales force. If we are uaablmaintain a qualified and productive sales
force, our revenues may decline, and our cashablaifor distribution may decrease.

Our success also depends upon the services anbliltgsaof our management team. Management estadsdi the “tone at the top” by
which an environment of ethical values, operatitytesand management philosophy is fostered. Thigilihaof our senior management team to
maintain a proper “tone at the top” or the losseafvices of one or more members of senior manageasenell as the inability to attract
qualified managers or other personnel could havaterial adverse effect on our business, finard@atition, and results of operations. We
may not be able to locate or employ on acceptabtad qualified replacements for senior managemekeyemployees if their services were
no longer available. We do not maintain key empéolyesurance on any of our executive officers.

We may not be able to identify, complete, fund aceessfully integrate additional cemetery acquisits which could have an adverse affect
on our results of operations.

A primary component of our business strategy igrta through acquisitions of cemeteries and, tesadr extent, funeral homes. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to ideraifg acquire cemeteries on terms favorable to as alf. We may face competition from other
death care companies in making acquisitions. Histtly, we have funded a significant portion of @oquisitions through borrowings Our
ability to make acquisitions in the future may Imited by our inability to secure adequate finaggirestrictions under our existing or future
debt agreements, competition from third partiea tarck of suitable properties. As of December 3R after giving effect to amendments to
our credit facilities in 2011, we would have hagrgximately $65.0 million of available borrowingpzcity under our acquisition credit facil
and approximately $55.0 million of available boriog/capacity under our revolving credit facility.

In addition, if we complete acquisitions, we mag@mter various associated risks, including thesiobs inability to integrate an
acquired business into our operations, diversiomafiagement’s attention and unanticipated probtamfiabilities, some or all of which could
have a material adverse effect on our operatiodgiaancial performance. Also, when we acquire demes that do not have an existing pre-
need sales program or a significant amount of pedproducts and services that have been soldbyenhpurchased or performed, the
operation of the cemetery and implementation afearpeed sales program after acquisition may recigraificant amounts of working capital.
This may make it more difficult for us to make aisiions.

If the trend toward cremation in the United Statesntinues, our revenues may decline which could ban adverse effect on our busine
and financial condition.

We and other death care companies that focus dititr@al methods of interment face competition frthma increasing number of
cremations in the United States. Industry studidgate that the percentage of cremations hasibtéacieased and that cremations represent
approximately 38% of the United States deathcamkehaBecause the products and services assodidgie@d cremation, such as niches and
urns, produce lower revenues than the productsandces associated with a traditional intermewebtinuing trend toward cremations may
reduce our revenues.

Declines in the number of deaths in our markets caause a decrease in revenu

Declines in the number of deaths could cause al-sakes of cemetery and funeral home merchandssemices to decline and could
cause a decline in the number of pre-need salés,dbavhich could decrease revenues. Changes inuhwer of deaths can vary among local
markets and from quarter to quarter, and variatiorise number of deaths in our markets or fromrgao quarter are not predictable.
However, generally, the number of deaths fluctuatiéls the seasons with more deaths occurring dufiegvinter months primarily resulting
from pneumonia and influenza. These variationsczarse revenues to fluctuate.
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The financial condition of third-party insurance ampanies that fund our pre-need funeral contracts ynempact our financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows.

Where permitted, customers may arrange their pee-figneral contract by purchasing a life insuramcannuity policy from third-party
insurance companies. The customer/policy holdégiasshe policy benefits to our funeral home to faxythe pre-need funeral contract at the
time of need. If the financial condition of therthiparty insurance companies were to deterioratenaily because of market conditions or
otherwise, there could be an adverse effect orability to collect all or part of the proceeds bétlife insurance policy, including the annual
increase in the death benefit. Failure to collechsproceeds could have a material adverse effectiofinancial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Regulatory and Legal Risks

Our operations are subject to regulation, supamiaind licensing under numerous federal, statdarad laws, ordinances and
regulations, including extensive regulations contgy trusts/escrows, pre-need sales, cemetery awiperfuneral home ownership, marketing
practices, crematories, environmental matters anigws other aspects of our business.

If state laws or interpretations of existing stal@ws change or if new laws are enacted, we maydmguired to increase trust/escrow depos
or to alter the timing of withdrawals from trustséerows, which may have a negative impact on ourerwes and cash flow.

We are required by most state laws to deposit pdgiercentages of the proceeds from our pre-aeddtneed sales of interment rigl
into perpetual care trusts and generally procemas bur pre-need sales of cemetery and funeral hpyosiucts and services into merchandise
trusts/escrows. These laws also determine wherrevallawed to withdraw funds from those trusts/esrs. If those laws or the interpretations
of those laws change or if new laws are enactednesebe required to deposit more of the sales pdg®e receive from our sales into the
trusts/escrows or to defer withdrawals from thetislescrows, thereby decreasing our cash flow wetiire permitted to withdraw the depos
amounts. This could also reduce our cash avaifabldistribution.

If state laws or their interpretations change, oew laws are enacted relating to the ownership ofnegeries and funeral homes, ol
business, financial condition and results of opei@ts could be adversely affected.

Some states require cemeteries to be organizée indnprofit form but permit those nonprofit emttito contract with for-profit
companies for management services. If state laasgdor new laws are enacted that prohibit us franaging cemeteries in those states,
our business, financial condition and results afrafions could be adversely affected. Some state lastrict ownership of funeral homes to
licensed funeral directors. If state laws changeew laws are enacted that prohibit us from margafiineral homes in those instances, ther
business, financial condition and results of openatcould be adversely affected.

We are subject to legal restrictions on our markegdipractices that could reduce the volume of oufesawhich could have an adverse effect
on our business, operations and financial condition

The enactment or amendment of legislation or reguia relating to marketing activities may makenitre difficult for us to sell our
products and services. For example, the federahtdaall” legislation has adversely affected obitiey to market our products and services
using telephone solicitation by limiting who we megll and increasing our costs of compliance. Assalt, we rely heavily on direct mail
marketing and telephone follow-up with existing tamts. Additional laws or regulations limiting calpility to market through direct mail, over
the telephone, through internet and e-mail advegisr door-to-door may make it difficult to idefytipotential customers, which could increase
our costs of marketing. Both increases in marketiogts and restrictions on our ability to markéeetively could reduce our revenues and
could have an adverse effect on our business, ipesaand financial condition, as well as our @pilo make cash distributions to you.
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We are subject to environmental and health and sgflaws and regulations that may adversely affeat operating results.

Our cemetery and funeral home operations are sufojemimerous federal, state and local environntemta health and safety laws and
regulations. We may become subiject to liabilitytfue removal of hazardous substances and solicewaster CERCLA and other federal and
state laws. Under CERCLA and similar state lawsgtsjoint and several liability may be imposedarious parties, regardless of fault or the
legality of the original disposal activity. Our feral home, cemetery and crematory operations iedld use of some materials that may meet
the definition of “hazardous substancesider CERCLA or state laws and thus may give ndebility if released to the environment throug
spill or release. We cannot assure you that wenaitiiface liability under CERCLA for any conditioasour properties, and we cannot assure
you that these liabilities will not be material. Guemetery and funeral home operations are sutgjeegulation of underground and abc
ground storage tanks and laws managing the dispbsalid waste. If new requirements under locitesor federal laws were to be adopted,
and were more stringent than existing requiremerg®, permits or capital expenditures may be reduire

Our funeral home operations are generally subgefgderal and state laws and regulations regatti@glisposal of medical waste, and
also subject to regulation by federal, state oall@athorities under the EPCRA. We are requireEBZRA to maintain, and report, if
applicable thresholds are met, a list of any hamssathemicals and extremely hazardous substanbés) are stored or used at our facilities,
we use to state, federal, and local agencies.

Our crematory operations may be subject to regrainder the federal Clean Air Act and any analsgsiate laws. If new regulations
applicable to our crematory operations were todmpted, they could require permits or capital exitemes that could increase our costs of
operation and compliance.

Risk Factors Related to an Investment in Us

Our general partner and its affiliates have conftieof interest and limited fiduciary duties, whiainay permit them to favor their own
interests to your detriment.

As of December 31, 2010, CFSI LLC owns all of tHagS A units of our general partner. Conflictsndérest may arise between CFSI
LLC and its affiliates, including our general patnon the one hand, and us and our unitholderfieother hand. As a result of these
conflicts, our general partner may favor its owteiasts and the interests of its affiliates overititerests of the unitholders. These conflicts
include, among others, the following situations:

» The board of directors of our general partnerésteld by the owners of our general partner. Altoowgr general partner has a
fiduciary duty to manage us in good faith, the clioes of our general partner also have a fiducdiarty to manage our general
partner in a manner beneficial to the owners ofgameral partner. By purchasing common units, oldérs will be deemed to ha
consented to some actions and conflicts of intehedtmight otherwise constitute a breach of fidugior other duties under
applicable law

* Our partnership agreement limits the liability ofr@eneral partner, reduces its fiduciary dutie$ mstricts the remedies availa
to unitholders for actions that might, without fmitations, constitute breaches of fiduciary du

* Our general partner determines the amount and gimfirasset purchases and sales, capital expersjimerowings, issuances
additional limited partner interests and resereash of which can affect the amount of cash thdisigibuted to unitholder:

» Our partnership agreement does not restrict ouergépartner from causing us to pay it or its &fféds for any services rendered to
us or entering into additional contractual arrangets with any of these entities on our bef
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» Our general partner controls the enforcement afjabbns owed to us by our general partner andffikates.

* In some instances, our general partner may causeh@row funds or sell assets outside of therangi course of business in or¢
to permit the payment of distributions, even if fhepose or effect of the borrowing is to makerisitions in respect of incentive
distribution rights

Holders of our common units have limited voting higs and are not entitled to elect our general pagtror its directors, which could reduc
the price at which the common units will trade.

Unitholders have only limited voting rights on neatt affecting our business and, therefore, limaeiity to influence management’s
decisions regarding our business. Unitholders didselect our general partner or elect the boanirettors of our general partner and will
have no right to select our general partner ortéedoard of directors in the future. We are remjuired to have a majority of independent
directors on our board. The board of directorswfgeneral partner, including the independent thirscis chosen entirely by the owners of our
general partner and not our unitholders. As a teguhese limitations, the price at which the coomunits will trade could be diminished
because of the absence or reduction of a takeagaripm in the trading price.

Our partnership agreement restricts the voting righof unitholders owning 20% or more of our commainits.

Unitholders’ voting rights are further restricteg the partnership agreement provision providing #rgy units held by a person that owns
20% or more of any class of units then outstanditiger than the general partner, its affiliatesjrttransferees and persons who acquired such
units with the prior approval of the board of diars of our general partner, cannot be voted onnaager. In addition, the partnership
agreement contains provisions limiting the abitifyunitholders to call meetings or to acquire imfiation about our operations, as well as other
provisions limiting the unitholders’ ability to ilnfence the manner or direction of management.

Our general partner can transfer its ownership imgst in us without unitholder consent under certagircumstances, and the control of our
general partner may be transferred to a third pasgthout unitholder consent

Our general partner may transfer its general paiiiterest to a third party in a merger or in aega#l all or substantially all of its assets
without the consent of the unitholders. Furthermtirere is no restriction in the partnership agreenon the ability of the owners of our
general partner to transfer their ownership intarethe general partner to a third party. The mewner of our general partner would then be in
a position to replace the board of directors ariidexis of the general partner with its own choiaed thereby influence the decisions taken by
the board of directors and officers.

We may issue additional common units without youyrpaoval, which would dilute your existing ownershipterests.

We may issue an unlimited number of limited parinérests of any type without the approval of tin¢holders. You will not have the
right to approve our issuance at any time of egsatyurities ranking junior to the common units.

The issuance of additional common units or otheitgcecurities of equal or senior rank will hahe following effects:
* your proportionate ownership interest in us wiltdsase
» the amount of cash available for distribution onoheanit may decreas
» the relative voting strength of each previouslystariding unit may be diminishe
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» the market price of the common units may declime
» the ratio of taxable income to distributions magrease

Cost reimbursements due our general partner mayshbstantial and will reduce the cash available fdistribution to you.

Prior to making any distribution on the common sinite will reimburse our general partner and ifgiaks, including CFSI LLC and tr
officers and directors of our general partnerdibexpenses they incur on our behalf. The reimdiment of expenses could adversely affect
ability to pay cash distributions to you. Our gexigrartner determines the amount of these expelmsaddition, our general partner and its
affiliates may provide us with other services fdriegh we will be charged fees as determined by ewegal partner.

In establishing cash reserves, our general partmeay reduce the amount of available cash for distriton to you.

Subiject to the limitations on restricted paymermtstained in the indenture governing the 10.25% @edxotes due 2017 and other
indebtedness, the master partnership distributes alr “available cash” each quarter to its lietitpartners and general partner. “Available
cash” is defined in the master partnership’s pastrip agreement, and it generally means, for eigchlfquarter, all cash and cash equivalents
on hand on the date of determination for that qudetss the amount of cash reserves establistted discretion of the general partner to:

» provide for the proper conduct of our busine
« comply with applicable law, the terms of any of dabt instruments or other agreements
» provide funds for distributions to its unitholdensd general partner for any one or more of the foextcalendar quarter

These reserves will affect the amount of cash alslglfor distribution to you.

Our general partner has a limited call right that ay require you to sell your common units at an ursit@able time or price.

If, at any time, our general partner and its affdis own more than 80% of the common units, oueigdpartner will have the right, but
not the obligation, which it may assign to anyteféffiliates or to us, to acquire all, but notslélsan all, of the remaining common units held by
unaffiliated persons at a price not less than timein-current market price. As a result, you mayduglired to sell your common units at an
undesirable time or price and may not receive atiyrn on your investment. You may also incur alibility upon the sale of your common
units.

You may be required to repay distributions that ybave received from us.

Under certain circumstances, unitholders may havepay amounts wrongfully returned or distributethem. Under Section 17-607 of
the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership, Ade may not make a distribution to you if thetdligition would cause our liabilities to
exceed the fair value of our assets. Delaware lawiges that for a period of three years from theedf the impermissible distribution, limited
partners who received the distribution and who kaéthe time of the distribution that it violate@lBware law will be liable to the limited
partnership for the distribution amount. Assignet® become substituted limited partners are liédniéhe obligations of the assignor to make
contributions to the partnership. However, assigrege not liable for obligations unknown to theigisse at the time the assignee became a
limited partner if the liabilities could not be detined from the partnership agreement. Liabiliteepartners on account of their partnership
interest and liabilities that are non-recoursehtartnership are not counted for purposes ofm@ieng whether a distribution is permitted.
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Tax Risks to Common Unitholders

Audit adjustments to the taxable income of our corpte subsidiaries for prior taxable years may resuthe net operating los
carryforwards of such subsidiaries and thereby iease their tax liabilities for future taxable peris.

Our business was conducted by an affiliated grdugmporations during periods prior to the commletof our initial public offering and,
since the initial public offering, continues to d@nducted in part by corporate subsidiaries. Theuarhof cash distributions we receive from
our corporate subsidiaries over the next sevelaisywill depend in part upon the amount of net afieg losses available to those subsidiaries
to reduce the amount of income subject to fede@me tax they would otherwise pay. These net tipgriosses will begin to expire in 2019.
The amount of net operating losses available taagedhe income tax liability of our corporate sdleiies in future taxable years could be
reduced as a result of audit adjustments with i&gpeprior taxable years. Notwithstanding any tediindemnification rights we may have, :
increase in the tax liabilities of our corporatésidiaries because of a reduction in net operadtisges will reduce our cash available for
distribution.

Changes in the ownership of our units may resultamnual limitations on our corporate subsidiariegibility to use their net operating loss
carryforwards, which could increase their tax liaities and decrease cash available for distributionfuture taxable periods.

Our corporate subsidiaries’ ability to use their oyerating loss carryforwards may be limited i&obes in the ownership of our units
causes our corporate subsidiaries to undergo anémhip change” under applicable provisions ofithernal Revenue Code. In general, an
ownership change will occur if the percentage afunits, based on the value of the units, owneddstain unitholders or groups of unithold
increases by more than fifty percentage pointsnduai running three-year period. Recent changearimwnership, along with additional
changes that will result from this equity offerimgay result in an ownership change. Even if no aghiip change results from this equity
offering, our corporate subsidiaries will be clésehe threshold for an ownership change and mpgrance one in the future. A future
ownership change may result from issuances of oits,usales or other dispositions of our units éstain significant unitholders, certain
acquisitions of our units, and issuances, saleshar dispositions or acquisitions of interestsignificant unitholders, and we will have little to
no control over any such events. To the extentadhatnnual net operating loss limitation for ang gear does restrict the ability of our
corporate subsidiaries to use their net operating tarryforwards, an increase in tax liabilitiésar corporate subsidiaries could result, which
would reduce the amount of cash available for ithistion to you.

Our tax treatment depends on our status as a parsidp for federal income tax purposes, as well ag oot being subject to a material
amount of additional entity-level taxation by inddual states. If the IRS treats us as a corporatitor federal tax purposes or we become
subject to additional enti-level taxation for state tax purposes, it woulddrece the amount of cash available for distributida you.

The anticipated after-tax economic benefit of aregtiment in our common units depends largely orbeirg treated as a partnership for
federal income tax purposes. Despite the factvtieatre a limited partnership under Delaware lavg, [fossible in certain circumstances for a
partnership such as ours to be treated as a ctigofar federal income tax purposes. Although wendt believe based upon our current
operations that we are so treated, if our viemé®irect or if there is a change in our business (©ange in current law) we could be treate
a corporation for federal income tax purposes bewtise subject us to taxation as an entity.

If we were treated as a corporation for federabime tax purposes for any taxable year for whictsth&ute of limitations remains oper
for any future taxable year, we would pay fedemabime tax on our taxable income for such year(8)eatorporate tax rate, which is currently
a maximum of 35% and would likely pay state incdmeat varying rates. Distributions to you woulthgeally be taxed again as corporate
distributions,
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and no income, gains, losses or deductions woaold fhrough to you. Because a tax would be impogethws as a corporation, our cash
available for distribution to you would be substalty reduced. Therefore, treatment of us as a@@arpon would result in a material reduction
in the anticipated cash flow and after-tax retarthie unitholders, likely causing a substantialiidn in the value of our common units.
Moreover, treatment of us as a corporation coultenely and adversely affect our ability to malkeyment on our debt.

Current law may change so as to cause us to ltedraa a corporation for federal income tax purp@setherwise subject us to entity-
level taxation. For example, members of Congrese hecently considered substantive changes toxilsérey federal income tax laws that
would affect the tax treatment of certain publitlgded partnerships. In addition, because of widkspstate budget deficits and other reasons,
several states are evaluating ways to subjectgattips to entity-level taxation through the imgiosi of state income, franchise and other
forms of taxation. If any of these states weranpadse a tax on us, the cash available for distdbub you would be reduced. We are unable to
predict whether any of these changes, or othergsalp, will ultimately be enacted. Any such changmdd negatively impact the value of an
investment in our units.

The partnership agreement provides that if a la@nacted or existing law is modified or interpreited manner that subjects us to
taxation as a corporation or otherwise subject® estity-level taxation for federal, state or Ibrtecome tax purposes, the minimum quarterly
distribution amount and the target distribution aimts will be adjusted to reflect the impact of tleat on us.

We have subsidiaries that will be treated as com gtns for federal income tax purposes and subjeztorporate-level income taxes.

Some of our operations are conducted through siabsd that are organized as C corporations. Adonghg, these corporate subsidiaries
are subject to corporate-level tax, which redubescash available for distribution to our partngrsind, in turn, to you. If the IRS were to
successfully assert that these corporations have tag liability than we anticipate or legislatiofas enacted that increased the corporate tax
rate, the cash available for distribution couldimther reduced.

If the IRS contests the federal income tax posit®owe take, the market for our common units may liversely impacted, and the cost of ¢
IRS contest will reduce our cash available for distution to you.

We have not requested a ruling from the IRS wilpeet to our treatment as a partnership for fedecame tax purposes or any other
matter affecting us. The IRS may adopt positioms tliffer from the positions we take. It may be essary to resort to administrative or court
proceedings to sustain some or all of the positiasake. A court may not agree with some or athefpositions we take. Any contest with
IRS may materially and adversely impact the maftebur common units and the price at which theglér. In addition, our costs of any con
with the IRS will be borne indirectly by our unitiders and our general partner because the codteedilce our cash available for distribution.

You may be required to pay taxes on income fromewen if you do not receive any cash distributiomsrh us.

Because you will be treated as a partner to whomwill@llocate taxable income that could be differen amount than the cash we
distribute, you may be required to pay any fedieredme taxes and, in some cases, state and lamahimtaxes on your share of our taxable
income even if you receive no cash distributiomsrflus. You may not receive cash distributions fimequal to your share of our taxable
income or even equal to the actual tax liabilitsttfesults from that income.

Tax gain or loss on disposition of our common unitsuld be more or less than expected.

If you sell your common units, you will recognizegyain or loss equal to the difference between yooount realized and your tax basit
those common units. Because distributions in excegsur allocable share of our total net taxablgoime decrease your tax basis in your
common units, the amount, if any, of such
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prior excess distributions with respect to thesgdu sell will, in effect, become taxable incorag/bu if you sell such units at a price greater
than your tax basis in those units, even if thegoyiou receive is less than your original costtli@ermore, a substantial portion of the amount
realized, whether or not representing gain, mataked as ordinary income due to potential recaptenas, including depreciation recapture
addition, because the amount realized includesthalder’s share of our nonrecourse liabilitiesydfu sell your units, you may incur a tax
liability in excess of the amount of cash you reedrom the sale.

Tax-exempt entities and non- U.S. persons face w&dax issues from owning common units that mayuksn adverse tax consequences to
them.

Investment in common units by tax-exempt entitiesh as employee benefit plans individual retirenaeoounts (known as IRAs) and
non-U.S. persons raises issues unique to thenexeaonple, virtually all of our income allocated tganizations that are exempt from federal
income tax, including IRA’s and other retiremerdand, will be unrelated business taxable incomevéldbe taxable to them. Distributions to
non-U.S. persons will be reduced by withholdingeat the highest applicable effective tax ratd,reon-U.S. persons will be required to file
United States federal tax returns and pay tax ein fihare of our taxable income. If you are a terept entity or a non-U.S. person, you
should consult your tax advisor before investingum common units.

We treat each purchaser of common units as havihg same tax benefits without regard to the actuahamon units purchased. The IRS
may challenge this treatment, which could adversaffect the value of the common units.

Due to a number of factors, including our inabitilymatch transferors and transferees of commats,ume take depreciation and
amortization positions that may not conform toaalpects of the existing Treasury Regulations. Aasgful IRS challenge to those positions
could adversely affect the amount of tax benefitslable to you. It also could affect the timingtb&se tax benefits or the amount of gain from
the sale of common units and could have a negatipact on the value of our common units or resubiudit adjustments to your tax returns.

We have adopted certain valuation methodologiest timay result in a shift of income, gain, loss anédliction between the general partner
and the unitholders. The IRS may challenge thisateent, which could adversely affect the value loétcommon units.

When we issue additional units or engage in ced#ier transactions, we will determine the fair kesvalue of our assets and allocate
any unrealized gain or loss attributable to ouetssto the capital accounts of our unitholders @ndgeneral partner. If the IRS challenges our
methodology it may be viewed as understating theevaf our assets. In that case, there may beftao$hincome, gain, loss and deduction
between certain unitholders and the general pantvidch may be unfavorable to such unitholders. &édoer, under our valuation methods,
subsequent purchasers of common units may haveategportion of their Internal Revenue Code Sactid3(b) adjustment allocated to our
tangible assets and a lesser portion allocatedrtintangible assets. The IRS may challenge owratedn methods, or our allocation of the
Section 743(b) adjustment attributable to our thlegand intangible assets, and allocations of iresagain, loss and deduction between the
general partner and certain of our unitholders.

A successful IRS challenge to these methods ocatilons could adversely affect the amount of tex@bntome or loss being allocated to
our unitholders. It also could affect the amoungaiin from our unitholders’ sale of common unitgl @ould have a negative impact on the
value of the common units or result in audit adjestts to our unitholders’ tax returns without tleaéfit of additional deductions.

The sale or exchange of 50% or more of our capiad profits interests during any twelvemonth periadll result in the termination of our
partnership for federal income tax purpose

We will be considered to have terminated our pastmip for federal income tax purposes if there $ale or exchange of 50% or more of
the total interests in our capital and profits with twelve-month period. For
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purposes of determining whether the 50% threshatddeen met, multiple sales of the same interdisb@&counted only once. Our termination
would, among other things, result in the closingoif taxable year for all unitholders which woudgult in our filing two tax returns for one
fiscal year and could result in a deferral of dejaion deductions allowable in computing our tdgebcome. In the case of a unitholder
reporting on a taxable year other than a calenéar, the closing of our taxable year may resuthare than twelve months of our taxable
income or loss being includable in his taxable medor the year of termination. Our terminationreutly would not affect our classification

a partnership for federal income tax purposesijriziéad, we would be treated as a new partnershifaX purposes. If treated as a new
partnership, we must make new tax elections anttidmisubject to penalties if we are unable tordeitee that a termination occurred. The |
has recently announced a relief procedure wheffedbplblicly traded partnership that has technjctminated requests and the IRS grants
special relief, among other things, the partnersiiipbe required to provide only a single Schedkité to unitholders for the tax years in wh
the termination occurs.

You will likely be subject to state and local taxasd filing requirements in jurisdictions where yodo not live as a result of an investment in
units.

In addition to federal income taxes, you will likdde subject to other taxes, including state anédlltaxes, unincorporated business taxes
and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes theatraposed by the various jurisdictions in whichdeebusiness or own property, even if you do
not live in any of those jurisdictions. You wilkkly be required to file state and local incomerngtarns and pay state and local income taxes in
some or all of these jurisdictions. Further, yowrha subject to penalties for failure to complyhwihose requirements. We own assets or
conduct business in a majority of states and inrtBuRico. Most of these various jurisdictions cuthg impose, or may in the future impose, an
income tax on individuals, corporations and othwities. As we make acquisitions or expand our fiess, we may own assets or do busine
additional states that impose a personal incomdttéxyour responsibility to file all United St federal, state and local tax returns.

A unitholder whose units are loaned to“short seller” to cover a short sale of units maglronsidered as having disposed of those units. If
so, the unitholder would no longer be treated faxtpurposes as a partner with respect to those siditiring the period of the loan and me
recognize gain or loss from the disposition.

If you loan your units to a “short seller” to coveeshort sale of units, you may be considered asgalisposed of the loaned units, and
you may no longer be treated for tax purposespstaer with respect to those units during theqekdf the loan to the short seller and
unitholder may recognize gain or loss from suclpatition. Moreover, during the period of the loarthe short seller, any of our income, gain,
loss or deduction with respect to those units matybe reportable by the unitholder and any casthiloigions received by the unitholder as to
those units could be fully taxable as ordinary meo Unitholders desiring to assure their statysaaers and avoid the risk of gain recogni
from a loan to a short seller are urged to modify applicable brokerage account agreements to lpitdheir brokers from borrowing their
units.

We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and detion between transferors and transferees of ouritsreach month based upon the
ownership of our units on the first day of each mir) instead of on the basis of the date a partiaulmit is transferred. The IRS may
challenge this treatment, which could change thdagiation of items of income, gain, loss and dedoctiamong our unitholders.

We prorate our items of income, gain, loss and diaiu between transferors and transferees of oitis @ach month based upon the
ownership of our units on the first day of each thpinstead of on the basis of the date a partiauid is transferred. Nonetheless, we allocate
certain deductions for depreciation of capital #dds based upon the date the underlying propenpyt in service. The use of this proration
method may not be permitted under existing TreaRagulations. Recently, however, the U.S. TreaB@apartment issued proposed Treasury
Regulations that provide a safe harbor pursuanhioh publicly traded partnerships may use a sinmianthly simplifying convention to
allocate tax items among transferor and transfen@holders. Nonetheless, the proposed regulationsot specifically authorize the use of the
proration method we have
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adopted. If the IRS were to challenge our prorati@ihod, we may be required to change the allotatigtems of income, gain, loss and
deduction among our unitholders. Vinson & Elkink.P.. has not rendered an opinion with respect tetidr our monthly convention for
allocating taxable income and losses is permitiedisting Treasury Regulations.

The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships an investment in our common units could be suljj¢éo potential legislative, judicial or
administrative changes and differing interpretatisnpossibly on a retroactive basis.

The present federal income tax treatment of pubtielded partnerships, including us, or an investriireour common units may be
modified by administrative, legislative or judiciaterpretation at any time. For example, membé&@angress have recently considered
substantive changes to the existing federal inctaméaws that would have affected certain publichded partnerships. Any modification to
the federal income tax laws and interpretationsetbiemay or may not be applied retroactively. Aligb the recently considered legislation
would not have appeared to affect our federal iretex treatment as a partnership, we are unalgeetict whether any of these changes, or
other proposals, will be reconsidered or will uktitely be enacted. Any such changes could negatimgdgict the value of an investment in our
common units.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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ltem 2. Properties
Cemeteries and Funeral Homes

The following table summarizes the distributioroof cemetery and funeral properties by state &eckémber 31, 2010 as well as the
weighted average estimated remaining sales lifears for our cemeteries based upon number ofhirgetr spaces sold during 2010:

Number of

Weighted Interment
Average Spaces Sol

Total Estimated Net

Cemeterie: Funeral Homes Net Acres Sales Life in Year: in 2010
Alabama 9 6 30E 151 1,72

Arkansas — 2 — — —
California 7 8 27C 70 1,10¢
Colorado 2 — 12 392 36
Delaware 1 — 12 467 10

Florida — 1 — — —
Georgia 7 — 13t 134 92t

Hawaii 1 — 6 201 —
Illinois 7 2 2432 21C 762
Indiana 11 5 1,01z 382 1,33¢
lowa 1 — 89 252 12¢€
Kansas 3 2 84 21¢ 22t
Kentucky 2 — 58 10¢ 27¢&
Maryland 10 1 71€ 142 1,70¢
Michigan 16 — 1,53¢ 603 1,83¢
Missouri 3 1 11€ 357 27€&
New Jerse 6 — 341 37 2,091
North Caroline 13 — 331 12¢€ 2,58¢
Ohio 14 2 95z 22¢& 2,83¢
Oregon 7 7 181 331 55€
Pennsylvanii 52 8 2,547 641 2,315
Puerto Ricc 2 1 64 144 391
Rhode Islanc 2 — 7C 92¢ 28
South Carolin¢ 8 3 39t 214 881
Tennesse 8 2 42¢ 244 1,252
Virginia 29 2 775 174 2,31¢
Washingtor 3 2 33 44 19¢
West Virginia 33 3 1,40/ 41% 1,83t
Total 257 58 12,11+ 26(C 27,64

We calculated estimated remaining sales life fehe# our cemeteries by dividing the number of ldhéaterment spaces by the number
of interment spaces sold at that cemetery in thet mzent year. For purposes of estimating remgisates life, we defined unsold interment
spaces as unsold burial lots and unsold spacessiting mausoleum crypts as of December 31, 2018 défined interment spaces sold in 2010
as:

» the number of burial lots sold, net of cancellasic
» the number of spaces sold in existing mausoleumtsryet of cancellations; al
« the number of spaces sold in mausoleum cryptaatbdtave not yet built, net of cancellatio

We count the sale of a double-depth burial lohassale of one interment space even though a dalgplth burial lot includes two
interment rights. We count an unsold double-depiielblot as one unsold interment
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space. Because our sales of cremation niches wenaterial, we did not include cremation nicheshia ¢alculation of estimated remaining
sales life. When calculating estimated remainirgssiife, we did not take into account any futueenetery expansion. In addition, sales of an
unusually high or low number of interment spacea particular year affect our calculation of estiatbremaining sales life. Future sales may
differ from previous years’ sales, and actual rerimgj sales life may differ from our estimates. Vég¢calated the weighted average estimated
remaining sales life by aggregating unsold internspaces and interment spaces sold on a stateateyestcompany-wide basis. Based on the
number of interment spaces sold in 2010, we es#irtiett our cemeteries have an aggregate weightrdga/remaining sales life of 260 years.

The following table shows the cemetery propertieg tve owned or operated as of December 31, 202Qpgd by estimated remaining
sales life:

0-25 26 -49 50 -10C 101 -15C 151 -20C Over

years years years years years 200 year:
Alabama — 1 4 1 — 3
California 2 1 3 — — 1
Colorado — — — — — 2
Delaware — — — — — 1
Georgia — 1 2 1 1 2
Hawaii — — — — — 1
lllinois — — 1 1 — 5
Indiana — 1 — — — 10
lowa — — — — — 1
Kansas — — 1 1 — 1
Kentucky — 1 — — 1 —
Maryland 1 2 — 3 1 3
Michigan 1 — 1 1 2 11
Missouri — — — — 1 2
New Jerse 2 3 1 — — —
North Caroline — — 4 1 5 3
Ohio — 1 2 2 1 8
Oregon — — — 3 — 4
Pennsylvanii 3 2 1 4 4 38
Puerto Ricc — — 1 — — 1
Rhode Islanc — — — — — 2
South Carolin: — 1 1 1 1 4
Tennesse — — — — 3 5
Virginia 2 3 2 4 4 14
Washingtor 1 1 1 — — —
West Virginia _ 4 2 2 — 5 20
Total _16 20 27 23 29 142

We believe that we have either satisfactory tilet valid rights to use all of our cemetery prdigst The 21 cemetery properties that we
manage or operate under lotegm operating agreements have nonprofit ownersb#lleve that these cemeteries have either satisfatitle tc
or valid rights to use these cemetery propertiesthat we have valid rights to use these propeutiger the long-term agreements. Although
title to the cemetery properties is subject to emmances such as liens for taxes, encumbrancesrsgpayment obligations, easements,
restrictions and immaterial encumbrances, we ddalitve that any of these burdens should materigtract from the value of these
properties or from our interest in these properties should these burdens materially interferdwhie use of our cemetery properties in the
operation of our business as described above. Mbayr cemetery properties are located in zonebnsgand we believe that cemetery use
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is permitted for those cemeteries either (1) asesgly permitted under applicable zoning ordinan(®sthrough a special exception to
applicable zoning designations; or (3) as an exgstion-conforming use.

Other

In January of 2008, we relocated our home offica 87,000 square foot leased space in Levittownn&dvania. The lease has a term
expiring in 2020, and we consider the space todeg@ate for our present and anticipated futureireauents. We are also tenants under va
leases covering office spaces other than our catpdreadquarters.

In addition, we own a 13,500-square-foot plant utl& County, Pennsylvania, where we manufactureabuaults used in our cemetery
operations, and we own a 4,800-square-foot buildifgarion, Virginia, which is no longer being usiedour business.

ltem 3. Legal Proceedings

We, and certain of our subsidiaries, are partidegal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinatyse of business. We do not expect
these matters to have a material adverse effeationesults of operations and adequate financiadlition or cash flows. We carry insurance
with coverage and coverage limits that we beli@viea customary in the funeral home and cemetenysinigs. Although there can be no
assurance that such insurance will be sufficieprtdect us against all contingencies, we beliéat dur insurance protection is reasonable in
view of the nature and scope of our operations.

Item 4. (Removed and Reservec

ltem 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie
Market Information

Our common units are listed on the NASDAQ Globde8eMarket (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “STON”. 88March 29, 2011, there
were 19,337,588 common units outstanding, repregeat98.0% limited partner interest in us. As adgh 1, 2011, there were 24,255
beneficial holders and 57 unitholders of recorde Tdllowing table sets forth the high and low galiees of our common units for the periods
indicated, based on the daily composite listingahmon unit transactions for the Nasdag.

Price range lDe_cIarled

Distributions
Quarter ended High Low 1)
March 31, 200¢ $15.42 $ 9.5¢ $ 0.555(
June 30, 200 $17.1¢ $11.1¢ $ 0.555(
September 30, 20( $18.0( $14.5( $ 0.555(
December 31, 200 $20.0¢ $16.5( $ 0.555(
March 31, 201( $21.4¢ $18.01 $ 0.555(
June 30, 201 $21.2C $18.2- $ 0.555(
September 30, 201 $26.9¢ $19.7¢ $ 0.565(
December 31, 201 $30.6: $24.9( $ 0.575(

(1) Distributions were declared and paid within 45 dafythe close of each quart
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CASH DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Quarterly Distributions of Available Cash
General

Within 45 days after the end of each quarter, wiedistribute all of our available cash to unithetd of record on the applicable record
date.

Available cash for any quarter consists of cashamd at the end of that quarter, plus cash on frandworking capital borrowings mai
after the end of the quarter but before the datetédrmination of available cash for the quaressicash reserves. Cash and other investments
held in merchandise trusts and perpetual caresteustnot treated as available cash until theyliatgbuted to us.

Conversion of Subordinated Units

During the quarter ended September 30, 2009, wehadinal early conversion test of our subordidateits and accordingly, all
remaining subordinated units converted into commumuits on November 13, 2009.

Any reference to, or any explanation related toosdimated units and their respective distributimts are no longer applicable. All prior
units considered to be subordinated units are rawneon units with equal distribution priority right$ all other common units.

General Partner Interest and Incentive Distribution Rights

Our general partner is entitled to 2% of all dissitions that we make prior to our liquidation. @eneral partner has the right, but not the
obligation, to contribute a proportionate amountapital to us to maintain its 2% general partn&rest. The general partner's 2% interest in
these distributions may be reduced if we issuetmehdil units in the future and our general parth@gs not contribute a proportionate amoul
capital to us to maintain its 2% general partnesrigst.

Our general partner also currently holds incendistribution rights that entitle it to receive ieasing percentages, up to a maximum of
50%, of the cash we distribute from operating sush excess of $0.5125 per unit. The maximumidigion of 50% includes distributions
paid to the general partner on its 2% general paitrierest but does not include any distributithreg the general partner may receive on units
that it owns.

Unregistered Sale of Securities

In connection with and as partial considerationdor second quarter 2010 acquisition, we issued@293unregistered common units
representing a limited partnership interests inalsed at approximately $5.6 million. Further, teneral partner of the Company entered ir
Non-Competition Agreement dated as of June 21, 2010 Rionald P. Robertson, pursuant to which Mr. Risoer agreed not to compete with
the general partner and the companies under itageanent and control. Pursuant to the Non-Competiigreement, the Company issued
9,853 common units on the closing date of the &retien and is obligated to issue additional commuoits valued at $0.5 million over the next
three years as follows: units valued at $0.2 millkalculated by dividing $0.2 million by the peritysrice on the Nasdaq on the close of the
third business day prior to the closing on eactheffirst anniversary and second anniversary ottbsing of the Acquisition, and units valued
at $0.1 million calculated by dividing $0.1 millidsy the per unit price on the Nasdag on the cldéskeothird business day prior to the closing
on the third anniversary of the closing of the Aisifion, subject to adjustments as a result of @mymon unit split, combination or similar
events occurring after the closing. A total of &) common units were issued in 2010 as a restiti®transaction.
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Operating Surplus and Capital Surplus
General

All cash distributed to unitholders is charactedizes either “operating surplus” or “capital surpliwe distribute available cash from
operating surplus differently than available casimf capital surplus. We treat all available cagtriiuted as coming from operating surplus
until the sum of all available cash distributedcsinve began operations equals the operating susplo§the most recent date of determination
of available cash. We will treat any amount disttéal in excess of operating surplus, regardledts sburce, as capital surplus.

Operating Surplus
Operating surplus consists of:
» our cash balance on September 20, 2004;
*  $5.0 million (as described below); pl
» cash receipts from our operations, including caghdsawn from merchandise and perpetual care trpsis

» working capital borrowings made after the end gfiarter but before the date of determination ofaiirey surplus for that quarte
less

» operating expenditures, including cash depositedenchandise and perpetual care trusts, mainterapital expenditures and t
repayment of working capital borrowings; l¢

» the amount of cash reserves for future operatipgeditures and maintenance capital expenditi

As reflected above, operating surplus includes $illlon in addition to our cash balance on Septenf2D, 2004, cash receipts from our
operations and cash from working capital borrowiridggs amount does not reflect actual cash on laadis available for distribution to our
unitholders. Rather, it is a provision that willadxhe us, if we choose, to distribute as operatimglas up to $5.0 million of cash we receive in
the future from non-operating sources, such ad aates outside the ordinary course of businesss sd our equity and debt securities, and
long-term borrowings, that would otherwise be dlstted as capital surplus.

As described above, operating surplus is reducatidgmount of our maintenance capital expenditouésot our expansion capital
expenditures. For our purposes, maintenance capipanditures are those capital expenditures redtir maintain, over the long term, the
operating capacity of our capital assets, and esiparcapital expenditures are those capital experedi that increase, over the long term, the
operating capacity of our capital assets.

Examples of maintenance capital expenditures irctasts to build roads and install sprinkler system our cemetery properties and
purchases of equipment for those purposes ando#t imstances, costs to develop new areas of onetegies. Examples of expansion capital
expenditures include costs to identify and compdetguisitions of new cemeteries and funeral homega construct new funeral homes. Cc
to construct mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts neagdmsidered to be a combination of maintenanciat@xpenditures and expansion
capital expenditures. Our general partner, withcirecurrence of its conflicts committee, may alteczapital expenditures between
maintenance capital expenditures and expansiotat@gipenditures and may determine the period wich maintenance capital expenditt
will be subtracted from operating surplus.

As described above, operating surplus is reducatiddgmount of our operating expenditures. Oumgaship agreement specifically
excludes certain items from the definition of opieigaexpenditures, such as cash expenditures nua@efuisitions or capital improvements,
including, without limitation, all cash expenditsfevhether or not expensed or capitalized for taxcoounting purposes, incurred during the
first four
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years following an acquisition in order to bring thperating capacity of the acquisition to the lexpected to be achieved in the projecti
forming the basis on which our general partner apgal the acquisition. Examples of such cash exparedi include certain maintenance
capital expenditures and cash expenditures thdtaelveve are necessary to develop the pre-need gagsams of businesses or assets we
acquire. Where cash expenditures are made ingaacfuisitions or capital improvements and in farother purposes, our general partner,
with the concurrence of our conflicts committeel] eetermine the allocation between the amountd fi&i each and the period over which ¢
expenditures made for other purposes will be satedafrom operating surplus.

Capital Surplus
Capital surplus consists of:
» Borrowings other than working capital borrowin
» sales of our equity and debt securities;

» sales or other dispositions of assets for caste(dttan sales or other dispositions of excess @nptoperty up to an aggregate
amount in any four-quarter period calculated pumst@our Partnership Agreement; sales or othgragisions of inventory,
accounts receivable and other current assets iorthieary course of business; and sales or ottspoditions of assets as a part of
normal retirements or replacemen

The exception for sales of excess cemetery projredny four-quarter period beginning with the daaending September 30, 2008
generally is calculated by multiplying $1.0 millidwy a fraction, the numerator of which is the numtifecemeteries and funeral homes owned
and operated by us on the last day of the quarterhich the sale occurs and the denominator of wisid 39. Prior to the third quarter of 2008,
the exception for sales of excess cemetery propeasy/$1.0 million, which was subject to increasebygeneral partner, with the concurrence
of its conflicts committee, if the size of our optons increased as a result of acquisitions ceragkpansions.

Distributions of Available Cash from Operating Surplus

The following table illustrates the priority of tlidutions of available cash from operating surgdesveen the unitholders and our gen
partner as a result of the conversion of all suibatéd units during the subordination period, wrédlded in the fourth quarter of 2009. The
amounts set forth in the table in the column titleidrginal Percentage Interest in Distributionsé éine percentage interests of our general
partner and the unitholders in any available casitmfoperating surplus we distribute up to and idiclg the corresponding amount in the
column titled “Total Quarterly Distribution Targamount per Common Unit,” until the available castn operating surplus that we distribute
reaches the next target distribution level, if aftye percentage interests shown for our generatgrainclude its 2% general partner interest
and assume the general partner has contributedddifonal capital required to maintain its 2% gaheartner interest and has not transferred
the incentive distribution rights.

Marginal Percentage Interest in

Total Quarterly Distribution Distributions
Target Amount Common General
per Common Unit Unitholders Partner
First Target Distributiol up to $0.512! 98% 2%
Second Target Distributic Above $0.5125 to $0.58 85% 15%
Third Target Distributior Above $0.5875 to $0.71; 75% 25%
Thereaftel Above $0.712¢ 50% 50%

30



Table of Contents

Distributions of Available Cash from Capital Surplus

We do not currently expect to make any distribuitiohavailable cash from capital surplus. Howete@the extent that we make any
distributions of available cash from capital sugplthey will be made in the following manner:

» first, 98% to common unitholders, pro rata, and 2% togaumeral partner, until we have distributed for ee@mmon unit an amou
of available cash from capital surplus equal toittitgal public offering price

* seconc, 98% to the common unitholders, pro rata, and @¥%ur general partner, until we have distributadeach common unit &
amount of available cash from capital surplus etahy unpaid arrearages in payment of the minimuarterly distribution on tt
common units; an

» thereafterwe will make all distributions of available casbrr capital surplus as if they were from operatiaghis

The partnership agreement treats a distributiarapftal surplus as the repayment of the initiat price from the initial public offering,
which is a return of capital. The initial publicfefing price less any distributions of capital dugpper unit is referred to as the “unrecovered
initial unit price.” Each time a distribution of capital surplus is matle minimum quarterly distribution and the tardistribution levels will b
reduced in the same proportion as the correspondihgrtion in the unrecovered initial unit price.

Because distributions of capital surplus will regltice minimum quarterly distribution, after anytleése distributions are made, it may be
easier for the general partner to receive incertisibutions. Any distribution of capital surplbsfore the unrecovered initial unit price is
reduced to zero cannot be applied, however, tpalyenent of the minimum quarterly distribution oyanrearages in the payment of the
minimum quarterly distribution on the common urfiitam prior quarters.

If we distribute capital surplus on a unit in anamt equal to the initial unit price and have paidarrearages on the common units, the
minimum quarterly distribution and the target dsttion levels will be reduced to zero. Once th@imum quarterly distribution and target
distribution levels are reduced to zero, all subsed distributions will be from operating surplusth 50% being paid to the holders of units
and 50% to our general partner.

Adjustment of Minimum Quarterly Distribution and Ta rget Distribution Levels

In addition to adjusting the minimum quarterly distition and target distribution levels to reflactlistribution of capital surplus, if we
combine our units into fewer units or subdivide anits into a greater number of units, we will ppapnately adjust:

* the minimum quarterly distributiol
» the target distribution level
» the unrecovered initial unit pric

For example, if a two-foone split of the common units should occur, theimirnm quarterly distribution, the target distributitevels ant
the unrecovered initial unit price would each bdueed to 50% of its initial level. We will not makey adjustment by reason of the issuanc
additional units for cash or property.

In addition, if legislation is enacted or if exiggilaw is modified or interpreted in a manner ttetses us to become taxable as a
corporation or otherwise subject to taxation agmtity for federal, state or local income tax pugs, we will reduce the minimum quarterly
distribution and the target distribution levels &ach quarter by multiplying each distribution lelye a fraction, the numerator of which is
available cash for that quarter and the denomiraftamich is the sum of available cash for thatrtgraplus our general partner’s estimate of
our
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aggregate liability for the income taxes payablednson of that legislation or interpretation. fie extent that the actual tax liability differs
from the estimated tax liability for any quartdretdifference will be accounted for in subsequestrtgrs.

Distributions of Cash Upon Liquidation

If we dissolve in accordance with the partnerslgpeament, we will sell or otherwise dispose of assets in a process called liquidation.
We will first apply the proceeds of liquidationttee payment of our creditors. We will distributeyaemaining proceeds to the unitholders and
our general partner, in accordance with their rethpe capital account balances, as adjusted teaeéiny taxable gain or loss upon the sale or
other disposition of our assets in liquidation.

The allocations of taxable gain upon liquidatioa antended, to the extent possible, to allow thidérs of common units to receive
proceeds equal to their unrecovered initial uritgplus the minimum quarterly distribution for tgearter during which liquidation occurs p
any arrearages in the payment of the minimum qugudéstribution on the common units from prior gigas prior to any allocation of gain to
the common units. There may not be sufficient téxahin upon our liquidation to enable the hold#rsommon units to fully recover all of
these amounts. Any additional taxable gain wilebecated in a manner intended to allow our gengainer to receive proceeds in respect of
its incentive distribution rights.

If there are losses upon liquidation, they wilsfibe allocated to the general partner and thémetcommon units and the general partner
interest until the capital accounts of the commpitsthave been reduced to zero. Any remainingwib$e allocated to the general partner
interest.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

See the equity compensation plan table set forBain 111, Item 12 “Security Ownership of CertaierBeficial Owners and Management
and Related Stockholder Matters.”
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The following tables present selected financial apdrating data of the Company for the periodsamndf the dates indicated derived
from our audited consolidated financial statemefit® following tables should be read in conjunctidgth “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems”and our audited historical consolidated financiatesments and accompanying nc
thereto set forth in this Annual Report on FormKLOFhe 2009 results have been restated. Pleasetoefote 18 of our consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8 for a more detailsdussion.

Table 1: Operating and net income data

Year ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(As Restated
(in, thousands, except for unit data’

Cemetery revenue

Merchandise $ 94,89¢ $ 87,83t $ 90,96¢ $ 74,50¢ $ 58,21¢

Services 40,95 36,94 36,89¢ 28,54, 25,55¢

Investment and othe 35,891 33,05t 31,62 31,47¢ 25,22
Funeral home revenu

Merchandise 10,43t 9,701 9,24¢ 4,65¢ 2,69¢

Services 15,11 13,66¢ 14,71« 6,12} 3,422
Total revenue 197,29. 181,20: 183,44t 145,31 115,11
Cost of goods sold (exclusive of depreciation sheearatel’

below):

Perpetual car 5,09¢ 4,727 4,32¢ 3,55: 3,10¢

Merchandise 18,43¢ 17,06: 18,55¢ 16,11¢ 11,58:
Cemetery expens 48,78¢ 41,24¢ 41,65 30,76 24,34
Selling expens 38,24: 34,12 34,80¢ 29,24: 23,18¢
General and administrative expel 24,59: 22,49¢ 21,37: 15,68 12,80!

Overhead (including unit-based compensation of $@20D10,
$1,576 in 2009, $2,262 in 2008, $4,741 in 2007 $h@12 in

2006 (1) 24,37¢ 22,37( 21,29: 24,99: 19,79
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,84t 6,52¢ 5,02¢ 3,891 3,501
Funeral home expen:

Merchandise 4,001 3,71¢ 3,68¢ 1,57¢ 1,004

Services 9,752 9,27¢ 9,07: 4,19¢ 2,28¢

Other 6,18¢ 6,01¢ 6,30¢ 2,64¢ 1,547
Acquisition related cost 5,71F 1,072 — — —
Total costs and expens 194,02! 168,63 166,09¢ 132,67: 103,15!
Operating profil 3,267 12,56¢ 17,35( 12,64: 11,95¢
Gain on sale of funeral hon — 434 — — —
Gain on acquisition 7,15 — — — —
Increase (decrease) in fair value of interest saiap 4,72¢ (2,687) — — —
Expenses related to refinancing — 2,24; — 157 —
Interest expens 21,97 14,41( 12,71« 9,07¢ 7,491
Income (loss) before income tax (6,829 (6,337) 4,63¢ 3,411 4,467
Income taxes (benefi

State (24%) 80¢ 304 39¢ 43¢

Federal (5,139 (2,759 (224) 227 98¢
Total income taxe (5,389 (1,945 8C 625 1,427
Net income (loss $ (1,44¢ $ (4,389 $ 4,55¢ $ 2,78¢ $ 3,04(C
Net income (loss) per limited partner (common) |
Basic $ (0.10 $ (0.3 $ 0.3¢ $ 0.3 $ 0.3
Diluted $ (0.10 $ (0.3¢) $ 0.3¢ $ 0.3C $ 0.3
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(1) Includes a writ-off of $571,000 in 2007 incurred in connection wétipotential acquisition of a group of cemetenreMichigan that we
determined were unlikely to take place. Also inesidbonuses of $1.8 million, $3.2 million and $2.i0iom in 2010, 2007 and 2006
respectively, unit-based compensation of $0.7 am|l$1.6 million, $2.3 million, $4.7 million and $1million in 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007
and 2006 respectively and an $883,000 charge éowtite-off of our investment in a management agrest in 2006 for an agreement

that was subsequently terminat

(2) Represents wri-downs in previously capitalized debt issuance ci

Table 2: Balance Sheet Data

Cemetery propert

Total assets (1

Deferred cemetery revenues, net
Total debi

Total partner capital

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(As Restated
(in thousands)

$ 283,46( $ 228,04 $228,49¢ $187,55: $171,71:
1,147,11! 855,30 738,24( 816,86: 629,59:

388,40: 259,32¢ 193,01° 220,94 196,10:

220,39: 183,19¢ 160,93¢ 146,16 103,49:
$ 128,19: $ 111,93 $119,38¢ $136,74¢ $101,28t¢

(1) Includes the fair value of assets held in the meemdise and perpetual care trusts. Refer to Nofeolir)Consolidated Financial Stateme
for a detailed discussion of the consolidationsute these asset

(2) Represents revenues to be recognized fromalkeo§ merchandise and services. Refer to NoteduinfConsolidated Financial Statements
for a detailed discussion on the revenue recognitides.

Table 3: Cash Flow and Other Financial Data

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
(As Restated
(in thousands, except unit data)
Net cash provided by (used ii
Operating activitie: $ 3,10¢ $ 14,72¢ $ 21,14« $ 18,97: $ 18,33¢
Investing activities (49,55) (22,180 (17,04¢ (86,77) (14,625
Financing activitie: 40,50: 3,86% (10,830 71,69( (725)
Change in assets and liabilities that provideddusash
Merchandise trus (13,519 (6,137 (45%) (5,22%) (3,519
Merchandise liability (2,40)) (4,337 (5,36€) (7,179 (8,109)
Capital expenditure
Maintenance capital expenditut 7,87¢ 2,52¢ 4,80¢ 3,051 2,05¢
Expansion capital expenditures, including acquiag 41,32; 4,77( 12,23} 83,72¢ 20,53:
Distributions declared per common u $ 2.250( $ 2.220( $ 2.160( $ 2.045( $ 1.950(
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Table 4: Operating Data

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Interments performe 41,55¢ 37,78 38,86: 29,38( 26,00:
Cemetery revenues per interment perfori $ 4141 $ 4,19¢ $ 4,10¢ $ 457¢ $ 4,19
Interment rights sold (1
Lots 24,35 22,63 22,55: 17,50¢ 13,76¢
Mausoleum crypts (including g-construction’ 2,58¢ 2,31¢ 1,881 2,314 2,361
Niches 1,071 88¢ 864 602 44C
Net interment rights sold (. 28,00¢ 25,84 25,29 20,42t 16,57(
Number of contracts writte 92,66 83,04: 80,14« 63,02¢ 54,67¢
Aggregate contract amount, in thousands (excluititegest) $221,89¢ $197,78° $187,09: $138,58¢ $116,40
Average amount per contract (excluding inter $ 2395 $ 238, $ 233 $ 2,19¢ $ 2,12¢
Number of pr-need contracts writte 45,19: 39,04: 35,59¢ 29,54¢ 24,99¢
Aggregate pr-need contract amount, in thousands (excludingestg $143,02. $124,99° $115,02: $ 89,48¢ $ 74,30
Average amount per g-need contract (excluding intere $ 3168 $ 3,202 $ 3,231 $ 3,02¢ $ 2,97-
Number of e-need contracts writte 47,46¢ 44,00( 44,54t 33,48( 29,67¢
Aggregate «need contract amount, in thousands (excludingest $ 78,87: $ 72,79( $ 72,06¢ $ 49,10z $ 42,10¢
Average amount per-need contract (excluding intere $ 1662 $ 165« $ 161t $ 1467 $ 1,41¢

(1) Net of cancellations. Sales of doL-depth burial lots are counted as two se
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ltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

You should read the following discussion of oumfigial condition and results of operations in canfion with the consolidated financ
statements and notes thereto included in ItemtBi®fAnnual Report on Form 10-K. Those notes alge giore detailed information regarding
the basis of presentation for the following infotioa. Further, our 2009 results have been rest&te@dse refer to Note 18 of our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8 for a megailed discussion.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this Annual Repofform 10-K, including, but not limited to, infoation regarding the status and
progress of our operating activities, the plans elnjdctives of our management, assumptions reggualin future performance and plans, and
any financial guidance provided, as well as ceritddiormation in other filings with the SEC and eldesre are forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securittes of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities BExgle Act of 1934. The words “believe,”
“may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate; “intend,” “project,” “expect,” “predict” and sintar expressions identify these forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statesiard made subject to certain risks and unceraititiat could cause actual results to differ
materially from those stated, including, but natited to, the following: uncertainties associataéthiuture revenue and revenue growth; the
effect of the current economic downturn; the impeEfadur significant leverage on our operating pjang ability to service our debt and pay
distributions; the decline in the fair value ofteém equity and debt securities held in our trusts;ability to attract, train and retain an addggua
number of sales people; uncertainties associatddtiaw volume and timing of pre-need sales of cemedervices and products; increased use
of cremation; changes in the death rate; changteeipolitical or regulatory environments, incluglipotential changes in tax accounting and
trusting policies; our ability to successfully irephent a strategic plan relating to producing ofiggamprovements, strong cash flows and
further deleveraging; uncertainties associated thighintegration or anticipated benefits of ourer@cacquisitions or any future acquisitions;
ability to complete and fund additional acquisigpour ability to maintain effective disclosure trmts and procedures and internal control ¢
financial reporting; and various other uncertamtssociated with the death care industry and perrations in particular.

When considering forward-looking statements, yooudth keep in mind the risk factors and other cagtiy statements set forth under
Risk Factors in Part I, “Item 1A”. We assume noigdion to update or revise any forward-lookingetaents made herein or any other
forward-looking statements made by us, whetherras@at of new information, future events or othisev

Organization

We were organized on April 2, 2004 to own and ofgetfae cemetery and funeral home business condbgt&brnerstone and its
subsidiaries. On September 20, 2004, in connegtitmour initial public offering of common unitspeesenting limited partner interests,
Cornerstone contributed to us substantially altoéssets, liabilities and businesses, and thewerted into CFSI LLC, a limited liability
company. This transfer represented a reorganizafientities under common control and was recortddstorical cost. In exchange for these
assets, liabilities and businesses, CFSI LLC reckb64,782 common units and 4,239,782 subordinatéd representing limited partner
interests in us.

Cornerstone had been founded in 1999 by membearsrahanagement team and a private equity investfiramtwhich we refer to as
McCown De Leeuw, in order to acquire a group of &@Betery properties and 4 funeral homes. Sindditha, Cornerstone, succeeded by us,
acquired 133 additional cemeteries and 54 funeyailds, entered into three long term cemetery opeyaijreements, built two funeral homes,
exited from one long term cemetery operating agesgrand sold one cemetery and two funeral homes.

Capitalization

On September 20, 2004, we completed our initialipwifering of 3,675,000 common units at a pri¢es20.50 per unit representing a
42.5% interest in us. On September 23, 2004, weeaolkadditional 551,250
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common units to the underwriters in connection wlith exercise of their ovefotment option and redeemed an equal numbermhomn unit:
from CFSI LLC at a cost of $5.3 million. Subsequenthis transaction, there were 4,239,782 commuis and 4,239,782 subordinated units
outstanding. Total gross proceeds from the intidllic offering and the exercise of the over-alletrnoption were $86.6 million, before
offering costs and underwriting discounts. Net pests, after deducting underwriting discounts bédeepaying offering costs, from these
sales of common units was $80.8 million.

Concurrent with the initial public offering, our wly owned subsidiary, StoneMor Operating LLC, disdsubsidiaries (collectively
“StoneMor LLC"), all as borrowers, issued and s8D.0 million in aggregate principal amount of eersecured notes in a private placement
and entered into a $12.5 million revolving creditifity and a $22.5 million acquisition facility thi a group of banks. The net proceeds of the
initial public offering and the sale of senior sesmlinotes were used to repay the debt and assbeiedeued interest of approximately $135.1
million of CFSI LLC and $15.7 million of fees angpenses associated with the initial public offeramgl the sale of senior secured notes. The
remaining funds have been used for general patipepsirposes, including the construction of mauswlerypts and lawn crypts, the purche
of equipment needed to install burial vaults arelabquisition of cemetery and funeral home location

On December 21, 2007, we completed a follow onipwudffering of 2,650,000 common units at a pricé20.26 per unit representing a
22.2% interest in us, making a total of 8,505,7@mmon units outstanding. In conjunction with thifedng, our general partner contributed
$1.1 million to maintain its 2% general partneenest. Total gross proceeds from this public affgfivere $54.8 million, before offering costs
and underwriting discounts. Net proceeds, afteudgg underwriting discounts but before payingedafig costs, from these sales of common
units were $51.8 million.

Concurrent with this follow on public offering, $teMor LLC, all as borrowers, issued $17.5 millionaiggregate principal amount of
senior secured notes. The net proceeds of thecpoitidéiring and the sale of senior secured notesbanwwings of $6.3 million under our
acquisition line of credit were used to purchased®eteries and 30 funeral homes from Service Catipo International (NYSE: SCI).

On November 24, 2009, we completed the secondwadio public offering of 1,275,000 common units girece of $17.00 per unit
representing a 9.5% interest in us. On Decemb20d9, we sold an additional 191,250 common unitimection with the exercise of the
underwriter’s over-allotment option. In conjunctiasith this offering, our general partner contritdi0.5 million to maintain its 2% general
partner interest. Total gross proceeds from thesesactions were $25.4 million, before offeringtsa@nd underwriting discounts. Net proce:
after deducting underwriting discounts and offeraxgpenses were $24.2 million.

Concurrent with this second follow on public offegj certain of our subsidiaries made a privateroffeto eligible purchasers of $150.0
million aggregate principal amount of senior natas 2017. The net proceeds from this offering rafézlucting the original issue discount and
fees were approximately $138.1 million. The netcpeals of the second follow on public offering, gemeral partner contribution and the
offering of senior notes of $162.5 million was usegay off debt and accrued interest of approxatya$154.9 million. The remaining
proceeds will be used for general partnership ppepo

On September 22, 2010, we completed an additiatlalf on public offering of 1,725,000 common units;luding an option to purcha
up to 225,000 common units to cover over-allotmertigch was exercised in full by the underwritertsa @rice of $24.00 per unit, representing
a 10.9% interest in us. Total gross proceeds fiwead transactions were $41.4 million, before affgdosts and underwriting discounts. Net
proceeds of the offering, including the relateditzdgontribution of our General Partner, after detthg underwriting discounts and offering
expenses, were $39.6 million. The proceeds wera tespay off debt under our credit facilities.

On February 9, 2011, we completed a follow on pubffering of 3,756,155 common units, includingagtion to purchase up to 731,155
common units to cover over-allotments which wageged in full by the underwriters, at a price @#5 per unit, representing a 19.4%
interest in us. Total gross proceeds from thesesaetions were approximately $109.9 million, befoffering costs and underwriting discounts.
. Net proceeds
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of the offering, including the related capital adimition of our General Partner, after deductingemwriting discounts and offering expenses,
were approximately $106.0 million. The proceedsengsed to pay off debt under our credit faciliaesl $35.0 million of debt outstanding on
our Amended NPA Notes. As part of this transactgailing unitholders also sold 1,849,366 commornsui/e did not receive any of the
proceeds generated by the sale of any units hettebgelling unitholders.

Overview
Cemetery Operations

We are currently the second largest owner and tpes&cemeteries in the United States. As of Ddwem31, 2010, we operated 257
cemeteries in 25 states and Puerto Rico. We owrof8tese cemeteries, and we operate the remaiinmder management or operating
agreements with the nonprofit cemetery corporattbas own the cemeteries. As a result of the ageatsnother control arrangements and
applicable accounting rules, we have treated haxfe cemeteries as acquisitions for accountinggses. There were three cemeteries to
which we entered into a long-term operating agre#rimethe third quarter of 2010, and three cemegeio which we entered into long-term
operating agreements in 2009 that did not quaBfaequisitions for accounting purposes. The resfiltgperations of these 6 cemeteries are
included in our results of operations from the de¢ebegan operating the properties.

We sell cemetery products and services both dirtieof death, which we refer to as at-need, aimt po the time of death, which we
refer to as pre-need. During the year ended Dece81he€2010, we performed 41,556 burials and sol@@Binterment rights (net of
cancellations) compared to 37,782 and 25,842 i® 200 38,863 and 25,297 in 2008, respectively. Gempeevenues accounted for
approximately 87.1%, 87.1% and 86.9% during thesyeaded December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, regpkycti

Our results of operations for our Cemetery Openatiare determined primarily by the volume of saliggroducts and services and the
timing of product delivery and performance of seed. We derive our cemetery revenues primarily from

» at-need sales of cemetery interment rights, mexibarand services, which we recognize as revenea wie have delivered the
related merchandise or performed the sen

» pre-need sales of cemetery interment rights, which aregally recognize as revenues when we have celléd% of the sale
price from the custome

» pre-need sales of cemetery merchandise, which we ré&mgs revenues when we satisfy the criteria sigeldifelow for delivery o
the merchandise to the custorr

» pre-need sales of cemetery services which we recogsizevenues when we perform the services for thmer;

* investment income from assets held in our merchanust, which we recognize as revenues when lixedée underlying
merchandise or perform the underlying servicesrandgnize the associated sales revenue as discaissee;

» investment income from perpetual care trusts, eisturealized gains and losses on the sale of &ssstts, which we recognize as
revenues as the income is earned in the trust

e other items, such as interest income or-need installment contracts and sales of |

The criteria for recognizing revenue related togake of cemetery merchandise is that such merismisl“delivered” to our customer,
which generally means that:

» the merchandise is complete and ready for instatiaor

» the merchandise is either installed or stored aif&site location, at no additional cost to usd apecifically identified with a
particular customer; ar

» the risks and rewards of ownership have passduktoustomet
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We generally satisfy these delivery criteria byghasing the merchandise and either installing ib@ncemetery property or storing it, at
the customer’s request, in third-party warehouaesp additional cost to us, until the time of neafith respect to burial vaults, we install the
vaults rather than storing them to satisfy thewaeli criteria. When merchandise is stored for damsr, we may issue a certificate of
ownership to the customer to evidence the trariefére customer of the risks and rewards of ownrsh

Preneed Sales

As previously noted, we do not recognize revenupremeed sales of merchandise and services uatilave delivered the merchandise
or performed the services. Accordingly, deferracereies from pre-need sales and related merchamditesarnings are reflected as a liability
on our balance sheet in deferred cemetery revenees,

Total deferred cemetery revenues, net, also insldeéerred revenues from pre-need sales that wéeeeel into by entities we acquired
prior to the time we acquired them. This includethtthose entities that we acquired at the timtheformation of Cornerstone and other
subsequent acquisitions. Our profit margin on preehsales entered into by entities we subsequaadlyired is generally less than our profit
margin on other pre-need sales because, in aca®deth industry practice at the time these acqune-need sales were made, none of the
selling expenses were recognized at the time ef #a a result, we are required to recognize ahefexpenses (including deferred selling
expenses) associated with these acquired pre-adesivghen we recognize the revenues from that sale.

Pre-need products and services are typically soldminstallment basis. Subject to state law, tikeséracts are normally subject to
“cooling-off” periods, generally between three ahiity days, during which the customer may eleatdacel the contract and receive a full
refund of amounts paid. Also subject to applicaltége law, we are generally permitted to retainatmeunts already paid on contracts,
including any amounts that were required to be digpa into trust, on contracts cancelled after‘twling-off” period. Historical post
“cooling-off” period cancellations total approxinefyt 10% of our praieed sales (based on contract dollar amountgje [ptoducts and servic
purchased under a pre-need contract are neededdonent before payment has been made in fullegaly the balance due must be
immediately paid in full.

Contracts related to pre-need installment salesigwally for a period not to exceed 60 months, wakments of principal and interest
required. Pre-need sales contracts normally coptaimisions for both principal and interest. Fargl contracts that do not bear a market rate
of interest, we impute such interest based uporptinee rate plus 150 basis points, which resulted iate of 4.75%, 4.75% and 9.0% during
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

We normally offer prepayment incentives to cust@amehnose pre-need contracts are longer than 36 mamith bear interest. If those
customers pay their contracts in full in less th@mmonths, we rebate the interest that we haveaelil from them. Even though this rebate
policy reduces the amount of interest income weiwecon our accounts receivable, the net effeahigicrease in our immediate cash flow.

In certain cases, pmeeed contracts will be cancelled before they altg fiaid. In these circumstances, we are genephnitted to retai
amounts already paid to us, including any amouraswere required to be deposited into trust. htage other cases, the products and services
purchased under a pre-need contract are neededdonent before payment has been made in futhdse cases, we are generally entitled to
be immediately paid in full for any amounts stilitstanding.

At-need Sales

Revenue on at-need merchandise sales is defertiéthertime that such merchandise is deliverede THy between the contract
origination and delivery is normally minimal. At-ee sales of products and services are
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generally required to be paid for in full at thendi of sale. At that time, we will deposit amougts Jegally required, into our perpetual care
trusts. We are not required to deposit any amduais our at-need sales into merchandise trusts.

Expense:
We analyze and categorize our operating expensiedl@ss:
1. Cost of goods sold and selling expen

Cost of goods sold reflects the actual cost of pasing products and performing services. Salegmietery lots and interment rights,
whether at-need or pre-need, typically have a lawest of goods sold than other merchandise thegele

Selling expenses consist of salesperson and saleagament payroll costs, including selling commissj bonuses and employee
benefits. We self-insure medical expenses of oyleyees up to certain individual and aggregatettimaver which we have stdpss insuranc
coverage. Our self-insurance policy may resultariability in our future operating expenses. Sell@xpenses also includes other costs of
obtaining product and service sales, such as asivgrt marketing, postage and telephone.

Direct costs associated with pre-need sales of eeynmerchandise and services, such as sales ceimnmgsand cost of goods sold, are
reflected in the balance sheet in deferred sedimdjobtaining costs and deferred cemetery reveneésiespectively and are expensed as the
merchandise is delivered or the services are paddr Indirect costs, such as marketing and adiregtiosts, are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

2. Cemetery Expense
Cemetery expenses represent the cost to maintdinepair our cemetery properties and consist pifynaf labor and equipment, utilitie
real estate taxes and other maintenance itemsirReg&essary to maintain our cemeteries are egpleasthey are incurred. Other

maintenance costs required over the long term iataia the operating capacity of our cemeterieshsas to build roads and install sprinkler
systems, are capitalized.

3. General and administrative expen

General and administrative expenses, which donubide corporate overhead, primarily includes pemgbcosts, insurance and other
costs necessary to maintain our cemetery offices.

4. Depreciation and amortizatic

We depreciate our property and equipment on agsitdine basis over their estimated useful lives.
5. Acquisition related cost
On January 1, 2009, we adopted Accounting Standaodgfication No. 805 (“ASC 805”). Among other tigi;y, ASC 805 requires that

costs incurred in acquisition related activitieseipensed as incurred. Acquisition related costsicte legal fees and other third party costs
incurred in acquisition related activities.

Funeral Home Operations

As of December 31, 2010, we owned and operated®m®&&l homes. These properties are located in sgsmestates and Puerto Rico.
Thirty-one of our funeral homes are located ongtminds of cemeteries that we own.
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We derive revenues at our funeral homes from tleecfduneral home merchandise, including casketsralated funeral merchandise,
and services, including removal and preparatioreofains, the use of our facilities for visitatiovgrship and performance of funeral services
and transportation services. We sell these seraicdanerchandise almost exclusively at the timeeefd utilizing salaried licensed funeral
directors. Funeral home revenues accounted foloappately 12.9%, 12.9% and 13.1% during the yeaded December 31, 2010, 2009 and

2008 respectively.

Pursuant to state law, a portion of proceeds redeirom pre-need funeral service contracts is ot trust while amounts used to defray
the initial administrative costs are not. All intreent earnings generated by the assets in the(tnetiiding realized gains and losses) are
deferred until the associated merchandise is deliver the services are performed. The balandees&mounts in these trusts is included wi
the merchandise trusts above.

We generally include revenues from pre-need casiles in the results of our cemetery operationsvdyer, some states require that
caskets be sold by funeral homes, and revenuesdasket sales in those states are included inumarél home results.

Our funeral home operating expenses consist priynafricompensation to our funeral directors, dagay costs of managing the busin
and the cost of caskets.

Corporate

We incur fixed costs for corporate overhead pritgddr centralized functions, such as payroll, agtting, collections and professional
fees. We also incur expenses relating to reporggirements under U.S. federal securities lawscaniin other additional expenses of being

a public company.

Revenues by State
The following table shows the percentage of reveraiibutable to each of the states in which werafe for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008
Alabama 4.6% 4.€% 4.7%
California 9.7% 10.2% 11.(%
Florida 0.1% 0.1% 1.8%
Georgia 1.6% 1.€% 1.8%
Illinois 2.7% 2.4% 2.4%
Indiana 5.2% 2.4% 2.6%
Kansas 1.1% 1.€% 1.5%
Maryland 6.6% 7.2% 8.C%
Michigan 5.C% 1.2% 1.3%
Missouri 1.3% 1.5% 1.6%
New Jerse! 7.8% 8.C% 9.8%
North Caroling 6.2% 6.2% 5.7%
Ohio 9.3% 8.2% 6.6%
Oregon 3.2% 4.2% 3.7%
Pennsylvanii 15.2% 17.(% 17.€%
South Carolin: 2.2% 2.5% 1.1%
Tennesse 2.4% 2.4% 2.1%
Virginia 7.1% 8.1% 8.5%
West Virginia 5.9% 7.2% 6.7%
All others 2.7% 3.C% 1.5%
Total 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
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Principal Products and Services

The following table shows the percentage of reveraiibutable to our principal products, serviaed other items during the periods
presented:

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Pre-need sales
Burial lots 9.6% 9.8% 9.1%
Mausoleum crypt 5.2% 4.7% 5.7%
Markers 4.6% 5.€% 4.8%
Grave marker bast 1.2% 1.4% 1.2%
Burial vaults 5.6% 5.C% 4.4%
Lawn crypts 1.5% 1.C% 0.8%
Caskets 1.C% 1.5% 2.5%
Initial openings and closings ( 6.2% 5.8% 5.1%
Other (2) 5.3% 5.2% 3.5%
Total pre-need sale 40.2% 40.2% 37.1%
Interest from pre-need sale: 2.9% 3.2% 2.9%
Investment income from trusts:
Perpetual care trus 7.3% 7.C% 7.5%
Merchandise trust 2.1% 3.8% 3.6%
Total investment income from trus 9.4% 10.£% 11.1%
At-need sale:
Openings and closings ( 13.(% 12.5% 12.8%
Markers 7.7% 7.€% 9.4%
Burial lots 3.8% 3.¢% 4.C%
Mausoleum crypt 1.3% 1.€% 1.5%
Grave marker bast 1.6% 1.5% 2.2%
Foundations and inscriptions ( 1.C% 1.C% 1.2%
Burial vaults 1.7% 1.8% 2.C%
Other (5) 2.5% 1.8% 1.9%
Total a-need sale 32.6% 31.7% 35.(%
Funeral home revenue: 12.€% 12.€% 13.1%
Other revenues (6) 1.9% 1.2% 0.8%
Total revenues 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

(1) Installation of the burial vault into the grour

(2) Includes revenues from niches, mausoleum ligh&snations, pet cemeteries, installation of burialltsaand markers sold to o
customers by third parties and pre-need sales maxmnection with the relocation of other cemetiatgrment rights. Also includes
document processing fees on pre-need contracteasdrom sales of travel care protection, whichets shipping costs of a body if
death occurs more than 100 miles from the placesiflence

(3) Installation of the burial vault into the grounddathe placement of the casket into the ve

(4) Installation of the marker on the ground and iiiption.

(5) Includes revenues from lawn crypts, decorativettighstalled on mausoleum crypts, installationbwial vaults, markers sold to o
customers by third parties, cremation fees and meci-processing fees on-need contract:

(6) Includes sales of manufactured burial vaults tadtparties, sales of cemetery and undeveloped tardimissions from sales of |-need
funeral and death benefit insurance policies predithrough a thir-party insurer and other miscellaneous reven
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Cash Flow

Pre-need sales often generate short-term castdidisits due to the timing of when we receive antedrom customers, pay related
commissions and deposit amounts into the perpetuwaland merchandise trusts.

We generally require customers to make a down payorea pre-need contract of at least 5% of tha &atles price. When we receive a
payment from a customer on a pre-need contracfirstaleposit the requisite portion into trust equired by state law. Then, we pay all or a
portion of the commission due to the salespersspamsible for the sale up to a maximum of totahaaseived. In many cases, the sum of the
commission paid and amount deposited into the gxsteds the total cash received, causing a shrontdash flow deficit.

If the down payment received from the customewissufficient to cover the entire commission, tamaining commission is paid from
subsequent installments, but only to the extei®08b of the cash received from the customer in @athllment. Again, in the near-term there
is a possibility that the sum of the commissiordaid amount deposited into the trust exceedsthedash received, causing an additional
short-term cash flow deficit. These short-term ciefiare eventually recaptured as the total ammagived exceeds the commissions paid and
we meet the requirements for withdrawing amounpodiéed into the merchandise trust.

The following example assumes a pre-need contrébtartotal sales price of $1,000, a 10% down payree40% perpetual care and
merchandise trusting requirement, a 15% sales cesion and a one-year term without interest, ourtsieom cash flow would be as follows:

* When we receive the $100 down payment from theoowost, we would deposit 40% of the payment, or $40ust and pay 100%
the commission due to the salesperson, or $15@rdytto the extent that we received cash fromctigomer, or $100. Our total
cash obligations would be $140 even though we medgived $100 from the customer. We would use $4lpoperating cash to
pay the sales commission and, at this time, woalddsh flow negative on the contre

» In month one, when we receive the first $75 instalit from the customer, we would deposit 40%, @, $&o trust and pay 100%
of the balance of the commission due to the sadesop, or $50. Our total cash obligations woul$8@ even though we only

received $75 from the customer. We would use $&uofoperating cash to pay sales commission anddnstill be cash flow
negative on the contrac

* In month two, when we receive the next $75 instafitrfrom the customer, we would deposit 40%, or, $&0 trust, but we would

have no further commission due on the sale. Theairdng $45 received from the customer would go kiattk our operating cash,
and we would break even on the contract on a-flow basis.

» In month three, when we receive the next $75 ilmtait from the customer, we would deposit 40%, 3%,$nto trust and th
remaining $45 would go back into our operating c#shhis month, we would become cash flow positivethe contrac

We can accelerate our operating cash flow by psinlgaand delivering many of our products in advaofcine time of customer need,
either by installing them in the customer’s busphce (in the case of burial vaults) or storingrtlier the customer, and by performing certain
services prior to the time of need. For exampléhiwithe allowances of state law, we purchase buaialts, grave markers and caskets, and
perform initial openings and closings to insta# thurial vault in the ground before the time ofché&’hen we satisfy the criteria for delivery of
pre-need products or perform pre-need servicesre/@ermitted to withdraw the related principal angt income and capital gains that we
have not already withdrawn from the merchandissttrand we recognize the amounts withdrawn, inalg@mounts previously withdrawn, as
revenues. Advance purchasing helps us avoid thatiwegcash flow impact of depositing significanttans of our sales proceeds in trusts
while earning rates on those trusts that are ctlyrézss than interest rates we pay on our debth&aextent that we can purchase and deliver
products and perform services in advance of the tfmeed, we can accelerate,
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within the limitations of GAAP, the timing of ouevenue recognition for these products and servikgs result, decisions made by our
management to purchase and deliver products conpeervices in advance, for cash flow or othesoes, affects the timing of revenue
recognition from the underlying sales.

We are somewhat limited, however, in our abilityptochase some products in advance of the timeed because of their availability.
Given our large volume of preeed sales, it is unlikely that our suppliers cquiovide, or we could manufacture, all of the pratduincluded ir
our pre-need backlog at any given time. For exanvpdegenerally need more vaults per year to fulfilt preneed contract obligations, than
currently manufacture at our plant. We must puretesy excess from third party suppliers who musi ateet the demands of other cemetery
operators.

We currently purchase burial vaults from thpdrty providers to assist us in meeting the demahdsir accelerated purchase and deli
program. We are also limited in our ability to merh certain services in advance of the time of rissmhuse of their nature or our resources.
For example, we cannot perform the final opening) @nsing, which is the placing of the casket ithte ground, or inscribe the date of deat!
the monument or marker until the time of need. BE¥&re chose to perform all of the services in pte-need backlog that could be performed
in advance of need, such as installing all of theab vaults in our pre-need backlog, we would catrently have the labor, equipment or other
resources to perform all of those services in atgheriod of time.

Trusting

We are required to deposit a portion of amountsived on sales of certain cemetery merchandisesamnices into a perpetual care and/
or merchandise trust. These amounts are investéuiroyparty investment managers who are selecyettid Trust and Compliance Committee
of the board of directors of our general partndrede investment managers are required to investustrfunds in accordance with applicable
state law and internal investment guidelines adbptethe Trust and Compliance Committee. Our inmestt managers are monitored by third-
party investment advisors selected by the Trust@ompliance Committee who advise the committeeherdetermination of asset allocations,
evaluate the investment managers and provide ddtaibnthly reports on the performance of each naerdise and perpetual care trust.

Perpetual Care Trus

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeats the sale of cemetery property is required tpdid into perpetual care trusts. While
this amount varies, it is generally 10% to 20%hef $ales price of the interment right. All prindipaust remain in this trust into perpetuity
while interest and dividends may be released tangsused to defray cemetery maintenance costshvainécexpensed as incurred. Earnings
from the perpetual care trusts are recognizedrirenticemetery revenues. To maximize this incomehave established investment guidelines
for the third-party investment managers that managerust so that substantially all of the fundsiavested in intermediate-term investment-
grade fixed-income securities, high-yield fixed-anwe securities, master limited partnerships andestate investment trusts.

We fund these amounts pro-rata on an “as receipadis. As payments are received from the custoneedeposit a pro rata amount of
the payment into a perpetual care trust. For exanifplve receive a payment of 20% of the salesegiiem the customer, we would deposit i
the perpetual care trust 20% of the total amoumired to be placed into trust for that sale.

We consolidate the assets of the trust in accosaiith the provisions of ASC 810, as the trustassidered to be a variable interest
entity for which we are the primary beneficiary.séts are reflected at fair market value on thetgsséon of our balance sheet as an asset
entitled “perpetual care trusts, restricted, at¥alue,” and an equal amount is reflected ashilik as “perpetual care trust corpus.”
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Merchandise Trusi

We are generally required by state law to depogdréion of the sales price of pre-need cemeterchandise and services, or the
estimated current cost of providing that merchamdisd those services, into a merchandise trustdore that we will have sufficient funds in
the future to purchase the merchandise or perfbansérvices. The amount we are required to dejmbgin merchandise trust varies from state
to state but is generally 40% to 70% of the sateewf the merchandise or services.

We fund these amounts pro-rata on an “as receivadis. As payments are received from the custoneedeposit a pro rata amount of
the payment into a merchandise trust. For exanifphe receive a payment of 20% of the sales pnioenfthe customer, we would deposit into
the merchandise trust 20% of the total amount regub be placed into trust for the merchandisesandices sold.

We consolidate the assets of the trust in accorlaiith the provisions of ASC 810, as the trustossidered to be a variable interest
entity for which we are the primary beneficiary.séts are reflected at fair market value on thetgsséon of our balance sheet as an asset
entitled “merchandise trusts, restricted, at faiue”.

Unlike assets in the perpetual care trusts, agséte merchandise trusts will be released to tlketime we meet the requirements. Ti
requirements vary from state to state depending @pplicable laws.

Earnings on funds held in merchandise trusts, diolyinvestment income and capital gains, are dedeand included in our balance
sheet in deferred cemetery revenues, net, until e that we recognize the revenue from theedlagle.

We are permitted to withdraw the investment incosueh as interest and dividends, as well as caggiak, from merchandise trusts at
varying times depending on the applicable state law@ome states, we are permitted to make momthhdrawals of investment income, but
other states we are permitted to withdraw incorse feequently or only upon death. In all statesyédaer, we are permitted to withdraw trust
principal and earnings to purchase the mercharmiperform the services or, generally, when thearasr cancels the contract. Some states
impose additional restrictions on our ability tatlvdraw merchandise trust earnings if those trust® iealized losses. For example, if a
Pennsylvania merchandise trust realizes a losdrubkeis required to recover the amount of théized loss, either by earning income or
generating capital gains, before we are alloweadlitodraw earnings, except to purchase the relatedycts or perform the related services.
Other states, such as Virginia, permit continuetthdvwals of merchandise trust earnings followingalized loss so long as the fair market
value of the funds held in trust equals or excebdsost of the related products and services.

We invest the amounts deposited into merchandiststrwithin specified investment guidelines, priilgan intermediate-term,
investment-grade fixed-income securities, highé/fieted-income securities, real estate investmersts and, to a lesser extent, equity
securities and cash.

The income earned on funds held in perpetual caststand merchandise trusts can be materiallgteffieby fluctuations in interest rates,
dividend payments, and in the case of merchandisgst by the performance of the stock market.dtment income from trusts accounted for
9.3 %, 10.8%, and 11.1% of our 2010, 2009 and 26@8 revenues respectively. During 2010, 2009 200B our average annual rates of
return (not including changes in unrealized gaimd lasses) on funds held in merchandise trusts @:&réo, 7.2% and 6.1%, respectively, w
our average annual rates of return on funds hepeipetual care trusts were 7.1%, 8.3% and 8.18perively. Past performance is not
indicative of future performance.

Unrealized gains and losses in merchandise trustdederred and accordingly have no immediate impaour revenues, earnings or
cash flow unless the fair market value of the fudeslines below the estimated costs to delivergteted products and services, in which case
we would be required to record a current chargeataings equal to the difference between the faiket value of the funds and the estimated
costs.

45



Table of Contents

We determine whether or not the assets in the raadike and perpetual care trust have an othertdmaperary impairment on a security-
by-security basis. This assessment is made basedaupumber of criteria including the length oféim security has been in a loss position,
changes in market conditions, concerns relatedaspecific issuer and our ability and intent tédrsecurities until they recover their value. If
a loss is considered to be other-than-temporaeyctist basis of the security is adjusted downwaitstmarket value.

For assets held in the perpetual care trusts, eshyction in the cost basis due to an other-tharpoeary impairment is offset with an
equal and opposite reduction in the perpetual wast corpus and has no impact on earnings.

For assets held in the merchandise trust, any tieduio the cost basis due to an other-than-tenmgdnapairment is recorded in deferred
revenue.

The trust footnotes (Notes 5 and 6 of our const#ididinancial statements included in Item 8) diselthe adjusted cost basis of the assets
in the trust and contain a more detailed discussiather-than-temporarily impaired assets.

Current Market Conditions and Economic Developments

Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2008, we begatussing the significant instability in variouadincial markets and in economic
conditions. Amongst other things, we noted thatet®ad been a decline in the fair value of equity @o a lesser degree) fixed-maturity debt
securities and that there was a contraction ircthdit market as well as an overall downturn innegnic activity.

We have seen substantial improvement in certaimsasince that time. At December 31, 2009, the wHtthe fair value to the amortized
cost of our merchandise trust assets had imprav88.6%, as compared to 70.4% at December 31, 2@08he financial markets continued to
improve in 2010, we continued to monitor our ineelsassets in our merchandise and perpetual cate &nd in the third quarter of 2010, we
determined that some of these assets were impaingdye took a charge of approximately $13.3 milbmd $14.8 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2010, the market value of the assetsrimerchandise trust and perpetual care trusgesls its amortized cost by 3.7% and
6.5%, respectively.

Further, we were able to raise capital via a folmwpublic offering of our common units, represegta limited partnership interest in us
in September of 2010 and both a private offeringesfior debt and a follow on public offering of @ammon units, representing a limited
partnership interest in us in 2009. The value efpeed and at-need contracts written has not dedted and values for the year ended
December 31, 2010 generally outpace values fror®.200

We will continue to monitor evolving economic cotialis and plan accordingly.

Recent Developments

On February 9, 2011, we completed a follow on pubffering of 3,756,155 common units, includingagtion to purchase up to 731,155
common units to cover over-allotments which wag@sed in full by the underwriters, at a price @%®5 per unit, representing a 19.4%
interest in us. Total gross proceeds from thesesaetions were approximately $109.9 million, befoffering costs and underwriting discounts.
. Net proceeds of the offering, including the retatapital contribution of our General Partnerrafteducting underwriting discounts and
offering expenses, were approximately $106.0 nmllibhe proceeds were used to pay off debt undecreuiit facilities and $35.0 million of
debt outstanding on our Amended NPA Notes. As gfatiis transaction, selling unitholders also sbj@49,366 common units. We did not
receive any of the proceeds generated by the $aleyaunits held by the selling unitholders.
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Change in Market Value of Trust Assets

We have a substantial portfolio of invested asise®th our merchandise trust and the perpetual wast. Both trusts have a mix of cash
and cash equivalents, fixed maturity debt secsrdied equity securities. A critical issue for ud baen the decline in the fair value of equity
and (to a lesser degree) fixed maturity debt séesrield in our trusts. This decline took placenarily during the last six months of 2008.
Since that time, the financial markets have beewlglrecovering. In the third quarter of 2010, wetemined that some of the assets in our
trusts had been impaired and we took an impairmiesaitge of approximately $13.1 million related teets in our merchandise trust and a
charge of approximately $14.8 million related to assets in our perpetual care trust. This chargeferred until such time that we deliver the
merchandise or perform the services for which thsttassets are set aside. The impairment chaigeed the cost basis of the assets to their
fair value. As of December 31, 2010, the aggrepast writedown fair value of the assets in both our merchsmtiiust and perpetual care tt
exceeds their amortized cost basis.

Funds in our trusts are managed by third-partysiment managers who are in turn monitored by d{bérty investment advisor selec
by our Trust and Compliance Committee. The thirdypivestment advisor is providing the committeighwirequent updates on the
performance of the investments. We will continuentanitor performance closely. See “Item 7A. Quartitie and Qualitative Disclosure About
Market Risk” for more information.

The perpetual care trust and merchandise trusé sestly different purposes and the risks and icagilbns of changes in trust asset va
are dissimilar.

Perpetual Care Trus
Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeats the sale of cemetery property must be depositech perpetual care trust.

The perpetual care trust principal does not betongs and must remain in the trust into perpetitye. consolidate the trust into our
financial statements in accordance with ASC 813443 through 22) because the trust is consideneatiable interest entity for which we
are the primary beneficiary.

The fair value of trust assets is recorded as s@ta@s our balance sheet and is entirely offset lgbility. This liability is recorded as
“Perpetual care trust corpus”. Changes in fair @alfitrust assets are recognized by adjusting thetrust asset and the offsetting liability.
Impairment of the value of trust assets, whethaptarary or other-than-temporary, will not impactipdic earnings or comprehensive income
nor will it impact our financial position or liquity at any point in time.

Our primary risk related to the assets in the peiglecare trust relate to the interest and dividegpaid and released to us and used to
defray cemetery maintenance costs. Any materialatiah in this income stream could have a matefi@ct on our financial condition, results
of operations and liquidity. Interest income earnadperpetual care trust assets was approximatefiy®million, $12.6 million and $13.7
million during the year ended December 31, 2010928nd 2008 respectively.

Merchandise Trus

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeats the sale of pre-need cemetery and funeral hoarehandise and services must be
deposited into a merchandise trust.

Unlike the perpetual care trust, the principalia merchandise trust will ultimately revert to This will occur once we have met the
various requirements for its release which is galhethe delivery of merchandise or performancemderlying services. Accordingly, changes
in the fair value of trust assets, both temporany ether-than-temporary, may ultimately impact periodic earnings, comprehensive income
and financial position or liquidity at any pointtime.
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Managing the cash flow associated with the reledseist assets and investment income is a criticeiponent of our overall corporate
strategy. Our investment strategy reflects thetfaat the release of trust assets and the reswalshtflow is critical to our ability to meet our
profitability goals and liquidity needs. Accordigglve set such strategy to balance the potentiaktorn with the need to maintain asset value.

A decline in the market value of the assets imtleechandise trust could ultimately impair our pedfility and resulting financial positic
and liquidity should we be forced to liquidate sadsets at an amount significantly below our oebexpectation, which is ultimately asset
cost.

We mitigate this risk by ensuring that a sufficipottion of trust assets is invested in cash asti eguivalents that do not have signific
risk to principal. We can then manage trust assetbat released amounts are liquidated from thi¢ @s opposed to any pool of assets that are
currently valued below cost.

At December 31, 2010, the merchandise trust hatbajpately $40.7 million in cash and cash equivedefhis amount functions to
mitigate the risk of liquidating impaired assetselaluating the sufficiency of this amount ast$ceiffectiveness in mitigating the risk of
liquidating impaired assets, we have consideredéténflows and outflows of cash into the trusteaent prior periods. These net inflows and
outflows are a function of both sales originatians! the corresponding trust deposits and meetmgriteria for releasing funds. Total net cash
inflows into the merchandise trust for the yearesh®ecember 31, 2010 were approximately $68.9anillvhich includes an inflow of $72.2
million related to acquisitions made in 2010.

Absent a substantial downturn in pre-need saledyelieve that the cash and cash equivalent allmcati merchandise trust assets is
sufficient to mitigate the risk of liquidating imjpad assets in the near future.

Impact of Current Market Conditions on Our Ability to Meet Our Debt Covenants

Current market conditions have not negatively inipdour ability to meet our significant debt covetsa These covenants specifically
relate to a certain measure of profitability (tfrrdfitability Measure”) and certain coverage ancelage ratios as defined in the Credit
Agreement described below.

The Profitability Measure is primarily related teetcurrent period value of contracts written, inreent income from the merchandise
perpetual care trust, and current expenses incufiegrevenue recognition rules that we must fofowGAAP purposes is not considered. We
have not seen any material decline in the valumofracts written due to current economic condgidrhe aggregate value of cemetery
contracts written increased by $24.1 million foe tear ended December 31, 2010 compared to theepdad December 31, 2009.
Additionally, associated expenses have remainedively stable.

The coverage ratio relates to the excess of thii&bitity Measure less distributions made to partover fixed charges. We were in
compliance with this ratio at December 31, 2010.

The leverage ratio relates to the ratio of constéid debt to the Profitability Measure. We wereampliance with this ratio at
December 31, 2010.

Net Income, Operating Cash Flows and Partner Distbutions
The table below details net income, operating ¢asts and partner distributions made in 2010, 2808 2008 respectively:

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)

Net income (loss $(1,44¢) $(4,38¢) $ 4,55¢€

Operating cash flow 3,10¢ 14,72¢ 21,144

Partner distribution $32,44: $27,25: $25,65¢
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Cash flows from operations for the years ended Bxees 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $3.1, $14.7anibind $21.1 million,
respectively, which exceeded our net income (I06631.4 million), ($4.4 million) and $4.6 milliomespectively, during the same periods. The
differences between our operating cash flows améheeme are in large part attributable to the that various cash inflows for payments of
amounts due under pre-need sales contracts weendare not as of yet recognized as revenues asdveot and have not met the delivery
criteria for revenue recognition. Although theregsassurance, we expect that the trend of opgratish flows exceeding net income will
continue into the foreseeable future.

Segment Reporting and Related Information

The Company is organized into five distinct repbléasegments which are classified as Cemetery @pesa—Southeast, Cemetery
Operations—Northeast, Cemetery Operations—Westefaliiiomes, and Corporate.

We chose this level of organization and disaggiegaif reportable segments due to the fact thatah reportable segment has unique
characteristics that set it apart from each othewe have organized our management personnetse thperational levels; and c) this is the
level at which our chief decision makers and o#@rior management evaluate performance.

The Cemetery Operations segments sell intermehntsrigaskets, burial vaults, cremation niches, srarknd other cemetery related
merchandise. The nature of our customers diffeesazh of our regionally based cemetery operatiggneats. Cremation rates in the West
region are substantially higher than they are @Sbutheast region. Rates in the Northeast regiwhto be somewhere between the two.
Statistics indicate that customers who select ctiemaervices have certain attributes that diffenf customers who select other methods of
interment. The disaggregation of cemetery operatioto the three distinct regional segments is arity due to these differences in customer
attributes along with the previously mentioned nggamaent structure and senior management analysiwdmbgies.

Our Funeral Homes segment offers a range of fummelaled services such as family consultation réimeoval of and preparation of
remains and the use of funeral home facilities/fsitation. These services are distinctly differérdn the cemetery merchandise and services
sold and provided by the Cemetery Operations setgmen

Our Corporate segment includes various home offéting and administrative expenses that are thotale to the other operating
segments.

Consolidation

Our historical operations are part of a consolidapoup for financial reporting purposes that idguhe cemeteries we operate under
long-term operating agreements. We currently ope2atcemeteries under these long-term operatirgpaggnts. Intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Income Taxes

Our historical financial statements include theset§ of applicable U.S. federal and state incomestin order to comply with GAAP. W
are a limited partnership that has elected todmted as a partnership for U.S. federal incometagoses and therefore not be subject to U.S.
federal or applicable state income taxes. See “fdf€ax Considerations” included in our RegiswatiStatement on Form S-3 (Registration
No. 33:-144453) filed with the SEC. In order to be treatsdh partnership for federal income tax purpasdsast 90% of our gross income
must be qualifying income, which includes inconmnirthe sale of real property, including burial Iptsth and without installed vaults), lawn
and mausoleum crypts and cremation niches. Mostiof
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activities that do not generate qualifying incomigch as the sale of other cemetery products, theégion of perpetual care services, the
operation of our managed cemeteries and all futhenale operations, will be owned by and conductealtjh corporate subsidiaries, which
will be subject to tax on their net taxable incoeidends we receive from corporate subsidiaridshe qualifying income.

Seasonality

The death care business is relatively stable agdigtable. Although we experience seasonal incesiasgeaths due to extreme weather
conditions and winter flu, these increases havehisborically had any significant impact on ouruks of operations. In addition, we perform
fewer initial openings and closings in the wintdrem the ground is frozen.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadifind results of operations are based upon stwrigal consolidated financial
statements. We prepared these financial staterimreatsformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of America.
The preparation of these financial statements reduis to make estimates, judgments and assumptiahaffected the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the dates of the findrstaements and the reported amounts of revemeesxpenses during the reporting periods. We
based our estimates, judgments and assumptionistoni¢al experience and known facts and otherrapsions that we believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. In future gigrise expect to make similar estimates, judgmamisassumptions on the same basis as we
have historically. Our actual results in futureipds may differ from these estimates under diffeesmsumptions and conditions. We believe
that the following accounting policies or estimatesl or will have the greatest potential impacbanconsolidated financial statements for the
periods discussed and for future periods.

Revenue Recognitio

We sell our merchandise and services on both aged-and at-need basis. All at-need sales aremzeabas revenues and recorded in
earnings at the time that merchandise is delivaretiservices are performed.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery interrigdtis in constructed burial property are defemwatll at least 10% of the sales price
has been collected, at which time they are fullyed.

Revenues from praeed sales of cemetery interment rights in uncoatgd burial property, such as mausoleum cryptdamd crypts ar
recognized using the percentage-of-completion ntettfi@ccounting, with no revenue being recognizetil at least 10% of the sales price has
been received. The percentage-of-completion medfi@dcounting requires us to make certain estimedes our reporting dates. These
estimates are made based upon information avaitdlthee reporting date and are updated on a spédéntification method at the end of each
reporting period. Periodic earnings are calculéi@sed upon the total sales price, estimated costsmplete and the percentage completed
during a given reporting period.

Revenues from pre-need sales of cemetery mercleadisservices are deferred until the merchanslidelivered or the services are
performed, at which time they are fully earned.

Investment earnings, including realized gains asdds, generated by assets in our merchandise anestieferred until the associated
merchandise is delivered or the services are peddr

In order to appropriately match revenue and expervge defer certain pre-need cemetery and preardafugeral direct obtaining costs
that vary with and are primarily related to the @sdion of new pre-need cemetery and prearrangedral business until such time that the
associated revenue is recognized.
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Deferred Cemetery Revenues, P

Revenues from the sale of services and mercharatiseell as any investment income from the mercisartdust is deferred until such
time that the services are performed or the medikaris delivered.

In addition to amounts deferred on new contraatgestment income and unrealized gains on our mediba trust, deferred cemetery
revenues, net includes deferred revenues from @ed-sales that were entered into by entities poitiie acquisition of those entities by us,
including entities that were acquired by Cornerstbamily Services, Inc. upon its formation in 1988 provide for a reasonable profit mar
for these deferred revenues (deferred margin) ¢owatt for the future costs of delivering produatd @roviding services on pre-need contracts
that we acquired through acquisitions. Deferredgimaamounts are deferred until the merchandiseliseted or services are performed.

Accounts Receivable Allowance for Cancellatio

At the time of a pre-need sale, we record an ada@aeivable in an amount equal to the total cattvalue less any cash deposit paid net
of an estimated allowance for cancellations.

The allowance for cancellations is established dagp®n our estimate of expected cancellations &tdrical experiences and is currer
approximately 10% of total contract values. Futaacellation rates may differ from this curreniraate. We will continue to evaluate
cancellation rates and will make changes to thenast should the need arise. Actual cancellatiodsidt vary significantly from the estimates
of expected cancellations at December 31, 201@ameémber 31, 2009, respectively.

Merchandise Trust Assel

Assets held in our merchandise trusts are cartiélravalue. Any change in unrealized gains arebés are reflected in the carrying value
of the assets and is recognized as deferred revAnyeand all investment income streams, includirtgrest, dividends or gains and losses
from the sale of trust assets are offset agairfstriel revenue until such time that we deliverdhderlying merchandise. Investment income
generated from our merchandise trust is includedemetery revenues—investment and other.

We evaluate whether or not the assets in the medisg@trust have an other-than-temporary impairmard security-by-security basis.
This assessment is made based upon a numberasfaciitcluding the length of time a security hasrba a loss position, changes in market
conditions, concerns related to the specific issuer our ability and intent to hold the securitfilihregains its value. If a loss is considered t
be other-than-temporary, the cost basis of therdggds adjusted downward to its market value. Aaguction in the cost basis of assets held in
our merchandise trust due to an other-than-tempamgrairment is offset against deferred revenudeR® Notes 5 and 6 of our financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Fo@aKifor a more detailed discussion of other-thamgerarily impaired assets.

Perpetual Care Trust Asse

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeats the sale of cemetery property is required tpdid into perpetual care trusts. All
principal must remain in this trust into perpetuitiile interest and dividends may be released aed to defray cemetery maintenance costs,
which are expensed as incurred.

Assets in our perpetual care trusts are carriégiratalue. Any change in unrealized gains anddesae reflected in the carrying value of
the assets and is offset against perpetual casedoupus.

We evaluate whether or not the assets in our pgaipeére trust have an other-than-temporary impaitron a security-by-security basis.
This assessment is made based upon a nhumbereasfaiiicluding the length of time a security hasrba a loss position, changes in market
conditions, concerns related to the specific issuerour ability and intent to hold the securityilibrecovers its value. If a loss is considered
to be other-than-temporary, the cost basis of dlearity is adjusted downward to its market value.
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Any reduction in the cost basis of assets heldump@rpetual care trusts due to an other-than-teanpémpairment is offset against
perpetual care trust corpus. There is no impa&awnings. Refer to Notes 5 and 6 of our finandetiesnents included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for a more detailed discussion of otherttemporarily impaired assets.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Trust Assets
We determine whether or not the impairment of adixnaturity debt security is other-than-temporgrgbaluating each of the following:
*  Whether it is our intent to sell the security.Héte is intent to sell, the impairment is considdrebe othe-thar-temporary.

« If there is no intent to sell, we evaluate if itigt more likely than not that we will be requitedsell the debt security before its
anticipated recovery. If we determine that it isrenlikely than not that it will be required to set impaired investment before its
anticipated recovery, the impairment is consideoele othe-thar-temporary.

We have further evaluated whether or not all ageetse merchandise trust have other-than-temponapgairments based upon a number
of criteria including the length of time a secutitgs been in a loss position, changes in markatittons and concerns related to the specific
issuer.

If an impairment is considered to be other-thanperary, the cost basis of the security is adjudtdnward to its fair value.

For assets held in the perpetual care trusts, eshyction in the cost basis due to an other-tharpoeary impairment is offset with an
equal and opposite reduction in the perpetual tast corpus and has no impact on earnings.

For assets held in the merchandise trusts, anyctiedun the cost basis due to an other-than-teamydmpairment is recorded in deferred
revenue.

The trust footnotes (Notes 5 and 6) disclose thastetl cost basis of the assets in the both thehraadise and perpetual care trust. This
adjusted cost basis includes any adjustments tortgimal cost basis due to other-than-temporanyaimments.

Two Class Method of Accounting for Earnings per Stea
The Company utilizes the two class method of actingror earnings per share as required by Accagrifiopic 260.

Under this method:

1. Periodic net income is reduced by the amount dfidivds declared for each class of participatingisgcin order to determin
undistributed earning:

2. Undistributed earnings are allocated to each ppaiitg security as if all earnings had been distied in accordance with tl
distribution schedule per the partnership agreen

3. Total periodic earnings“ TPE") for each class is the sum of their share of dividguius undistributed earning

The Company’s general partner’s agreement contagestive distribution rights (“IDR’s™) and suclbR’s are detachable from the
general partner units (i.e. can be sold on a sédonk basis). As a result, we must consider thed@irbe a separate class of ownership interest
and allocate and disclose TPE to such class by
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itself. For all periods presented, the Companyritisted dividends in excess of earnings. As suwret was no allocation of TPE to the IDR'’s.
Accordingly, the Consolidated Statement of Changéxartners’ Capital only reflects amounts allodategeneral and common partners.

Income Taxes

Our corporate subsidiaries are subject to bothréddend state income taxes. We record deferredgagts and liabilities to recognize
temporary differences between the bases of assétkadilities in our tax and GAAP balance sheetd for federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards and alternative minimum tax credits.

We record a valuation allowance against our defieta® assets if we deem that it is more likely thahthat some portion or all of the
recorded deferred tax assets will not be realizabfature periods.

In evaluating our ability to recover deferred tasets, we consider all available positive and megavidence, including our past
operating results, recent cumulative losses andavacast of future taxable income. In determirfungire taxable income, we make
assumptions for the amount of taxable income, éensal of temporary differences and the implententaf feasible and prudent tax plann
strategies. These assumptions require us to maigenents about our future taxable income and arsistemt with the plans and estimates we
use to manage our business. Any reduction in etgthfature taxable income may require us to reeorddditional valuation allowance aga
our deferred tax assets. An increase in the vanailowance would result in additional income ¢ésgpense in the period and could have a
significant impact on our future earnings.

As of December 31, 2010, our taxable corporateidigivies had a federal net operating loss carryova@pproximately $124.9 million,
which will begin to expire in 2019 and a state ogtrating loss carry-forward of approximately $H47@iillion, a portion of which expires
annually. Our ability to use such federal net ofiegalosses may be limited by changes in the owriprsf our units deemed to result in an
“ownership change” under the applicable provisiohthe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In the third quarter of 2010, the FASB issued Updd. 2010-20—Receivables (Topic 310): Disclosatasut the Credit Quality of
Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credgses (“Update 2010-20"). Update 2010-20 is aloésze only update that requires
entities to disaggregate their financing receivaigefolio between portfolio segments and clasgdémancing receivables within each segm
Certain disclosures then must be made at bothdhéofio segment and class level. We adopted Upd@i®-20 beginning in the fourth quarter
of 2010. As this is a disclosure only update, tthepdion of Update 2010-20 did not impact on ouaficial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In the first quarter of 2010, the FASB issued Upddb. 2010-06—Fair Value Measurements and Discéss(iFopic 820): Improving
Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements (“Up#at®0-06"). Update 2010 -06 requires each of thiefiohg new disclosures:
1. Entities must disclose separately significant trarssinto and out of Level 1 and Level

2. Reconciliations of Level 3 measurements mustigeogross information related to purchases, sédegances and settlements as
opposed to netting such numh

Update 2010-06 provided each of the following anmeandts to existing disclosures:

3.  Entities must provide fair value measurementfeh class of asset and liability. A class isroftesubset of a line item asset or
liability.

4.  Entities should provide disclosures about tHeatéon techniques used to measure fair value el 2 and Level 3 assets and
liabilities in interim periods
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Disclosure requirements 1, 3 and 4 are applicaislalf periods beginning after December 15, 20G8cPDsure requirement 2 is
applicable for all periods beginning after Decembi&r2010. We have adopted disclosure requirenigr@snd 4 as of January 1, 2010 and
requirement 2 as of January 1, 2011. As this iselasure only requirement, there was no impaadarfinancial position, results of operations
or cash flows.

Results of Operations—Segments
Year Ended December 31, 2010 versus Year Ended Dedeer 31, 2009

Cemetery Segments

Our cemetery operations are disaggregated inte tiffeerent geographically based segments. We baesen this level of disaggregat
due to the fact that a) each reportable segmentrigsie characteristics that set it apart from esbker; b) we have organized our management
personnel at these operational levels; and c)ghlse level at which our chief decision makers atiter senior management evaluate
performance.

We account for and analyze the results of operationeach of these segments on a basis of acoguthtat is different from generally
accepted accounting principals in so much thategend revenues and related expenses based upealtleeof contracts written rather than
upon the delivery of merchandise and services. &¢erncile these non-GAAP accounting results of dperato GAAP based amounts at the
consolidated level. This reconciliation is includad\Note 14 to the consolidated financial statermémtluded in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

The method of accounting we utilize to analyze segment results of operations provides for a pridcludased view of our business.
Accordingly, the ensuing segment discussion is basas of accounting that differs from generallgegated accounting principles. We believe
that this method allows for a critical understamdai any economic value added during a given pesfdime.

During 2010, we acquired 19 cemeteries and 6 fliheres and began operating 3 cemeteries undeigadom operating agreement.
the cemeteries we acquired or began operating,€t8 im our Cemetery Operations-West segment. OL® 28quisitions did not have a
meaningful impact on the results of operationstin@emetery Operations-Southeast or Cemetery Opesalortheast segments.

In prior periods, we have included in our segmésitission amounts and variations of interest expeatiscated to such segment. Upon
further review, we have concluded that as segnmarmdssegment managers have no control over totpbcate interest expense nor the amount
allocated to their segment, such discussion dotadtbto the understanding of how each segmenbipeeid. Accordingly, we no longer
include a discussion of interest expense at thmsaglevel.

Cemetery Operations—Southeast

The table below compares the results of operafimngur Cemetery Operations—Southeast for the gaded December 31, 2010 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2009:

Year ended December 31
2010 2009 Change ($ Change (%
(As Restated
(In thousands)

(non-GAAP)
Total revenue $104,57¢ $ 99,73: $ 4,844 4.9%
Total costs and expens 73,764 69,31% 4,44 6.4%
Operating earning $ 30,81: $ 3041 $ 397 1.3%

Revenue

Revenues for Cemetery Operations—Southeast werk &hdillion for the year ended December 31, 20h0parease of $4.8 million, or
4.9%, compared to $99.7 million during 2009.
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The increase was primarily due to increases irvéthee of pre-need contracts written of $5.5 milleomd at-need contracts written of $1.2
million, offset in part by a net decrease in inmestt income from our merchandise and perpetualtoases of $1.5 million.

Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for Cemetery Operationsith8ast were $73.8 million for the year ended Ddusm31, 2010, an increase of
$4.5 million, or 6.4%, compared to $69.3 millionrichg 2009.

The increase was primarily related to:

* A $0.1 million increase in cost of goods sold. Tliss attributable in part to the correspondingease in the value of pre-need and
at-need contracts written, offset by a change in pcodux.

* A $2.1 million increase in selling expenses. Thaswalso directly attributable to the correspondimgease in the value of pre-need
and at-need contracts written. The ratio of selérgenses to the total value of contracts writtemdased to 26.3% during the year
ended December 31, 2010 compared to 25.9% duri@g.

* A $1.9 million increase in cemetery expenses. Ticegase was primarily due to increases in repamaaintenance costs of $0.6
million, labor costs of $0.5 million, real estasxés of $0.4 million and utility and fuel costs&dr.2 million.

* A $0.5 million increase in general and administraxpenses. This was primarily due to an increapeofessional fees of $0.3
million and laboicosts of $0.2 million

Cemetery Operations—Northeast

The table below compares the results of operafiangur Cemetery Operations—Northeast for the yemted December 31, 2010 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2009:

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009 Change ($ Change (%
(In thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue $56,74« $54,19:¢ $ 2,551 4. 7%
Total costs and expens 40,01 37,61 2,40( 6.4%
Operating profit $16,73: $16,58: $ 151 0.9%

Revenue

Revenues for Cemetery Operations—Northeast were’ $biflion for the year ended December 31, 201Gnarease of $2.6 million, or
4.7%, compared to $54.2 million during 2009. A $mhillion increase in the value of pre-need consaetitten and a $0.9 million increase in
investment income from trusts were offset by a $8ilion decrease in the value of m¢ed contracts written. There was also an increb$6.¢
million related to the sale of assets.

Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for Cemetery Operationsthdlst were $40.0 million for the year ended Ddwman31, 2010, an increase of
$2.4 million, or 6.4%, compared to $37.6 milliorridhg 2009.

The increase was primarily related to:

* A $1.2 million increase in cost of goods sold. Tago of cost of goods sold to the total value afittacts written increased by 250
basis points to 18.7% during the year ended DeceBhe2010 as compared to 16.2% during 2(
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» A $0.6 million increase in selling expenses. Thaswalso directly attributable to the correspondimgease in the value of |-need
and at-need contracts written. The ratio of selérgenses to the total value of contracts writtemdased to 24.7% during the year
ended December 31, 2010 compared to 23.9% duridg.

* A $0.6 million increase in cemetery expenses drivgmn increase of $0.5 million in repair and measirsince cost:

Cemetery Operations—West

The table below compares the results of operafiangur Cemetery Operations—West for the year eridletember 31, 2010 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2009:

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 Change ($ Change (%)
(In thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue $60,52¢ $39,95° $ 20,567 51.5%
Total costs and expens 39,63: 27,42 12,21 44.5%
Operating earning $20,89: $12,53¢ $ 8,35¢ 66.7%

Revenue

Revenues for Cemetery Operations—West were $60Ql®mnior the year ended December 31, 2010, arease of $20.6 million, or
51.5%, compared to $40.0 million during 2009. Tieréase was primarily related to a $7.4 milliorréase in the value of pre-need contracts
written, a $6.2 million increase in the value chatd contracts written, and a $6.4 million incesimsinvestment income from trusts. Further,
19 of the cemeteries we acquired during 2010 wamatéd in the West and accounted for $20.1 millibthe overall increase in revenues.

Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for Cemetery Operationsst-Wége $39.6 million for the year ended Decemlgr2B10, an increase of $12.2
million, or 44.5%, compared to $27.4 million duriB@09. As noted above, the overall increase isgmilyndriven by the cemeteries we
acquired or began operating in 2010.

The increase was primarily related to:

* A $1.5 million increase in cost of goods sold. Tihisrease is directly attributable to the corresjiog increase in the value of pre-
need and at-need contracts written. The ratio sf abgoods sold to the total value of contractsaimed relatively consistent
decreasing 70 basis points to 12.7% during the geded December 31, 2010 as compared to 13.4%gd20i00.

* A $3.3 million increase in selling expenses. Thisréase is also directly attributable to the cquesling increase in the value
pre-need and at-need contracts written. The réitseling expenses to the total value of contracitten increased to 24.0% during
the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to 2@uiitg 2009

* A $4.9 million increase in cemetery expenses. Thissisted of a $2.5 million increase in labor cost$1.3 million increase i
repair and maintenance costs, $0.4 million incréasgility and fuel related costs and a $million increase in real estate tax

e A $2.5 million increase in general and administegxpenses which was primarily driven by an inseeaf $1.1 million in laba
related costs, $0.7 million in varied non-laboatet costs and $0.7 million in depreciation expepsmarily as a result of the 19
cemeteries we acquired during 20
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Funeral Homes Segment

Unlike our cemetery operations segment, there isubstantial lag between the sale and deliverymérfal home product and services.
Accordingly, the production based view and resgltimmbers that management utilizes to analyzeumerll home business does not differ
from GAAP accounting for this segment.

The table below compares the results of operafiangur Funeral Home segment for the year endecedéer 31, 2010 as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2009:

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 Change ($ Change (%)
(In thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue $25,54¢ $23,36¢ $ 2,181 9.3%
Total costs and expens 21,59 20,10% 1,484 7.4%
Operating profit $ 3,95¢ $ 3,25¢ $ 697 21.4%

Revenue
Revenues for the Funeral Home segment were $2%i6mrfor the year ended December 31, 2010, aremse of $2.2 million, or 9.3%,
compared to $23.4 million during 2009.

The increase is primarily attributable to the asdigin of six funeral homes during 2010.

Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for the Funeral Home seigneze $21.6 million for the year ended Decemter2®10, an increase of $1.5
million, or 7.4%, compared to $20.1 million durigg09. This increase was also primarily relatedhdcquisition of six funeral homes during
2010. The largest portion of the increase consis#).5 million in labor costs and $0.6 million @épreciation expense.

Corporate Segment

In prior reports, we have included amounts in tlogpGrate segment that are not included in opergtin§jit but are included in earnings
before taxes. Beginning this year, we will no longeesent amounts not included in operating profitssegment related income statement
information will be limited to operating profits. &\believe that this is a more effective methodwvafigating segment results and will provide
for a more concise view of segment results forubers of these financial statements. Prior yearimétion has been recast to conform to the
current year presentation.

Amounts allocated to the Corporate segment inchatsh of the following:
» Miscellaneous selling, cemetery and general adinatige expenses that are not allocable to otheraimg segment:

* Various home office and other expenses. These sggergual the total corporate expenses as showhe dace of the incom
statement

» Certain depreciation and amortization expen
» Acquisition related cost:
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The table below details expenses incurred by thpdate segment for the year ended December 3D, 20d December 31, 2009:

Year ended December 31
2010 2009 Change ($ Change (%)
(As Restated
(In thousands)

(non-GAAP)

Selling, cemetery and general and administratiyeease: $ 61¢ $ 90¢ $ (289 -31.8%
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,80¢ 2,60¢ 1,19¢ 45.%
Acquisition related cost 5,71¢ 1,07z 4,64 433.1%
Corporate expenst

Corporate personnel expen: 12,57t 10,38 2,19:¢ 21.1%
Other corporate expens 11,80« 11,98¢ (184) -1.5%
Total corporate overhes 24,37¢ 22,37( 2,00¢ 9.C%
Total corporate expens $34,517 $ 26,95¢ $ 7,55¢ 28.(%

Selling, cemetery and general administrative expetisat were allocated to the corporate segmerg $&6 million during the year
ended December 31, 2010, a decrease of $0.3 mitiodil.8%, compared to $0.9 million for the yeaded December 31, 2009. The decrease
was primarily caused by a decrease in salesperbonisses and advertising costs.

Depreciation and amortization allocated to the orafe segment was $3.8 million during the year dridlecember 31, 2010, an increase
of $1.2 million, or 45.9%, compared to $2.6 millifor the year ended December 31, 2009. The incaseprimarily caused by an increase in
the amortization of deferred financing fees.

Acquisition related costs include legal fees aritkpthird party costs incurred in acquisition rethactivities. Acquisition related costs
were $5.7 million during the year ended December2B810, an increase of $4.6 million, or 433.1%, pared to $1.1 million for the year enc
December 31, 2009. The increase in these cosieidlg related to the increase in acquisition\dttithat we had during the year ended
December 31, 2010.

Total corporate overhead expenses were $24.4 millizing the year ended December 31, 2010, anadseref $2.0 million, or 9.0%,
compared to $22.4 million during the year endeddbazer 31, 2009. The overall increase consists ai@ease in personnel related expenses
of $2.2 million and a decrease of $0.2 million onrpersonnel expenses. The increase in persoradexpenses was primarily attributable
to an increase of $1.8 million in bonus expenséth the remained being attributable to increasdargand payroll tax expenses.

Reconciliation of Segment Results of Operations Gonsolidated Results of Operations

As discussed in the segment sections of this Managgs Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comditand Results of Operations,
cemetery revenues and their associated costs adaemt the segment level are deferred until smeé that we meet the delivery component
for revenue recognition.

Periodic consolidated revenues reflect the amofitdtal merchandise and services which were dedid@luring the period. Accordingly,
period over period changes to revenues can be iegpay:

» Changes in the value of contracts written and atiegnues generated during a period that are detivie their period of origin an
are recognized as revenue and not deferred ag efrith of their period of originatio

» Changes in merchandise and services that are dediiring a period that had been originated duaipgior period
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The table below analyzes results of operationste@dhanges therein for the year ended Decemb&@030, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2009. The table is structured sodimateaders can determine whether changes werd bpsa changes in the level of
merchandise and services and other revenues gediehating each period and/or changes in the tirafnghen merchandise and services were
delivered:

Year ended December 31, 201 Year ended December 31, 20C
(As Restated)
(in thousands) (in thousands) Change Change in
Segment Segment in GAAP GAAP results
Results Non-segmen GAAP Results Non-segmen GAAP results
(non-GAAP) Results Results (non-GAAP) Results Results (%) (%)
Revenue:
Pre-need cemetery revenu $113,18: $ (34,089 $ 79,094 $ 99,77¢ $ (26,93() $ 72,84 $ 6,257 8.6%
At-need cemetery revenu 71,76¢ (6,743 65,02 63,97( (6,549 57,42: 7,60( 13.2%
Investment income from trus 28,51 (10,13¢) 18,37t 22,70¢ (3,180 19,52¢ (1,15 -5.9%
Interest incom 5,64¢ — 5,64¢ 5,834 — 5,834 (18%) -3.2%
Funeral home revenu 25,54¢ — 25,54¢ 23,36¢ — 23,36¢ 2,181 9.2%
Other cemetery revenu 2,741 86( 3,607 1,61% 601 2,21 1,39¢ 62.%%
Total revenue 247,40( (50,10¢  197,29. 217,26 (36,05¢  181,20: 16,08¢ 8.9%
Costs and expens
Cost of goods sol 29,86¢ (6,336 23,52¢ 27,01¢ (5,222) 21,79 1,73¢ 8.C%
Cemetery expens 48,78¢ — 48,78¢ 41,24¢ — 41,24¢ 7,53¢ 18.2%
Selling expens 47,40( (9,155 38,24t 41,65 (7,529 34,12: 4,12 12.1%
General and administrative expel 24,59 — 24,591 22,49¢ — 22,49¢ 2,09¢ 9.2%
Corporate overhee 24,37¢ — 24,37¢ 22,37( — 22,37( 2,00¢ 9.C%
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,84t — 8,84t 6,52¢ — 6,52¢ 2,315 35.5%
Funeral home expen: 19,931 — 19,931 19,00¢ — 19,00¢ 931 4.9%
Acquisition related cost 5,71F — 5,71F 1,072 — 1,072 4,64% n/g
Total costs and expens 209,51¢ (15,49) 194,02t 181,38t (12,75) 168,63 25,38¢ 15.1%
Operating profit $ 37,88 $ (3461) $ 3267 $ 3587 $ (23,307 $ 12,56¢ $(9,299 -74.(%
Revenue

Pre-need cemetery revenues were $79.1 milliorh®year ended December 31, 2010, an increase ®hdbion, or 8.6%, as compared
to $72.8 million during 2009. There was a subs#diticrease in the value of contracts written (818illion), which was offset by an increase
in deferred revenue ($7.1 million).

At-need cemetery revenues were $65.0 million for e gnded December 31, 2010, a increase of $71i6mibr 13.2%, as compared
$57.4 million during 2009. The value of contractstien increased $7.1 million while the change d@fiedred revenues remained relatively
consistent.

Investment income from trusts was $18.4 milliontfue year ended December 31, 2010, a decreaseffillion, or 5.9%, as compared
to $19.5 million during 2009. The overall declimeimvestment income consists of an increase of 86l&n of investment income on a
segment basis, offset by an adjustment of $7.0anillelated to funds for which we have not metrdguirements that would allow us to
recognize them as revenue.
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Interest income on accounts receivable was $5 omior the year ended December 31, 2010, a deeref$0.2 million, or 3.2%, as
compared to $5.8 million during 2009.

Revenues for the Funeral Home segment were $2%i6mrfor the year ended December 31, 2010, areimse of $2.2 million, or 9.3%,
compared to $23.4 million during 2009. The increass primarily attributable to the acquisition of &ineral homes during 2010.

Other cemetery revenues include miscellaneous itbatsare not grouped with our cemetery mercharahskeservices. Other cemetery
revenues were $3.6 million for the year ended Ddxeeri1, 2010, an increase of $1.4 million, or 62.8%compared to $2.2 million during
2009. The increase was primarily related to a $tilBon increase in asset sales revenue.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of goods sold were $23.5 million for the yeaded December 31, 2010, an increase of $1.7 milin8.0%, as compared to $21.8
million in 2009. The increase was primarily dugte associated increase in (combined) pre-neecianeed cemetery revenues. The ratio of
cost of goods sold to pre-need and at-need cemegeepnues remained relatively consistent as ihtlliglecreased to 16.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2010 as compared to 16.7% during 2009.

Cemetery expenses were $48.8 million during the gaded December 31, 2010, an increase of $7.fomilbr 18.3%, compared to
$41.3 million during 2009. The major componentshafincrease consisted of $3.0 million for labastep$2.4 million for repair and
maintenance costs, $0.8 million for real estatesand $0.6 million in utility and fuel costs. Apgimately $5.0 million of the increase in
cemetery expenses can be attributable to the 18teeies we acquired and 3 cemeteries we begantopedaring the year. Cemetery exper
relate to the current costs of managing and maiimgiour cemetery properties. These costs are sgpess incurred and are not deferred.
Accordingly, from a margin standpoint, the moseeffve gauge of measuring cemetery expenses isa®af segment level pre-need and at-
need cemetery revenues. The ratio of cemetery sggen segment level pre-need and at-need cemetamyues was 26.4% during the year
ended December 31, 2010 as compared to 25.2% d20i0@;

Selling expenses were $38.2 million during the yarated December 31, 2010, an increase of $4.lomilir 12.1%, as compared to
$34.1 million in 2009. The increase was primaréysed by the associated increase in (combined)ged-and at-need cemetery revenues. The
majority of our selling expenses are directly retbto sales commissions and bonuses. The ratiostiof selling expenses to segment level pre-
need and at-need cemetery revenues increasedrfh 26r the year ended December 31, 2010 as compat@i8% during 2009.

General and administrative expenses were $24.6omilluring the year ended December 31, 2010, arase of $2.1 million, or 9.3%,
compared to $22.5 million during 2009. The increasas split between an increase of $1.2 millioraindr costs and $0.9 million in non-labor
costs. General and administrative expenses aresggas incurred and are not deferred. Accordirighyy a margin standpoint, the most
effective gauge of measuring general and admitiigéraxpenses is as a ratio of segment level peetaad at-need cemetery revenues. The
ratio of general and administrative expenses tonseqg level pre-need and at-need cemetery revenagd 8:3% during the year ended
December 31, 2010 as compared to 13.7% during 2009.

Total corporate overhead was $24.4 million durimg year ended December 31, 2010, an increase @h$Rion, or 9.0%, compared to
$22.4 million during 2009. Overall, personnel rethexpenses increased $2.2 million and non-persempenses decreased $0.2 million. The
increase in personnel related expense was primdtipputable to bonuses of $1.8 million with teemaining attributable to an increase in
salary payroll tax expenses.

Depreciation and amortization was $8.8 million dgrthe year ended December 31, 2010, an incregg2 dillion, or 35.5%, as
compared to $6.5 million during the period lastry@de increase was primarily due to increasesrinréized deferred financing fees and the
increases in amortization of covenants not to caepaated to our 2010 acquisitions.
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Funeral Home expenses were $19.9 million for tter y@ded December 31, 2010, an increase of $0l@mibr 4.9%, compared to
$19.0 million during 2009. The largest portion loé increase consists of $0.5 million in labor costaddition, many other expense categories
had slight increase as a result of the six funeoates we acquired during 2010.

Non-segment Allocated Results

As previously mentioned, certain income statemerdunts are not allocated to segment operationseramounts are those line items
that can be found on our income statement belowatipg profit and above income before income taxes.

The table below summarizes these items and thegesaretween the years ended December 31, 201M088d 2

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009 Change ($ Change (%
(As Restated
(In thousands)

(non-GAAP)
Gain on acquisitiol $ 7,15¢ $ — $ 7,15: 100.(%
Gain on sale of funeral hon — 434 (434 -100.(%
Increase (decrease) in fair value of interest satap 4,72¢ (2,68)) 7,40¢ -276.2%
Expenses related to refinanci — 2,24: (2,247%) -100.(%
Interest expens 21,97: 14,41( 7,56% 52.5%
Income tax (benefit $(5,387) $ (1,945 $ (3,43¢) 176.&%

The 2010 gains on acquisition relate primarily tw first quarter 2010 acquisition of eight cemedsrand five funeral homes ($7.1
million) and the acquisition of a single cemetanthe third quarter of 2010 ($0.1 million). ReferNote 13 of our consolidated Financial
Statements for a more detailed discussion.

We entered into two interest rate swaps durinddheth quarter of 2009. At December 31, 2009, thegaps had a fair value of ($2.7
million). We recorded this as a loss during 20090ktober of 2010, when the swaps were in a favenabsition to us, we elected to early
terminate our interest rate swap agreements. Asudtr we received a payment of approximately $2llon at the time the agreement was
settled. This payment combined with the reversahefprior year’s interest rate swap liability ltasated the current year gain of $4.7 million.

The $2.2 million in expenses incurred due to refeaiag activities related to the write-down of degel financing fees that were recorded
in conjunction with our fourth quarter 2009 privalebt offering for which certain of the funds weiseed to pay down prior existing debt.

The increase in interest expense was primarilytdwan overall increase in the average amount df agtstanding and a higher average
interest rate. At June 30, 2009, we had approximn&E81.5 million in debt outstanding. At June 2010, we had approximately $237.7
million in debt outstanding, at September 30, 20@®had approximately $207.3 million outstanding &g December 31, 2010, we had
approximately $222.0 million of debt outstandingrtRer, in November of 2009, we retired $80.0 roiiliof our Series A Notes bearing interest
at 7.66% and $17.5 million of our Series B Notearlmgy interest at 9.34%, with the proceeds genéifaten the issuance of $150.0 million of
Senior Notes bearing interest at 10.25%. The coatioin of incurring additional debt and replacingséirg debt with higher interest rate
created the increase in interest expense.

The increase in the income tax benefit was primaelated to increased pre-tax losses at our catpaubsidiaries that are subject to
corporate taxes.
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Year Ended December 31, 2009 versus Year Ended Dedser 31, 2008
Cemetery Operations—Southeast

The table below compares the results of operafiangur Cemetery Operations—Southeast for the gaded December 31, 2009 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2008:

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 Change ($ Change (%

(As Restated

(In thousands)

(non-GAAP)
Total revenue $ 99,73: $88,63¢ $11,09: 12.5%
Total costs and expens 69,311 64,01¢ 5,29¢ 8.2%
Operating earning 30,41t 24,62( 5,79¢ 23.5%
Interest expens 6,51¢ 5,16: 1,35¢ 26.2%
Earnings (losses) before taxe $ 23,89¢ $19,45’ $ 4,44 22.&%

Revenue

Revenues for Cemetery Operations—Southeast wer& $88ion for the year ended December 31, 2009narease of $11.1 million, or
12.5%, compared to $88.6 million during 2008.

The increase was primarily due to an increaseervétiue of pre-need contracts written ($7.4 milljdhe value of at-need contracts
written ($1.9 million) and investment income fromranerchandise trusts ($1.1 million). Other incesawere less material.

Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for Cemetery Operati@wutheast were $69.3 million for the year endedeldaer 31, 2009, an increase of
$5.3 million, or 8.3%, compared to $64.0 millionrichg 2008.

The increase was primarily related to:

* A $1.4 million increase in cost of goods sold. Tlwiss directly attributable to the correspondingéase in the value of pre-need
and at-need contracts written. The ratio of cogiarfds sold to the total value of contracts writtetually declined by 30 basis
points to 17.9% during the year ended Decembe2@19 compared to 18.2% during 20

* A $2.1 million increase in selling expenses. Thaswalso directly attributable to the correspondimgease in the value of |-need
and atneed contracts written. The ratio of selling exgsn® the total value of contracts written declibgdtO basis points to 25.¢
during the year ended December 31, 2009 compar2@.8% during 200¢

« A $0.8 million increase in cemetery expenses. Ticegase was due to a corresponding increase in ¢alsts ($0.9 million). Othe
cemetery expenses declined by $0.1 mill

e A $1.0 million increase in general and administrexpenses. This was primarily due to a $0.8 onilincrease in labor costs an
$0.2 million increase in insurance exper

Interest Expens

Interest expense for Cemetery Operations—Southess®6.5 million for the year ended December 3092@n increase of $1.4 million,
or 26.2%, compared to $5.1 million during the sgragod last year. This was primarily due to an allencrease in corporate wide interest
expense which in turn was primarily due to an iaseein total debt outstanding.
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Cemetery Operations—Northeast

The table below compares the results of operafiangur Cemetery Operations—Northeast for the yemted December 31, 2009 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2008:

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008 Change ($ Change (%)
(In thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue: $54,19: $54,19( $ 3 0.0%
Total costs and expens 37,611 39,28! (1,670 -4.2%
Operating earning 16,58: 14,90¢ 1,67 11.2%
Interest expens 2,64¢ 2,657 (8 -0.2%
Earnings (losses) before taxe $13,93:¢ $12,25: $ 1,681 13.7%

Revenue

Revenues for Cemetery Operations—Northeast were2$bdlion for both the year ended December 31,280d 2008. A $1.3 million
increase in the value of pre-need contracts writtas offset by a $0.6 million decrease in the valuat-need contracts written and a $0.7
million decrease in investment income from trusts.

Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for Cemetery Operationsthdlst were $37.6 million for the year ended Ddmemn31, 2009, a decrease of
$1.7 million, or 4.3%, compared to $39.3 milliorridhg 2008.

The decrease was primarily related to:

* A $0.8 million decrease in cost of goods sold. Tdte of cost of goods sold to the total value ahiracts written declined by 220
basis points to 16.2% during the year ended DeceBhe2009 as compared to 18.4% during 2(

* A $0.7 million decrease in cemetery expenses. @tnsisted of a $0.5 million decrease in personosiscand a $0.2 million
decrease in fuel cost

Interest Expens
Interest expense for Cemetery Operations—Northeast$2.6 million for both the year ended Decemler2B09 and 2008. An increase
in corporate wide interest expense was not allectbthe Northeast segment.

Cemetery Operations—West

The table below compares the results of operafiangur Cemetery Operations—West for the year eridletember 31, 2009 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2008:

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 Change ($ Change (%)
(In thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue $39,957 $42,37: $ (2,415 -5.7%
Total costs and expens 27,42 28,20¢ (787) -2.8%
Operating earning 12,53t 14,16 (1,62¢) -11.5%
Interest expens 3,08- 2,69¢ 38€ 14.2%
Earnings (losses) before taxe $ 9,45¢ $11,467 $ (2,019 -17.6%
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Revenue

Revenues for Cemetery Operations—West were $40li@mfor the year ended December 31, 2009, a deeref $2.4 million, or 5.7%,
compared to $42.4 million during 2008. The decreeas primarily related to a $1.2 million decreasdath investment income from trusts ¢
in the value of at-need contracts written.

Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for Cemetery Operationsst-Wkse $27.4 million for the year ended Decemler2B09, a decrease of $0.8
million, or 2.8%, compared to $28.2 million duriag08.

The decrease was primarily related to:

* A $0.2 million decrease in cost of goods sold. Tt® of cost of goods sold to the total value ofittacts written declined by 10
basis points to 13.4% during the year ended DeceBihe2009 as compared to 13.5% during 2!

* A $0.4 million decrease in cemetery expenses. @tnsisted of a $0.4 million decrease in real edtates and a $0.1 million
decrease in utilities, maintenance and gas amffsiét by a $0.3 million increase in personnel s¢

Interest Expens

Interest expense for Cemetery Operations—West ®dsiillion for the year ended December 31, 20080.d million increase, or
14.3%, compared to $2.7 million during 2008. Thisvdue to the overall corporate wide increaseter@st expense, which in turn was due to
an increase in average debt outstanding.

Funeral Home Segment

The table below compares the results of operafiangur Funeral Home segment for the year endecedéer 31, 2009 as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2008:

Year ended December 31,

2009 2008 Change ($ Change (%)
(In thousands)
(non-GAAP)
Total revenue $23,36¢ $23,96: $ (59§ -2.5%
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,101 83¢ 263 31.2%
Total costs and expens 19,00¢ 19,06¢ (59) -0.2%
Operating earning 3,25¢ 4,06( (802) -19.£%
Interest expense (i 2,12:% 2,19¢ (75) -3.4%
Earnings (losses) before taxe $ 1,13¢ $ 1,867 $ (727) -39.(%

(@) Included in interest income on the income staten

Revenue
Revenues for the Funeral Home segment were $23idmfor the year ended December 31, 2009, a desgef $0.6 million, or 2.5%,
compared to $24.0 million during 2008.

The decrease was primarily attributable to a dseréaat-need revenues ($1.2 million) offset bydase in pre-need revenues ($0.4
million) and other revenues ($0.2 million).

Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for the Funeral Home seigrege $19.0 million for the year ended Decemter2®09, a decrease of $0.1
million, or 0.3%, compared to $19.1 million duriag08.
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There was stability across all expense categoFites largest increase was $0.2 million in wagestmrkfits. The largest decrease was
$0.1 million in fixed facility costs.

Depreciation and amortizatio

Depreciation and amortization for the Funeral Heagment was $1.1 million for the year ended Dece®bg2009, an increase of $0.3

million, or 31.4%, compared to $0.8 million duri2@08. The increase was primarily related to anease in depreciable assets.

Interest Expens
Interest expense for the Funeral Home segment &idsiillion for the year ended December 31, 2008 eease of $0.1 million, or

3.4%, compared to $2.2 million during 2008. Thegldlidecrease in the allocation of interest expémsiee funeral home operations was

primarily due to the slight decrease in funeral baevenues and the funeral home divested in 2009.

Corporate Segment

Amounts allocated to the Corporate segment inchatsh of the following:

Miscellaneous selling, cemetery and general adin@tiige expenses that are not allocable to otheraing segment:

Various home office and other expenses. These sggezqjual the total corporate expenses as shottre dace of the incom

statement
Certain depreciation and amortization expen

Gains and losses and purchases and sales of cgraetefuneral home propertie

Gains and losses from changes in the fair valudedfatives
Certain costs related to refinancil
Acquisition related cost:

The table below details expenses incurred by thrpd@ate segment for the year ended December 38, 0@ December 31, 2008:

Year ended December 31

2009
(As Restated

Selling, cemetery and general and administratiyeepge: $ 90¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,60¢
Acquisition related cost 1,072
Corporate personnel expen: 10,38:
Other corporate expens 11,98¢
Total corporate expens 22,37(
Operating los! $ (26,959
Gain on sale of funeral hon 434
Decrease in the value of interest rate sw (2,687
Expenses related to refinanci 2,24:
Interest expens 40
Losses before taxt $ (31,48)
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2008 Change ($
(In thousands)
(non-GAAP)
$ 1,391 $ (489
1,381 1,223
— 1,07z
10,03! 351
11,262 72€
21,29 1,07
$(24,065 (2,899
— 434
— (2,681)
— 2,24:
— 40
$(24,065) $ (7,429

Change (%

-34.™%
88.%
n/e
3.5%
6.4%
5.1%
12.(%
n/e
n/e
n/e
n/e
30.%
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Total corporate expenses were $22.4 million dutirggyear ended December 31, 2009, an increase bhdillion, or 5.1%, compared to
$21.3 million during the year ended December 30820 he increase was equally distributed betweesopael related expenses ($0.4 million)
and non-personnel expenses ($0.3 million). Theegme in personnel related expenses was primatrilguaaible to an increase in employee
benefits ($0.4 million). The increase in non-persgimelated expenses was primarily attributablartancrease in professional fees ($1.1
million) offset by a decrease in unit-based compéas ($0.7 million).

The 2009 gain on the sale of the funeral homeesltt the second quarter disposition of a funeyaidr Proceeds from this disposition
were approximately $0.5 million.

The 2009 decrease in the value of our interestsiagps as discussed in Note 7 of the ConsoliddtexhEial Statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K is allocated to the corporagnsent. Refer to this note for a more detailedudision of this loss.

Expenses related to refinancing of $2.2 millionidgithe year ended December 31, 2009 relate tathe-down of unamortized debt
issuance costs made as a result of our Novembér @0aate debt offering and the use of some ofdtfaads to pay down certain previous ¢
amounts.

Miscellaneous selling, cemetery and general adinitiige expenses allocated to the corporate segmenat $0.9 million during the year
ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of $0.5 mitiodd.7%, compared to $1.4 million for the yeaded December 31, 2008. The decrease
was primarily caused by a decrease in salesperbonigsses and other personnel expenses allocathd torporate segment ($0.3 million) and
sales training ($0.1 million)

Depreciation and amortization allocated to the oafe segment was $2.6 million during the year dridlecember 31, 2009, an increase
of $1.3 million, or 88.8%, compared to $1.4 millifior the year ended December 31, 2008. The incivaseprimarily caused by an increase
the amortization of deferred financing fees.

On January 1, 2009, we adopted ASC 805. Amongst ¢ings, ASC 805 requires that costs incurreacuisition related activities be
expensed as incurred. Acquisition related costsidteclegal fees and other third party costs inclimeacquisition related activities. These costs
totaled approximately $1.1 million in 2009, the oréty of which had been capitalized as of Decen@ier2008 and expensed in 2009.

Reconciliation of Segment Results of Operations tGonsolidated Results of Operations

As discussed in the segment sections of this Managgs Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comaitand Results of Operations,
cemetery revenues and their associated costs adadmt the segment level are deferred until $imch that we meet the delivery component
for revenue recognition.

Periodic consolidated revenues reflect the amofitdtal merchandise and services which were dediveturing the period. Accordingly,
period over period changes to revenues can be tepay:

* Changes in the value of contracts written and attegnues generated during a period that are detivie their period of origin an
are recognized as revenue and not deferred ag efnith of their period of originatio

» Changes in merchandise and services that are dedivieiring a period that had been originated duaipgior period
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The table below analyzes results of operationste@dhanges therein for the year ended Decemb@089, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2008. The table is structured sodimateaders can determine whether changes werd bpsa changes in the level of
merchandise and services and other revenues gediehating each period and/or changes in the tirafnghen merchandise and services were
delivered:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 200! December 31, 200:
(As Restated)
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Segmen Segmen
Non- Non-
Results segmen Results segmen
(non- GAAP (non- GAAP Change in Change in

GAAP) Results Results GAAP) Results Results GAAP results ($) GAAP results (%)
Revenue:
Pre-need cemetery revenu $ 99,77: $(26,93() $ 72,84¢ $ 91,05( $(22,987) $ 68,06: $ 4,78( 7.0%
At-need cemetery revenu 63,97( (6,549 57,42 63,87« (39) 63,83t (6,412 -10.(%
Investment income from trus 22,70¢ (3,180 19,52¢ 23,51¢ (3,237) 20,28: (75€) -3.7%
Interest incomt 5,83¢ — 5,83¢ 5,38¢ — 5,38¢ 45C 8.4%
Funeral home revenu 23,36¢ — 23,36¢ 23,96: — 23,96! (59¢) -2.5%
Other cemetery revenu 1,61° 601 2,21¢ 1,37¢ 54E 1,921 292 15.2%
Total revenue 217,26 (36,05¢) 181,20: 209,16t (25,71%) 183,44 (2,245) -1.2%
Costs and expens
Cost of goods sol 27,01¢ (5,227) 21,79 26,68" (3,805) 22,88: (1,08¢) -4.8%
Cemetery expens 41,24¢ — 41,24¢ 41,65 — 41,65: (405) -1.0%
Selling expens 41,65: (7,529 34,12¢ 40,37¢ (5,579 34,80¢ (68%) -2.0%
General and administrative expel 22,49¢ — 22,49¢ 21,37. — 21,37: 1,12¢ 5.3%
Corporate overhez 22,37( — 22,37( 21,29¢ — 21,29t 1,07 5.1%
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,52¢ — 6,52¢ 5,02¢ — 5,02¢ 1,49¢ 29.8%
Funeral home expen: 19,00¢ — 19,00¢ 19,06 — 19,06t (59) -0.3%
Acquisition related cost 1,072 — 1,072 — — — 1,072 n/e
Total costs and expens 181,38t (12,757) 168,63 175,47t (9,37¢) 166,09t 2,53¢ 1.5%
Operating profit 35,87: (23,307) 12,56¢ 33,69( (16,340 17,35( (4,784 -27.€%
Gain on sale of funeral hon 434 — 434 — — — 434 n/e
Decrease in the value of interest 1

swaps (2,687) — (2,687) — — — (2,687) n/e

Expenses related to refinanci 2,242 — 2,242 — — — 2,242 nle
Interest expens 14,41( — 14,41( 12,71« — 12,71« 1,69¢ 13.2%
Income (loss) before tax: 16,97« (23,307) (6,337) 20,97¢ (16,340) 4,63¢€ (10,96¢) n/e
State income taxe 80¢ — 80¢ 304 — 304 504 n/e
Federal income taxe (2,759 — (2,753 (224) — (224) (2,529 n/e
Total income taxe (1,945 — (1,945) 8C — 80 (2,025 n/e
Net income $ 18,91¢ $(23,307%) $ (4,38 $ 20,89¢ $(16,340) $ 4,55¢ $ (8,944) n/e
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Revenue

Pre-need cemetery revenues were $72.8 milliorh®ear ended December 31, 2009, an increase ®h##ion, or 7.0%, as compared
to $68.1 million during 2008. There was a subsé#diiticrease in the value of contracts written ($8ilfion) which was offset by a lower
increase in deferred revenue ($4.0 million). Therall increase was primarily caused by an incréasiee delivery of pre-need markers ($2.5
million), vaults ($1.8 million), grave openings (8Imillion) and installations and other ($1.4 nait).

At-need cemetery revenues were $57.4 million feryiear ended December 31, 2009, a decrease ofrfiieh, or 10.0%, as compared
to $63.8 million during 2008. The value of contgetritten increased slightly to $64.0 million frég63.9 million while deferred revenues
increased by $6.5 million. The overall decrease avasto a decline in deliveries of markers ($3.4iom), bases ($1.4 million), openings and
closings ($0.8 million), vaults ($0.4 million) atmts ($0.4 million).

Investment income from trusts was $19.5 milliontfue year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease8frilon, or 3.7%, as compared
to $20.3 million during 2008. The decrease was grilprelated to a decline in variable interesesaand a late year repositioning of assets
fixed maturity debt securities to money market fsindanticipation of a further repositioning in tiirst quarter of 2010.

Interest income on accounts receivable was $5.8mior the year ended December 31, 2009, an asg®f $0.5 million, or 8.4%, as
compared to $5.3 million during 2008. The changs mgdated to the continuing increase in the vafysr®-need contracts written.

Revenues for the Funeral Home segment were $23idmfor the year ended December 31, 2009, a deeref $0.6 million, or 2.5%,
compared to $24.0 million during 2008. The decreeas primarily attributable to a decrease in atdnewenues ($1.2 million) offset by
increase in pre-need revenues ($0.4 million) ahdratevenues ($0.2 million).

Other cemetery revenues include miscellaneous iteatsare not grouped with our other cemetery naerdise and services. Other
cemetery revenues were $2.2 million for the yeaedrDecember 31, 2009, an increase of $0.3 milboi5.3%, as compared to $1.9 million
during 2008. The increase was primarily caused $§.2 million increase in asset sales revenue.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of goods sold were $21.8 million for the yeaded December 31, 2009, a decrease of $1.1 mitiof.8%, as compared to $22.9
million in 2008. The decrease was primarily du¢hi® associated decrease in (combined) pre-needtarebd cemetery revenues. The ratio of
cost of goods sold to pre-need and at-need cemeteeyues decreased to 16.7% for the year endeehfer 31, 2009 as compared to 17.3%
during 2008.

Cemetery expenses were $41.2 million during the gaded December 31, 2009, a decrease of $0.0mibhr 1.0%, compared to $41.6
million during 2008. There was a $1.1 million dexse in non-labor costs offset by a $0.7 milliorréase in labor costs. The non-labor cost
decreases primarily related to decreases in gasib(®D.5 million), real estate taxes ($0.4 mitljcand repairs and maintenance ($0.1 million)
while the increase in labor costs was primarily thuan increase in employee benefits ($1.4 millioifi§et by a reduction in other labor costs
(%$0.7 million). Cemetery expenses relate to theeanircosts of managing and maintaining our cemeimperties. These costs are expensed as
incurred and are not deferred. Accordingly, fromargin standpoint, the most effective gauge of meag cemetery expenses is as a ratio of
segment level pre-need and at-need cemetery resenhbe ratio of cemetery expenses to segment preeheed and ateed cemetery revent
was 25.2% during the year ended December 31, 20@6rapared to 26.9% during 2008.
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Selling expenses were $34.1 million during the yarated December 31, 2009, a decrease of $0.7 mibio2.0%, as compared to $34.8
million in 2008. The decrease was primarily causgdhe associated decrease in (combined) pre-mekdtaneed cemetery revenues. The ratio
of cost of selling expenses to pre-need and at-nertktery revenues decreased to 26.1% for theeyeld December 31, 2009 as compared to
26.4% during 2008.

General and administrative expenses were $22.fomiluring the year ended December 31, 2009, aease of $1.1 million, or 5.3%,
compared to $21.4 million during 2008. The increass split between an increase in labor costs @dl®n) and non-labor costs ($0.6
million). The increase in labor costs was primaaitiributable to an increase in employee bene$iisy million). The increase in ndabor cost
was primarily attributable to an increase in cogterinsurance ($0.3 million) and a number of smakenges. General and administrative
expenses are expensed as incurred and are natedefaccordingly, from a margin standpoint, the reféective gauge of measuring general
and administrative expenses is as a ratio of segleesl pre-need and at-need cemetery revenuestafioeof general and administrative
expenses to segment level pre-need and at-needargmevenues was 13.7% during the year ended Deeedi, 2009 as compared to 13.8%
during 2008.

Total corporate overhead was $22.4 million durimg year ended December 31, 2009, an increase bh§llion, or 5.1%, compared to
$21.3 million during 2008. The increase was distiglol between personnel related expenses ($0.4mibind non-personnel expenses ($0.7
million). The increase in personnel related expsnegs primarily attributable to an increase in eeé benefits ($0.4 million). The increas
non-personnel related expenses was primarily atatide to an increase in professional fees ($1llomj offset by a decrease in unit-based
compensation ($0.7 million).

Depreciation and amortization was $6.5 million dgrthe year ended December 31, 2009, an incregkk ®Million, or 29.8%, as
compared to $5.0 million during the period lastry@de increase was primarily due to an increaghéramortization of debt issuance costs.

Funeral Home expenses were $19.0 million for ther y@ded December 31, 2009, a decrease of $0idbmitr 0.3%, compared to $19.1
million during 2008. There was stability acrosseadpense categories. The largest increase was#llich in wages and benefits. The largest
decrease was $0.1 million in fixed facility costs.

On January 1, 2009, we adopted ASC 805. Amongst otiings, ASC 805 requires that costs incurreaciuisition related activities be
expensed as incurred. Acquisition related costsidteclegal fees and other third party costs inclimeacquisition related activities. These costs
totaled approximately $1.1 million in 2009, the or#ty of which that had been capitalized as of Deber 31, 2008 and expensed in 2009.

We entered into two interest rate swaps durindgdheth quarter of 2009. At December 31, 2009, theseps had a fair value of ($2.7
million). We recorded this as a loss during 2008e Thange in the value in interest rate swaps wagala change in market expectations at
December 31, 2009 as compared to the date thatthps were originated. Upon maturation, the faueaf the swaps will be the exact same
as the fair value of the swaps upon origination@$8illion). There will be no cumulative loss orig@n the fair value of the swaps. The loss
recorded in 2009 will be offset by equal and opigogains in future periods.

The $2.2 million in expenses incurred due to refaiag activities related to the write-down of deéer financing fees that were accorded
due to our fourth quarter 2009 private debt offgrior which certain of the funds were used to pawl prior existing debt.

Interest expense was $14.4 million during the yweated December 31, 2009, an increase of $1.7 milin13.3%, as compared to $12.7
million during 2008. The increase was primarily da@an overall increase in the average amount lof oletstanding.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Our primary shorterm liquidity needs are to fund general workingita requirements, repay our debt obligationsyiserour debt, mal
routine maintenance capital improvements and pstyilditions. We will need additional liquidity t@estruct mausoleum and lawn crypts on
the grounds of our cemetery properties.

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flow framperations and amounts available under our cfadiiities as described below. In the
past, we have been able to increase our liquilityugh long-term bank borrowings and the issuafi@gditional common units and other
partnership securities, including debt, subje¢htorestrictions in our credit facility and under eenior secured notes.

We believe that cash generated from operation®andorrowing capacity under our Credit Agreemauttich is discussed below, will |
sufficient to meet our working capital requiremeasswell as our anticipated capital expenditureste foreseeable future.

In addition to macroeconomic conditions, our apilit satisfy our debt service obligations, fundnpled capital expenditures, make
acquisitions and pay distributions to partners dépend upon our future operating performance.dparating performance is primarily
dependent on the sales volume of customer conttaetgost of purchasing cemetery merchandisentbdtave sold, the amount of funds
withdrawn from merchandise trusts and perpetua taists and the timing and amount of collectiom®wor pre-need installment contracts.

Offerings of Common Units

On September 22, 2010, we completed a follow onipoffering of 1,725,000 common units, including @ption to purchase up to
225,000 common units to cover over-allotments whiels exercised in full by the underwriters, atiagof $24.00 per unit, representing a
10.9% interest in us. Total gross proceeds frommghimnsactions were $41.4 million, before offedogts and underwriting discounts. Net
proceeds of the offering, including the relateditzdgontribution of our General Partner, after detthg underwriting discounts and offering
expenses, were $39.6 million.

On February 9, 2011, we completed a follow on gubffering of 3,756,155 common units, includingaption to purchase up to 731,155
common units to cover over-allotments which wagezged in full by the underwriters, at a price @#5 per unit, representing a 19.4%
interest in us. Total gross proceeds from thesesaetions were approximately $109.9 million, befoffering costs and underwriting discounts.
. Net proceeds of the offering, including the rethtapital contribution of our General Partnerrafieducting underwriting discounts and
offering expenses, were approximately $106.0 nmillias part of this transaction, selling unitholdalso sold 1,849,366 common units. We did
not receive any of the proceeds generated by teeo$any units held by the selling unitholders.

Long-term Debt
Purchase Agreeme

On November 18, 2009, we entered into a Purchaseeftent (the “Purchase Agreement”) by and amongeB4or Operating LLC (the
“Operating Company”), Cornerstone Family Serviceg/est Virginia Subsidiary, Inc. (“CFS West Virgai), Osiris Holding of Maryland
Subsidiary, Inc. (“Osiris”), the Partnership, thésidiary guarantors named in the Purchase Agreeftogether with us, the “Note
Guarantors”) and Bank of America Securities LLCA®'), acting on behalf of itself and as the reprdgative for the other initial purchasers
named in the Purchase Agreement (collectively;'lthiéal Purchasers”). Pursuant to the Purchaseeg&grent, the Operating Company, CFS
West Virginia and Osiris (collectively, the “Issggy, each our whollyswned subsidiary, as joint and several obligorse@d to sell to the Initi
Purchasers $150.0 million
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aggregate principal amount of 10.25% Senior Notes20D17 (the “Senior Notes”), with an original issliscount of approximately $4.0
million, in a private placement exempt from theisé@gtion requirements under the Securities Ad283, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
for resale by the Initial Purchasers (i) to quetifinstitutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A urtblerSecurities Act or (ii) outside the United
States to non-U.S. persons in compliance with Regul S under the Securities Act (the “Notes Offgt). The Notes Offering closed on
November 24, 200¢

The Purchase Agreement contains customary repegsrd and warranties of the parties and indematifin and contribution provisions
under which we, the Issuers, and other Note Guarsnbdn one hand, and the Initial Purchasers, emwther, have agreed to indemnify each
other against certain liabilities, including lieibés under the Securities Act. The Issuers, usthadther Note Guarantors also agreed to enter
into a Registration Rights Agreement (describedwgFor the benefit of holders of the Senior Notes.

The net proceeds from the Notes Offering and Ubffering were used, in part, to:
* repay approximately $30.7 million of borrowings endhe Revolving Facility (as defined beloy
* repay approximately $104.7 million of borrowingsden the Acquisition Credit Facility (as defined d&); and
e redeem $17.5 million of outstanding 11.00% SerieaeRior Secured Notes due 2012 (‘Series B Note”).

Indenture
On November 24, 2009, the Issuers, us and the blbier Guarantors entered into an indenture (thdeiure”), among the Issuers, us,
the other Note Guarantors and Wilmington Trust F&Btrustee (the “Trustee”) governing the SenioteNo

The Issuers will pay 10.25% interest per annumherprincipal amount of the Senior Notes, payableash semi-annually in arrears on
June 1 and December 1 of each year, starting om Ju2010. The Senior Notes mature on Decembd¥1T7,.2

The Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligatibtteedssuers and:
» rank equally in right of payment with all existiagd future senior unsecured debt of the Issi
» rank senior in right of payment to all existing dntlre senior subordinated and subordinated detbieolssuers

« are effectively subordinated in right of paymenetasting and future secured debt of the Issuerth)e extent of the value of the
assets securing such debt; i

» are structurally subordinated to all of the exigtand future liabilities of each subsidiary of tesuers that does not guarantee the
Senior Notes

The Issuers’ obligations under the Senior Notesthadndenture are jointly and severally guaranigeel “Note Guarantees”) by us and
each subsidiary, other than the Issuers, thagissantor of any indebtedness under the Creditékgent (as defined below), or is a borrower
under the Credit Agreement and each other subgithat the Issuers shall otherwise cause to beehete Guarantor pursuant to the term
the Indenture (each, a “Restricted Subsidiary”).
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At any time on or after December 1, 2013, the Issue their option, may redeem the Senior Notegjhiole or in part, at the redemption
prices (expressed as percentages of the prinaipaliat) set forth below, together with accrued anglaid interest, if any, to the redemption
date, if redeemed during the 12-month period bégBecember 1 of the years indicated:

Optional
Year Redemption Price
2013 105.121%
2014 102.56%
2015 and thereafte 10C%

At any time prior to December 1, 2013, the Issmeay, on one or more occasions, redeem all or artjopaf the Senior Notes, upon r
less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, atlamgption price equal to 100% of the principal antafrihe Senior Notes redeemed, plus the
Applicable Premium (as defined in the Indenturedfahe date of redemption, including accrued amplaid interest to the redemption date.

In addition, at any time prior to December 1, 20th2, Issuers, at their option, may redeem up to 8bfe aggregate principal amount of
the Senior Notes issued under the Indenture wiéntt cash proceeds of certain of the equity afferidescribed in the Indenture at a
redemption price equal to 110.250% of the princgrabunt of the Senior Notes to be redeemed, pkrsied and unpaid interest to the
redemption date provided, however, that (i) attlé&8b6 of the aggregate principal amount of the @eNbtes issued under the Indenture ret
outstanding immediately after the occurrence ohgedemption and (ii) the redemption occurs withindays of the closing date of such
offering.

Subiject to certain exceptions, upon the occurrefieeChange of Control (as defined in the Indeniwach holder of Senior Notes will
have the right to require the Issuers to purchlagehtolder’s Senior Notes for a cash price equaDtt#b of the principal amounts to be
purchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest tdateeof purchase.

The Indenture requires us, the Issuers and/or tite Suarantors, as applicable, to comply with wesioovenants including, but not
limited to, covenants that, subject to certain exioms, limit our and our subsidiaries’ ability (i incur additional indebtedness; (ii) make
certain dividends, distributions, redemptions sestments; (iii) enter into certain transactionthwffiliates; (iv) create, incur, assume or
permit to exist certain liens against their asg@fsmake certain sales of their assets; and (wgage in certain mergers, consolidations or sales
of all or substantially all of their assets. Thdénture also contains various affirmative covenaggarding, among other things, delivery of
certain reports filed with the SEC and materiatpuiged pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securitiesté holders of the Senior Notes and
joinder of future subsidiaries as Note Guarantoiden the Indenture. We were in compliance wittcallenants at December 31, 20

Events of default under the Indenture that coultdject to certain conditions, cause all amountsigwinder the Senior Notes to become
immediately due and payable include, but are moitdid to, the following:

1. failure by the Issuers to pay interest on any ef$lenior Notes when it becomes due and the comiteuaf any such failure for &
days;

2.  failure by the Issuers to pay the principal oy af the Senior Notes when it becomes due andipeyahether at stated maturity,
upon redemption, upon purchase, upon acceleratiotherwise

3. thelssuers’ failure to comply with the agreetaeand covenants relating to limitations on entgfimio certain mergers,
consolidations or sales of all or substantiallyodltheir assets or in respect of their obligatimpurchase the Senior Notes in
connection with a Change of Contr

4. failure by us or the Issuers to comply with anyestagreement or covenant in the Indenture anddh#eruiance of this failure for €
days after notice of the failure has been givehyuthe Trustee or holders of at least 25% of ttgreggte principal amount of the
Senior Notes then outstandir
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5. failure by us to comply with our covenant to deticertain reports and the continuance of suchrailo comply for a period of 12
days after written notice thereof has been giveustby the Trustee or by the holders of at lea%t #baggregate principal amount
of the Senior Notes then outstandi

6. certain defaults under mortgages, indenturedhar instruments or agreements under which thesebe issued or by which there
may be secured or evidenced our indebtedness ebtiedness of any Restricted Subsidiary, whethér sutebtedness now exists
is incurred after the date of the Indentt

7. certain judgments or orders that exceed $7.5 millar the payment of money have been entered lmug of competent jurisdictic
against us or any Restricted Subsidiary and suddmnjents have not been satisfied, stayed, annutlezsoinded within 60 days of
being enterec

certain events of bankruptcy of us, StoneMor GP Lo general partner (tt“General Partn”), or any Restricted Subsidiary;

other than in accordance with the terms of the NBuiarantee and the Indenture, any Note Guarangsenceto be in full force ar
effect, being declared null and void and unenfdotesdfound to be invalid or any Guarantor denyitsdiability under its Note
Guarantee

Registration Rights Agreeme

In connection with the sale of the Senior NotesNowember 24, 2009, the Issuers, us, the other Nagantors and BAS, as
representative of the Initial Purchasers, entaneula Registration Rights Agreement (the “RegigiraRights Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Issuers, us and the other Note Guarantors ddiaethe benefit of the holders of the Senioréépto use their commercially reasonable
efforts to file a registration statement with treCSwith respect to a registered offer to exchahgeSenior Notes for new “exchange” notes
having terms substantially identical in all materéspects to the Senior Notes, with certain exoaept(the “Exchange Offer”). The Issuers, us
and the other Note Guarantors agreed to use theimercially reasonable efforts to consummate suaih&nge Offer on or before the 386
day after the issuance of the Senior Notes.

In addition, upon the occurrence of certain eveetscribed in the Registration Rights Agreement tvingsult in the inability to
consummate the Exchange Offer, the Issuers, uthenother Note Guarantors agreed to file a shgistetion statement with the SEC
covering resales of the Senior Notes and to use¢bmmercially reasonable efforts to cause suetf shgistration statement to be declared
effective.

The Issuers are required to pay additional intdmegtie holders of the Senior Notes under certaoumstances if they fail to comply with
their obligations under the Registration Rights égment. In October of 2010, we complied with thienteof the registration rights agreement.

Note Purchase Agreement

On August 15, 2007, we entered into, along with@emeral Partner and certain of our subsidiaraslectively, the “Note Issuers”) the
Amended and Restated Note Purchase AgreementN#Aa”) with Prudential Investment Management IndigTPrudential Insurance
Company of America, Prudential Retirement Insuraaroe Annuity Company, certain Affiliates of Prudahtnvestment Management Inc.,
iStar Financial Inc., SFT I, Inc., and certain Affies of iStar Financial Inc. (collectively, thBl6te Purchasers”). Capitalized terms which are
not defined in this Annual Report on Form 10-K $halve the same meaning assigned to such terrhg INRA, as amended.

Pursuant to the NPA, the Note Issuers and the Rotehasers agreed to (a) exchange certain sewmiaresknotes previously issued by
Note Issuers to the Note Purchasers on Septemb&0028, for new Series A Notes, as defined in tRANdue September 20, 2009, in
amount of $80.0 million; and (b) issue Series B
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Notes, as defined in the NPA, due August 15, 2@1thé aggregate amount of $35.0 million, subje¢ch&option, on an uncommitted basis
issue/purchase additional secured Shelf Notessimgigregate amount of up to $35.0 million, andsoé/purchase additional secured Shelf
Notes to refinance the Series A Not

On November 2, 2007, we entered into the First Atngent to Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agrédthe “First Amendment
to NPA”) by and among us, the General Partneragedf our subsidiaries and the noteholders, toragrather things, amend the negative
covenants of the NPA.

On December 21, 2007, we entered into the Joimd&ntended and Restated Note Purchase Agreemetitiaadce Documents pursuant
to which we added certain issuers to the NPA. Runsto the NPA, as amended, certain of our subigdidsssued Senior Secured Series C
Notes (the"Series C Notes” and together with Series A NoBegjes B Notes and the Shelf Notes are referred the “Notes” ) in the
aggregate principal amount of $17.5 million, due®uber 21, 2012.

The Series A Notes bore an interest rate of 7.66f@apnum, the Series B Notes bore an interesBdP® per annum and the Series C
Notes bore an interest rate of 9.09% per anr

The Notes were guaranteed by both us and StonefoiTe Notes ranked pari passu with all other sesgoured debt, including the
Revolving Credit Facility and the Acquisition Cre#acility. Obligations under the Notes were sedubg a first priority lien and security
interest covering substantially all of the asséthe Note Issuers, whether then owned or theneaftguired, other than specified receivable
rights and a second priority lien and security ies¢ covering those specified receivable rightthefNote Issuers, whether then owned or
thereafter acquired. These assets secured the Aludethe Acquisition Credit Facility described beld he priority of the liens and security
interests securing the Notes is pari passu withi¢ing and security interests securing the AcqoisiCredit Facility described below.

On April 30, 2009, we entered into the Second Anmesigt to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement Byaarong us and certain of
our subsidiaries, the lenders, and Bank of Amelt4,, as Administrative Agent (the “Second Amendin® Credit Agreement”), pursuant to
which we borrowed $63.0 million under the new Agifinn Credit Facility commitments, which, togetivéth the $17.0 million of the existir
availability under the Acquisition Credit Facilityere used to repay the Series A Notes. In additienborrowed $5.4 million under the
Revolving Credit Facility, which was used to pag #itcrued interest on the Series A Notes, feesui Bf America, N.A., amendment fees to
noteholders under the Second Amendment to NPA itbestbelow as well as various other fees and éostsred in connection with these
transactions. In connection with the Second AmemdrnieeCredit Agreement, on April 30, 2009, we adstered into the Second Amendmer
Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement bgraodg us, the General Partner and certain ofuhsidiaries and the noteholders (the
“Second Amendment to NPA”).

The Second Amendment to NPA amended the Note Psechgreement to, among other matters, amend atadadle Series B Notes
and the Series C Notes. The Series B Notes weradeddo increase the interest rate to 11.00% @meehded Series B Notes”). The Series C
Notes were amended not only to increase the inteatesto 11.00%, but also to change the matuatg dfom December 21, 2012 to August
2012 (the “Amended Series C Notes,” and togethé#r thie Amended Series B Notes, the “Amended NPAebIdt

On July 1, 2009, we entered into the Third Amendmeimended and Restated Note Purchase Agreemearicbamong us, the Gene
Partner, certain of our subsidiaries and the ndtiels, to, among other things, amend certain negatvenants of the NPA.

In connection with the Fourth Amendment to Credirdement, as described below, on November 24, 200@ntered into the Fourth
Amendment to Amended and Restated Note PurchasseAgmt by and among us, the General Partner, tae@y Company, certain of our
subsidiaries and the noteholders (the “Fourth Amesrtt to NPA”). The Fourth Amendment to NPA amentiedNPA to, among other
matters, amend
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certain restrictive covenants and other termsa¢h fn the NPA to permit us to incur the indebteskevidenced by the Amended NPA Notes,
enter into the restrictive covenants set fortthim indenture, use the net proceeds of the Noteifdfas discussed above and amend the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio in accordance with-th@th Amendment to Credit Agreement.

Under the Fourth Amendment to NPA, the Companyeisnitted to incur indebtedness under the Credie&grent not greater than $80.0
million (the “Aggregate Credit Facility Cap”), casing of the Acquisition Credit Facility, as dedith below, not to exceed $45.0 million and
the Revolving Credit Facility, as defined belowt tmexceed $35.0 million. The Aggregate CreditikigdCap may be increased up to $100.0
million, with the Acquisition Credit Facility ca tbe increased up to $55.0 million and the Revgi@nedit Facility cap to be increased up to
$45.0 million with the approval of the holders dleast a majority principal amount of the shelfes) which shall not be unreasonably
withheld.

The Note Issuers under the NPA paid fees to thaemslof the Amended NPA Notes in connection withFourth Amendment to NPA.

The Amended NPA Notes bear an interest rate of0%4.fer annum, payable quarterly. Under the Fourtteddment to NPA, the inter
rate on the Amended NPA Notes was to be increagdd386 per annum during any period in which (i) &myder of the Amended NPA Notes
is required to maintain reserves in excess of fte principal amount of such Amended NPA Noéssa result of a decision of an insurance
regulatory authority having responsibility for vation of insurance company assets (an “IR AuthQrity (ii) the Senior Notes issued pursuant
to the Notes Offering are designated any ratingweé3B- (or its equivalent) by an IR Authority, provided tlzmy Amended NPA Notes are |
designated a separate rating of BB- or highertéoeduivalent) by such authority (each, a “Res&went”).

On January 15, 2010, we entered into the Fifth Adngent to the NPA, to provide for further changetheConsolidated Leverage Ratio
similar to the changes under the Fifth Amendmer@redit Agreement, as defined below, and to clatifit the interest rate applicable to the
Amended NPA Notes increased from 11% per annun2 f8%4 per annum effective November 24, 2009, witthdncrease continuing until the
termination of the Reserve Event period in accocdamith the NPA.

On May 4, 2010, we entered into the Sixth Amendniertmended and Restated Note Purchase AgreenentSixth Amendment to
Credit Agreement”) to, among other matters, provatgi) changes to the Consolidated Leverage Ratidlar to the changes under the Sixth
Amendment to Credit Agreement as described belod (&) the payment by the Partnership to eachérotd Amended Series B Notes and
Amended Series C Notes of additional interestrat@of 0.25% per annum (the “Additional Intere$tym May 4, 2010 until such time as e
holder of Notes shall have received a Complianagif@ate for the most recently completed four fisquarters of the Partnership ending on or
after December 31, 2010 evidencing that the Codatdd Leverage Ratio was less than 3.75 to 1.08ufchn period. The Amended Series B
Notes and Amended Series C Notes were amendedeataded to provide for the payment of the Additidngerest as described in the Si:
Amendment to NPA.

The Sixth Amendment to NPA also included a conbgrthe Noteholders to an increase in the AggreGatelit Facility Cap from $80.0
million to $100.0 million, an increase in the Acsjtibn Facility Cap from $45.0 million to $55.0 hidin and an increase in the Revolving
Facility Cap from $35.0 million to $45.0 million.

On September 22, 2010, concurrently with the clpsiha public offering of common units, we entenetd the Seventh Amendment to
Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement$thehth Amendment to NPA”) to, among other thipgsmit the reinstatement of the
Acquisition Credit Facility under the Credit Agreent, as amended, as described below.

On January 28, 2011, and in connection with offeelsruary 2011 follow on public offering of commonits, we entered into the Eighth
Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Ageeéfthe “Eighth
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Amendment to Credit Agreement”). This amendmeniuited the Lenders’ consent to the use of a podfdhe proceeds from our public
offering of common units to redeem in full the datsling Amended NPA Notes and to pay an aggregake+whole premium of $3.8 million
related thereto. Therefore, as of February 9, 26itelAmended NPA Notes were paid in full.

The Amended NPA Notes were guaranteed by both d®anGeneral Partner. The Amended NPA Notes rapkeidassu with all other
senior secured debt, including the Revolving CrEditility and the Acquisition Credit Facility dedmd below. Obligations under the Amen
NPA Notes were secured by a first priority lien aedurity interest covering substantially all of tssets of the Note Issuers, whether
owned or thereafter acquired, other than specifiedivable rights and a second priority lien anzliséy interest covering those specified
receivable rights of the Note Issuers, whether thened or thereafter acquired. These assets setheaiimended NPA Notes and the
Acquisition Credit Facility described below. Thegity of the liens and security interests secutimg Amended NPA Notes were pari passu
with the liens and security interests securing&bquisition Credit Facility described below.

The NPA (as amended) contained restrictive covertéuat, among other things, prohibited distribusioipon defined events of default,
restrict investments and sales of assets and estjug to maintain certain financial covenants udirlg specified financial ratios. We were in
compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2010.

Acquisition Credit Facility and Revolving Credit Facility

On August 15, 2007, we, the General Partner, am@®therating Company and various subsidiaries oOyherating Company
(collectively, the “Borrowers”), entered into then®nded and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Cregliedment”)with Bank of America, N.A
(“Bank of America”), other lenders, and BAS (coligely, the “Lenders”) The Credit Agreement provides for both an acquisitiredit facility
(the “Acquisition Credit Facility”) and a revolvingedit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”).

The Credit Agreement initially provided that: (hetAcquisition Credit Facility would have a maximpmincipal amount of $40.0 millic
(with an option to increase such facility by anitiddal $15.0 million on an uncommitted basis) dhd term of 5 years, and (2) the Revolving
Credit Facility would have a maximum principal ambof $25.0 million (with an option to increase Bdacility by up to $10.0 million on an
uncommitted basis) and a term of 5 years. Amouotsolved under the Acquisition Credit Facility amgaid or prepaid may not be reborroy
and amounts borrowed under the Revolving CreditliBaand repaid or prepaid during the term mayéeorrowed. In addition, Bank of
America agreed to provide to the borrowers swing lbans (“Swing Line Loans”) with a maximum linsit $5.0 million, which is a part of the
Revolving Credit Facility. Loans outstanding unttex Acquisition Credit Facility and the Revolvingedit Facility bear interest at rates set
forth in the Credit Agreement, which have sincerbamended as described below.

On November 2, 2007, we, the General Partner, lem@8orrowers entered into the First Amendment teeAded and Restated Credit
Agreement with certain lenders thereto and Bankrogrica to, among other things, amend certain megabvenants of the Credit Agreeme

On April 30, 2009, we, the General Partner andBberowers entered into the Second Amendment to iCAgpleement with the lenders
and Bank of America. The Second Amendment to Crgglieement amended the Credit Agreement to, amtrey aatters, increase (i) the
Revolving Credit Facility to a maximum aggregatagipal amount of $35.0 million, with the abilitg request further increases in a maximum
aggregate principal amount of $10.0 million, angtfie Acquisition Credit Facility to a maximum aggate principal amount of $102.9
million, with the ability to request further incress in a maximum aggregate principal amount ofG6llion, subject to a minimum increase
amount of $5.0 million. The maximum aggregate ppacamount of the Acquisition Credit Facility waereased to $107.9 million, with the
ability to request further increases in a
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maximum aggregate principal amount of $52.0 milliafter giving effect to a $5.0 million increasetlwe Acquisition Credit facility
implemented through the Lender Joinder to AmencdebRestated Credit Agreement, dated June 24, 2000ng us, the General Partner, the
Borrowers and other parties thereto.

On July 6, 2009, we, the General Partner, the Beers and Bank of America entered into the Third Adraent to Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement to, among other thinggna certain negative covenants of the Credit Agese.

On November 24, 2009, concurrently with the closifithe Notes Offering and a common unit offering, entered into the Fourth
Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agree(teat Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement”) by @amdong us, our General
Partner, the Borrowers, the lenders, and Bank oérgr, as Administrative Agent for the benefitloé tenders. The Fourth Amendment to
Credit Agreement amended the Credit Agreementnimng other matters, (i) amend certain restrictivegenants and other terms set forth in
Credit Agreement to permit us to incur the indebtest evidenced by the Senior Notes, enter inttintfenture and use the net proceeds of the
Notes Offering and Units Offering as discussed ab@i) decrease the Acquisition Credit Facilityaanaximum aggregate principal amoun
$45.0 million, with the ability to request furthieicreases in a maximum aggregate principal amoiu$i©.0 million; and (iii) amend the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the iCAgteement, as amended).

On January 15, 2010, we entered into the Fifth Adngent to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreemleich further amended the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio. Loans outstanding utideAcquisition Credit Facility and the Revolvigedit Facility bear interest at a per
annum rate based upon a base rate (the “Base Rata'fturodollar rate (the “Eurodollar Rate”) plumargin ranging from 2.25% to 3.25%
over the Base Rate and 3.25% to 4.25% over thedBilen Rate, as selected by the Borrowers. The Bade is the highest of (a) the Federal
Funds Rate plus 0.5% or (b) the Prime Rate, ageldiin the Credit Agreement, as amended. The EllandRate equals the greater of: (i) the
British Bankers Association LIBOR Rate or (ii) iich rate is not available, the rate determined &ykBof America, N.A., as the
Administrative Agent, subject to certain conditioMargin is determined by the ratio of consolidafizaided debt to consolidated EBITDA.

On May 4, 2010, we entered into the Sixth Amendner®tmended and Restated Credit Agreement (thetiSdmendment to Credit
Agreement”) to, among other things, provide that@onsolidated Leverage Ratio shall not be grehger.
* 4.15t0 1.0, for the most recently completed fascdl quarters ending prior to July 1, 20
* 4.00to 1.0, for the most recently completed fasedl quarters ending between July 1, 2010 andeSdr 30, 201(
e 3.7510 1.0, for the most recently completed fasedl quarters ending between October 1, 2010 awbiber 31, 2010;
» 3.6510 1.0, for the most recently completed fasedl quarters ending after December 31, 2

The Consolidated Leverage Ratio was 3.22 at Dece81he2010.

Under the Credit Agreement, as amended, the inteatsson Base Rate Loans and Eurodollar Rate Lisaredculated based on the Base
Rate or Eurodollar Rate, as applicable, plus thplidable Rate. The Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreetramended the definition of
Applicable Rate to provide that, commencing on Mag010 until such time as the Agent shall haveitstd a Compliance Certificate
evidencing compliance with all financial covenafatsthe most recently completed four fiscal quartemnding on or after December 31, 2010,
Pricing Level 3 of the Applicable Rate (the curtem tpplicable pricing level) for (i) Eurodollar Rat.oans and Letter of Credit Fees shall be
increased by 25 basis points to 4.50%, and (iieBate Loans shall be increased by 25 basis poird$0%.
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The Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement also ameie definition of Consolidated EBITDA to provitleat Consolidated EBITDA
shall not be adjusted for any changes resulting filve sale by the credit parties of all of theiredstments held, as of May 4, 2010, in one of
more Merchandise Trusts in the Highland FloatingeRedvantage Fund.

Effective May 21, 2010, the Lenders increased edthe Revolving Credit Facility and the Acquisiti€redit Facility by $9.1 million.
After giving effect to such increases, the maximaggregate principal amount available under the Reg Credit Facility was $44.1 million
and the maximum aggregate principal amount ava&lahter the Acquisition Credit Facility was $54.ilion.

On September 22, 2010, concurrently with the clpsihthe common units offering from which we us@2$% million of net proceeds to
prepay amounts on the Acquisition Credit Facilitglaised $14.5 million of net proceeds to pay domowunts on the Revolving Credit Facili
we entered into the Seventh Amendment to AmendddRastated Credit Agreement to, among other thirjsstate the amount available on
the Acquisition Credit Facility to a total of $551illion and reinstate the amount available onRlegolving Credit Facility to $45.0 million.

The Borrowers under the Credit Agreement, as anteriad fees to Bank of America, as Administrathgent, and BAS, as Arranger.
addition, the Credit Agreement, as amended, resjtiire Borrowers to pay an unused commitment feghik calculated based on the amount
by which the commitments under the Credit Agreemasamended, exceed the usage of such commitments.

On January 28, 2011, and in connection with ourt@ly 2011 follow on public offering of common witve entered into the Eighth
Amendment to Credit Agreement. The Eighth Amendne@redit Agreement included the Lenders’ conserthe use of a portion of the
proceeds from our public offering of common undseédeem in full outstanding Amended NPA Notes tangly an aggregate make-whole
premium of $3.8 million related thereto. Pursuanthte Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreement, theuvigt Date has been extended from
August 15, 2012 to January 29, 2016 and the agpéaaargins for each of: (i) Eurodollar Rate Loansl Letter of Credit Fees and (ii) Base
Rate Loans are reduced by 50 basis points, reguftiRricing Level 3 of the Applicable Rate (theremtly applicable pricing level) of 3.75%
and 2.75%, respectively.

In addition, we shall continue using the same Clidated Leverage Ratio of 3.65 to 1.0 as is culyanteffect for Measurement Periods
ending after December 31, 2010 and we will not d&enitted to have Maintenance Capital Expendituoesiiy Measurement Period ending in
2011, 2012 and 2013 to exceed $4.6 million, $5I#aniand $5.8 million, respectively.

The lenders also agreed to reinstate the maximgreggte principal amount of the acquisition créatiility to $55.0 million and to
increase the Lenders’ aggregate commitments byd$mdlion under each of the Acquisition Credit Hagiand the Revolving Credit Facility,
resulting in an acquisition credit facility of $65million and a revolving credit facility of $55rillion.

The Borrowers under the Credit Agreement, as anterpied fees to Bank of America, N.A., as Admirasitre Agent, and Merrill Lynct
Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Incorporated, successBiatc of America Securities LLC, as Arranger.

The proceeds of the Acquisition Credit Facility myused by the Borrowers to finance (i) Permifieduisitions, as defined in the
Credit Agreement, and (ii) the purchase and constm of mausoleums. The proceeds of the Revol@regit Facility and Swing Line Loans
may be utilized to finance working capital requirstts, Capital Expenditures, as defined in the Creglieement, as amended, and for other
general corporate purposes.
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Borrowings under the Credit Agreement, as amendeudk pari passu with all other senior secured débte Borrowers including the
senior secured notes discussed above. The Borroatdigations under the Credit Agreement are guaeghby both us and our General Pat
(collectively, the “Guarantors”).

The Borrowers’ obligations under the Revolving Gré&acility are secured by a first priority liendeecurity interest in specified
receivable rights, whether then owned or thereaftguired, of the Borrowers and the Guarantors jgra second priority lien and security
interest in substantially all assets other thais¢hr@ceivable rights of the Borrowers and Guaranticluding trust accounts and certain
proceeds required by law to be placed into sucst aocounts and funds held in trust accounts, el partner’s interest in us and the
General Partner’s incentive distribution rights endur partnership agreement. The specified rebiwights include all accounts and other
rights to payment arising under customer contracesgreements or management agreements, and afitory, general intangibles and other
rights reasonably related to the collection andgoerance of these accounts and rights to payment.

The Borrowers’ obligations under the Acquisitiore@it Facility are secured by a first priority liand security interest in substantially all
assets, whether then owned or thereafter acquatedr than specified receivable rights of the Barers and the Guarantors, excluding trust
accounts and certain proceeds required by law fddmed into such trust accounts and funds heldist accounts, the General Partner’s
interest in us and the General Partner’s incemtistibution rights under our partnership agreemantl a secondary priority lien and security
interest in those specified receivable rights. Eheessets secure the Acquisition Credit Facility #aedsenior secured notes described above
priority of the liens and security interests segtihe Acquisition Credit Facility is pari passutwihe liens and security interests securing the
senior secured notes described below.

The agreements governing the Revolving Credit Fgaehd the Acquisition Credit Facility contain testive covenants that, among otl
things, prohibit distributions upon defined eveottsiefault, restrict investments and sales of assed require the Company to maintain certain
financial covenants, including specified financitios. A material decrease in sales could caus€tdmpany to breach certain of its financial
covenants, such as the leverage ratio and theegiteoverage ratio, under the Company’s Credit &gent. Any such breach could allow the
lenders to accelerate (or create cross-defaultriititde Company’s debt which would have a materdalease effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition or results of operations. Thentpany complied with these covenants as of Decethe2010.

We used some of the proceeds from our Februar@®, public offering of common units to pay any ¢arsling amounts under our
Revolving Credit Facility and the Acquisition Creffacility, which had balances of $18.5 million &itb.0 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2010. Therefore, as of December 310, 2iter giving effect to our public offering, wad $55.0 million available under our
Revolving Credit Facility and $65.0 million availabunder our Acquisition Credit Facility.

Green Lawn Note

In July of 2009, certain of the Company'’s subsiéisrentered into a $1.4 million note purchaseement in connection with an
operating agreement in which the Company becamextiesive operator of Green Lawn Cemetery (thee®&rLawn Note”)The Green Law
Note bears interest at a rate of 6.5% per yeam@aid principal and is payable monthly, beginnimgfugust 1, 2009. Principal on the nott
due in 96 equal installments beginning on JulyQl, 12

Nelms Note

In June of 2010, certain of our subsidiaries issuadinstallment notes in connection with our setgoarter acquisition. The installment
notes are to be paid over a 4 year period and matpril 1, 2014. The installment notes do not hawtated rate of interest. We recorded the
installment notes at their fair market value
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of approximately $2.6 million. The face amountstaf installment notes were discounted approxima&ely million, and the discount will be
amortized to interest expense over the life ofittstallment Notes. At December 31, 2010, the ligbiklated to the note was stated on our
balance sheet at approximately $0.9 million.

In June of 2010, certain of our subsidiaries adsoiéd four notes in the aggregate principal amouapproximately $5.8 million in
connection with the acquisition referenced aboveesk notes were paid at the closing of the actprisieferenced above by: (i) the issuanci
us of 293,947 unregistered common units represglititited partnership interests in us valued atrapimately $5.6 million and (ii) a cash
payment of approximately $0.2 million.

Acquisition Non-Compete Notes

In connection with our second and third quarter®8@dquisitions, certain of our subsidiaries issimsthliment notes in consideration for
non-compete agreements executed with the formeersnaf the acquired entities. The installment natesto be paid over periods of 4 to 6
years and mature between April 1, 2014 and JuR016. The installment notes do not have a statedofanterest. We recorded the installm
notes at their fair market value of approximate2yl$million. The face amounts of the installmentesovere discounted approximately $0.4
million, and the discount will be amortized to irgst expense over the life of the installment nod¢®ecember 31, 2010, the liability related
to the installment notes was stated on our balaheet at approximately $1.6 million.

Interest Rate Swaps

On November 24, 2009, we entered into an inteegstswap (the “First Interest Rate Swap”) wheregnagreed to pay the counterparty
interest in the amount of three month LIBOR plu8 8&sis points in consideration for the counterpargreement to pay us a fixed rate of
interest of 10.25% on a principal amount of $108ilion. Settlements are to be made net on a qugtasis in February, May, August and
November of each year. The First Interest Rate Ssxapes on December 1, 20:

On December 4, 2009, we entered into an interéstsi@ap (the “Second Interest Rate Swap”, togetiiterthe First Interest Rate Swap,
the “Interest Rate Swaps”) wherein we agreed tothbayounterparty interest in the amount of threatm LIBOR plus 869 basis points in
consideration for the counterparties agreemenajous a fixed rate of interest of 10.25% on a ppialcamount of $27.0 million. Settlements
are to be made net on a quarterly basis in Febrdday, August and November of each year. The Setmtedest Rate Swap expires on
December 1, 2012.

The Interest Rate Swaps do not contain any cristlittontingent features. No collateral is requitetbe posted by either counterparty.

The Interest Rate Swaps do not qualify for hedgewaating. Accordingly, the fair values of the Ir@st Rate Swaps are reported on the
balance sheet and periodic changes in the faievafiihe Interest Rate Swaps are recorded in eggnikt December 31, 2009, we recorded a
liability (the “Fair value of interest rate swap®if)approximately $2.7 million, which represents fhir value of the Interest Rate Swaps at
December 31, 2009. We recognized a loss on thedhie of Interest Rate Swaps (“Loss on fair valtismterest rate swaps”) of approximately
$2.7 million during the year ended December 319200

We entered into the Interest Rate Swaps in antaffonanage our total interest rate risk. The kgeRate Swaps reduced cash paid for
interest in the fourth quarter of 2009 and the yrated December 31, 2010 by approximately $0.2anikind $1.0 million, respectively.

On October 20, 2010, we elected to terminate therdst Rate Swaps early. Upon termination, we veded payment of approximately
$2.0 million to settle the Interest Rate Swaps.tReryear ended December 31, 2010, we recognigatheaof approximately $4.7 million
related to the change in fair value and terminapiapment of the Interest Rate Swaps.
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Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities werel$illion in 2010, a decrease of $11.6 million,7&.9%, compared to $14.7 million
2009. The decrease was driven in part by increeerest expense as we incurred debt to financeoguisitions and we had higher interest
rate debt outstanding during 2010. The remainirggedese was primarily driven by cash flow timingfeliénces rather than specific operating
results and a net cash inflow into our merchantliss.

Cash flows provided by operating activities werd $million in 2009, a decrease of $6.4 million 36r.3%, compared to $21.1 million
2008. The reduction in operating cash flow wasangé part driven by an increase of the net castvisfinto our merchandise trust ($5.7
million).

Cash flows from operations in 2010, 2009 and 20@@eded our net income (loss) of ($1.4 million}.gmillion) and $4.6 million,
respectively, during the same periods. The diffeesrbetween our operating cash flows and net in@me large part attributable to the fact
that various cash inflows for payments of amouts dnder pre-need sales contracts were not antbaes of yet recognized as revenues as
we had not and have not met the delivery critaiaévenue recognition. Although there is no agsteawe expect that the trend of operating
cash flows exceeding net income will continue ithe foreseeable future.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $49.@ionilduring 2010, an increase of $37.4 million 3606.6%, compared to $12.2 million
during 2009. Cash used for acquisitions in durig®was $39.1 million as compared to $4.1 millier2009. Further, cash flow used for
additions to cemetery property and property andpegent were $10.1 million in 2010 as compared t@3$iillion in 2009.

Net cash used in investing activities was $12.2ionilduring 2009, a decrease of $4.8 million, or228, compared to $17.0 million
during 2008. Cash flows used for investing actgtduring 2009 were primarily utilized for acqugils made in the second and third quarters
($4.1 million), expansion capital improvements at properties ($4.8 million), maintenance capitaprovements at our cemeteries ($2.5
million) offset by consideration received for thsgbsition of a funeral home ($0.4 million). Cabwis used for investing activities during
2008 were primarily utilized for acquisitions ($5xéllion), expansion capital improvements at ousperties ($4.4 million) and maintenance
capital improvements at our cemeteries ($4.8 mmi)lio

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $4@ibion during 2010, an increase of $36.6 milli@ompared to $3.9 million during
2009. The 2010 net cash inflow was primarily redai® proceeds from a public unit offering ($38.9lio) and net additional borrowings
($33.7 million), offset by distributions to unititErs ($32.4 million) and costs related to finandi®@.6 million). The 2009 net cash inflow was
primarily related to proceeds from a public unfieoing ($23.7 million) and net additional borrowm($20.8 million), offset by distributions to
unitholders ($27.3 million) and costs related taficing ($13.9 million).

Net cash provided by financing activities was $8ilion during 2009, as opposed to net cash usdihémcing activities of $10.8 millio
during 2008. The 2009 net cash inflow was primaméjated to proceeds from a public unit offering3¥ million) and net additional
borrowings ($20.8 million), offset by partner dibtrtions ($27.3 million) and costs related to fioeng ($13.9 million). The 2008 use of cash
was primarily for partner distributions ($25.7 righ) offset by increased borrowings on our workaagital line to fund pre-need sales growth
of $14.7 million.
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Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreeme

In connection with the closing of our credit faitls and the private placement of the notes weredti@to, along with our general partr
certain of our subsidiaries, the lenders undectkdit facility, the holders of the notes and Baflmerica, N.A, as collateral agent, an
intercreditor and collateral agency agreementrggttirth the rights and obligations of tharties to the agreement as they relate to thateodl
securing the Credit Facility and the Senior SeciNetes.

Capital Expenditures

The following table summarizes total maintenangatahexpenditures and expansion capital experektuincluding for the construction
of mausoleums and for acquisitions, for the perjpdsented:

Year ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

(In thousands)
Maintenance capital expenditur $ 7,87¢ $ 2,52¢ $ 4,80¢
Expansion capital expenditur 41,321 8,87( 12,23]
Total capital expenditure $49,20¢ $11,39/ $17,04¢

Pursuant to our partnership agreement, in conmeetith determining operating cash flows availaldedistribution, costs to construct
mausoleum crypts and lawn crypts may be considerbd a combination of maintenance capital expargitand expansion capital
expenditures depending on the purposes for corgtnu®©ur general partner, with the concurrenciésofonflicts committee, has the discretion
to determine how to allocate a capital expenditarehe construction of a mausoleum crypt or a lanypt between maintenance capital
expenditures and expansion capital expenditureaddiition, maintenance capital expenditures forcthrestruction of a mausoleum crypt or a
lawn crypt are not subtracted from operating swgjuthe quarter incurred but rather is subtrafiteish operating surplus ratably during the
estimated number of years it will take to selladlthe available spaces in the mausoleum or lawptcEstimated life is determined by our
general partner, with the concurrence of its cotdflcommittee.

Seasonality

The death care business is relatively stable aedigtable. Although we experience seasonal incesiasgeaths due to extreme weather
conditions and winter flu, these increases havehistorically had any significant impact on ouruks of operations. In addition, we perform
fewer initial openings and closings in the wintdrem the ground is frozen.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obligats and Contingencies

We have assumed various financial obligations amdnaitments in the ordinary course of conducting lmusiness. We have contractual
obligations requiring future cash payments relatedebt maturities, interest on debt, operatingdemgreements, and liabilities to purchase
merchandise related to our in force pre-need salegacts.

A summary of our total contractual obligations &9ecember 31, 2010 is presented in the table helow

As of 12/31/201(

Less than
More than
Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
(In thousands)

Debt (1) $334,59¢ $17,93( $103,42¢ $31,75: $181,48
Operating lease 8,93¢ 1,801 3,051 1,57(C 2,51¢

Merchandise liabilities (2 113,35¢ — — — —
Total $456,89: $19,73. $106,47¢ $33,32: $184,00:
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(1) Represents the interest payable and par valuebofddee and does not include the unamortized debbdnt of $3,598 at December .
2010. The following debt maturing in 2012 was rejpmibsequent to December 31, 2010 using proceagisdur February 9, 2011 follo
on public offering: $15.0 million from our Acquigh Credit Facility, $18.5 million from our Revohyg Credit Facility, $17.5 million of
Class B Senior secured notes and $17.5 millionla§<C Senior secured not

(2) Total cannot be separated into periods becauseevgnable to anticipate when the merchandise withéedec

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as ofnilesre31, 2010 or 2009.

Iltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

The information presented below should be readmjunction with the notes to our audited consokddinancial statements included
under “ltem 8—Financial Statements and Supplemgmidata.”

The market risk inherent in our market risk seusitnstruments and positions is the potential ckargsing from increases or decreases
in interest rates and the prices of marketabletggeicurities, as discussed below. Our exposuneatixet risk includes forward-looking
statements and represents an estimate of poskidges in fair value or future earnings that waaddur assuming hypothetical future
movements in interest rates or equity markets.viaws on market risk are not necessarily indicatiffactual results that may occur and do
represent the maximum possible gains and lossesyaoccur, since actual gains and losses wilkdifom those estimated, based on actual
fluctuations in interest rates, equity markets #iratiming of transactions. We classify our manksh sensitive instruments and positions as
“other than trading.”

Interest-bearing Investments

Our fixed-income securities subject to market deksist primarily of investments in our merchandissts and perpetual care trusts. As
of December 31, 2010, the fair value of fixed-in@securities in our merchandise trusts represéh&2d of the fair value of total trust assets
while the fair value of fixed-income securitiesaar perpetual care trusts represented 9.6% ofaihedlue of total trust assets. The aggregate
quoted fair value of these fixed-income securities $11.5 million and $23.9 million in merchandisests and perpetual care trusts,
respectively, as of December 31, 2010. Each 1%gshaninterest rates on these fixed-income seesritiould result in changes of
approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million in tfer market value of the assets in our merchanulissts and perpetual care trusts,
respectively, based on discounted expected futashk flows. If these securities are held to maturitychange in fair market value will be
realized.

Our money market and other short-term investmarttgest to market risk consist primarily of investmein our merchandise trusts and
perpetual care trusts. As of December 31, 2010fa@healue of money market and sheetm investments in our merchandise trusts repted
12.8% of the fair value of total trust assets witile fair value of money market and short term stweents in our perpetual care trusts
represented 8.2% of the fair value of total trissteds. The aggregate quoted fair value of thesgises was $40.7 million and $20.6 million in
merchandise trusts and perpetual care trusts,ctaply, as of December 31, 2010. Each 1% changetémest rates on these fixed-income
securities would result in changes of approxima€lyt million and $0.2 million in the fair markedlue of the assets in our merchandise trusts
and perpetual care trusts, respectively.

Marketable Equity Securities

Our marketable equity securities subject to matik&tconsist primarily of investments held in ouenthandise trusts and perpetual care
trusts. These assets consist of investments inibdividual equity securities as well as closed apdn ended mutual funds. As of
December 31, 2010, the fair value of marketabletggecurities in our merchandise trusts represeB86% of the fair value of total trust
assets while the fair
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value of marketable equity securities in our parpktare trusts represented 22.9% of total trustasThe aggregate quoted fair market value
of these marketable equity securities was $75.Ramiaind $57.3 million in merchandise trusts ancppaual care trusts, respectively, as of
December 31, 2010, based on final quoted salesgritach 10% change in the average market pridie @fquity securities would result in a
change of approximately $7.5 million and $5.7 railliin the fair market value of securities held ierohandise trusts and perpetual care trusts,
respectively. As of December 31, 2010, the faiugadf marketable closed and open ended mutual funn@sr merchandise trusts represented
56.3% of the fair value of total trust assets while fair value of closed and open ended mutualgun our perpetual care trusts represented
58.8% of total trust assets. The aggregate quaiednfarket value of these closed and open endedahfunds was $179.2 million and $146.9
million in merchandise trusts and perpetual carsts; respectively, as of December 31, 2010, basduhal quoted sales prices. Each 10%
change in the average market prices of the closddpen ended mutual funds would result in a chafigg@proximately $17.9 million and
$14.7 million in the fair market value of securitieeld in merchandise trusts and perpetual casestriespectively.

Investment Strategies and Objectives

Our internal investment strategies and objectieesunds held in merchandise trusts and perpetral tusts are specified in an
Investment Policy Statement which requires us tthédollowing:

» State in a written document our expectations, divjes, tolerances for risk and guidelines in theestment of our asse!

» Set forth a disciplined and consistent structurarianaging all trust assets. This structure isdbagea long-term asset allocation
strategy, which is diversified across asset classeastment styles and strategies. We believesthigture is likely to meet our
stated objectives within our tolerances for risk &ariability. This structure also includes rangesund the target allocations
allowing for adjustments when appropriate to redusleor enhance returns. It further includes glinds for the selection of
investment managers and vehicles through whiclmpament the investment strate

* Provide specific guidelines for each investment agemn. These guidelines control the level of oveigsk and liquidity assumed
each portfolio;

» Appoint third-party investment advisors to overtiee specific investment managers and advise owt Bnd Compliance
Committee; ant

» Establish criteria to monitor, evaluate and compheeperformance results achieved by the overnadt fportfolios and by our
investment managers. This allows us to comparpéhf@rmance results of the trusts to our objectases other benchmarks,
including peer performance, on a regular be

Our investment guidelines are based on relativalyg linvestment horizons, which vary with the typérost. Because of this, interim
fluctuations should be viewed with appropriate pecsive. The strategic asset allocation of thet fpostfolios is also based on this longer-term
perspective. However, in developing our investnpaicy, we have taken into account the potentiglatiee impact on our operations and
financial performance of significant short-term litees in market value.

We recognize the challenges we face in achievimgrm@stment objectives in light of the uncertastand complexities of contemporary
investment markets. Furthermore, we recognize thatrder to achieve the stated long-term objestivee may have short-term declines in
market value. Given the need to maintain consistalutes in the portfolio, we have attempted to tlgva strategy which is likely to maximize
returns and earnings without experiencing overmatlides in value in excess of 3% over any 12-mpettiod. We were able to achieve this
objective in 2010 and 2009.

In order to consistently achieve the stated retinjactives within our tolerance for risk, we usstrategy of allocating appropriate
portions of our portfolio to a variety of assetsdas with attractive risk and return charactegsand low to moderate correlations of returns.
See the notes to our consolidated financial statésrfer a breakdown of the assets held in our nzrdise trusts and perpetual care trusts by
asset class.
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Debt Instruments

Our Acquisition Credit Facility and Revolving Creéfacility bear interest at a floating rate, basad_ IBOR, which is adjusted quarterly.
These credit facilities will subject us to increageinterest expense resulting from movementatierést rates. As of December 31, 2010, we
had $15.0 million of outstanding borrowings under Acquisition Credit Facility and $18.5 million ofitstanding borrowings under our
Revolving Credit Facility. We subsequently used eafthe proceeds from our February 9, 2011 offeahcommon units to pay down all
amounts outstanding under the Acquisition Creddilfg and Revolving Credit Facility. Concurrenttiwiour offering, we also entered into the
Eighth Amendment to our Amended and Restated Chggiitement (the “Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreatt)e As part of this
amendment, the lenders agreed to reinstate themmaxiaggregate principal amount of the acquisitiedit facility to $55.0 million and to
increase the Lenders’ aggregate commitments byd$mdlion under each of the acquisition credit filgiand the revolving credit facility,
resulting in an acquisition credit facility of $65million and a revolving credit facility of $55nillion.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, we entered into taterest rate swaps wherein we swapped a fixedofdteerest for a floating rate of
interest on $135.0 million of debt. These interag® swaps will subject us to increases in intesgpense resulting from movements in interest
rates. We reduced cash paid for interest by apprately $0.2 million in the fourth quarter of 200@daapproximately $1.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010 as a result of these shtate swaps. On October 20, 2010, we electegftainate the Interest Rate Swaps early
we received a payment of approximately $2.0 milliosettle the Interest Rate Swaps. For the yedecDecember 31, 2010, we recognized a
gain of approximately $4.7 million related to tHenge in fair value and termination payment oflttierest Rate Swaps.
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ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of StoneMor Partners GE land Unitholders of StoneMor Partners L.P.
Levittown, Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of StoneMor Partners L.P. and subsidi@ttie “Company”) as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related cdiasetl statements of operations, partners’ capital ,cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2010. These fiabstatements are the responsibility of the Corgmmanagement. Our responsibility is
express an opinion on these financial statemerssdoan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamliogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemenielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of StoneMor Partners
L.P. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 068,2nd the results of their operations and ttesh flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2010, in conformity &ithounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hBtates of America.

As discussed in Note 18 to the financial statemehtsaccompanying 2009 financial statements haea lbestated to correct a
misstatement.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2010, based on the criterébkstied innternal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission and our report datedcha9, 2011 expressed
an adverse opinion on the Company'’s internal cootrer financial reporting because of a materiahkveess.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 29, 2011
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StoneMor Partners L.P.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands)

Assets
Current assett

Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable, net of allowar

Prepaid expenst

Other current asse

Total current asse

Long-term accounts receival—net of allowanct
Cemetery propert
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depfewi
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi
Deferred financing cos—net of accumulated amortizati
Deferred selling and obtaining co:
Deferred tax asse
Goodwill
Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and partners’ capital
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilit

Accrued interes

Current portion, lon-term debt

Total current liabilities

Other lon¢-term liabilities
Fair value of interest rate swa
Long-term debt
Deferred cemetery revenues,
Deferred tax liabilitie:
Merchandise liability
Perpetual care trust corp
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingenci
Partners’ capital

General partne

Common partner

Total partner capital

Total liabilities and partne’ capital
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December 31 December 31
2010 2009
(As Restated
$ 7,53¢ $ 13,47¢
45,14¢ 37,27:
3,78 3,631
8,58( 4,50z
65,047 58,78t
60,31« 47,79¢
283,46( 228,04¢
66,24¢ 47,63¢
318,31¢ 203,82¢
249,69( 196,27¢
9,801 12,02(
59,42 49,78:
60% 451
19,85! 48C
14,36: 10,20(
$1,147,11 $ 855,30:
$ 23,44« $ 26,57¢
2,03¢ 1,82¢
1,38¢ 37¢€
26,86+ 28,78
3,571 2,912
— 2,681
219,00¢ 182,82:
388,40 259,32¢
18,02¢ 4,67¢
113,35¢ 65,89
249,69( 196,27¢
1,018,92 743,36
1,80¢ 1,83¢
126,38: 110,09¢
128,19: 111,93°
$1,147,11! $ 855,30
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StoneMor Partners L.P.

Consolidated Statement of Operations
(in thousands, except unit data)

Revenues:
Cemetery
Merchandise
Services
Investment and oth
Funeral hom
Merchandise
Services
Total revenue
Costs and Expenses
Cost of goods sold (exclusive of depreciation sheearately below
Perpetual car
Merchandise
Cemetery expens
Selling expens
General and administrative expet
Corporate overhead (including $711, $1,576, anéd62in uni-based compensation f
2010, 2009 and 2008 respective
Depreciation and amortizatic
Funeral home expen:
Merchandise
Services
Other
Acquisition related cost
Total cost and expens
Operating profil
Gain on sale of funeral hon
Gain on acquisition
Increase (decrease) in fair value of interest sataps
Expenses related to refinanci
Interest expens
Income (loss) before income tax
Income tax expense (benel
State
Federal
Total income tax expense (bene
Net income (loss

General partn’s interest in net income (loss) for the pel

Limited partner’ interest in net income (loss) for the per
Common
Subordinatec

Net income (loss) per limited partner —basic

Net income (loss) per limited partner ——diluted

Weighted average number of limited part’ units outstandin
basic and dilute:
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2010 2009 2008
(As Restated)
$ 94,89¢ $ 87,83¢ $ 90,96¢
40,95! 36,94 36,89«
35,897 33,05¢ 31,62
10,43¢ 9,701 9,24¢
15,117 13,66¢ 14,71«
197,29 181,20: 183,44
5,09¢ 4,727 4,32¢
18,43¢ 17,067 18,55¢
48,78¢ 41,24¢ 41,65
38,24¢ 34,12: 34,80¢
24,591 22,49¢ 21,37
24,37¢ 22,37( 21,29
8,84t 6,52¢ 5,02¢
4,001 3,71¢ 3,68¢
9,752 9,27¢ 9,07:
6,18¢ 6,01t 6,30¢
5,71¢ 1,072 —
194,02! 168,63° 166,09¢
3,261 12,56¢ 17,35(
— 434 —
7,158 — —
4,72¢ (2,681) —
— 2,24: —
21,97 14,41( 12,71«
(6,829 (6,339 4,63¢
(24%) 80¢& 304
(5,139 (2,759 (224)
(5,387) (1,945) 80
$ (1,446 $ (4,38% $ 4,55¢
$ (29 $ (87 $ 9
$ (1,419 $ (3,629 $ 3,32t
$ — $ (679 $ 1,14
$ (0.10 $ (0.36) $ 0.3¢
$ (0.10 $ (0.36) $ 0.3¢
14,13 12,03¢ 11,80¢
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Balance, December 31, 20

Proceeds from units issued in acquisil
General partner contributic
Conversion of subordinated to common u
Acquisition unit price guarante
Vesting of employee unit gra

Net income

Cash distributior

Balance, December 31, 20

Proceeds from public offerir

General partner contributic
Conversion of subordinated to common u
Net loss

Cash distributior

Balance, December 31, 2009, as rest
Proceeds from public offerir

Issuance of common uni
Compensation related to UAI
General partner contributic

Net loss

Cash distributior

Balance, December 31, 20

StoneMor Partners L.P.

Consolidated Statement of Partners’ Capital
(in thousands)

Partners’ Capital

Limited Partners General
Common Subordinated Total Partner Total

$118,59° $ 1541 $134,00¢ $2,73i $136,74¢
50C — 50C — 50C
— — — 86 86

3,74¢ (3,745 — — —
(661) - (661) - (661)
3,822 — 3,822 — 3,82
3,32¢ 1,14C 4,46t 91 4,55¢€
(18,277) (6,73 (25,015 (647) (25,65¢)
111,05: 6,06€ 117,11¢ 2,271 119,38¢
23,68( — 23,68( — 23,68(
— — — 50¢ 50¢

68C (680) — — —
(3,627) (67S) (4,300) (87) (4,389
(21,692 (4,707) (26,399 (854) (27,259
110,09¢ — 110,09¢ 1,83¢ 111,93
38,89: — 38,89: — 38,89:
9,721 — 9,721 — 9,72
48¢ — 48¢ — 48¢
— — — 1,03¢ 1,03¢
(1,417 — (1,417 (29) (1,446
(31,409 = (31,409 (1,039 (32,447
$126,38: — $126,38: $ 1,80¢ $128,19:.
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StoneMor Partners L.P.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Operating activities:
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rethcprovided by operating activit
Cost of lots solt
Depreciation and amortizatic
Unit-based compensatic
Previously capitalized acquisition co
Write down of deferred financing fe
Accretion of debt discour
Change in fair value of interest rate sv
Gain on sale of funeral hon
Gain on acquisition
Changes in assets and liabilities that provideddusash
Accounts receivabl
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Merchandise trust fun
Prepaid expense
Other current asse
Other asset
Accounts payable and accrued and other liabil
Deferred selling and obtaining co:
Deferred cemetery reven
Deferred taxes (ne
Merchandise liability
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing activities:
Cost associated with potential acquisitit
Cash paid for cemetery prope
Purchase of subsidiaries, net of common units &
Divestiture of funeral hom
Acquisition uni-price guarante
Cash paid for management agreem:
Cash paid for property and equipm
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities:
Cash distribution
Additional borrowings on lor-term debt
Repayments of lor-term debi
Proceeds from public offering
Proceeds from general partner contribu
Cost of financing activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale
Cash and cash equivalen—Beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalen—End of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid during the period for inter

Cash paid during the period for income ta

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Acquisition of asset by assumption of directly tethliability
Issuance of limited partner units for cemetery &sitjan
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2010 2009 2008
(As Restated)

$(1,446) $ (4,389 $ 4,55¢
7,124 5,17¢ 5,30¢
8,84t 6,52¢ 5,02¢
711 1,57¢ 2,26:

— 1,36¢ —

— 2,24: —
34C 34 —
(2,681) 2,681 —
— (439 —
(7,154 — —
(15,35)) 9,770 (6,67¢)
951 103 51:
(13,51 (6,13%) (459
(252 (10¢9) 96:
(3,836 (23¢9) (900)
144 (41€) (69€)
51€ (12%) 717
(9,640 (7,987) (5,959
46,06( 32,22t 22,41«
(5,307 (3,27 (564)
(2,40 (4,339 (5,366
3,10¢ 14,72¢ 21,14«
— — (1,579
(2,200 4,770 (4,376
(39,127 — (5,62)
— 434 —
— — (661)
(34€) (5,320 —
(7,87%) (2,529 (4,809)
(49,55)) (12,180 (17,046
(32,449 (27,2579 (25,65%)
75,40( 260,64" 33,18¢
(41,719 (239,86 (18,44¢)
38,89: 23,68( —
1,03¢ 50¢ 86
(679 (13,859 —
40,50! 3,862 (10,830
(5,944 6,411 (6,732)
13,47¢ 7,06¢ 13,80(
$ 7,53t $ 13,47¢ $ 7,06¢
$ 21,43 $ 13,23¢ $12,73:
$ 1411 $ 1.88¢ $ 4,82
$ 2,532 $ 2,15C $ —
$ 5,78t $ — $ 50
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

StoneMor Partners L.P. (“StoneMor”, the “Company'ttee “Partnership”) is a provider of funeral arehetery products and services in
the death care industry in the United States. Tdindts subsidiaries, StoneMor offers a completgeanf funeral merchandise and services,
along with cemetery property, merchandise and sesyiboth at the time of need and on a pre-neasl. Besof December 31, 2010, the
Partnership owned 236 and operated 257 cemetars states and Puerto Rico and owned and opes8tadheral homes in 17 states and
Puerto Rico.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements includedis Form 10-K have been prepared in accordanceagitbunting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tlo®ants of each of the Company’s subsidiaries. &lstatements also include the
accounts of the merchandise and perpetual carns frughich the Company has a variable interestiqtide primary beneficiary. The
operations of 15 of the 21 managed cemeterieshbaompany operates under long-term operatingasragement contracts are also
consolidated in accordance with the provisions 8{CA810. The 3 cemeteries that the Company begaatopeunder a long-term operating
agreement in the third quarter of 2010 and then3eteries the Company began operating under lomg-d@erating agreements in 2009 do not
qualify as acquisitions for accounting purposes Tompany has consolidated the existing merchamadideerpetual care trusts related to
these cemeteries as variable interest entitidsea€dmpany controls and benefits from the operatidrihe trusts. See Note 13 for further
details. The results of operations of these 6 cerest are included in our results of operationmftbe date the Company began operating the
properties.

Total revenues derived from the 21 cemeteries ulotgrterm management or operating contracts totapgproximately $33.9 million,
$27.2 million and $27.7 million for the years end@ecember 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 respectivelal Bssets related to the 15 cemeteries
under long-term management or operating contraetswe consolidate totaled approximately $173.4ioniland $145.6 million at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies followed by tBempany are summarized below:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmgmischased with an original maturity of three mantih less from the time they are
acquired to be cash equivalents.

Cemetery Property

Cemetery property consists of developed and undpeel cemetery property and constructed mausoleyptscand lawn crypts and is
valued at cost, which is not in excess of marké&iea

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment is recorded at cost andedigted on a straight-line basis. Maintenance apdirs are charged to expense as
incurred, whereas additions and major replaceramtsapitalized and depreciation is recorded dwar estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 10 to 40 year
Furniture and equipmel 5to 10 year:
Leasehold improvements over the shorter of the term of the lease or

the life of the asse
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Depreciation expense was $5.8 million, $4.4 milleord $4.1 million for the years ended Decembe2810, 2009 and 2008 respectively.

Merchandise Trusts

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeuts fore-need sales of merchandise and services istpurust (the “merchandise trust”)
until such time that the Company meets the requéremfor releasing trust principal, which is gefigrdelivery of merchandise or performar
of services. All investment earnings generatedhieyassets in the merchandise trusts (includingzeshfjains and losses) are deferred until the
associated merchandise is delivered or the sergigeperformed. The fair value of the funds helcherchandise trusts at December 31, 2010
and 2009 was approximately $318.3 million and $208illion, respectively (see Note 5).

Perpetual Care Trust:

Pursuant to state law, a portion of the proceeats the sale of cemetery property is required tpdid into perpetual care trusts. The
perpetual care trust principal does not belondgnéoGompany and must remain in this trust into peifyewhile interest and dividends may be
released and used to defray cemetery maintenaistg edhich are expensed as incurred. The Compamgotidates the trust into the
Company'’s financial statements in accordance wilCA810-10-15-(13 through 22) because the trusinsidered a variable interest entity for
which the Company is the primary beneficiary. Eagsifrom the perpetual care trusts are recognizedrirent cemetery revenues. The fair
value of funds held in perpetual care trusts atedbezer 31, 2010 and 2009 was $249.7 million and $18Glion, respectively (see Note 6).

Inventories

Inventories are classified within other currenteis®n the Company’consolidated balance sheets and include cematerfjuneral hom
merchandise valued at the lower of cost or netzalale value. Cost is determined primarily on acefpeidentification basis on a first-in, first-
out basis. Inventories were approximately $6.0iatiland $3.5 million at December 31, 2010 and 20@8pectively.

Impairment of Lonc-Lived Assets

The Company monitors the recoverability of longelivassets, including cemetery property, propentyesuipment and other assets,
based on estimates using factors such as curreketmalue, future asset utilization, business iagilatory climate and future undiscounted
cash flows expected to result from the use of ¢eted assets. The Company'’s policy is to evalaatasset for impairment when events or
circumstances indicate that a long-lived asset'syt®y value may not be recovered. An impairmergrge is recorded to write-down the asset
to its fair value if the sum of future undiscountssh flows is less than the carrying value ofasset. No impairment charges were recorded
during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002@D8i, respectively.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Trust Assets

The Company determines whether or not the impaitroka fixed maturity debt security is other-th@miporary by evaluating each of
the following:

*  Whether it is the Compa’s intent to sell the security. If there is intemtsell, the impairment is considered to be c-thar-
temporary.

» If there is no intent to sell, the Company evalsaté is not more likely than not that the Compawill be required to sell the debt
security before its anticipated recovery. If thar@any determines that it is more likely than nat tliwill be required to sell an
impaired investment before its anticipated recoytryg impairment is considered to be o-thar-temporary
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The Company has further evaluated whether or hafsakts in the merchandise trust have other-porary impairments based upc
number of criteria including the severity of thep@airment, length of time a security has been iosa position, changes in market conditions
and concerns related to the specific issuer.

If an impairment is considered to be other-thanperary, the cost basis of the security is adjudtdnward to its fair value.

For assets held in the perpetual care trusts, eshyction in the cost basis due to an other-tharpoeary impairment is offset with an
equal and opposite reduction in the perpetual tast corpus and has no impact on earnings.

For assets held in the merchandise trusts, anyctiedun the cost basis due to an other-than-teamydmpairment is recorded in deferred
revenue.

The trust footnotes (Notes 5 and 6) disclose thastetl cost basis of the assets in the both thehlraadise and perpetual care trust. This
adjusted cost basis includes any adjustments tortgimal cost basis due to other-than-temporanyaimments.

Goodwill

The Company has recorded additions to goodwillppiraximately $19.4 million and $0.5 million duritige years ended December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively, related to acquissti@ee Note 13). Those amounts represent the estctres purchase price over the fair value
of identifiable net assets acquired. The Compasitg tgoodwill for impairment annually. In the figep of the goodwill impairment test, the
Company compares the fair value of the reportingtorits carrying amount, including goodwill. Ti@®@mpany determines fair value of each
reporting unit using the income approach. The Campes not record an impairment of goodwill intémees where the fair value of a
reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount. If #iggregate fair value of a reporting unit is lessitthe related carrying amount, the Company
will record an impairment loss in an amount eqoahie excess of the carrying amount of goodwillratie implied fair value. The Company
has not impaired any goodwill during the years e@ndecember 31, 2010 and 2009.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillagdollows (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2008 and Z 48C
Acquisitions 19,37!
Balance as of December 31, 2( $19,85!

Two Class Method of Accounting for Earnings per Stea
The Company utilizes the two class method of actingror earnings per share as required by Accognfiopic 260. Under this method:

1. Periodic net income is reduced by the amount dgfldivds declared for each class of participatingisgcin order to determin
undistributed earning:

2. Undistributed earnings are allocated to each ppaiitg security as if all earnings had been distied in accordance with tl
distribution schedule per the partnership agreen

3. Total periodic earnings‘ TPE”") for each class is the sum of their share of divildgulus undistributed earning

The Company’s general partner’s agreement contagestive distribution rights (“IDR’s”) and such s are detachable from the
general partner units (i.e. can be sold on a sédonk basis). As a result, the Company must contiée DR’s to be a separate class of
ownership interest and allocate and disclose TREIth class by itself. For all periods presenteel Gompany distributed dividends in excess

of earnings. As such, there was no allocation dE T&’the IDR’s. Accordingly, the Consolidated Staémt of Changes in Partnef3apital only
reflects amounts allocated to general and commoneis.

Deferred Cemetery Revenues, I

Revenues from the sale of services and mercharatiseell as any investment income from the mercisartdust is deferred until such
time that the services are performed or the meudikaris delivered.
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In addition to amounts deferred on new contragtd,iavestment income and unrealized gains on oucmaadise trust, deferred cemet
revenues, net, includes deferred revenues fronmeee-sales that were entered into by entities pithie acquisition of those entities by the
Company, including entities that were acquired loyr@rstone Family Services, Inc. upon its formatio©999. The Company provides for a
reasonable profit margin for these deferred reveifdeferred margin) to account for the future co$delivering products and providing
services on pre-need contracts that the Companyiradethrough acquisition. Deferred margin amowmesdeferred until the merchandise is
delivered or services are performed.

Sales of Cemetery Merchandise and Servi

The Company sells its merchandise and service®timébpre-need and at-need basis. Sales of ateeseetery services and merchandise
are recognized as revenue when the service isrpegtbor merchandise is delivered.

Preneed sales are usually made on an installmentamiriasis. Contracts are usually for a period meixteed 60 months with payme
of principal and interest required. For those caxts that do not bear a market rate of interestCtbmpany imputes such interest based upon
the prime rate plus 150 basis points (this resutiedrate of 4.75% for contracts entered intomythe years ended December 31, 2010 and
2009, and 9.0% for contracts entered into durimgysar ended December 31, 2008) in order to segréga principal and interest component
of the total contract value.

At the time of a pre-need sale, the Company recandsccount receivable in an amount equal to tta ¢ontract value less any cash
deposit paid net of an estimated allowance forarust cancellations. The revenue from both the saldsnterest component is deferred.
Interest revenue is recognized utilizing the effexinterest method. Sales revenue is recognizeddnrdance with the rules discussed below.

The allowance for customer cancellations is esthbli based on management’s estimates of expecteellegions and historical
experiences and is currently averaging approximdt@¥o of total contract values. Future cancellatmes may differ from this current
estimate. Management will continue to evaluate elaitton rates and will make changes to the es@rshbuld the need arise. Actual
cancellations did not vary significantly from th&tienates of expected cancellations at Decembe2@l0Q and December 31, 2009, respecti

Revenue recognition related to sales of cemetergimadise and services is governed by Securitié€anhange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 104Revenue Recognition in Financial Statem€f8&\B No. 104"), and the retail land sales provigof ASC 976.
Per this guidance, revenue from the sale of blotaland constructed mausoleum crypts is defermgitisauch time that 10% of the sales price
has been collected, at which time it is fully eairevenues from the sale of unconstructed mausweue recognized using the percentage-of-
completion method of accounting while revenues froerchandise and services are recognized oncenseicdhandise is delivered (title has
transferred to the customer and the merchandisi¢hier installed or stored, at the direction of ¢histomer, at the vendor’s warehouse or a
third-party warehouse at no additional cost toarsgervices are performed.

In order to appropriately match revenue and experibe Company defers certain pre-need cemeterpradranged funeral direct
obtaining costs that vary with and are primarillated to the acquisition of new pre-need cemetaty@mearranged funeral business. Such cost:
are accounted for under the provisions of ASC 8, are expensed as revenues are recognized.

The Company records a merchandise liability equéhé estimated cost to provide services and psechreerchandise for all outstanding
and unfulfilled pre-need contracts. The merchaniidality is established and recorded at the towhéhe sale but is not recognized as an
expense until such time that the associated revimubke underlying contract is also recognizede Tierchandise liability is established based
on actual costs incurred
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or an estimate of future costs, which may inclugeavision for inflation. The merchandise liabiliyreduced when services are performed or
when payment for merchandise is made by the Comaadyitle is transferred to the customer.

Sales of Funeral Home Service
Revenue from funeral home services is recognizestagces are performed and merchandise is detlvere

Pursuant to state law, a portion of proceeds reckfirom pre-need funeral service contracts is ot rust while amounts used to defray
the initial administrative costs are not. All int@&nt earnings generated by the assets in the(ingtiding realized gains and losses) are
deferred until the associated merchandise is delilver the services are performed. The balandeechmounts in these trusts is included wi
the merchandise trusts above.

Net Income per Unil

Basic net income per unit is determined by dividireg income, after deducting the amount of netnme@llocated to the general partner
interest from its issuance date of September 204 20y the weighted average number of units outltanduring the period. Diluted net
income per unit is calculated in the same mannéaai net income per unit, except that the wetjateerage number of outstanding units is
increased to include the dilutive effect of outsliag unit options or phantom unit options. All datsding UARs at December 31, 2010 (See
Note 11) that would have a dilutive effect wereuassd to be exercised and converted to common usiitg) the average fair market value «
common unit for the period presented.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In the third quarter of 2010, the FASB issued Updétd. 2010-20—Receivables (Topic 310): Disclosatasut the Credit Quality of
Financing Receivables and the Allowance for Credgses (“Update 2010-20"). Update 2010-20 is aloésze only update that requires
entities to disaggregate their financing receivaduefolio between portfolio segments and clasgdmancing receivables within each segm
Certain disclosures then must be made at bothdhéofpio segment and class level. The Company astbpipdate 2010-20 beginning in the
fourth quarter of 2010 (See Note 2). As this isszldsure only update, the adoption of Update 22A@id not impact on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or casiws.

In the first quarter of 2010, the FASB issued Upddb. 2010-06—Fair Value Measurements and Discéss(iFopic 820): Improving
Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements (“Up#g@at®-06"). Update 2010 -06 requires each of thiefiohg new disclosures:
1. Entities must disclose separately significant trarssinto and out of Level 1 and Level

2. Reconciliations of Level 3 measurements must pmgichss information related to purchases, salegaisces and settlements
opposed to netting such numb

Update 2010-06 provided each of the following anmeendts to existing disclosures:
3.  Entities must provide fair value measurement fathezlass of asset and liability. A class is oftesubset of a line item asset
liability.

4.  Entities should provide disclosures about tHaat&éon techniques used to measure fair value aell2and Level 3 assets and
liabilities in interim periods

Disclosure requirements 1, 3 and 4 are applicablalf periods beginning after December 15, 2008cBsure requirement 2 is
applicable for all periods beginning after Decemti&r2010. The Company has adopted disclosureragants 1, 3 and 4 as of January 1,
2010 and requirement 2 as of January 1, 2011. i8sgfa disclosure only requirement, there wasnmaeict on the financial position of the
Company related to this adoption.
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Use of Estimates

Preparation of these consolidated financial statesneequires management to make estimates and pssnmthat affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosumoafingent assets and liabilities as of the datbeconsolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expense duringfueting periods. As a result, actual results daliffer from those estimates. The most
significant estimates in the consolidated finanstatements are the valuation of assets in thelrardise trust and perpetual care trust,
allowance for cancellations, unit-based compensatigerchandise liability, deferred sales reveneémed margin, deferred merchandise trust
investment earnings, deferred obtaining costs aconne taxes. Deferred sales revenue, deferred mangl deferred merchandise trust
investment earnings are included in deferred cetpeéwenues, net, on the consolidated balance sheet

2. LONG-TERM ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET OF ALLOWANCE
Long-term accounts receivable, net, consistedefdalowing:

As of December 31
2010 2009
(As Restated
(in thousands)

Customer receivable $135,78: $ 112,41
Unearned finance incon (14,489 (14,002
Allowance for contract cancellatiol (15,83)) (13,350

105,46: 85,06"
Less: current portic—net of allowanct 45,14¢ 37,27:
Long-term portio—net of allowanct $ 60,31« $ 47,79

For the Year Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(As Restated
(in thousands)

Balanc—Beginning of perioc $ 13,35( $ 13,76 $ 11,54(
Reserve on acquired contra — — 1,88¢
Provision for cancellation 16,52¢ 13,20: 12,88¢
Chargeoffs—net (14,047 (13,619 (12,549

Balanc—End of perioc $ 15,83: $ 13,35( $ 13,76

The Company’s customer receivables are considémadding receivables as they primarily relate ®-peed sales which are usually
made on an installment contract basis. Contraetsisually for a period not to exceed 60 months wéyments of principal and interest
required. The Company has a standard contractue¢agent that it executes related to these recesabid therefore the Company only has
one portfolio segment of receivables with no segackasses of receivables within that segment.

Management evaluates customer receivables for rmeat on an individual contract basis based uperatie of the receivable and a
customer’s payment history. The Company’s receagbptimarily relate to pre-need sales and thergfmé&ompany has not performed the
service or delivered the merchandise to which doeivable relates. As a result, the Company hag $ewerage with its customers in terms of
collecting its receivables. Further, the Companly lvé flexible with customers who have difficultyaking payments and will try to create
revised or alternative payment agreements witlctistomer. As a result, the Company does not wiftefa receivable until all possible
collection efforts have been exhausted. As of Démar31, 2010, approximately 9% of the Company’sgm@ccounts receivable balance was
90 days past due.
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3. CEMETERY PROPERTY
Cemetery property consists of the following:

As of December 31,
2010 2009
(As Restated
(in thousands)

Developed lant $ 61,84¢ $ 25,02t
Undeveloped lan 159,38t 156,37
Mausoleum crypts and lawn cryj 62,22¢ 46,64¢

Total $283,46( $ 228,04¢

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Major classes of property and equipment follow:

As of December 31
2010 2009
(As Restated
(in thousands)

Building and improvement $ 67,247 $ 46,37¢
Furniture and equipme! 31,947 29,52.

99,19« 75,89¢
Less: accumulated depreciati (32,949 (28,269
Property and equipme—net $ 66,24¢ $ 47,63¢

5.  MERCHANDISE TRUSTS

At December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, thep@oyis merchandise trusts consisted of the follgvwypes of assets:

Money Market Funds that invest in low risk shortriesecurities
Publicly traded mutual funds that invest in undiexdydebt securities
Publicly traded mutual funds that invest in undieidyequity securities

Equity investments that are currently paying divide or distributions. These investments includd Eetate Investment Trusts
(“REIT’<"); Master Limited Partnerships and global equity siéiest

Fixed maturity debt securities issued by varioupeorate entities
Fixed maturity debt securities issued by the U.8v&Bnment and U.S. Government agencies;
Fixed maturity debt securities issued by U.S. stated local government agenci

All of these investments are classified as Avagdilk Sale as defined by ASC 320-10-25-1. Accorlgingll of the assets are carried at
fair value. All of these investments are considecede either Level 1 or Level 2 assets as definedSC 820-10-35-(39 through 51H). At
December 31, 2010, approximately 92.7% of thesetsisgere Level 1 investments while approximateBpawere Level 2 assets. At
December 31, 2009, approximately 88.7% of thesetasgere Level 1 investments while approximately3%d were Level 2 assets. There were
no Level 3 assets. Other invested assets for thes ynded December 31, 2010 and 2009 includesdiblidgn and $5.8 million of assets,
respectively, that are managed and held by the efatVest Virginia as required by law.
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The merchandise trusts are variable interest estitir which the Company is the primary beneficiditye assets held in the merchandise
trusts are required to be used to purchase thehaedise to which they relate. If the value of thaessets falls below the cost of purchasing
merchandise, the Company would be required to thisdshortfall.

The cost and market value associated with thesahséd in the merchandise trusts at December 31 aAd December 31, 2009 is

presented below:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
As of December 31, 2010 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)
Shor-term investment $ 40,72: $ — $ — $ 40,72:
Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel — — — —
U.S. State and local government age 23 — — 23
Corporate debt securitir 9,97: 11¢ (152) 9,94(
Other debt securitie 1,50 35 — 1,53¢
Total fixed maturitie: 11,49¢ 154 (152) 11,501
Mutual fund—debt securitie 49,717 3,08 (28€) 52,51¢
Mutual fund—equity securitie: 124,17 6,44 (3,956 126,66
Equity securitie: 69,46 6,70¢ (909) 75,26!
Other invested asse 11,43 217 — 11,65(
Total $307,01: $16,61( $ (5,309 $318,31¢
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
As of December 31, 200 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)
Shor-term investment $ 47,45: $ — $ — $ 47,45!
Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel — — — —
U.S. State and local government age 33 — (10 23
Corporate debt securitir 3,204 a0 (48) 3,24¢
Other debt securitie 4,53 44¢ — 4,98
Total fixed maturities 7,77¢ 53¢ (58) 8,254
Mutual fund—debt securitie 39,54¢ 8 (840) 38,71
Mutual fund—equity securitie: 93,47: — (23,039 70,43¢
Equity securitie: 34,81¢ 1,24¢ (4,309 31,76
Other invested asse 7,18¢ 26 — 7,21(
Total $230,24: $ 1,821 $(28,23¢) $203,82¢
The contractual maturities of debt securities aBefember 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 are peeskealow:
Less thar 1 year through 6 years througt More than
As of December 31, 2010 1year 5 years 10 years 10 years
(in thousands)
U.S. Government and federal agel $ — $ — $ — $ —
U.S. State and local government age — 23 — —
Corporate debt securiti 85 2,88 6,064 904
Other debt securitie 1,53¢ — — —
Total fixed maturitie: $1,62: $ 2,91( $ 6,064 $ 904
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As of December 31, 200

U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securitir

Other debt securitie

Total fixed maturities

Less thar

1 year

»

:b
©
gyl

»

5,00

~

1 year through 6 years througt More than
5 years 10 years 10 years
(in thousands)
$ — $ — $ —
1,40¢ 1,68: 15%
$ 1,40¢ $ 1,68¢ $ 15t

An aging of unrealized losses on the Company’sstients in fixed maturities and equity securitieBacember 31, 2010 and

December 31, 2009 is presented below:

As of December 31, 2010

Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal age!
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securiti
Other debt securitie
Total fixed maturities
Mutual fund—debt securite
Mutual fund—equity securite
Equity securitie:
Total

As of December 31, 200

Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securiti
Other debt securitie
Total fixed maturities
Mutual fund—debt securitie
Mutual fund—equity securitie:
Equity securitie:
Total

Less than 12 month: 12 Months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
(in thousands)
$ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
4,887 95 81¢ 57 5,70( 152
4,887 95 81¢ 57 5,70( 152
1,61¢ 11 2,331 275 3,95( 28€
364 48 56,31¢ 3,90¢ 56,68( 3,95¢
5,227 12¢ 7,81 78C 13,04« 90¢
$12,097 $ 28: $67,27" $ 5,02( $79,37¢ $ 5,30
Less than 12 months 12 Months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
(in thousands)
$ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
23 10 — — 23 10
1,55¢ 18 268 30 1,817 48
1,577 28 268 30 1,84( 58
9,45¢ 11€ 15,08¢ 722 24,54; 84C
— — 70,43¢ 23,03¢ 70,43¢ 23,03¢
2,307 191 25,68¢ 4,11: 27,99: 4,30¢
$13,34( 337 $111,47: $27,89¢ $124,81: $28,23¢
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A reconciliation of the Company’s merchandise tatvities for the years ended December 31, 20t0ecember 31, 2009 is
presented below:

Year ended December 31, 2010

Unrealized
Realizec
Fair Capital Gain Change in Fair
Value @ Interest/ Gain/ Fair Value @
12/31/200¢ Contributions Distributions Dividends Distributions Loss (a) Taxes Fees Value 12/31/201(C
(in thousands)
$ 203,82¢ 97,40: (28,48() 1,99: 1,601 7,028 (904 (1,869 37,72.  $318,31¢
Year ended December 31, 2009
Unrealized
Realizec
Fair Capital Gain Change in Fair
Value @ Interest/ Gain/ Fair Value @
12/31/200¢ Contributions Distributions Dividends Distributions Loss (a) Taxes Fees Value 12/31/200¢
(in thousands)
$ 161,60¢ 56,70: (58,399 8,37¢ 367 (4,736  (624)  (94€) 41,487  $203,82¢

(@) Includes $8,361 and $6,758 in losses for «-thar-temporarily impaired assets in 2010 and 2009 reimdy.

The Company made net deposits into the trusts mioagmately $68.9 million and net distributions aiditthe trusts of approximately $1.7
million during the years ended December 31, 20102009 respectively. During the year ended Decer@beP010, purchases and sales of
securities available for sale included in trusieisiments were approximately $448.3 million and $36&illion, respectively. During the year
ended December 31, 2009, purchases and salesuitisscavailable for sale included in trust inveshts were approximately $261.0 million
and $255.2 million, respectively. Contributionslude $72.2 million and $1.8 million of assets thatre acquired through acquisitions during
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, resgect

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Trust Assets
In the second quarter of 2009, the Company addpgetion 10-65-1 of ASC 320.

ASC 320-10-65-1 amended the other-than-temporapairment guidance for debt securities. ASC 320-8&lso changed the
disclosure requirements for other-than-temporangyainments on both debt and equity securities.

In accordance with ASC 320-10-65-1, the Compangsses whether an impairment is other-than-tempdmaperforming each of the
following:
Fixed Maturity Debt Securities
» The Company assesses whether it has the inteall tany impaired debt security ¢

» The Company assesses whether it is more likely tioait will be required to sell the any impaireebd security before it
anticipated recover

» If either of these conditions exists, the impairiisrconsidered to be other than tempor

* The Company assesses whether or not there is & logslon an impaired security. A credit losshis excess of the amortized ¢
of the security over the present value of futurpeeted cash flows. If there is a credit loss, tben@any recognizes an other-than-
temporary impairment in earnings in an amount etpu#iie credit loss. This amount becomes the nestlzasis of the asset and v
not be adjusted for subsequent changes in thedhie of the asse
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» The Company assesses the overall credit qualigaol issue by evaluating its credit rating as tepldoy any credit rating agenc
The Company also determines if there has been ampgrade in its creditworthiness as reported by suwedit rating agenc

» The Company determines if there has been any ssigmeof interest payments or any announcementayfrdaention to do sc
* The Company evaluates the length of time untilgtiecipal becomes due and whether the ability tsfathis payment has be:
impaired.
Equity Securities
* The Company compares the proportional decline ineveo the overall sector decline as measuredefigain specific indices
« The Company determines whether there has beerefyrdriodic decline from prior periods or whethggre has been a recovery
value.
For all securities
» The Company evaluates the severity of the impaitraed length of time that a security has beenlosa position
* The Company determines if there is any publiclyilabée information that would cause us to beligvatimpairment is other than
temporary in nature

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coyngatrermined that there were 17 securities, withggregate cost basis of
approximately $40.9 million, an aggregate fair eatif approximately $27.6 million and a resultingparment of approximately $13.3 million,
wherein such impairment is considered to be othentemporary. Accordingly, the Company has adiliie cost basis of these assets to their
current value and recorded a realized loss onebergies. This loss has been deferred and isdiedwon the balance sheet in deferred cemetery
revenues, net. The loss will be recognized in ine@® we deliver the underlying merchandise to witielse securities are related.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynghatermined that there were no other than tempamnapairments to the fixed
maturity investment portfolio in the Merchandiseu3ts due to credit losses.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyngatrermined that there was a single other thapoeany impairment to the fixed
maturity investment portfolio in the Merchandisei3ts due to a credit loss. The total credit losghiminstrument was less than $0.1 million.
There were no other than temporary impairmenthediked maturity investment portfolio due to naedit losses.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyngeatermined that there were two securities, wittaggregate cost basis of
approximately $15.2 million, an aggregate fair eatd approximately $7.7 million and a resulting smmment of value of approximately $7.4
million, wherein such impairments are consideretdamther-than-temporary. Accordingly, the Comphay adjusted the cost basis of these
assets to their current values and offset this ghagainst deferred revenue. This reduction inrdedeevenue will be reflected in earnings in
future periods as the underlying merchandise isel@d or the underlying service is performed.

6. PERPETUAL CARE TRUSTS.
At December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, thep@owis perpetual care trust consisted of the fdlhoptypes of assets:
* Money Market Funds that invest in low risk shortriesecurities
» Publicly traded mutual funds that invest in undieidydebt securities
* Publicly traded mutual funds that invest in undiexdyequity securities

101



Table of Contents

« Equity investments that are currently paying diwidie or distributions. These investments includeT’'s and Master Limite:
Partnerships

» Fixed maturity debt securities issued by varioupomte entities
» Fixed maturity debt securities issued by the U.8vé&nment and U.S. Government agencies;
» Fixed maturity debt securities issued by U.S. stated local agencie
All of these investments are classified as Avaddik Sale as defined by ASC 320-10-25-1. Accorlgingll of the assets are carried at
fair value. All of these investments are considepede either Level 1 or Level 2 assets as defineASC 820-10-35-(39 through 51H). At
December 31, 2010, approximately 90.3% of thesetsisgere Level 1 investments while approximateRg®were Level 2 assets. At

December 31, 2009, approximately 80.9% of thesetasgere Level 1 investments while approximatelyl ¥®@were Level 2 assets. There were
no Level 3 assets.

The cost and market value associated with thesabhsdd in perpetual care trusts at December 310 28#l December 31, 2009 were as
follows:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
As of December 31, 201 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)

Shor-term investment $ 20,58: $ — $ — $ 20,58:
Fixed maturities

U.S. Government and federal agel 51k 85 — 60C

U.S. State and local government age 67 81 — 14¢

Corporate debt securitit 22,041 87¢ (239 22,69:

Other debt securitie 50¢ — (D 50¢

Total fixed maturities 23,13¢ 1,04¢ (23E) 23,94¢

Mutual fund—debt securitie 52,80¢ 2,86t (525) 55,14¢

Mutual fund—equity securitie: 88,87: 5,78 (2,87¢) 91,78(

Equity Securities 48,05¢ 9,37¢ (181 57,25

Other invested asse 887 91 — 97¢

Total $234,34. $19,16" $ (3,819 $249,69(

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
As of December 31, 2009 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
(in thousands)

Shor-term investment $ 46,61¢ $ — $ — $ 46,61°¢
Fixed maturities

U.S. Government and federal agel 4,74 66 (48) 4,76t

U.S. State and local government age 1,49] 14 (74) 1,43

Corporate debt securitir 13,72 36¢ (299 13,89:

Other debt securitie 4,822 8 — 4,83(

Total fixed maturities 24,78¢ 457 (321) 24,92¢

Mutual fund—debt securitie 36,677 24 (465) 36,23¢

Mutual fund—equity securitie: 74,83 1 (22,274 52,557

Equity Securitie: 33,51« 3,38t (1,48¢) 35,41

Other invested asse 52¢ 2 — 531

Total $216,95: $ 3,86¢ $(24,54") $196,27¢
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The contractual maturities of debt securities aB@tember 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 arelas/fol

As of December 31, 2010

U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securitit

Other debt securitie

Total fixed maturities

As of December 31, 2009

U.S. Government and federal agel
U.S. State and local government age
Corporate debt securiti

Other debt securitie

Total fixed maturities

Less thar

Less thar

1 year

1 year through 6 years througt
5 years 10 years
(in thousands)
$ 381 $ 11€
6,371 14,667
1 year through 6 years througt
5 years 10 years
(in thousands)
$ 3,23( $ 43¢
29€ 52C
6,16¢€ 7,104

More than

10 years

L5

More than

10 years

An aging of unrealized losses on the Company’sstigents in fixed maturities and equity securiteBacember 31, 2010 and

December 31, 2009 held in perpetual care trugiseisented below:

Less than 12 months

12 Months or more

Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair
As of December 31, 2010 Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
(in thousands)
Fixed maturities

U.S. Government and federal age! $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —

U.S. State and local government age — — — — — —
Corporate debt securiti 9,19 14& 1,19¢ 89 10,39 234
Other debt securitie 137 1 — — 137 1
Total fixed maturities 9,33: 14¢€ 1,19¢ 89 10,52¢ 23E
Mutual fund—debt securitie 1,44¢ 127 2,702 39¢ 4,14¢ 52t
Mutual fund—equity securitie: — — 45,26¢ 2,87¢ 45,26¢ 2,87¢
Equity securitie: 1,69¢ 107 3,102 74 4,79 181
Total $12,47: $ 38C $52,26¢ $ 3,43¢ $64,73¢ $ 3,81¢
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Less than 12 month 12 Months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair
As of December 31, 2009 Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
(in thousands)
Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and federal agel $ 1,70¢ $ 42 $ 18¢ $ 6 $ 1,89¢ $ 48
U.S. State and local government age 65E 74 — — 65E 74
Corporate debt securitir 6,79¢ 76 1,24¢ 12¢ 8,04z 19¢
Other debt securitie — — — — — —
Total fixed maturities 9,15¢ 192 1,43¢ 12¢ 10,59: 321
Mutual fund—debt securitie 1,96¢ 347 90C 11¢€ 2,86¢ 465
Mutual fund—equity securitie: — — 47,29¢ 22,27 47,29¢ 22,27
Equity securitie: 1,317 107 18,39’ 1,37¢ 19,71« 1,48¢
Total $12,44¢ $ 64¢ $68,03( $ 23,90: $80,47¢ $ 24,547

A reconciliation of the Company’s perpetual catestractivities for the years ended December 31020 2009 is presented below:

Year ended December 31, 2010

Unrealized
Fair Capital Gain Realized Change in Fair
Value @ Interest/ Gain/ Fair Value @
12/31/2009 Contributions Distributions Dividends Distributions Loss (a) Taxes Fees Value 12/31/201(C
(in thousands)
$196,27¢€ 32,96' (15,41  14,89: 941 (14,049 (425 (1,525  36,02¢  $249,69(
Year ended December 31, 2009
Unrealized
Fair Capital Gain Realized Change in Fair
Value @ Interest/ Gain/ Fair Value @
12/31/2008 Contributions Distributions Dividends Distributions Loss (a) Taxes Fees Value 12/31/200¢
(in thousands)
$ 152,797 45,68¢ (42,747  12,82: 381 (14,26() (244) (89€) 42,737 $196,27¢

(@) Includes $16,539 and $16,182 in losses for thar-temporarily impaired assets in the year ended Dbeedil, 2010 and 20(
respectively

The Company made net deposits into the trusts mioagmately $17.6 million and $2.9 million duringe years ended December 31, Z
and 2009 respectively. During the year ended Deee®b, 2010 purchases and sales of securitiesahlailor sale included in trust
investments were approximately $311.1 million aB@8256 million, respectively. During the year endEtember 31, 2009 purchases and sales
of securities available for sale included in tinsiestments were approximately $218.0 million a@8%9 million, respectively. Contributions
include $19.8 million and $6.4 million of assetattivere acquired through acquisitions during treryended December 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Trust Assets
Refer to Note 5 for a detailed discussion of thepaating rules related to other-than-temporarilpained assets and the Company’s
procedures for evaluating whether impairment tetssare other than temporary.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coyngatrermined that there were 3 securities, witlaggregate cost basis of
approximately $25.6 million, an aggregate fair eatd approximately $10.8 million and a resultingoairment of approximately $14.8 million,
wherein such impairment is considered to be othan-t
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temporary. Accordingly, the Company has adjustedctist basis of these assets to their current vahie adjustment is solely a fair value
adjustment between the cost basis and mark to madiestment made to the assets in the perpetuatssts. It has no impact on the
Company'’s financial position, results of operationgash flows as of and for the year ended DeceBihe2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynghatermined that there were two other-than-tenmydrapairments to the fixed
maturity investment portfolio in the Perpetual C@irasts due to credit losses. The total credit tosthese instruments was less than $0.2
million. There were no other than temporary imp&ints to the fixed maturity investment portfolio doeon-credit losses.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coynghatermined that there was a single security, witlost basis of approximately
$32.1 million, a fair value of approximately $16xfillion and a resulting impairment of value of apgmately $15.6 million, wherein such
impairment is considered to be other-than-temporacgordingly, the Company has adjusted the caosishaf this asset to its current value.

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

On November 24, 2009, the Company entered intot@nest rate swap (the “First Interest Rate Swahigrein the Company agreed to
pay the counterparty interest in the amount oféhmenth LIBOR plus 888 basis points in considerafa the counterparties agreement to pay
the Company a fixed rate of interest of 10.25% qniacipal amount of $108.0 million. Settlementsr&véo be made net on a quarterly basis in
February, May, August and November of each yeae. Hitst Interest Rate Swap was set to expire oredDéer 1, 2012,

On December 4, 2009, the Company entered intotareist rate swap (the “Second Interest Rate Swagéther with the First Interest
Rate Swap, the “Interest Rate Swaps”) wherein thie@any agreed to pay the counterparty interestdratnount of three month LIBOR plus
869 basis points in consideration for the counteigmagreement to pay the Company a fixed ratetefest of 10.25% on a principal amour
$27.0 million. Settlements were to be made net quaaterly basis in February, May, August and Nobenof each year. The Second Interest
Rate Swap was set to expire on December 1, 2012.

The Company entered into the Interest Rate Swaas &ffort to manage interest rate risk. The IrsieRate Swaps reduced cash paid for
interest in the fourth quarter of 2009 and the yrated December 31, 2010 by approximately $0.2anikind $1.0 million, respectively. The
Interest Rate Swaps did not contain any crediteitingent features. No collateral was requiredegosted by either counterparty.

The Interest Rate Swaps did not qualify for hedgmanting. Accordingly, the fair value of the Irgst Rate Swaps shall be reported on
the Company’s balance sheet and periodic changée ifair value of the Interest Rate Swaps shatielserded in earnings. At December 31,
2009, the Company recorded a liability (the “Failue of interest rate swaps”) of approximately $Rillion, which represents the fair value of
the Interest Rate Swaps at December 31, 2009. dhgény recognized a loss on the fair value of &#eRate Swaps (“Increase/(decrease) in
fair value of interest rate swaps”) of approximgatg2.7 million during the year ended December DR

On October 20, 2010, the Company elected to temmitiee Interest Rate Swaps early. Upon terminatiCompany received a payir
of approximately $2.0 million to settle the InterBaite Swaps. For the year ended December 31, g8 Gompany recognized a gain of
approximately $4.7 million related to the changéaiin value and termination payment of the InteRate Swaps.
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8. LONG-TERM DEBT
The Company had the following outstanding debt at:

As of December 31,

2010 2009

(in thousands (in thousands

Insurance premium financir $ 21t $ 19C

Vehicle Financin¢ 1,36¢ 547

Acquisition Credit Facility, due September 2012dnest rate-Libor +

4.25%) 15,00( —
Revolving Credit Facility, due September 2012 (i@t rat-Libor + 3.25%) 18,50( —

Note Payab—Greenlawn acquisitio 1,40( 1,40
Note Payabl—Nelms acquisition (net of discour 86¢€ —
Note Payabl—acquisition no-compete: 1,64¢ —

10.25% senior notes, due 2C 150,00( 150,00(

Class B Senior secured notes, due 2012 (interte-12.50%) 17,50( 17,50(

Class C Senior secured notes, due 2012 (interte-12.50%) 17,50( 17,50(

Total 223,99: 187,13

Less current portio 1,38¢ 37¢

Less unamortized bond discol 3,59¢ 3,93¢

Long-term portion $ 219,00t $ 182,82

10.25% Senior Notes due 2017
Purchase Agreeme

On November 18, 2009, the Company entered intoreh@ge Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) byaamaihg StoneMor Operating
LLC (the “Operating Company”), Cornerstone Famigr8ces of West Virginia Subsidiary, Inc. (“CFS W#&4rginia”), Osiris Holding of
Maryland Subsidiary, Inc. (“Osiris”), the Partnesithe subsidiary guarantors named in the PurcAgseement (together with the Company,
the “Note Guarantors”) and Bank of America SecesitiLC (“BAS”), acting on behalf of itself and deetrepresentative for the other initial
purchasers named in the Purchase Agreement (d¢edibctthe “Initial Purchasers”). Pursuant to th&réhase Agreement, the Operating
Company, CFS West Virginia and Osiris (collectiyehe “Issuers”), each the Company’s wholly-ownetdssdiary, as joint and several
obligors, agreed to sell to the Initial Purchas50.0 million aggregate principal amount of 10.2S&hior Notes due 2017 (the “Senior
Note<"), with an original issue discount of approximt&4.0 million, in a private placement exempt frira registration requirements under
the Securities Act, for resale by the Initial Puasérs (i) to qualified institutional buyers pursunRule 144A under the Securities Act or
(i) outside the United States to non-U.S. perdgarempliance with Regulation S under the Secwifiet (the “Notes Offering”). The Notes
Offering closed on November 24, 2009.

The Purchase Agreement contains customary repegserg and warranties of the parties and indenatifia and contribution provisions
under which the Company, the Issuers, and otheg Botarantors, on one hand, and the Initial Purchaea the other, have agreed to
indemnify each other against certain liabilitiessluding liabilities under the Securities Act. Tissuers, the Company and the other Note
Guarantors also agreed to enter into a Registr&tights Agreement (described below) for the bera#fltolders of the Senior Notes.

The net proceeds from the Notes Offering and Udffering were used, in part, to:

* repay approximately $30.7 million of borrowings endhe Revolving Facility (as defined beloy
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* repay approximately $104.7 million of borrowingsden the Acquisition Credit Facility (as defined d&); and
* redeem $17.5 million of outstanding 11.00% Serie3eRior Secured Notes due 2012 (‘Series B Note”).

Indenture
On November 24, 2009, the Issuers, us and the biber Guarantors entered into an indenture (thdeiure”), among the Issuers, the
Company, the other Note Guarantors and WilmingtarsfTFSB, as trustee (the “Trustee”) governingSbaior Notes.

The Issuers will pay 10.25% interest per annumherprincipal amount of the Senior Notes, payableaish semi-annually in arrears on
June 1 and December 1 of each year, starting om Ju2010. The Senior Notes mature on Decembd¥1T7,.2

The Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligatibtieedssuers and:
» rank equally in right of payment with all existiagd future senior unsecured debt of the IssI

» rank senior in right of payment to all existing dntlre senior subordinated and subordinated defttedlssuers

» are effectively subordinated in right of paymeneasting and future secured debt of the Issuerthe extent of the value of tl
assets securing such debt; i

» are structurally subordinated to all of the exigtand future liabilities of each subsidiary of theuers that does not guarantee
Senior Notes

The Issuers’ obligations under the Senior Notesthadndenture are jointly and severally guaranigieel “Note Guarantees”) by the
Company and each subsidiary, other than the Isstiitsis a guarantor of any indebtedness undeCthdit Agreement (as defined below), or
is a borrower under the Credit Agreement and e#oér subsidiary that the Issuers shall otherwisseao become a Note Guarantor pursuant
to the terms of the Indenture (each, a “Restri@ebsidiary”).

At any time on or after December 1, 2013, the Issue their option, may redeem the Senior Notegjhiole or in part, at the redemption
prices (expressed as percentages of the prinaipaiiat) set forth below, together with accrued angaid interest, if any, to the redemption
date, if redeemed during the 12-month period bégBecember 1 of the years indicated:

Optional
Year Redemption Price
2013 105.12"%
2014 102.56%
2015 and thereafte 10C%

At any time prior to December 1, 2013, the Issmeay, on one or more occasions, redeem all or artjopaf the Senior Notes, upon r
less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, atlamgtion price equal to 100% of the principal amafrthe Senior Notes redeemed, plus the
Applicable Premium (as defined in the Indenturedfahe date of redemption, including accrued amplaid interest to the redemption date.

In addition, at any time prior to December 1, 20th2, Issuers, at their option, may redeem up to 8b8le aggregate principal amount of
the Senior Notes issued under the Indenture wén#t cash proceeds of certain of the equity offsriof the Company described in the
Indenture at a redemption price equal to 110.250%eoprincipal amount of the Senior Notes to temmed, plus accrued and unpaid interest
to the redemption date provided, however, that(lgast 65% of the aggregate principal amounh@f3enior Notes issued under the Indenture
remain outstanding immediately after the occurresfcauch redemption and (ii) the redemption ocevitkin 90 days of the closing date of
such offering.
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Subiject to certain exceptions, upon the occurrefieeChange of Control (as defined in the Indeniwgach holder of Senior Notes will
have the right to require the Issuers to purchiaaeholder's Senior Notes for a cash price equabtt of the principal amounts to be
purchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest tdateeof purchase.

The Indenture requires the Company, the Issuer®atite Note Guarantors, as applicable, to comjlly various covenants including,
but not limited to, covenants that, subject toaerexceptions, limit the Company’s and its sulzsids’ ability to (i) incur additional
indebtedness; (ii) make certain dividends, distidns, redemptions or investments; (iii) enter ioéstain transactions with affiliates;

(iv) create, incur, assume or permit to exist éetians against their assets; (v) make certaiessaf their assets; and (vi) engage in certain
mergers, consolidations or sales of all or substiyll of their assets. The Indenture also corgaarious affirmative covenants regarding,
among other things, delivery of certain reportsditvith the SEC and materials required pursuaRule 144A under the Securities Act to
holders of the Senior Notes and joinder of futuresidiaries as Note Guarantors under the Indentlme Company was in compliance with all
financial covenants at December 31, 2010.

Events of default under the Indenture that coultdject to certain conditions, cause all amountsigwinder the Senior Notes to become
immediately due and payable include, but are moitdid to, the following:

1. failure by the Issuers to pay interest on anghefSenior Notes when it becomes due and therzanice of any such failure for 30
days;

2. failure by the Issuers to pay the principal on ahthe Senior Notes when it becomes due and payablether at stated maturit
upon redemption, upon purchase, upon acceleratiotherwise:

3. thelssuers’ failure to comply with the agreetaemmd covenants relating to limitations on entgfimio certain mergers,
consolidations or sales of all or substantiallyodltheir assets or in respect of their obligatimpurchase the Senior Notes in
connection with a Change of Contr

4. failure by the Company or the Issuers to compihaity other agreement or covenant in the Indertadethe continuance of tr
failure for 60 days after notice of the failure leen given the Company by the Trustee or holdeas least 25% of the aggregate
principal amount of the Senior Notes then outstag

5. failure by the Company to comply with its covetto deliver certain reports and the continuarfcguch failure to comply for a
period of 120 days after written notice thereof basn given to the Company by the Trustee or bytieers of at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the Senior Notes thastanding

6. certain defaults under mortgages, indentures @radtistruments or agreements under which therebmagsued or by which the
may be secured or evidenced indebtedness of thep&onor any Restricted Subsidiary, whether suchbtetiness now exists or is
incurred after the date of the Indentt

7.  certain judgments or orders that exceed $7.5 millav the payment of money have been entered lmyue of competent jurisdictic
against the Company or any Restricted Subsidiadysach judgments have not been satisfied, stayeudlled or rescinded within
60 days of being entere

8.  certain events of bankruptcy of the Companyn&téor GP LLC, the general partner of the Compahg {(General Partner"pr any
Restricted Subsidiary; «

9. other than in accordance with the terms of thteeNsuarantee and the Indenture, any Note Guaraasessng to be in full force and
effect, being declared null and void and unenfdot&dound to be invalid or any Guarantor denyitsgiability under its Note
Guarantee
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Registration Rights Agreeme

In connection with the sale of the Senior NotesNowember 24, 2009, the Issuers, the Company,ttier dlote Guarantors and BAS, as
representative of the Initial Purchasers, entanemla Registration Rights Agreement (the “RegigiraRights Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Issuers, the Company and the other Note Guaraatjreed, for the benefit of the holders of thei& Notes, to use their commercially
reasonable efforts to file a registration statemétit the SEC with respect to a registered offetohange the Senior Notes for new
“exchange” notes having terms substantially idexttic all material respects to the Senior Noteshwertain exceptions (the “Exchange
Offer”). The Issuers, the Company and the otheeN&atiarantors agreed to use their commercially redde efforts to consummate such
Exchange Offer on or before the 366 day afterdhaance of the Senior Notes.

In addition, upon the occurrence of certain eveetribed in the Registration Rights Agreement tvhésult in the inability to
consummate the Exchange Offer, the Issuers, thep@oynand the other Note Guarantors agreed to flee#f registration statement with the
SEC covering resales of the Senior Notes and téhesecommercially reasonable efforts to causé self registration statement to be
declared effective.

The Issuers are required to pay additional inteete holders of the Senior Notes under certagumstances if they fail to comply with
their obligations under the Registration Rights @gment. In October of 2010, the Company compligt thie terms of the registration rights
agreement.

Note Purchase Agreement

On August 15, 2007, the Company entered into, alaititythe General Partner and certain of the Comisasubsidiaries, (collectively,
the “Note Issuers”) the Amended and Restated Notelase Agreement (the “NPA”) with Prudential Inwesnt Management Inc., The
Prudential Insurance Company of America, PrudeR&tlrement Insurance and Annuity Company, ceidiitiates of Prudential Investment
Management Inc., iStar Financial Inc., SFT I, lang certain Affiliates of iStar Financial Inc. (lextively, the “Note Purchasers”). Capitalized
terms which are not defined in this Annual Reporform 10-K shall have the same meaning assignsddo terms in the NPA, as amended.

Pursuant to the NPA, the Note Issuers and the Rotehasers agreed to (a) exchange certain sewmiaresknotes previously issued by
Note Issuers to the Note Purchasers on Septemb&0028, for new Series A Notes, as defined in tRANdue September 20, 2009, in
amount of $80.0 million; and (b) issue Series Basptais defined in the NPA, due August 15, 201Béraiggregate amount of $35.0 million,
subject to the option, on an uncommitted basigdoe/purchase additional secured Shelf Notessimgigregate amount of up to $35.0 million,
and to issue/purchase additional secured Shelfa\toteefinance the Series A Notes.

On November 2, 2007, the Company entered into itst Amendment to Amended and Restated Note Puechgeeement (the “First
Amendment to NPA”) by and among the Company, theeg@a Partner, certain of the Company’s subsidsaaied the noteholders, to among
other things, amend the negative covenants of tha.N

On December 21, 2007, the Company entered intddimeler to Amended and Restated Note Purchase werdeand Finance
Documents pursuant to which the Company addedinastguers to the NPA. Pursuant to the NPA, as dedncertain of the Company’s
subsidiaries issued Senior Secured Series C NitiesSeries C Notes” and together with Series AedpSeries B Notes and the Shelf Notes
are referred to as the “Notes” ) in the aggregatecipal amount of $17.5 million, due December 2Q12.

The Series A Notes bore an interest rate of 7.66#@pnum, the Series B Notes bore an interesB3df8 per annum and the Series C
Notes bore an interest rate of 9.09% per anr

The Notes were guaranteed by both the Company enmBor GP. The Notes ranked pari passu with &kiosenior secured debt,
including the Revolving Credit Facility and the Agsjtion Credit Facility. Obligations under the Metwere secured by a first priority lien and
security interest covering substantially all of
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the assets of the Note Issuers, whether then oanttbreafter acquired, other than specified red@e/ rights and a second priority lien and
security interest covering those specified recdevaights of the Note Issuers, whether then owrretth@reafter acquired. These assets secured
the Notes and the Acquisition Credit Facility désed below. The priority of the liens and secuiitierests securing the Notes is pari passu
with the liens and security interests securingAbguisition Credit Facility described below.

On April 30, 2009, the Company entered into theaBdcAmendment to Amended and Restated Credit Ageaelyy and among the
Company and certain of the Company’s subsidiaties|enders, and Bank of America, N.A., as Admmaiste Agent (the “Second
Amendment to Credit Agreement”), pursuant to whitah Company borrowed $63.0 million under the newisition Credit Facility
commitments, which, together with the $17.0 millmfrthe existing availability under the Acquisiti@redit Facility, were used to repay the
Series A Notes. In addition, we borrowed $5.4 willunder the Revolving Credit Facility, which wasd to pay the accrued interest on the
Series A Notes, fees to Bank of America, N.A., adment fees to noteholders under the Second Amendm&iPA described below as well
as various other fees and costs incurred in coiamestith these transactions. In connection with®eeond Amendment to Credit Agreement,
on April 30, 2009, the Company also entered ineo$kecond Amendment to Amended and Restated Noth&se Agreement by and among
the Company, the General Partner and certain oEtdmpany’s subsidiaries and the noteholders (teed8d Amendment to NPA”).

The Second Amendment to NPA amended the Note Psechgreement to, among other matters, amend atatedke Series B Notes
and the Series C Notes. The Series B Notes weradeddo increase the interest rate to 11.00% @meehded Series B Notes”). The Series C
Notes were amended not only to increase the inteaesto 11.00%, but also to change the matuatg ddom December 21, 2012 to August
2012 (the “Amended Series C Notes,” and togethé#r thie Amended Series B Notes, the “Amended NPAebIdt

On July 1, 2009, the Company entered into the TAireendment to Amended and Restated Note Purchassefgnt by and among the
Company, the General Partner, certain of the Cogipabsidiaries and the noteholders to, amongrdltiegs, amend certain negative
covenants of the NPA.

In connection with the Fourth Amendment to Credijrédement, as described below, on November 24, 200Company entered into 1
Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Note BsecAgreement by and among the Company, the GdParaler, the Operating
Company, certain of the Company'’s subsidiariesthachoteholders (the “Fourth Amendment to NPA")e Hourth Amendment to NPA
amended the NPA to, among other matters, amenaimceetstrictive covenants and other terms set forthe NPA to permit the Company to
incur the indebtedness evidenced by the Amended N&s, enter into the restrictive covenants seéhfim the Indenture, use the net proceeds
of the Notes Offering as discussed above and aren@onsolidated Leverage Ratio in accordance t@éghourth Amendment to Credit
Agreement.

Under the Fourth Amendment to NPA, the Companyeisnitted to incur indebtedness under the Credie&grent not greater than $80.0
million (the “Aggregate Credit Facility Cap”), casing of the Acquisition Credit Facility, as dedith below, not to exceed $45.0 million and
the Revolving Credit Facility, as defined belowt tmexceed $35.0 million. The Aggregate CreditikigdCap may be increased up to $100.0
million, with the Acquisition Credit Facility captbe increased up to $55.0 million and the Revagldnedit Facility cap to be increased up to
$45.0 million with the approval of the holders dleast a majority principal amount of the shelfes which shall not be unreasonably
withheld.

The Note Issuers under the NPA paid fees to theéenslof the Amended NPA Notes in connection withFourth Amendment to NPA.

The Amended NPA Notes bear an interest rate of024.per annum, payable quarterly. Under the FourtteAdment to NPA, the inter:
rate on the Amended NPA Notes was to be increagdd386 per annum during any period in which (i) &myder of the Amended NPA Notes
is required to maintain reserves in excess
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of 3.4% of the principal amount of such Amended NRgtes, as a result of a decision of an insuraegalatory authority having responsibil
for valuation of insurance company assets (an “lRhArity”) or (ii) the Senior Notes issued pursuinthe Notes Offering are designated any
rating below BB- (or its equivalent) by an IR Authy, provided that any Amended NPA Notes are regtighated a separate rating of BB- or
higher (or its equivalent) by such authority (eachReserve Event”).

On January 15, 2010, the Company entered intoiftteAmendment to the NPA, to provide for furthdramges to the Consolidated
Leverage Ratio similar to the changes under thia Bimendment to Credit Agreement, as defined be&ovd, to clarify that the interest rate
applicable to the Amended NPA Notes increased ft@fb per annum to 12.5% per annum effective Nover@Be?009, with such increase
continuing until the termination of the Reserve Bveeriod in accordance with the NPA.

On May 4, 2010, the Company entered into the Sixttendment to Amended and Restated Note PurchasseAgnt (the “Sixth
Amendment to Credit Agreement”) to, among otherterat provide for (i) changes to the Consolidateddrage Ratio similar to the changes
under the Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement asiileed below, and (ii) the payment by the Partnipro each holder of Amended Series
B Notes and Amended Series C Notes of additiontaté@st at a rate of 0.25% per annum (the “Additidnizrest”)from May 4, 2010 until suc
time as each holder of Notes shall have receiv@drapliance Certificate for the most recently cortgadefour fiscal quarters of the Partnership
ending on or after December 31, 2010 evidencingttieaConsolidated Leverage Ratio was less thamt®.7.00 for such period. The Ament
Series B Notes and Amended Series C Notes weredadend restated to provide for the payment oftiditional Interest as described in
Sixth Amendment to NPA.

The Sixth Amendment to NPA also included a conbgrthe Noteholders to an increase in the AggreGagelit Facility Cap from $80.0
million to $100.0 million, an increase in the Acsjibn Facility Cap from $45.0 million to $55.0 hin and an increase in the Revolving
Facility Cap from $35.0 million to $45.0 million.

On September 22, 2010, concurrently with the cpsiha public offering of common units, the Compa&mgered into the Seventh
Amendment to Amended and Restated Note PurchasseAgmt (the “Seventh Amendment to NPA”) to, amathgiothings, permit the
reinstatement of the Acquisition Credit Facilitydem the Credit Agreement, as amended, as desdrided.

The Amended NPA Notes are guaranteed by both tiep@oy and the General Partner. The Amended NPAsNat& pari passu with
other senior secured debt, including the Revol@ngdit Facility and the Acquisition Credit Facilithescribed below. Obligations under the
Amended NPA Notes are secured by a first prioréy bind security interest covering substantiallpfthe assets of the Note Issuers, whether
then owned or thereafter acquired, other than fipdaieceivable rights and a second priority liewl gecurity interest covering those specified
receivable rights of the Note Issuers, whether thened or thereafter acquired. These assets stmiremended NPA Notes and the
Acquisition Credit Facility described below. Thegpity of the liens and security interests secutimg Amended NPA Notes is pari passu with
the liens and security interests securing the Agitjon Credit Facility described below.

The NPA (as amended) contains restrictive coverthats among other things, prohibit distributioqmn defined events of default,
restrict investments and sales of assets and eethérCompany to maintain certain financial covésiancluding specified financial ratios. A
material decrease in sales could cause the Contpadmrgach certain of its financial covenants, saglthe leverage ratio and the interest
coverage ratio, under the Company’'s NPA, as amerfdedsuch breach could allow the lenders to aca&de(or create crostefault) under th
Company’s debt which would have a material advefeet on the Company’s business, financial cooditir results of operations. The
Company was in compliance with financial covenatt®ecember 31, 2010.

On January 28, 2011, and in connection with ourt@ly 2011 follow on public offering of common wumithe Company entered into the
Eighth Amendment to the Amended and Restated CAggldement (the “Eighth
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Amendment to Credit Agreement”). This amendmeniuited the Lenders’ consent to the use of a podfdhe proceeds from the public
offering of common units to redeem in full the datsling Amended NPA Notes and to pay an aggregake+whole premium of $3.8 million
related thereto. Therefore, as of February 9, 26iielAmended NPA Notes were paid in full. See “®&goent Events” (Note 17).

Acquisition Credit Facility and Revolving Credit Facility

On August 15, 2007, the Company, the General Pamné the Operating Company and various subsg@iai the Operating Company
(collectively, the “Borrowers”), entered into then®nded and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Cregliedment”)with Bank of America, N.A
(“Bank of America”), other lenders, and BAS (coligely, the “Lenders”) The Credit Agreement provides for both an acquisitiredit facility
(the “Acquisition Credit Facility”) and a revolvingredit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”)Capitalized terms which are not defined in
the following description shall have the same meguissigned to such terms in the Credit Agreenssréymended.

The Credit Agreement initially provided that: (hptAcquisition Credit Facility would have a maximpmincipal amount of $40.0 millic
(with an option to increase such facility by anitiddal $15.0 million on an uncommitted basis) dhd term of 5 years, and (2) the Revolving
Credit Facility would have a maximum principal ambof $25.0 million (with an option to increase Bdacility by up to $10.0 million on an
uncommitted basis) and a term of 5 years. Amouoitsolved under the Acquisition Credit Facility amgbaid or prepaid may not be reborroy
and amounts borrowed under the Revolving CreditliBaand repaid or prepaid during the term mayéeorrowed. In addition, Bank of
America agreed to provide to the borrowers swing loans (“Swing Line Loans”) with a maximum linsit $5.0 million, which is a part of the
Revolving Credit Facility. Loans outstanding untlex Acquisition Credit Facility and the Revolvingedit Facility bear interest at rates set
forth in the Credit Agreement, which have sincerbamended as described below.

On November 2, 2007, the Company, the General &adnd the Borrowers entered into the First Amesmno Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement with certain lenders thereto andkBof America to, among other things, amend aertagative covenants of the Credit
Agreement.

On April 30, 2009, the Company, the General Paramerthe Borrowers entered into the Second Amenttoe@redit Agreement with
the lenders and Bank of America. The Second AmentlneCredit Agreement amended the Credit Agreertergmong other matters,
increase (i) the Revolving Credit Facility to a rimaMm aggregate principal amount of $35.0 milliorithvthe ability to request further increas
in a maximum aggregate principal amount of $10.lioni and (ii) the Acquisition Credit Facility ta maximum aggregate principal amount of
$102.9 million, with the ability to request furthiecreases in a maximum aggregate principal amou®57.0 million, subject to a minimum
increase amount of $5.0 million. The maximum aggtegrincipal amount of the Acquisition Credit Hiagiwas increased to $107.9 million,
with the ability to request further increases imaximum aggregate principal amount of $52.0 milliafter giving effect to a $5.0 million
increase in the Acquisition Credit facility implemted through the Lender Joinder to Amended andaRsbsCredit Agreement, dated June 24,
2009, among the Company, the General Partner, th@Bers and other parties thereto.

On July 6, 2009, the Company, the General PartherBorrowers and Bank of America entered intoTthed Amendment to Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement to, among othershzngend certain negative covenants of the Cregtitément.

On November 24, 2009, concurrently with the closifithe Notes Offering and a common unit offerititgs Company entered into the
Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Crediéérgent (the “Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreemely’and among the Company,
its General Partner, the Borrowers, the lenders,Bank of America, as Administrative Agent for thenefit of the lenders. The Fourth
Amendment to Credit

112



Table of Contents

Agreement amended the Credit Agreement to, amdmgy mbatters, (i) amend certain restrictive covemantd other terms set forth in the Cr
Agreement to permit the Company to incur the inddbéss evidenced by the Senior Notes, enter iettntfenture and use the net proceeds of
the Notes Offering and Units Offering as discussleolve; (ii) decrease the Acquisition Credit Fagitd a maximum aggregate principal
amount of $45.0 million, with the ability to requdsrther increases in a maximum aggregate prin@peunt of $10.0 million; and (iii) amend
the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined irCiteglit Agreement, as amended).

On January 15, 2010, the Company entered intoifttre Amendment to the Amended and Restated CreglieAment which further
amended the Consolidated Leverage Ratio. Loansaoulisig under the Acquisition Credit Facility amhe tRevolving Credit Facility bear
interest at a per annum rate based upon a basghattBase Rate”) or a Eurodollar rate (the “Ewital Rate”) plus a margin ranging from
2.25% to 3.25% over the Base Rate and 3.25% t&#@fr the Eurodollar Rate, as selected by thed®aars. The Base Rate is the highest of
(a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% or (b) theé>Rate, as defined in the Credit Agreement, asdete The Eurodollar Rate equals the
greater of: (i) the British Bankers Association QR Rate or (ii) if such rate is not available, thte determined by Bank of America, N.A., as
the Administrative Agent, subject to certain coiatis. Margin is determined by the ratio of consatét! funded debt to consolidated EBITDA.

On May 4, 2010, the Company entered into the Skttendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreeftteat Sixth Amendment to
Credit Agreement”) to, among other things, prowigat the Company and the General Partner shapermit the Consolidated Leverage Ratio
to be greater than:

* 4.15t0 1.0, for the most recently completed fascdl quarters ending prior to July 1, 20

* 4.00to 1.0, for the most recently completed fasedl quarters ending between July 1, 2010 andeSdpr 30, 201(

e 3.7510 1.0, for the most recently completed fasedl quarters ending between October 1, 2010 awbiDber 31, 2010;
» 3.6510 1.0, for the most recently completed fasedl quarters ending after December 31, 2

The Consolidated Leverage Ratio was 3.22 at DeceB81he2010.

Under the Credit Agreement, as amended, the inteatsson Base Rate Loans and Eurodollar Rate Lisaredculated based on the Base
Rate or Eurodollar Rate, as applicable, plus thplidable Rate. The Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreetramended the definition of
Applicable Rate to provide that, commencing on Mag010 until such time as the Agent shall haveitst a Compliance Certificate
evidencing compliance with all financial covenafatsthe most recently completed four fiscal quartefrthe Company ending on or after
December 31, 2010, Pricing Level 3 of the ApplieaBhte (the currently applicable pricing level) @rEurodollar Rate Loans and Letter of
Credit Fees shall be increased by 25 basis p@ms0%, and (ii) Base Rate Loans shall be incbbge?5 basis points to 3.50%.

The Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement also amertide definition of Consolidated EBITDA to provitleat Consolidated EBITDA
shall not be adjusted for any changes resulting filve sale by the credit parties of all of theiredstments held, as of May 4, 2010, in one of
more Merchandise Trusts in the Highland FloatingeRedvantage Fund.

Effective May 21, 2010, the Lenders increased edthe Revolving Credit Facility and the Acquisiti€redit Facility by $9.1 million.
After giving effect to such increases, the maximamggregate principal amount available under the Reng Credit Facility was $44.1 million
and the maximum aggregate principal amount avalahter the Acquisition Credit Facility was $54.illion.

On September 22, 2010, concurrently with the clpsihthe common units offering from which the Compaised $22.5 million of net
proceeds to prepay amounts on the Acquisition €readiility and used
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$14.5 million of net proceeds to pay down amoumtshe Revolving Credit Facility, the Company entkirgo the Seventh Amendment to
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to, amorey things, reinstate the amount available on thguisition Credit Facility to a total of
$55.0 million and reinstate the amount availabléhenRevolving Credit Facility to $45.0 million.

The Borrowers under the Credit Agreement, as anteriad fees to Bank of America, as Administrathgent, and BAS, as Arranger.
addition, the Credit Agreement, as amended, resjtiire Borrowers to pay an unused commitment feghik calculated based on the amount
by which the commitments under the Credit Agreemasamended, exceed the usage of such commitments.

The proceeds of the Acquisition Credit Facility nisyused by the Borrowers to finance (i) Permifieduisitions, as defined in the
Credit Agreement, and (ii) the purchase and constm of mausoleums. The proceeds of the Revol@regit Facility and Swing Line Loans
may be utilized to finance working capital requikatts, Capital Expenditures, as defined in the Crsglieement, as amended, and for other
general corporate purposes.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement, as amendetk, pari passu with all other senior secured détite Borrowers including the
senior secured notes discussed above. The Borrosi#igations under the Credit Agreement, as amdndee guaranteed by both the
Company and the General Partner (collectively, @Ggarantors”).

The Borrowers’ obligations under the Revolving Gré&acility are secured by a first priority liendeecurity interest in specified
receivable rights, whether then owned or thereaftguired, of the Borrowers and the Guarantors jbgra second priority lien and security
interest in substantially all assets other thaseéh@ceivable rights of the Borrowers and Guarantxcluding trust accounts and certain
proceeds required by law to be placed into suddt aocounts and funds held in trust accounts, el Partner’s interest in the Company
and the General Partner’s incentive distributigits under the Company’s partnership agreementspéeified receivable rights include all
accounts and other rights to payment arising undstomer contracts or agreements or managemergragnés, and all inventory, general
intangibles and other rights reasonably relatetti¢acollection and performance of these accourdgights to payment.

The Borrowers’ obligations under the Acquisitiore@it Facility are secured by a first priority liand security interest in substantially all
assets, whether then owned or thereafter acquatedr than specified receivable rights of the Baers and the Guarantors, excluding trust
accounts and certain proceeds required by law fddmed into such trust accounts and funds heldist accounts, the General Partner’s
interest in the Company and the General Partnec@rtive distribution rights under the Company’gpership agreement, and a secondary
priority lien and security interest in those spiecifreceivable rights. These assets secure theigittiqn Credit Facility and the senior secured
notes described above. The priority of the liens security interests securing the Acquisition Cré&dicility is pari passu with the liens and
security interests securing the senior securedsrascribed above.

The agreements governing the Revolving Credit Fpcthe Acquisition Credit Facility and Amended ARotes contain restrictive
covenants that, among other things, prohibit digtions upon defined events of default, restrigegtments and sales of assets and require the
Company to maintain certain financial covenantsluding specified financial ratios. A material de@se in sales could cause the Company to
breach certain of its financial covenants, sucthadeverage ratio and the interest coverage ratider the Company’s Credit Agreement and
NPA, as amended. Any such breach could allow thedes to accelerate (or create c-default under) the Comparsytiebt which would have
material adverse effect on the Company’s busirfesmcial condition or results of operations. Ada#cember 31, 2010, there were $15.0
million of outstanding borrowings under the Acqtiga Credit Facility and $18.5 million of outstandiborrowings under the Revolving Cre
Facility, and the Company was in compliance witplegable financial covenants.
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On January 28, 2011, and in connection with ourt@ly 2011 follow on public offering of common umithe Company entered into the
Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreement which extentthedMaturity Date from August 15, 2012 to Janu2®y 2016, limited Maintenance
Capital Expenditures for any Measurement Periodngnich 2011, 2012 and 2013 to $4.6 million, $5.2liom and $5.8 million, respectively,
and reduced the applicable margins for each oE(ipdollar Rate Loans and Letter of Credit Feas(@hBase Rate Loans by 50 basis points,
resulting in Pricing Level 3 of the Applicable Rdtke currently applicable pricing level) of 3.7%24d 2.75%, respectively. The Eighth
Amendment to Credit Agreement, also increased #relers’ aggregate commitments by $10.0 million uedeh of the Acquisition Credit
Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility, resaljiin an Acquisition Credit Facility of $65.0 mdh and a Revolving Credit Facility of $55.0
million. See Note 17, Subsequent Events.

Green Lawn Note

In July of 2009, certain of the Company'’s subsidsrentered into a $1.4 million note purchaseement in connection with an
operating agreement in which the Company becamextiesive operator of Green Lawn Cemetery (thee&rLawn Note”)The Green Law
Note bears interest at a rate of 6.5% per yeamgaid principal and is payable monthly, beginnimgfaugust 1, 2009. Principal on the not¢
due in 96 equal installments beginning on JulyQn,12

Nelms Note

In June of 2010, certain of the Company’s subsieaissued two installment notes in connection Withsecond quarter acquisition
discussed in Note 13. The Installment Notes al@etpaid over a 4 year period and mature April 1,420 he Installment Notes do not have a
stated rate of interest. The Company has recotgethstallment Notes at their fair market valuapproximately $2.6 million. The face
amounts of the Installment Notes were discountguicgmately $0.7 million, and the discount will Beortized to interest expense over the
life of the Installment Notes. The installment reobear 10.25% interest per annum on the portigheobutstanding balance after the maturity
date or while there exists any uncured event cdiulebr the exercise by lender of any remedie®¥dlhg the occurrence and during the
continuance of any event of default. In additiditoneMor voluntarily files for bankruptcy or isvolved in an involuntary bankruptcy
proceeding, the entire principal balance of thégihment notes will automatically become due anglbde. At December 31, 2010, the liability
related to the installment notes was stated ofCtdmapany’s balance sheet at approximately $0.9anilli

In June of 2010, certain of the Company’s subsieaalso issued four notes in the aggregate pahaimount of approximately $5.8
million in connection with the acquisition refereacabove. These notes were paid at the closingeadidquisition referenced above by: (i) the
issuance by the Company of 293,947 unregisteredmmmunits representing limited partnership interestthe Company valued at
approximately $5.6 million and (ii) a cash paymehapproximately $0.2 million.

Acquisition Non-Compete Notes

In connection with the Company’s second and thirdrter 2010 acquisitions, certain of the Compasyissidiaries issued installment
notes in consideration for non-compete agreemetsuted with the former owners of the acquiredtiesti The Installment Notes are to be
paid over periods of 4 to 6 years and mature betwigeil 1, 2014 and July 1, 2016. The Installmemt®s do not have a stated rate of interest.
The Company has recorded the Installment Notdseat fiair market value of approximately $2.1 mifiorhe face amounts of the Installment
Notes were discounted approximately $0.4 milliard ¢he discount will be amortized to interest exggeaver the life of the Installment Not
At December 31, 2010, the liability related to thetallment Notes was stated on the Company'’s lsalaheet at approximately $1.6 million.
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9. INCOME TAXES

Effective with the closing of the Partnership’stiali public offering on September 20, 2004 (seed\}t the Company was no longer a
taxable entity for federal and state income ta)ppses; rather, the Partnership’s tax attributesgjgxthose of its corporate subsidiaries) are to
be included in the individual tax returns of itstpars.

The tax on the Company’s net income is borne bgstseral and limited partners. Net income for firiahstatement purposes may differ
significantly from the taxable income of such parsias a result of differences between the taxslzeml financial reporting basis of assets and
liabilities and the taxable income allocation requients under the partnership agreement. The aggrdgference in the basis of the
Company’s net assets for financial and tax repgmiarposes cannot be readily determined becauseriafion regarding each partner’s tax
attributes is not available to the Company.

The Partnership’s corporate subsidiaries, accaurthieir income taxes under the asset and liabitigghod. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax cansences attributable to differences between thanfiral statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective taxeba®d operating loss and tax credit carry forwards

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measurigd) ehacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabteme in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovaredttled. The effect on deferred tax assetsiabdities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includesehactment date.

The tax returns of the Partnership are subjeckamnénation by state and federal tax authoritiesukth examinations result in changes to
taxable income, the tax liability of the partneosild be changed accordingly.

Components of the income tax provision (benefifli@able to continuing operations for federal atatestaxes are as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(As Restated
(in thousands)

Current provision

Federal $ — $ 69 $ 27

State 30€ 567 617
Total 30€ 63€ 644
Deferred provision

Federal (5,139%) (2,827 (257)

State (557) 241 (319
Total 5,68¢ (2,580 (564)
Total taxes $(5,38¢ $ (1,94 8C

The difference between the statutory federal inctameand the Company’s effective income tax is samized as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008
(As Restated
(in thousands)

Computed tax provision (benefit) at the applicattigutory tax rat $(2,327) $ (2,159 $ 1,611
State and local taxes net of federal income taetie 20z 374 401
Tax exempt (income) los 23¢ 36E (29¢
Change in valuation allowan 3,21( 3,50¢ 3,95¢
Partnership earnings not subject to (6,882) (4,079 (5,970
Permanent difference 171 42 28<
Income taxe: $(5,389) $ (1,949 $ 8C
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities result fromftiiowing:

As of December 31
2010 2009
(As Restated
(in thousands)

Deferred tax asse

Prepaid expenst $ 2,27¢ $ 3,09¢
State net operating lo 8,521 6,554
Federal net operating lo 43,60¢ 31,76
Alternative minimum tax cred 67 66
Unrealized losses (gain (4,527) 10,56¢
Valuation allowanct (23,140 (32,519
Total deferred tax asse 26,81: 19,52¢
Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipme 5,33 1,73¢
Deferred revenue related to future revenues anouats receivabl 29,97 17,52¢
Deferred revenue related to cemetery prop 8,92¢ 4,491
Total deferred tax liabilitie 44,23¢ 23,75
Net deferred tax liabilitie $17,42¢ $ 4,22¢

We had available, at December 31, 2010, approxisnkes than $0.1 million of alternative minimunx teredit carryforwards, which are
available indefinitely, and $124.9 million of fedénet operating loss carryforwards, which will retp expire in 2019 and $170.4 million in
state net operating losses which will begin to expi 2010.

Management periodically evaluates all evidence Ipositive and negative, in determining whethealuation allowance to reduce the
carrying value of deferred tax assets is require@010, we concluded, based on the projectedatilmes of taxable income, that a deferred tax
asset of approximately $0.5 million will more likehan not be realized on several subsidiarieadtfition, several separate taxable subsidi
were in a deferred tax liability position at DeceanB1, 2010 and recognized those liabilities. Tasgt vnajority of the taxable subsidiaries
continue to accumulate deferred tax assets thhhatilmore likely than not be realized. A full vation allowance continues to be maintained
on these taxable subsidiaries. Ultimate realizatibtne deferred tax asset is dependent upon, amihrey factors, the Partnership’s corporate
subsidiaries’ ability to generate sufficient taxabiicome within the carryforward periods and isjgeatto change depending on the tax laws in
effect in the years in which the carryforwards ased.

The Company follows the provisions of ASC Topic {48SC 740") which requires that the Company redegrihe financial statement
benefit of a tax position only after determiningthhe relevant tax authority would more likelyrihzot sustain the position following an audit.
For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-tiweshold, the amount recognized in the finandetkesnents is the largest benefit that has a
greater than
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50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultiensettlement with the relevant tax authority. Adanuary 1, 2010, the Company had
approximately $0.9 million of unrecognizable taxbéts. If recognized, the $0.9 million of the uocognized tax benefits would reduce income
tax expense and the Company'’s effective tax rdter&were no changes between the beginning unrizedidm tax benefit amount and the
amount at December 31, 2010. Based on the comphegtgudgment of the facts, the statute of lirota for this adjustment is expected to
expire in the second quarter of 2011, thereforectmepany will likely recognize this tax positionthgat time.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject téeld&ral income tax as well as income taxes of iplelttate jurisdictions. The
Company'’s effective tax rate fluctuates over tiragdd on income tax rates in the various tax jurigais in which the Company operates and
based on the level of earnings in those jurisdigticseveral entities of the Company were recemttieu examination by the Internal Revenue
Service for its separate company US income taxmstior the year ended December 31, 2005. Thedéesavere completed in the third quarter
of 2009 with no impact to the financial statemefitsee Company is not currently under examinatioraby federal or state jurisdictions. The
federal statute of limitations and certain statduges of limitations are opened from 2007 forwéMdnagement believes that the accrual for tax
liabilities is adequate for all open years. Thiseasment relies on estimates and assumptions anohwodve a series of complex judgments
about future events. On the basis of present irdition, it is the opinion of the Company’s managentleat there are no pending assessments
that will result in a material adverse effect oa @ompany’s consolidated financial statements theenext twelve months.

The Company recognizes any interest accrued refatedrecognized tax benefits in interest expemnsepenalties in operating expenses
for all periods presented. The Company has notrdecbany material interest or penalties during efrthe years presented.

The net change in the valuation allowance for 2046 a decrease of $9,380. This change in the vatualowance is the result of the
change in unrealized gains and losses of the Cop'gpanrvestment portfolio, which is recorded wittdeferred revenues, net; the results of
acquisition accounting; and net operating lossasale more likely than not to be realized andopetating losses that do not meet the more
likely than not standard.

10. DEFERRED CEMETERY REVENUES—NET / DEFERRED SELLING AND OBTAINING COSTS

In accordance with SAB No. 104, the Company defeesevenues and all direct costs associated hatisale of pre-need cemetery
merchandise and services until the merchandiseliigeded or the services are performed. The Comjpisty defers the costs to obtain new pre-
need cemetery and new prearranged funeral busiisessll as the investment earnings on the preaechagrvices and merchandise trusts (see
Note 1).

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, deferred cemetepnress, net, consisted of the following

As of December 31,
2010 2009

(As Restated
(in thousands)

Deferred cemetery reveni $266,75¢ $ 222,74¢
Deferred merchandise trust rever 30,931 29,48
Deferred merchandise trust unrealized gains (19 11,30" (27,27%)
Deferred pr-acquisition margit 117,30¢ 66,29’
Deferred cost of goods sc (37,909 (31,937
Deferred cemetery revenues, $388,40: $ 259,32
Deferred selling and obtaining co: $ 59,42: $ 49,78

Deferred selling and obtaining costs are carriedraasset on the consolidated balance sheet imdacw® with ASC 944-30-55-1.

11. RETIREMENT PLANS AND LONG -TERM INCENTIVE PLANS

The Company has a 401(k) retirement savings plaarfiployees who may defer up to 15% of their corspgon. The Company does
currently match any of the employee contributions.
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Long Term Incentive Plan
Overview

On November 8, 2006, the General Partner’s boadirettors adopted the StoneMor Partners L.P. Lbaign Incentive Plan, as
amended (“LTIP”) for its employees, consultants dirdctors, who perform services for the Comparhe LTIP permits the grant of awards
covering an aggregate of 1,124,000 common unitisérform of unit options, unit appreciation rigktsARs”), restricted units and phantom
units. The compensation committee of the Compageieeral partner’s board of directors administeespian. The plan will continue in effect
until the earliest of (i) the date determined by @eneral Partner’s board of directors; (ii) theedhat common units are no longer available for
payment of awards under the plan; or (iii) the lteamtniversary of the plan.

The General Partnerboard of directors or compensation committee rimagheir discretion, terminate, suspend or disicwret the LTIP
any time with respect to any units for which a gfaas not yet been made. The General Partner’'slitodatirectors also has the right to alter or
amend the LTIP or any part of the plan from timéinee, including increasing the number of unitst timay be delivered in accordance with
awards under the plan, subject to any approvatxjifired by the exchange upon which the commors ané listed at that time. No change in
any outstanding grant may be made, however, thatdvoaterially impair the rights of the participamthout the consent of the participant.

Awards Made Under the LTI
Unit Awards

On November 8, 2006, the General Partner, actingetralf of the Company, entered into a Key Empldyestricted Phantom Unit
Agreement (the “Key Employee Agreement”) with cartaf its employees (“Key Employees”).

Under the terms of the Key Employee Agreement, Eeployees received Restricted Phantom Units (“Egg#d”hantom Units”),
which in turn were equal to the sum of Time Vedtkts (“Time Vested Units”) and Performance Vesthdts (“Performance Vested Units”).
Employee Phantom Units are the economic equivaleahe common unit representing limited partneeiiests of the Company. Employee
Phantom Units become payable, in cash or commds,atithe Company’s election, upon the full vegstifithe Employee Phantom Units.
Employee Phantom Units contained no distributioniegjent rights during the vesting period.

Time Vested Units vest at a percentage rate whih equal to the smaller of:
» The percentage of total subordinated units whiaghldf&en converted to common units
» A fraction, the numerator of which was equal to tluenber of months that had passed since Septerdb20@4 and the
denominator of which was 4

Performance Vested Units vest at a percentagemitd is equal to the percentage of total subotdhanits which have been converted
to common units.

Except in the event of the Change of Control, wBerployee Phantom Units vest automatically, Empldykeantom Units shall not vest
until the Company is able to issue freely tradaolemon units to the participant in compliance velhapplicable securities laws.

A total of 360,500 Employee Phantom Units were tgdunder the Key Employee Agreement. 90,125 afehmits vested in 2007 and
were converted into common units in January of 2@@8additional 90,125 of these units vested inarde converted into common units in
2008. The remaining 180,250 of these units vest&D09 and were converted into common units in 2010
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On November 8, 2006, the General Partner, actingetralf of the Company, entered into a DirectortiRg#ged Phantom Unit Agreement
(the “Director Agreement”) with certain of its oide directors (the “Directors”).

Under the terms of the Director Agreement, eacfivefdirectors was awarded 3,000 Restricted Phatdaits (“Director Phantom
Units”). Director Phantom Units become payable;cash or common units, at the Company’s electionnupe separation of the Director from
service as a director or upon the occurrence aéiceother events specified in the Director AgreetmEach Director Phantom Unit contains a
distribution equivalent right which entitles eachidator to additional Director Phantom Units up@tle distribution made to common unit
holders. The calculation of additional Director Rtwan Units granted upon each distribution to commuoit holders is equal to a Directors tc
cumulative Director Phantom Units at the time dfigtribution multiplied by the per unit monetargttibution divided by the fair value of a
common unit at the time of the distribution. Therere approximately 51,662, 43,693 and 33,179 Dareehantom Units outstanding at
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

On December 16, 2009, the General Partner, actirigebalf of the Company, entered into an ExecuRgstricted Phantom Unit
Agreement (the “Executive Agreement”) with certafrthe Company’s executives (the “Executives”).

Under the terms of the Executive Agreement, eadtétkve was awarded 10,000 Restricted Phantom |(fiteecutive Phantom Unit3”
Executive Phantom Units become payable, in cagloimmon units, at the Company’s election, upon épagation of the Executive from
service as an executive or upon the occurrencertdio other events specified in the Executive ggrent. The exercise of Executive Phantom
Units may be subject to approval by the Comparigig#éd partners as required by the NASDAQ listinges. Each Executive Phantom Unit
contains a distribution equivalent right which dati each Executive to additional Executive Phanitbrits upon each distribution made to
common unit holders. The calculation of additioBaécutive Phantom Units granted upon each distdhub common unit holders is equal to
an Executives total cumulative Executive Phantoritdat the time of a distribution multiplied by ther unit monetary distribution divided by
the fair value of a common unit at the time of tligribution. There were approximately 22,072 af@A0 Executive Phantom Units
outstanding at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respécti

The table below reflects the LTIP activity for thears ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 ctasghe

Years ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)
Outstanding, beginning of peric 63,69: 213,43( 296,15¢
Granted (1. 10,047 30,51t 7,39¢
Matured (2) — 180,25(  90,12¢
Forfeited — — —
Outstanding, end of peric 73,73¢ 63,69: 213,43(

(1) The weighted-average price for unit awardshendate of grant was $22.52, $17.51 and $16.5théyears ended December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008, respective

(2) The 180,250 units that vested in 2009 were condeént'® common units in 2010. The 90,125 units wé#e2008 were converted in
common units in 200¢

As of December 31, 2010, there was no unrecogriaetpensation cost related to any phantom or réstiignit. Total compensation
expense for unit awards was approximately $0.2anill$1.6 million and $2.2 million for the yearsden December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
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There were no modifications made to any existinigy awards in 2010. No unit awards were capitalidadng the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 or 2008.

Unit Equivalent Awards

On November 27, 2006, the General Partner, actinigetalf of the Company, entered into a Key Empoyait Appreciation Rights
Agreement (the “2006 UAR Agreement”) with certafrtlte Company’s key employees (the “2006 Key Emeés).

Under the terms of the 2006 UAR Agreement, 2006 Employees received Unit Appreciation Rights (“UAR’wherein 2006 Key
Employees became entitled to compensation in ttma & units in an amount equal to the fair valughaf Company’s common units upon
exercise less $24.14 per unit multiplied by thaltaumber of UARS exercised. Units to be issued should be equhig@mount divided by tt
fair value of common units upon exercise.

UAR’s granted under the 2006 UAR Agreement wergesailtio the exact same vesting requirements as @replPhantom Units granted
under the Key Employee Agreement, except for tinétdition related to the Company’s ability to is$teely tradable common units to the
participant in compliance with all applicable seties laws. A total of 120,000 UAR’s were grantauler the 2006 UAR Agreement, all of
which had vested at December 31, 2009. As of Deeeb, 2010, 80,000 of these units remained oudsign

On December 16, 2009, the General Partner, actirtiebalf of the Company, entered into a Key Empdayait Appreciation Rights
Agreement (the “2009 UAR Agreement”) with certairttee Company’s key employees (the “2009 Key Eme&s) and non-employee
directors.

Under the terms of the 2009 UAR Agreement, 2009 Employees and non-employee directors received $AIRY became entitled to
compensation in the form of units, in an amounta¢tui the fair value of the Company’s common unjisn exercise less $18.80 per unit
multiplied by the total number of UAR’s exerciséthits to be issued should be equal to this amowidet by the fair value of common units
upon exercise.

UAR'’s granted under the 2009 UAR Agreement vest at@eptage rate which is equal to a fraction the matoe of which is the numb
of calendar months which have elapsed since Decebth)@009 and the denominator of which is 48, stiifo forfeiture upon certain
conditions set forth in the UAR. The exercise aflsWWARs may be subject to approval by the Compalyised partners as required by the
NASDAQ listing rules. A total of 814,000 U#'s were granted under the 2009 UAR Agreement add88% of these units remain outstanding
at December 31, 2010.

The fair value of UAR’s granted under both the 2Q0%R Agreement and the 2009 UAR Agreements wasneséid on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing moaéh the following weighted-average assumptions:

2009 UAR 2006 UAR
Agreemen Agreemen
Expected dividend yiel 10.7(% 7.9(%
Risk-free interest rat 2.7% 4.5(%
Expected volatility 38.7(% 24.2(%
Expected life (in years 6.0z 3.5¢

The fair value of UAR’s granted under the 2009 UA&eements was $2.39 per UAR and approximately #ill8n in aggregate.
The fair value of UAR’s granted under the 2006 UA&eement was $2.47 per UAR and approximately $tlBon in aggregate.
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A summary of UAR activity for the years ended Debem31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 follows:

Years ended December 3:

2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)
Outstanding, beginning of peric 934,00( 120,00 120,00(
Granted (1 — 814,00( —
Exercisec (47,602 — —
Forfeited (11,569 — —
Outstanding, end of peric 874,83F 934,00 120,00(
Exercisable, end of peric 281,36t 128,47¢ 60,00(

(1) The weighte-average fair value for UA's outstanding at December 31, 2010 was $:

As of December 31, 2010, there was approximately #fillion of unrecognized compensation cost relatenon-vested UARs. Such
cost is expected to be recognized over a weightedage period of 2.96 years. Total compensatiores® for UARs was approximately $0.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2010 ard than $0.1 million for the years ended DecemlhiePB09 and 2008, respectively. In 2(
the Company issued 10,936 common units as a refseikercised UARS. There were no units issued 092afr 2008.

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2002608, the Company:
* Made no modifications to any existing UAR awai
« Did not capitalize any UAR award
» Did not receive any cash due to the exercise of &l
» Did not recognize any tax benefits due to exercidA&s,

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal

The Company is party to legal proceedings in tlinary course of its business but does not expecotutcome of any proceedings,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a matexitverse effect on the Company'’s financial positi@sults of operations or liquidity.

Leases

At December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Compamsycemmitted to operating lease payments for prespagtomobiles and office
equipment under various operating leases withainiéirms ranging from one to five years and optiongnew at varying terms. Expenses
under operating leases were $2.1 million, $2.liomland $1.9 million for the years ended Decemidei2810, 2009 and 2008 respectively.

At December 31, 2010 operating leases will resuftiture payments in the following approximate amtsy(in thousands):

(in thousands

2011 $ 1,801
2012 1,59¢
2013 1,452
2014 91t
2015 65E
Thereaftel 2,51¢
Total $ 8,93¢
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Employment Agreements

The Company has employment agreements with foits'afenior executives which are annually renewabidess the Company or the
senior executives provide notice ninety days piadhe expiration of the employment period.

Tax Indemnification

CFSI LLC (formerly Cornerstone Family Services,./ibe Company predecessor) had agreed to indemnify the Comfoarall federal,
state and local income tax liabilities attributatidehe operation of the assets contributed by QESI to the Company prior to the closing of
the public offering in 2004. CFSI LLC had also agte¢o indemnify the Company against additional medax liabilities, if any, that arise frc
the consummation of the 2004 transactions relateélde Company’s formation in excess of those betieto result at the time of
the 2004 closing of the Company’s initial publidesing. The Company had estimated that $0.6 miltibstate income taxes and no federal
income taxes would be due as a result of theseatiwmtransactions. CFSI LLC had also agreed termuify the Company against the incre
in income tax liabilities of the Company’s corp@&aubsidiaries resulting from any reduction or elation of the Company’s net operating
losses to the extent those net operating lossassarkto offset any income tax gain or income tespfrom the prior operation of the assets of
CFSI LLC contributed to the Company in 2004, onfrthe Company’s 2004 formation transactions in egad such gain or income believed
to result at the time of the 2004 closing of th&ahpublic offering. Until all of its indemnificgon obligations under the omnibus agreement
had been satisfied in full, CFSI LLC was subjedingtations on its ability to dispose of or encuenlits interest in the Company’s general
partner or the common units held by it (except upgademption of common units by the partnershignugny exercise of the underwriters’
over-allotment option) and would also be prohibifiedin incurring any indebtedness or other liabilBFSI LLC’s indemnification obligations
were discharged on January 24, 2011 confirmed 3ndment that date to the omnibus agreement andcam@anying certification of the
Companys general partner. To our knowledge, there has beenquiry from or instigation of proceedings bydaxing authority which coul
reasonably be expected to require indemnificatidnich pertains to the taxable year 2004 of CFSI LCESI LLC is also subject to certain
limitations on its ability to transfer its inter@atthe Company’s general partner or the commotsureld by it if the effect of the proposed
transfer would trigger an “ownership change” uniher Internal Revenue Code that would limit the Camyps ability to use the Company’s
federal net operating loss carryovers.

13. ACQUISITIONS AND LONG -TERM OPERATING AGREEMENTS
First Quarter 2010 Acquisition

On March 30, 2010, StoneMor Operating LLC, a Deleninited liability company (“StoneMor LLC"), St@Mor Michigan LLC, a
Michigan limited liability company (“Buyer LLC") ash StoneMor Michigan Subsidiary LLC, a Michigan lted liability company (“Buyer NQ
Sub” and individually and collectively with StoneMbLC and Buyer LLC, “Buyer”), each a wholly-ownedbsidiary of StoneMor Partners
L.P. (the “Company”), entered into an Asset Purelesd Sale Agreement (the “1st Quarter Purchaseehgent”) with SCI Funeral Services,
LLC, an lowa limited liability company (“Parent"3CIl Michigan Funeral Services, Inc., a Michiganpawation (“SCI Michigan”, and together
with Parent, “SCI"), Hillcrest Memorial CompanyDelaware corporation (“Hillcrest”), Christian Meni@rCultural Center, Inc., a Michigan
corporation (“Christian”), Sunrise Memorial Gardédsmetery, Inc., a Michigan corporation (“Sunriseid Flint Memorial Park Association,
a Michigan corporation (“Flint” and individually drcollectively with Sunrise, Hillcrest and Christje'Seller”).

In connection with the 1st Quarter Purchase Agrednms March 30, 2010, StoneMor LLC and Plymouthréti@use Facilities LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-oeahsubsidiary of the Company (“Plymouth” and indisélly and collectively with
StoneMor LLC, “Warehouse Buyer”), entered into assét Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “Warehousbd2e Agreement”) with SCI,
Hillcrest, Sunrise, Flint, Buyer NQ Sub and Buyéid.
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Pursuant to the 1st Quarter Purchase AgreemengrBoguired nine cemeteries in Michigan, includiegain related assets (the
“Acquired Assets”), and assumed certain relatduilitees (the “Assumed Liabilities”). In consideram for the transfer of the Acquired Assets
and in addition to the assumption of the Assumedbilities, Buyer paid Seller approximately $14.1lion (the “Closing Purchase Price”) in
cash. The Closing Purchase Price can be increasietoeased postosing for accounts receivable, merchandise tiiunts and endowme
care trust amounts above or below agreed levelsaséded in the Purchase Agreement.

Pursuant to the Warehouse Purchase Agreement, WieselBuyer acquired one warehouse in Michigan f&@h including certain
related assets, and assumed certain relatedtiebilor $0.5 million in cash, which was deemed péathe $14.1 million consideration paid in
connection with the Purchase Agreement.

The 1st Quarter Purchase Agreement and Warehousbdd@réd\greement also include various representaticarsanties, covenants,
indemnification and other provisions which are ousry for transactions of this nature.

The table below reflects the Company’s assessnighedair value of net assets acquired, the puelmice and the resulting gain on a
bargain purchase price that was made in the fuattgr of the year. The Company obtained additiorfalmation in the fourth quarter of 2010
and has retrospectively adjusted these preliminahyes as noted below.

As of December 31, 201

Preliminary |
Final
Assessmen Adjustments Assessmer
(in thousands)

Assets:
Cemetery propert $ 32,33¢ $ 1,42% $ 33,76
Cemetery lanc 5,36( (5,360 —
Accounts receivable (ne 2,29: 35¢ 2,651
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve 46,15¢ 1,872 48,02%
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 14,57: 51z 15,08¢
Property and equipme 32E 5,44 5,76¢
Total asset 101,04: 4,24¢ 105,29:
Liabilities
Deferred margir 18,28 12,80" 31,09¢
Merchandise liabilitie: 22,61¢ 7,507 30,12¢
Deferred income tax liability, ne 8,23¢ (359 7,87¢
Perpetual care trust corp 14,57: 51z 15,08¢
Total liabilities 63,71¢ 20,46° 84,18
Fair value of net assets acquil 37,321 (16,219 21,10¢
Consideration pai 14,01t — 14,01t
Gain on bargain purcha $ 23,31: $ (16,219 $ 7,09

Second Quarter 2010 Acquisition

On April 29, 2010, the Johnson County Circuit Cafrindiana entered the Order Approving Form of Auwed and Restated Purchase
Agreement and Authorizing Sale of Equity Interestd Assets (the “Indiana Order”). The Indiana Ordabject to certain conditions,
permitted Lynette Gray, as receiver (the “Receiyvefthe business and assets of Ansure Mortuafiésdana, LLC (“Ansure”), Memory
Gardens Management Corporation (“MGMC"), Forest hduneral Home Properties, LLC (“Forest Lawn”), @Gars of Memory Cemetery
LLC (“Gardens of Memory”), Gill Funeral Home, LLCGill"), Garden View Funeral Home, LLC
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(“Garden View”), Royal Oak Memorial Gardens of Ohitl. (“Royal Oak”), Heritage Hills Memory Garden§Ohio Ltd. (“Heritage”) and
Robert E. Nelms (“Nelms” and collectively with Amsy MGMC, Forest Lawn, Gardens of Memory, Gill, Gam View, Royal Oak and
Heritage, the “Original Sellers”), to enter intodaconsummate an Amended and Restated Purchasendgre@he “2nd Quarter Purchase
Agreement”) with StoneMor Operating LLC, a Delawhngited liability company (“StoneMor LLC”), Stonedf Indiana LLC, an Indiana
limited liability company (“StoneMor Indiana”), SteMor Indiana Subsidiary LLC, an Indiana limiteahlility company (“StoneMor
Subsidiary”) and Ohio Cemetery Holdings, Inc., aridhnonprofit corporation (“Ohio Nonprofit,” and kectively with StoneMor LLC,
StoneMor Indiana and StoneMor Subsidiary, the “Bljyeach a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compa®ybject to the receipt of the
Indiana Order, the Purchase Agreement was exebytéte Buyer and the Receiver on April 2, 2010.

Effective June 21, 2010, certain subsidiaries ef@ompany entered into Amendment No. 1 to the 2mar®r Purchase Agreement
(“Amendment No. 1”) by and among the Buyer, thegiwl Sellers, Robert Nelms, LLC (“Nelms LLC,” andllectively with the Original
Sellers, the “Sellers”) and the Receiver, which adeel the Purchase Agreement executed by the Bagetha Receiver. Amendment No. 1
amended the 2nd Quarter Purchase Agreement byngdditain parties to the Purchase Agreement; yiodifcertain representations and
warranties made by the Original Sellers in the Quérter Purchase Agreement; and providing thaBtheer will assume certain additional
liabilities such as the obligation to pay for ddims incurred under the health benefit plans ef@iginal Sellers on or before the closing of
transactions contemplated by the Purchase AgreeameinAmendment No. 1, but which had not been redast or prior to the closing.

Effective June 21, 2010, pursuant to the 2nd Qu&uechase Agreement and Amendment No. 1, the Bagauired the stock (the
“Stock”) of certain companies owned by Ansure (tRequired Companies”) and certain assets (the “fs3®wned by Nelms, Nelms LLC,
Gill, Gardens of Memory, Garden View, Forest Ladeeritage, Royal Oak and MGMC, resulting in the dsigion of 8 cemeteries and 5
funeral homes in Indiana, Michigan and Ohio (thedAisition”). The Buyer acquired the Stock and Assadvanced moneys to pay for trust
shortfalls of the cemeteries, paid certain lialgititof the Sellers, which were offset by funds held Smith Barney Account acquired by the
Buyer in the transaction, and paid certain leges fef the parties to the transaction and otherisitigu costs, for a total consideration,
including the offset by the funds held in the SniBérney Account, of approximately $33.0 million.€TAcquisition was financed, in part, by
borrowing $22.5 million from the Company’s acqusit facility under the Amended and Restated Cradieement dated August 15, 2007
among StoneMor LLC, certain of its subsidiarieg, @ompany, StoneMor GP LLC, Bank of America, NiRAg other lenders party thereto, and
Bank of America Securities LLC, as amended.

Settlement Agreement

In connection with the Acquisition, effective Ju?ie, 2010, StoneMor LLC and StoneMor Indiana (cailety, “StoneMor”) and the
Company entered into a Settlement Agreement (te&l&nent Agreement”) with Chapel Hill Associatkex;., d/b/a Chapel Hill Memorial
Gardens of Grand Rapids, Chapel Hill Funeral Hdme, Covington Memorial Funeral Home, Inc., Couimg Memorial Gardens, Inc., Forest
Lawn Memorial Chapel Inc., Forest Lawn Memory Gaslinc., Fred W. Meyer, Jr. by James R. Meyer axi@pAdministrator to the Estate
of Fred W. Meyer, Jr. (the “F. Meyer Estate”), Jare Meyer (“J. Meyer”), Thomas E. Meyer (“T. Mef)eiNancy J. Cade (“Cade,” and
collectively with the F. Meyer Estate, J. Meyerdan Meyer, the “Meyer Family”) and F.T.J. Meyersasiates, LLC (“FTJ").

Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, StoneMoredgreeassume, pay and discharge a portion of Arssanel Forest Lawis’ obligation:
under: (i) certain notes issued by Ansure in fasfdered W. Meyer, Jr., J. Meyer, T. Meyer, and Cgatdlectively, the “Original Meyer
Family”); and (ii) a note issued by Forest LawrBJ, which was later assigned to the Original Mdyamily.

StoneMor agreed to assume approximately $7.1 mihicAnsure’s and Forest Lawn’s obligations undher hotes they issued, with the
remaining principal, interest and fees due undeh swtes forgiven by the Meyer
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Family. In connection with the assumption of thebigations, at Closing, StoneMor issued promissates to each member of the Meyer
Family (the “Closing Notes”) and additional prontsg notes payable in installments to certain mesbé&the Meyer Family (the “Installment
Note¢"). The Closing Notes were issued effective June2®10 in the aggregate principal amount of appnately $5.8 million, were
unsecured subordinated obligations of StoneMor Inorinterest and were payable on demand at th@ngloThe Closing Notes were paid at
closing by: (i) the issuance by the Company of 293,unregistered common units representing linpi@dnership interests of the Company
(the “Units”) valued at approximately $5.6 milligursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreenaemt;(ii) a cash payment of approximately
$0.2 million.

The Installment Notes were issued effective June€@10 and mature April 1, 2014. The Installmentdsaare to be paid over a 4 year
period and do not have a stated rate of interdst.Jompany has recorded the Installment Notesatftir market value of approximately $.
million. The face amounts of the Installment Notese discounted approximately $0.7 million, anddiszount will be amortized to interest
expense over the life of the Installment Notes. THstallment Notes bear 10.25% interest per annatthe portion of the outstanding balance
after the maturity date or while there exists angured event of default or the exercise by the Gompf any remedies following the
occurrence and during the continuance of any evedéfault. In addition, if StoneMor voluntarilyldis for bankruptcy or is involved in an
involuntary bankruptcy proceeding, the entire gpatbalance of the Installment Notes will autoroally become due and payable.

J. Meyer, T. Meyer and Cade each entered into aanied and Restated Agreement-Not-To-Compete witheBdor, which amended
the non-compete agreements each previously entgredith Ansure. In consideration for enteringaran Amended and Restated Agreement-
Not-To-Compete, StoneMor agreed to pay an aggregate obxppately $2.3 million to J. Meyer, T. Meyer, a@dde, with approximately $C
million paid at Closing, and the remainder to bipa installments over 4 years.

The Settlement Agreement also provides that, ifatimeual distributions paid by the Company to itshoiders are less than $2.20,
StoneMor will pay additional cash consideratioriite Meyer Family annually for four years pursuana formula contained in the Settlement
Agreement. StoneMor may also pay up to approxima&2I4 million to the Meyer Family from the proceeaf the Misappropriation Claims,
subject to certain minimum thresholds before paymiare required.

In addition, StoneMor provided an assignment framReceiver to the Meyer Family of the Eminent Dion@laim, as defined in the
Settlement Agreement, and the proceeds therettpsing. The Meyer Family agreed to assign itstdaghnder the Fraud Claims, as defined in
the Settlement Agreement, to StoneMor.

All obligations of StoneMor, the Company, and thegired Companies under the Settlement Agreemehotrer transaction docume
are subordinate and junior to the obligations @h8&Mor, the Company, and the Acquired Companieguady Senior Debt, as defined in the
Settlement Agreement.

The Settlement Agreement also includes variousesgmtations, warranties, covenants, mutual relegsismnification and other
provisions, which are customary for a transactibthis nature.

Unregistered Sale of Securities

In connection with the Acquisition, StoneMor GP LLiGe general partner of the Company (“StoneMor )&itered into a Non-
Competition Agreement (“Non-Competition Agreemertdted as of June 21, 2010 with Ronald P. Roberfamsuant to which Mr. Roberts
agreed not to compete with StoneMor GP and the eorep under its management and control. In corediderfor Mr. Robertson’s covenant
not to compete and as a partial payment of theil@tjdsotes to the Meyer Family pursuant to the 8atdnt Agreement, effective June 21,
2010, the Company issued 303,800 Units.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Agreement, the Gomps obligated to issue additional Units value@@5 million over the next three
years as follows: units valued at $0.2 million cédted by dividing $0.2 milliol
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by the per unit price on the Nasdag Stock Marke€ ldn the close of the third business day priohtodiosing on each of the first anniversary
and second anniversary of the closing of the Aétjoirs and units valued at $0.1 million calculatgddividing $0.1 million by the per unit
price on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC on the cldsh@third business day prior to the closing oa tthird anniversary of the closing of the
Acquisition, subject to adjustments as a resuéirgf common unit split, combination or similar exeeatcurring after the closing.

The table below reflects the Company’s assessnighedair value of net assets received, the puehmice and the resulting goodwill
from the purchase. The Company obtained additiofi@fmation in the fourth quarter of 2010 and hetsaspectively adjusted these
preliminary values as noted below. The Company make further retrospective adjustments to this igsiomal assessment if additional
information were to become available.

As of December 31, 2010

Preliminary

Revised
Assessmen Adjustments Assessmer
(in thousands)

Assets:
Cemetery propert $ 23,18¢ $ (1,507) $ 21,68¢
Property and equipme 27,84: (18,809 9,03¢
Accounts receivable (ne 2,191 (53 2,13¢
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve 5,86¢ 11,27¢ 17,14:
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 1,66: 1,68¢ 3,34¢
Other asset 4,22F 144 4,36¢
Total asset 64,97¢ (7,252 57,72:
Liabilities
Deferred margir 12,07( 3,86¢ 15,93¢
Merchandise liabilitie: 14,92¢ 614 15,54:
Deferred income tax liability, ne 16,13( (6,709 9,42¢
Perpetual care trust corp 1,66: 1,68¢ 3,34¢
Total liabilities 44,79: (539 44,257
Fair value of net assets acquil 20,18 (6,717 13,46¢
Paid at closin—purchase pric 10,415 — 10,415
Paid at closin—units 5,78¢ — 5,78¢E
Paid at closin—liabilities incurred $ 3,981 $ (339 $ 3,64¢
Goodwill from purchasi $ — $ — $ 18,91«
Total purchase pric 20,18: (333) 19,85(
Paid at closin—trust underfunding 12,53( — 12,53(
Total paid at closin 32,71 (339 32,38(

Third Quarter 2010 Acquisition and Long-Term Operating Agreement

During the third quarter of 2010, certain subsiéisiof the Company entered into a long-term opegadigreement (the “Operating
Agreement”) with the Archdiocese of Detroit (therthdiocese”) wherein the Company will become theuesive operator of certain
cemeteries owned by the Archdiocese.

Key terms and conditions of the operating agreermahtde, but are not limited to, the following:
1. There was no consideration paid by either pargffect the execution of the Operating Agreem

2. The Archdiocese will pay the Company a managefeenn the amounts of $0.5 million, $0.4 milliand $0.3 million during the
first three years of the agreement. This fee &ddition to any revenue
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the Company will earn from operating the propektg.monies will be transferred during Year 4. Thar(any will pay the
Archdiocese a fee in an amount equal to 5% of neeseginning in Year 5. Total amounts paid ar@edmt $0.3 million, $0.4
million and $0.5 million during years five througkven consecutivel

3. The operating agreement is for a term of 40 yearbjéct to certain termination right

The Company shall acquire the exclusive rightlltof the property and assets of each cemeitaelyding but not limited to, the
use of all land for interment purposes; the suraczunts receivable and merchandise trust funfitgde for existing pre-need
contracts

The Company has concluded that this Operating Agee¢ does not qualify as a variable interest ehbiigause the Company does not
control the entity. However, the existing merchaedrust, which had a fair value of approximate3ysdmillion as of the contract date, has k
consolidated as a variable interest entity as thmg@any controls and directly benefits from the agiens of the merchandise trust. Other
liabilities assumed by the Company have also beeorded as of the contract date. As no consideratas paid in this transaction, the
Company has recorded a deferred gain of approxijnd821 million which represent the excess of thkue of the merchandise trust over the
liabilities assumed. This amount will be amortizexdthe Company recognizes the benefits of owneestspciated with the merchandise trust.

The table below reflects the amounts recorded erctimtract date either through consolidation asEadr the assumption of a liability,
resulting in a deferred gain. As discussed in N@ethese amounts are different than what wasrpirgirily reported for this transaction in the
third quarter of 2010.

As of
December 31, 201
Revised
Assessment
(in thousands)
Assets:
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve 3,49
Liabilities
Deferred margir 20¢
Merchandise liabilitie! 192
Net assets records 3,09
Consideration pai —
Deferred gair $ 3,09¢

Also during the third quarter of 2010, the Companychased a single cemetery for $1.5 million, whittiuded the payoff of an existing
mortgage of $0.3 million. At September 30, 201@, @ompany had made a provisional assessment &ithalue of net assets acquired for
this transaction. The Company obtained additiomfairmation in the fourth quarter of 2010 and hasospectively adjusted these preliminary
values as noted below. The Company may make furéterspective adjustments to this provisional sssent if additional information were
to become available.
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The table below details the provisional assessiiemét assets acquired and the resultant gainbamgain purchase recorded during the
third quarter of 2010:

As of December 31, 201

Preliminary
Revised
Assessmer Adjustments Assessmer
(in thousands)

Assets:
Accounts receivable (ne $ 1,00: $ — $ 1,00:
Cemetery propert 1,02( 1,811 2,831
Property and equipme — 607 607
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve 3,08( — 3,08(C
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 1,08¢ — 1,08¢
Intangible assel — 34C 34C
Total asset 6,197 2,75¢ 8,95(
Liabilities
Deferred margir 1,36¢ 1,16¢ 2,537
Other Liabilities — 31¢ 31¢
Merchandise liabilitie: 1,69: 64¢ 2,34z
Deferred tax liabilitie: 272 832 1,104
Perpetual care trust corp 1,08¢ — 1,08¢
Total liabilities 4,42 2,967 7,39(
Fair value of net assets acqui 1,76¢ (209 1,56(
Consideration pai 1,50( — 1,50(
Gain on bargain purcha $  26¢ $ (209 $ 60

The results of operations related to this acquisitire not material to the financial statementenas a whole.

Fourth Quarter 2010 Acquisition

On October 12, 2010, StoneMor LLC, Stonemor Kaht#3, a Kansas limited liability company and StonerKansas Subsidiary LLC,
Kansas limited liability company, each a wholly-aansubsidiary of the Company, entered into an ABeathase and Sale Agreement (the “4
thQuarter Purchase Agreement”) with Fairlawn BuriatkPAssociation and Heritage Il Inc., collectivéthe Sellers, and Edward J. Nazar as the
Receiver.

Pursuant to the #iQuarter Purchase Agreement, Buyer acquired thésastene cemetery and one funeral home in Kameashased ol
of receivership. In consideration for the transfiee, Company paid approximately $0.7 million intgaand posted a bond of approximately ¢
million to fund permanent maintenance trust shtstiand incurred approximately $0.6 million of lildies in connection with this acquisition.
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The table below reflects the Company’s preliminasgessment of the fair value of net assets recaivédhe allocation of the purchase
price and the resulting goodwill. These amounts bélretrospectively adjusted as additional infaiorais received.

As of
December 31, 201
(in thousands)

Assets:

Accounts receivable (ne $ 19¢€
Cemetery propert 98¢
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve 53t
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 412
Property and equipme 52C
Total asset 2,651
Liabilities

Deferred margir 1,01(C
Merchandise liabilitie 932
Deferred tax liabilitie: 89
Perpetual care trust corp 412
Total liabilities 2,44:
Fair value of net assets acquil 20¢
Consideration pai 665
Goodwill from purchas $ 457

The results of operations related to the acquisitiee not material to the consolidated financialeshents taken as a whole.

The following unaudited pro forma information pretsea summary of the results of operations of themany as if the cemeteries
acquired in the first and second quarters of 204fch are expected to have a meaningful impacherCtompany’s operations, were acquired
on January 1, 2009:

As of December 31,

2010 2009
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Revenue: 204,77: 199,22¢
Net income (loss 7,761 (2,76])
Net income (loss) per limited partner —basic 0.54 (0.22)
Net income (loss) per limited partner —diluted 0.5¢ (0.22)

The unaudited pro forma results have been pregarambmparative purposes only and include certdjnsiments such as decreased cost
of goods sold related to the step-down in the hafsise cemetery property acquired and increasketdst on the acquisition debt. They do not
purport to be indicative of the results of openasievhich actually would have resulted had the comtizdn been in effect on January 1, 2009 or
of future results of operations of the locationse Tesults of operations of the acquired propediesncluded in the consolidated financial
statements since the date of acquisition. Reveanéset income included in operations since thedat acquisition are $11.1 million and $
million respectively, for the year ended DecemhbkrZ)10.

2nd Quarter 2009 LongTerm Operating Agreements

In the second quarter of 2009, the Company, thraegtain of its subsidiaries, entered into two ldegn operating agreements wherein
the Company has become the exclusive operatoeairiderlying cemetery land.
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These operating agreements do not qualify as Variaterest entities because the Company doesombtat the entities. However, the
existing merchandise and perpetual care trustg;hwad a fair value of approximately $1.4 milliarda53.4 million, respectively, have been
consolidated as a variable interest entity as tm@@ny controls and directly benefits from the afiens of the trusts. Other liabilities assur
by the Company and debt incurred related to thissiaction have also been recorded as of the coderte The cash paid and debt incurred
related to these transactions exceeded the ndsasserded as of the contract date. This amouappfoximately $4.8 million, recorded within
other assets on the consolidated balance shekhendimortized over the expected life of the cartrahich is 40 years.

The table below reflects the amounts recorded erctimtract date either through consolidation asEadr the assumption of a liability.
As discussed in Note 18, these amounts have bstated.

As of
12/31/2009

(in thousands
Assets
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve $ 1,38¢
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 3,42¢
Liabilities
Merchandise liabilitie: 1,63t
Deferred margir 1,322
Other liabilities 46
Perpetual care trust corp 3,42¢
Net assets records (1,619
Consideration pai 3,22(
Other Asset: $ 4,83¢

3rd Quarter 2009 LongTerm Operating Agreement

In the third quarter of 2009, the Company, througftain of its subsidiaries, entered into a sithgheg-term operating agreement wherein
the Company has become the exclusive operatoeairterlying cemetery land.

The nature of the agreement and the accountingresd utilized by the Company is essentially ideaitin nature as the 2nd Quarter
2009 long-term operating agreements described above

The cash paid and debt incurred related to thessactions exceeded the net assets recordedtes adritract date. This amount of
approximately $3.6 million, recorded within othessats on the consolidated balance sheet, will etaaed over the expected life of the
contract, which is 40 years.
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The table below reflects the amounts recorded erctimtract date either through consolidation asEadr the assumption of a liability.
As discussed in Note 18, these amounts have bstaied.

As of
12/31/2009

(in thousands
Assets
Merchandise trusts, restricted, at fair ve $ 321
Perpetual care trusts, restricted, at fair vi 2,911
Liabilities
Merchandise liabilitie: 231
Deferred margir 18¢€
Perpetual care trust corp 2,911
Net assets recorde (96)
Consideration pa—cash 1,40(
Consideration pa—note issuet 1,40C
Consideration pa—other liability assume 75C
Total consideration pai 3,55(
Other asset $ 3,64t

The results of operations related to our 2009 aifipms are not material to the financial staterag¢aken as a whole.

2008

The Company made four acquisitions in 2008. The ficquisition took place during the first quadéthe year and consisted of a single
cemetery (the “2008 First Quarter Acquisition”).ef®econd acquisition took place in the third quastehe year and consisted of six
cemeteries and two funeral homes (the “2008 Thudr@r Acquisition”Jand the third and fourth acquisitions took placéhmfourth quarter «
the year and consisted of two cemeteries and arerdlihome (the “2008 Fourth Quarter Acquisition”).

The Company paid $0.6 million in cash and $0.5io1ilin common units representing limited partneeiiasts to the sellers for the 2008
First Quarter Acquisition. Including the acquisititansaction costs, the transaction was valu&d.2tmillion for accounting purposes.

The Company paid approximately $0.8 million in c&slthe sellers for the 2008 Third Quarter Acqiosit Including the acquisition
transaction costs, the transaction was valued .dtr§illion for accounting purposes.

The Company paid approximately $1.6 million in c&slthe sellers for the 2008 Fourth Quarter Acduisi Including the acquisition
transaction costs, the transaction was valued .8ti$illion for accounting purposes.

14. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company is organized into five distinct repbléasegments which are classified as Cemetery @pesa—Southeast, Cemetery
Operations—Northeast, Cemetery Operations—Westralilomes, and Corporate.

The Company has chosen this level of organizatforportable segments due to the fact that a) egubrtable segment has unique
characteristics that set it apart from other sedsdr) the Company has organized its managemesoipeel at these operational levels; and c)
it is the level at which the Company’s chief demismakers and other senior management evaluaterpenfice.
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The cemetery operations segments sell intermehtsiigaskets, burial vaults, cremation niches, erarknd other cemetery related
merchandise. The nature of the Company’s custoditess in each of its regionally based cemetergraging segments. Cremation rates in the
West region are substantially higher than theyiratbe Southeast region. Rates in the Northeagmegnd to be somewhere between the two.
Statistics indicate that customers who select ctiemaervices have certain attributes that diffenf customers who select other methods of
interment. The disaggregation of cemetery operatioto the three distinct regional segments is arily due to these differences in customer
attributes along with the previously mentioned nggamaent structure and senior management analysisodabgies.

The Company’s Funeral Homes segment offers a rahfymeral-related services such as family consiotiathe removal of and
preparation of remains and the use of funeral hfawiéities for visitation. These services are distly different than the cemetery merchandise
and services sold and provided by the cemeteryatipes segments.

The Company’s Corporate segment includes variongehaffice selling and administrative expenses aéinatnot allocable to the other
operating segments.

Segment information is as follows:
As of and for the year ended December 31, 2010

Cemeteries Funeral
Southeast Northeast West Homes Corporate  Adjustment Total
(in thousands)
Revenues
Sales $ 76,41¢ $ 3431« $3707¢ $§ — % 10 $(40,04) $ 107,77
Service and othe 28,15 22,43( 23,44 — — (10,06%) 63,967
Funeral hom — — — 25,54¢ — — 25,54¢
Total revenue: 104,57¢ 56,74¢ 60,52¢  25,54¢ 10 (50,109 197,29:
Costs and expense
Cost of sale: 15,477 8,45¢ 5,927 — 6 (6,336 23,52¢
Cemetery 20,51¢ 13,49( 14,77¢ — — — 48,78¢
Selling 24,48¢ 11,17¢ 11,147 — 59€ (9,15%) 38,24t
General and administrati\ 11,83¢ 6,10¢ 6,631 — 17 — 24,59
Corporate overhee — — — — 24,37¢ — 24,37¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,44¢ 782 1,157 1,654 3,80¢ — 8,84t
Funeral homt — — — 19,937 — — 19,931
Acquisition related cost — — — — 5,71¢ — 5,71¢
Total costs and expens 73,76¢ 40,011 39,63 21,59 34,517 (15,49) 194,02
Operating profit 30,81: 16,73: 20,89 3,95 (34,507 (34,61) 3,26
Gain on acquisition — — — — 7,15:% — 7,15:%
Increase in fair value of interest rate sv — — — — 4,72¢ — 4,72¢
Interest expens 9,307 3,81« 5,681 3,14¢ 23 — 21,97:
Income (loss) before income taxe $ 21,50 $1291¢ $ 1521( $ 807 $(22,65) $(34,61) $ (6,829
Total asset $415,58¢ $285,41: $357,12! $63,51f $2548. $ — $1,147,11
Amortization of cemetery proper $ 303 $ 339 $ 714 $ — $ — $ (235) $ 6,91
Long lived asset additior $ 3,07C $ 3507 $4488( $841¢ $ 328 $ — $ 60,20(
Goodwill $ — $ — $ — %198 $ — $ — $ 19,85
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As of and for the year ended December 31, 2009

Revenues
Sales
Service and othe
Funeral hom
Total revenue
Costs and expense
Cost of sale:
Cemetery
Selling
General and administrati\
Corporate overhee
Depreciation and amortizatic
Funeral hom
Acquisition related cost
Total costs and expens
Operating profit
Gain on sale of funeral hon
Gain on acquisition
Decrease in fair value of interest rate s\
Expenses related to refinanci
Interest expens
Income (loss) before income taxe

Total asset

Amortization of cemetery proper
Long lived asset additior
Goodwill

Cemeteries Funeral
Southeast Northeast West Homes Corporate Adjustment Total
(As Restated)
(in thousands)

$ 71,75¢ $ 33,741 $ 27,090 $ — $ 15 $(19,93) $112,67"
27,97¢ 20,45( 12,86: — — (16,12¢) 45,16
— — — 23,36¢ — — 23,36¢
99,73: 54,19 39,95] 23,36¢ 15 (36,059 181,20:
15,41( 7,207 4,42: — 4 (5,249 21,79¢
18,55¢ 12,84: 9,83¢ — 15 — 41,24¢
22,36¢ 10,59¢ 7,83¢ — 85t (7,529 34,12
11,45: 6,12 4,88¢ — 34 — 22,49¢
— — — — 22,37( — 22,37(
1,531 84C 44¢ 1,101 2,60¢ — 6,52¢
— — — 19,00¢ — — 19,00¢
— — — — 1,07z — 1,07z
69,31 37,61: 27,42: 20,107 26,95¢ (12,779 168,63
30,41 16,58: 12,53t 3,25¢  (26,94)  (23,28)) 12,56¢
— — — — 43¢ — 434
= = = = (2,68) = (2,681)
— — — — 2,24; — 2,24;
6,51¢ 2,64¢ 3,082 2,12 40 — 14,41(
$ 23,89¢ $ 13,93 $ 945: $1,13° $(31,47) $(23,28) $ (6,339
$371,15¢ $252,52: $162,66: $35,43¢t $ 33,52« $ — $855,30:
$ 3097 $ 233% $ 61 $ — $ — $ (239) $ 574
$ 568 $ 91z % 695 $ 627 $ 4,44¢ $ = $ 12,367
$ — $ — $ — $ 48 $ — $ — $ 48C
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As of and for the year ended December 31, 2008

Cemeteries Funeral
Southeast Northeast West Homes Corporate Adjustment Total
(in thousands)
Revenues
Sales $ 63,75¢ $3295( $27,79¢% $ — $ 5 $(22,990 $101,51¢
Service and othe 24,87¢ 21,24( 14,577 — — (2,730 57,96¢
Funeral hom — — — 23,96: — — 23,96
Total revenue 88,63¢ 54,19( 42,37 23,96 5 (25,72() 183,44
Costs and expense
Cost of sale: 14,03: 8,03¢ 4,61¢ — 1 (3,805 22,88
Cemetery 17,80¢ 13,54: 10,257 — 47 — 41,65!
Selling 20,27( 10,66¢ 8,191 — 1,25 (5,579 34,80¢
General and administrati\ 10,41¢ 6,09¢ 4,76 — 90 — 21,37:
Corporate overhee — — — — 21,29: — 21,29:
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,49: 94C 37¢ 83¢ 1,381 — 5,02¢
Funeral hom — — — 19,06 — — 19,06¢
Total costs and expens 64,01¢ 39,28 28,20¢ 19,90: 24,06¢ (9,379 166,09¢
Operating profit 24,62( 14,90¢ 14,16: 4,06( (24,06() (16,347) 17,35(
Interest expens 5,16: 2,657 2,69¢ 2,19¢ — — 12,71«
Income (loss) before income taxe $ 19,45 $ 1225 $ 11,467 $ 1,862 $(24,060 $(16,34) $ 4,63¢
Total asset $322,36! $228,44° $138,95¢ $35,81¢ $12,65¢ $ — $738,24(
Amortization of cemetery proper $ 2966 $ 247/ $ 49 $ — $ — $ 43t $ 6,36¢
Long lived asset additior $1893( $ 1,022 $ 1431 $123¢ $ 158 $ — $ 24,20

Results of individual business units are preseh&s®d on our management accounting practices andgaaent structure. There is no
comprehensive, authoritative body of guidance fanagement accounting equivalent to accounting ipiee generally accepted in the United
States of America; therefore, the financial resoft;dividual business units are not necessaninparable with similar information for any
other company. The management accounting processassumptions and allocations to measure perfaenathe business units.
Methodologies are refined from time to time as ng@maent accounting practices are enhanced and lsssmehange. Revenues and associate
expenses are not deferred in accordance with SABLB therefore, the deferral of these revenuesapdnses is provided in the adjustment
column to reconcile the Company’s managerial fim@rstatements to those prepared in accordanceGAAP. Pre-need sales revenues
included within the sales category consist prinyaofl the sale of burial lots, burial vaults, mawsoh crypts, grave markers and memorials, and
caskets. Management accounting practices includéuei Southeast, Northeast, and Western Regiolestréiese prareed sales when contre
are signed by the customer and accepted by the @oynpre-need sales reflected in the consolidateddial statements, prepared in
accordance with GAAP, recognize revenues for theeaeburial lots and mausoleum crypts when thalpobis constructed and at least 10% of
the sales price is collected. With respect to themoproducts, the consolidated financial statemprgpared under GAAP recognize sales
revenues when the criteria for delivery under SA® NO4 are met. These criteria include, among dthiegs, purchase of the product, deliv
and installation of the product in the ground, &nadsfer of title to the customer. In each casstsare accrued in connection with the
recognition of revenues; therefore, the consolidifiteancial statements reflect Deferred CemeteryeRae, Net and Deferred Selling and
Obtaining Costs on the balance sheet, whereasahg@ny’s management accounting practices exclusetitems.
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15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

ASC 820-10 defines fair value as the price thatldidne received to sell an asset or paid to traresfebility in an orderly transaction
between market participants. ASC 820-10 establisifag value hierarchy that gives the highestnisido observable inputs and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs. The three levdlthe fair value hierarchy defined by ASC 820-16 described below.

Level 1: Quoted market prices available in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities. The Company unleds cash and ca
equivalents, U.S. Government debt securities atdigiy traded equity instruments in its level 1 @siments

Level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for similar assggted prices in n-active markets for identical or similar assetsyitspothel
than quoted prices that are observable. The Comipaiydes U.S. state and municipal, corporate @hdrdixed income debt

securities in its level 2 investmen

Level 3: Any and all pricing inputs that are generally urervable and not corroborated by market d

The following table allocates the Company’s asaattliabilities measured at fair value as of Decengi, 2010 and 2009.

As of December 31, 2010:

Merchandise Trust

Description

Assets

Shor-term investment

Fixed maturities
U.S. government and federal age!
U.S. state and local government age
Corporate debt securitir
Other debt securitie

Total fixed maturity investmen

Mutual fund—debt securitie
Mutual fund—equity securitie—real estate sectt
Mutual fund—equity securitie—energy secta
Mutual fund—equity securitie—MLP’s
Mutual fund—equity securitie—other
Equity securitie:
Preferred REI’s
Master limited partnershig
Global equity securitie
Other invested asse

Total

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(in thousands)

$ 40,72: $ — $ 40,72
— 23 23

— 9,94( 9,94(

— 1,53¢ 1,53¢

— 11,50! 11,50!
52,51¢ — 52,51¢
12,76: — 12,76!
29,11¢ — 29,11¢
20,07 — 20,07
64,70¢ — 64,70¢
16,54¢ — 16,54¢
36,52( — 36,52(
22,19: — 22,19:
— 11,65( 11,65(
$295,16° $23,15! $318,31¢
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Perpetual Care Trust

Description

Assets
Shor-term investment
Fixed maturities
U.S. government and federal age!
U.S. state and local government age
Corporate debt securitir
Other debt securitie
Total fixed maturity investmen
Mutual fund—debt securitie
Mutual fund—equity securitie—real estate sect
Mutual fund—equity securitie—energy secta
Mutual fund—equity securitie—MLP’s
Mutual fund—equity securitie—other
Equity securitie:
Preferred REI's
Master limited partnershig
Global equity securitie
Other invested asse

Total

As of December 31, 2009:

Merchandise Trust

Description

Assets

Shor-term investment

Fixed maturities
U.S. government and federal age!
U.S. state and local government age
Corporate debt securitir
Other debt securitie

Total fixed maturity investmen

Mutual fund—debt securitie
Mutual fund—equity securitie:

Equity securitie:
Other invested asse
Total

137

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(in thousands)
$ 20,58: $ — $ 20,58:
60C — 60C
— 14¢& 14¢&
— 22,69: 22,69:
— 50€& 50€&
60C 23,34¢ 23,94¢
55,14¢ — 55,14¢
13,02¢ — 13,02¢
21,34( — 21,34(
13,56¢ — 13,56¢
43,85( — 43,85(
31,05( — 31,05(
25,42¢ — 25,42¢
77€ — 77€
— 97¢& 97¢&
$225,36: $24,32¢ $249,69(
Level 1 Level 2 Total
(in thousands)
$ 47,45 $ — $ 47,45
— 23 23
— 3,24¢ 3,24¢
— 4,98¢ 4,98¢
— 8,254 8,254
31,15« 7,55¢ 38,71
70,43¢ — 70,43¢
31,76: — 31,763
— 7,21( 7,21(
$180,80¢ $23,02: $203,82¢




Table of Contents

Perpetual Care Trust

Description

Assets

Shor-term investment

Fixed maturities
U.S. government and federal age!
U.S. state and local government age
Corporate debt securitir
Other debt securitie

Total fixed maturity investmen

Mutual fund—debt securitie
Mutual fund—equity securitie:

Equity securitie:
Other invested asse
Total

Interest Rate Liability

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(in thousands)

$4661F $ — $ 46,61
4,76¢ — 4,76t
— 1,431 1,43

— 13,89: 13,89:

— 4,83( 4,83
4,76¢ 20,15¢ 24,92:
19,35: 16,88¢ 36,23¢
52,55" — 52,557
35,41: — 35,41
— 531 531
$158,70.  $37,57¢  $196,27¢
$ — $2681 $ 2,681

All level 2 assets are priced utilizing independemiting services. The interest rate swap price prasided to the Company by an
independent third party source and tested by thepgany via an analysis of current swap pricing ®dhntracted swap pricing.

16. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
The following summarizes certain quarterly resafteperations:

201C

Revenue:
Net income (loss

General partne’ interest in net income (loss) for the per
Limited partner’ interest in net income (loss) for the per

Net income (loss) per common u
Basic
Diluted
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Three months endec

March 31

$40,67(
5,89t
11€
5771

$ 0.4:
$ 0.4:

June 30 September 3 December 3
(as restated)
$48,73: $ 52,13( $ 55,75t
(1,46() (1,900) (3,981)
(29) (38) (80)
(1,43)) (1,862) (3,909

$ (0.11) $ (0.19 $ (0.29)
$ (0.11) $  (0.19 $ (0.29
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Three months endec

200¢ March 31 June 30 September 3( December 3.
(as restated (as restated)
Revenue: $42,59¢ $ 47,80: $ 46,58 $ 44,21¢
Net income (loss (865) 2,30z 1,94¢ (7,779
General partne’ interest in net income (loss) for the per a7 46 39 (155)
Limited partner’ interest in net income (loss) for the per
Common (697) 1,861 1,57¢ (6,362)
Subordinate (151) 39t 334 (1,25%)
Net income (loss) per common u
Basic $ (0.09) $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢€ $ (0.6)
Diluted $ (0.09) $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1€ $ (0.6))

As described in Note 18, the Company has rest&e2DD9 financial statements to deconsolidate icecmeteries it operates under long-
term operating agreements that had been consdlidatag the purchase method of accounting. The @omplso consolidated three
cemeteries it began operating in the third quart&010 that should not have been consolidatedgysimchase accounting.

The following presents the effects of the restat@ma the unaudited summary quarterly results efations:

Three Months Ended

September 30, 201! September 30, 200! June 30, 200¢
As Previously As Previously As Previously
As As As
Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported Restated

Balance Sheet Amount:
Long-term accounts receival—net of allowanct $ 56667 $ 57,11¢ $ 4517 $4495 $ 47,55! $ 47,28:
Cemetery propert 304,38t 284,44¢ 239,82 228,06° 236,54¢ 227,84«
Property and equipment, net of accumulated

depreciatior 82,571 63,531 48,96¢ 47,86" 49,14% 48,51¢
Other asset 5,80¢ 14,37: 1,64¢ 10,52¢ 787 6,271
Total asset 1,128,07: 1,120,38! 836,80! 832,60: 798,49( 794,37t
Deferred cemetery revenues, 343,85¢ 365,68 243,21¢ 243,38¢ 222,29 222,29¢
Deferred tax liabilitie: 30,55 20,321 8,281 8,05( 8,12¢ 7,92¢
Merchandise liability 105,38 114,39¢ 76,86¢ 76,87¢ 76,46: 76,46¢
Total liabilities 959,80¢ 979,11: 730,31¢ 730,26¢ 687,37( 687,17t
General partner capit 3,00 2,18¢ 1,781 1,69¢ 1,951 1,87
General partner incentive distribution rigl 5,97¢ — — — — —
Common partner capit: 159,28t 139,08t 100,85 97,52! 104,52( 101,37(
Subordinated partner capi — — 3,85¢ 3,11« 4,64¢ 3,95¢
Total partner capital $ 168,260 $ 141,27 $ 106,48  $102,33! $ 111,12( $107,20(
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Three Months Ended

September 30, 2010

September 30, 2009

June 30, 2009

As Previously

As Previously

As Previously

As As As
Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported Restated

Consolidated Statement of Operation:
Cost of goods sold merchand $ 5,15( $ 5,09¢ $ 4,48¢ $ 4,46( $ 4,73¢ $ 4,728
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,261 2,46¢ 1,70C 1,761 1,70¢ 1,72¢
Acquisition related cost 2,167 1,96: (29) (580) 542 127
Operating profil 65€ 71€ 4,21¢ 4,73( 4,74¢ 5,40i
Gain on acquisition 6,65¢ 60 751 — 4,58: —
Income tax benefi (1,829 (1,829 (1,119 (1,119 97) (97
Net income (loss 4,64¢ (1,900 2,18¢ 1,94¢ 6,22z 2,30z
General partner’s interest in net income (loss)tier

period 93 (38 44 39 124 46
Limited partners’ interest in net income (loss) tloe

perioc—common 4,55 (1,862) 1,85¢ 1,57¢ 5,011 1,861
Limited partner’ interest in net incom

(loss) for the peric—subordinatec — — 28t 334 1,087 39t
Net income (loss) per limited partner —basic and

diluted $ .33 $ (139 % .18 $ € $ 42 $ 1€

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

Nine Months Ended

Six Months Ended

September 30, 201 September 30, 200! June 30, 200¢
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 943 $ 9,751 $ 14,72 $ 15,94 $ 8,10¢ $8,77:
Net cash used in investing activiti $ (44,469  $(44,78) $ (8,91  $(10,2139) $ (5,539  $(6,202)

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January of 2011, we purchased three cemeteridsiith Carolina for approximately $1.7 million amdurred approximately $0.5

million of liabilities.

On January 28, 2011, and in consideration of obrigey 9, 2011 follow on public offering of commanits, the Company entered into
the Eighth Amendment to its Amended and RestatediCAgreement. The Eighth Amendment to Credit Agnent included the Lenders’

consent to the use of a portion of the proceedns fte public offering of common units to redeenfuth outstanding 12.5% Series B and Se
C senior secured notes due August 2012 and tompaggregate make-whole premium of $3.8 millionteglahereto. Pursuant to the Eighth
Amendment to Credit Agreement, the Maturity Date baen extended from August 15, 2012 to Januar@@5 and the applicable margins
for each of: (i) Eurodollar Rate Loans and Lette€cedit Fees and (ii) Base Rate Loans are redbgésD basis points, resulting in Pricing
Level 3 of the Applicable Rate (the currently apable pricing level) of 3.75% and 2.75%, respetyive

In addition, the Company shall continue using thime Consolidated Leverage Ratio of 3.65 to 1.8 asiirently in effect for
Measurement Periods ending after December 31, @0dQvill not be permitted to have Maintenance Gaikpenditures for any
Measurement Period ending in 2011, 2012 and 20&8eskng $4.6 million, $5.2 million and $5.8 milliorespectively.
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The Lenders also agreed to reinstate the maximureggte principal amount of the acquisition créafility to $55.0 million and to
increase the Lenders’ aggregate commitments byd$mdlion under each of the acquisition credit filgiand the revolving credit facility,
resulting in an acquisition credit facility of $65million and a revolving credit facility of $55rillion.

On February 9, 2011, The Company completed a fodovublic offering of 3,756,155 common units, irdihg an option to purchase up
to 731,155 common units to cover over-allotment&ctvivas exercised in full by the underwriters, atrige of $29.25 per unit, representing a
19.4% interest in the Company. Total gross procéeds these transactions were approximately $1689l&n, before offering costs and
underwriting discounts. Net proceeds of the offgrincluding the related capital contribution oé tBeneral Partner, after deducting
underwriting discounts and offering expenses, ve@@roximately $106.0 million. As part of this trantion, selling unitholders also sold
1,849,366 common units. The company did not recanyeof the proceeds generated by the sale of aity leld by the selling unitholders.

18. RESTATEMENT OF DECEMBER 31, 2009 CONSOLIDATED FINAN CIAL STATEMENTS

During the second and third quarters of 2009, thmg@any became the exclusive operator of three eriastunder long-term operating
agreements. The Company had previously concludedhiough these operating agreements it had @ztaiontrol over variable interest
entities and accordingly, the Company applied paselaccounting to record its interest in theseabbgiinterest entities. It was subsequently
determined that these cemeteries did not qualifyasigible interest entities. The Company also deitezd that it did not obtain control either
under the voting interest model or by contractaAgsult, the Company concluded that the cemetshiesld not have been consolidated and
purchase accounting rules should not have beeiedpflhe 2009 consolidated financial statement® leeen restated to deconsolidate these
cemeteries and remove a bargain purchase gairpobximately $5.4 million that was recognized upaereution of the agreements.

The Company also consolidated three cemeteriestthajan operating under a long-term operatingegent during the third quarter of
2010. It was also determined that these cemetdidesot meet the requirements for consolidatiorttier reasons noted above.

Further, as part of these agreements, the Compasigssumed certain liabilities and has assumedotafithe underlying merchandise
and perpetual care trusts related to these ceragtdifnese trusts were previously and continue frdyeerly consolidated as variable interest
entities. See Note 13 for a more detailed discussfdhe net assets that have been recognizedessikh of these transactions. See Note 16 for
details on the impact this had on our quarterlyltss
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The following is a summary of the impact of thetagsment on the consolidated financial statemestsf and for the year ended
December 31, 2009:

As Previously As
Balance Sheet Amount: Reported Adjustment Restated
Long-term accounts receival—net of allowanct $ 48,01t $ (221) $ 47,79¢
Accounts receivabl 37,11 16C 37,27:
Cemetery propert 239,77 (11,729 228,04¢
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreci 48,73¢ (1,100 47,63¢
Total asset 859,37! (4,072 855,30:
Deferred cemetery revenues, 258,97¢ 34k 259,32:
Deferred tax liabilitie: 4,907 (231) 4,67¢
Merchandise liability 65,88: 11 65,89
Total liabilities 743,23¢ 12t 743,36
General partner capit 1,92( (81) 1,83¢
Common partner capit: 114,21¢ (4,11¢) 110,09¢
Total partner capital $ 116,13¢ $ (4,199 $111,93°

As Previously As
Consolidated Statement of Operations Reported Adjustment Restated
Cost of goods sold merchand $ 17,12 $ (53) $ 17,067
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,39( 13¢ 6,52¢
Acquisition related cost 2,29: (2,220 1,072
Operating profit 11,43: 1,13¢ 12,56¢
Gain on acquisition 5,41¢ (5,419 —
Income tax bene—federal (2,66¢) (85) (2,759
Net income (loss (18¢) (4,200 (4,38¢)
General partn’s interest in net income (loss) for the petl 4 (83 (87
Limited partner’ interest in net income (loss) for the per (184) (4,117 (4,302
Net income (loss) per limited partner —basic (.02) (.34) (.3€)
Net income (loss) per limited partner —diluted $ (.02 $ (.34) $ (.36

As Previously

As
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ___Reported _Adjustment __Restated
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 13,49¢ $ 1,231 $ 14,72¢
Net cash used in investing activiti $ (10,949 $ (1,23) $(12,180()
ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Background

As previously reported in our Current Report onrfr&XK filed on March 29, 2011, on March 25, 2011, thedA Committee of the Boa
of Directors of our General Partner (the “Audit Quittee”) concluded that our previously issued ficiahstatements for the quarters ended
June 30, 2009, September 30, 2009 and Septemb20B0,and the year ended December 31, 2009 sheulgskated to deconsolidate certain
long-term cemetery operating agreements that wepteadously consolidated as variable interest igtiand to remove a non-cash bargain
purchase gain, previously recognized through thefiGgtion of purchase accounting to those
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operating agreements resulting in the recognitfom mon-cash extraordinary gain. See Explanatorie N@art [I—Item 7— Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operation and Note 18 to Consolidateariéial Statements included in Part 11—
Item 8—Financial Statements and Supplementary Bfatsis Form 10-K of this Form 10K.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresateatlesigned to ensure that information requindattdisclosed in the reports that we
file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act@384, as amended, is recorded, processed, suneahaz reported within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissi@8EC”) rules and forms, and that such information is aadatad and communicated
our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, as appropriatealtow timely decisions regarding requir
disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this repeet,carried out an evaluation, under the supemviaiod with the participation of our
Disclosure Committee and management, includindgthief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial ioéf, of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 13a-15(b). Based upon, and as addteof this evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officemcluded that our disclosure controls and procesiweze not effective to provide reason:
assurance that information we are required to aégcln our reports under the Securities Exchange®t934, as amended, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieneds specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, thiatl such information is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including tief@&xecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officexs appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure due tarthterial weakness in our internal control overfiicial reporting as described below.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taigiing adequate internal control over financigla®ing as defined in Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchanged&d934, as amended. Our internal control ovearfgial reporting is a process designed
under the supervision of our Chief Executive Offiaad Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonaddsurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanteWiS. generally accepted accounting
principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢t@isstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with policies andpdures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of ourahi@wntrol over financial reporting as of DecemBgy 2010. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria desaribedrnal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOjeBaon this assessment, management concludedétditiwmot maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting as of [@ether 31, 2010 due to the material weakness desicbiblow.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finarlai@porting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstateroétite companys annual or interim financial statements will netgrevented or detected o
timely basis. We identified the following materiaeakness in our assessment of the effectivendagenfal control over financial reporting:

We did not design and implement adequate conteddged to the implementation of a new accountingdard for a material class of
transactions, specifically in this instance, appdyconsolidation guidance to determine whetherhaowd to consolidate another entity as it
relates to our cemetery operating agreements.rhierial weakness resulted in the restatementesiquisly issued financial statements for
guarters ended
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June 30, 2009, September 30, 2009 and Septemb20B0,and the year ended December 31, 2009 foriaadejustments that were necess
to present the financial statements for such perinéccordance with generally accepted accoumptimgiples.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fio@l reporting as of December 31, 2010 has beditealiby Deloitte & Touche LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,taged in its report which appears herein.

Plan for Remediation

To remediate the aforementioned material weakmessnplemented a series of controls designed to éesure that all new accounting
pronouncements are sufficiently researched anditivatonclusions relative to the effect of suchnprancements on us are communicated to
management, the Audit Committee and our auditdnes& controls include the following procedures:

1. Once it has been determined that a new accountorgppncement that impacts us has been adopteBjbetor of Financia
Reporting will disseminate the relevant authoriatiterature to the senior members of the accagrdiepartment, including the
Vice President of Financial Reporting and Inve®fetations and the Chief Financial Offic

2. The pronouncement and its impact on the accogiptdlicies and disclosure will be discussed ansmdy senior members of the
accounting departmer

3.  The Director of Financial reporting will prepare amalysis which will include an item by item asseest of the guidance and
potential impact on us and circulate this anal{@isenior accounting management, the Audit Commi@d the Company’s
external auditor for discussion and revie

4. Once consensus has been formed as to the appeoaciedunting treatment, the new standard will lmpsetl and implemente

During the third quarter of 2010, we began exequtior remediation plan. An analysis of all new actng guidance issued during the
third and fourth quarter was completed. A deta#ladlysis of guidance that affects us was completedpresented to senior management, our
audit committee, and our external auditors. We afleployed a new Director of Financial Reporting added a senior accountant to this
function to give us additional resources to addeegkimplement new accounting pronouncements.

The genesis of this material weakness was prittd@ompany’s implementation of this plan of reraéidn. The Company’s
management believes that it is in the processroédiating this material weakness and that the woat execution of the procedure will serve
to remediate the material weakness in the future.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

Other than as described above, there have beehamges in our internal control over financial repay that occurred during our last
fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2010 that haveriably affected, or are reasonably likely to nigtky affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors StoneMor GP LLC and Uaitiers of StoneMor Partners L.P. Levittown, Penvesyia

We have audited the internal control over finanéglorting of StoneMor Partners L.P. and subsiégafthe “Company”) as of
December 31, 2010, based on criteria establishédémal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camjzamanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financi
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigerd internal control over financial reportingclided in the accompanying Management'’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporti@gr responsibility is to express an opinion om @ompanys internal control over financi
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetiefenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness et@st#jg and evaluating the design and operatifegtdfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstanceddliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supemnvidi the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or gars performing similar functions, and effected lng tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakoaaturance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(tt) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of tree&sof the company; (2) provide reasonable asseriat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statetin accordance with generally accepted acaogiptinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgdordance with authorizations of management amdtirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiosg, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlanfial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolhover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatemdue to error or fraud may not be preventatketected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenekthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combimatif deficiencies, in internal control over fingalaeporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstaternéttie companys annual or interim financial statements will netgrevented or detected o
timely basis. The following material weakness hesrbidentified and included in management’s assasisriihe Company did not design and
implement adequate controls related to the impléatiem of a new accounting standard for a matetads of transactions, specifically in this
instance, applying Consolidation guidance to deitrgerwhether and how to consolidate another engitif eelates to the Company’s cemetery
operating agreements. This material weakness wasdered in determining the nature, timing, aneeof audit tests applied in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as of anthiyear ended December 31, 2010, of the Compashyhés report does not affect our report
on such financial statements.
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In our opinion, because of the effect of the materieakness identified above on the achievemetiteobbjectives of the control criteria,
the Company has not maintained effective interpatmol over financial reporting as of December 3110, based on the criteria established in
Internal Contro—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrike Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated financial statements as of and foydse ended December 31, 2010 of the Company ancepart dated March 29, 2011
expressed an unqualified opinion on those finarstetements and included an explanatory paragragisaussed in Note 18 to the financial
statements that the accompanying 2009 financitdrstents have been restated to correct a misstatemen

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 29, 2011

Item 9B.  Other Information

On March 29, 2011, the Nominating, Compensation@oiporate Governance Committee of the Board of@ars of our general part
approved the following: (i) annual cash incentiveaeds for performance in 2010 based on exceedprg-aletermined level of earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization0ih(2 and (ii) increases in annual base salarie2@tfd based on merit. The following table sets
forth below the approved annual cash incentive dsvand 2011 salaries for our named executive office

2010 Annual
ash Incentive Awarc 2011 Salary

C
Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer and Pre=id $ 291,70 $500,00(
William R. Shane, Executive Vice President and €Rirancial Officer $ 291,70 $440,00(
Michael L. Stache, Senior Vice President and C@ieérating Officel $ 152,47¢ $315,00(
$
$

Name and Principal Position

Robert Stache, Senior Vice Presid- Sales 152,47¢ $315,00(
Paul Waimberg, Vice Preside- Finance and Corporate Developm 43,06 $187,00(
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PART IlI

Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

Partnership Structure and Management

StoneMor GP LLC, as our general partner, managesperations and activities. Unitholders are nditlex to participate, directly or
indirectly, in our management or operations.

Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporatiamitholders have only limited voting rights ontteas affecting our business.
Unitholders do not have the right to elect our gahpartner or its directors on an annual or otftettinuing basis. Our general parther may not
be removed except by the vote of the holders tdfast 66 2 /3% of the outstanding common units, idiclg units owned by our general partner
and its affiliates. Because of their controllingrewship interest in our general partner, the MDQ Ijuidating Trusts, are able to control the
election of a majority of the directors of our geigartner.

Directors and Executive Officers of StoneMor GP LLC

The following table shows information regarding thieectors and executive officers of our generatrga. Directors are elected for one-
year terms or until his successor is duly electatiqualified. Pursuant to their respective employtagreements, Messrs. Miller, Shane,
Stache and R. Stache serve as executive officersrajeneral partner for a one-year term, whicui®matically extended for successive one-
year terms unless either party gives written nadiceor-renewal 90 days prior to the end of the term.

Name Age Positions with StoneMor GP LLC

Lawrence Miller (1) 62  Chief Executive Officer, President and ChairmathefBoarc
William R. Shane (1 64  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial OfficedeDirector
Michael L. Stacht 59  Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Offi

Robert Stach 62  Senior Vice Preside—Sales

Paul Waimber¢ 53  Vice Presider—Finance and Corporate Developm
Timothy K. Yost 44  Vice Presider—Financial Reporting and Investor Relatic
Allen R. Freedmal 70  Director

Peter K. Grunebaul 77  Director

Robert B. Hellman, J 51 Director

Martin R. Lautman, Ph.C 64  Director

Fenton R. Talbot 69 Director

Howard L. Carve 66  Director

(1) The Amended and Restated Limited Liability Compagyeement of our general partner, as amended goGt LLC Agreemen
specifies that, so long as Mr. Miller serves ase€Chixecutive Officer of our general partner, hellsiigo serve as a director of our gent
partner and, so long as Mr. Shane serves as Cinigfi¢ial Officer of our General Partner, he shisbaerve as a director of our general
partner.

Executive Officers and Board Membe

We have two individuals who serve as both execuiffieers and as members of the Board of DirectdrStoneMor GP LLC, our
General Partner.
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Lawrence Millerhas served as our Chief Executive Officer, Presidad Chairman of the Board of Directors of ourgrahpartner since
our formation in April 2004 and had served as thé&€CExecutive Officer and President of Cornerstaiece March 1999 through April 2004.
Prior to joining Cornerstone, Mr. Miller was empéayby The Loewen Group, Inc. (now known as the Ald®ds Group, Inc.), where he
served in various management positions, includixgchktive Vice President of Operations from Jand£97 until June 1998, and President of
the Cemetery Division from March of 1995 until Dedmer 1996. Prior to joining The Loewen Group, Miillét served as President and Chief
Executive Officer of Osiris Holding Corporationpevate consolidator of cemeteries and funeral toofevhich Mr. Miller was a one-third
owner, from November 1987 until March 1995, wheliri®svas sold to The Loewen Group. Mr. Miller sethas President and Chief Operat
Officer of Morlan International, Inc., one of thiest publicly traded cemetery and funeral home otidators from 1982 until 1987, when
Morlan was sold to Service Corporation Internatlohi. Miller has been retained in this positiored his extensive experience in the death
care industry, his expansive operations experiendeacumen, his contacts within the death care aaitynand his long tenure of service with
us and our affiliates

William R. Shandéas served as our Executive Vice President and €Emancial Officer and on the Board of Directofar general
partner since our formation in April 2004 and hadved as Executive Vice President and Chief Firsr@ificer of Cornerstone since March
1999 through April 2004. Prior to joining Cornenmsto Mr. Shane was employed by The Loewen Group, Witere he served as Senior Vice
President of Finance for the Cemetery Division figiarch 1995 until January 1998. Prior to joiningeTtoewen Group, Mr. Shane served as
Senior Vice President of Finance and Chief Findr@féicer of Osiris Holding Corporation, which heunded with Mr. Miller, and of which he
was a one-third owner. Prior to founding Osiris, Mhane served as the Chief Financial Officer oflolnternational, Inc. Mr. Shane has
been retained in this position due to his extensikerience in financial services and capital ngigictivities, his contacts within the death care
and financial communities and his long tenure ofise with us and our affiliates.

Additional Directors
A brief biography of all non-executive directorsafr General Partner is included below:

Allen R. Freedmahas served on the Board of Directors of our Gerfeaainer since our formation in April 2004, and kadved as a
director of Cornerstone since October 2000 throghl 2004. Mr. Freedman retired in July 2000 frdis position as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Fortis, Inc., a specialty inance company that he started in 1979. He curreetlyes on the board of Assurant, Inc. (w
was formerly known as Fortis, Inc.) and as trustethe Eaton Vance Mutual Funds Group. He is alBmuading director of the Association of
Audit Committee Members, Inc. Mr. Freedman has betained as a member of the Board of DirectorsuniGeneral Partner due to his
extensive financial and accounting experienceinvisstment and risk management experience andperience on other boards.

Peter Grunebaurhas served on the Board of Directors of our gergaether since December 2004. Mr. Grunebaum, ctlyran
independent investment banker and corporate camtpias the Managing Director of Fortrend Inteoradl, an investment firm headquarte
in New York, New York, a position he held from 1988til the end of 2003. Mr. Grunebaum currentlyseras a director and is a member of
the Executive Committee and Chairman of the Auditn@ittee of Pre Paid Legal Services, Inc., a NYiSted company that provides legal
service plans. Mr. Grunebaum also serves on thedhwfalirectors and is a member of the Audit Conteeitof Lucas Energy, Inc., a crude oil
and gas company. Mr. Grunebaum has been retainednasnber of the Board of Directors of our GenPatner due to his extensive audit
background, his experience with raising capital bisdservice with other public companies.

Robert B. Hellman, Jihas served on the Board of Directors of our gergagther since our formation in April 2004 and Isadved as a
director of Cornerstone since March 1999 throughil®004. Mr. Hellman is the Chief Executive Officend a Managing Director of McCov
De Leeuw & Co., LLC, which he joined in 1987.
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McCown De Leeuw & Co., LLC is the sponsor of numergrivate equity investment funds. Mr. Hellman wwasned Managing Director in
1991 and Chief Executive Officer in 2001. Mr. Hedimis also the co-founder and has been the Mand&jnegtor and Chief Executive Officer
of the American Infrastructure MLP Funds, LLC, gponsor of numerous private investment funds sinbe2006. Mr. Hellman has been
retained as a member of the Board of Directorsuof@eneral Partner due to his involvement in oitiailhpublic offering, his extensive
investment experience and his prior experience kaiifing capital.

Martin R. Lautman, Ph.Dhas served on the Board of Directors of our genggther since our formation in April 2004 and afiractor
of Cornerstone since its formation in March 199®tiyh April 2004. Dr. Lautman is currently the Mairay Director of Marketing Channels,
Inc., a company that provides marketing and mamgetesearch consulting services to the informatidastry. Most recently, he served as the
President and CEO of GfK Custom Research North Avaga division of a public worldwide marketing @ees company headquartered in
Nuremburg, Germany. Prior to that he was the Seviammaging Director of ARBOR a U -based marketing research agency, where he held
several positions since 1974. He has also servildNvimex Corporation, a public machine-tool mantufdng company, as President from
1987 to 1990 and as a director from 1991 to 198FmFL986 to 2000, Dr. Lautman served on the Bo&#bdeisors of Bachow Inc., a venture
capital firm specializing in high-tech companies aoftware. He has continued his activities in uemtapital serving as a venture partner for
three early stage funds. Dr. Lautman is currenthpard member for multiple family-owned businesgeduding Faulkner Automotive, E.P.
Henry, and A. Duie Pyle, a trucking company. Mrutraan has been retained as a member of the Bo&taaftors of our General Partner due
to his involvement in numerous boards, his stratptanning experience and his capital raising bemkgd.

Fenton R. “Pete” Talbothas served on the Board of Directors of our geragther since our formation in April 2004 and Isadved as
Chairman of the Board of Cornerstone since Aprd@€hrough April 2004. Mr. Talbott served as thedfdent of Talbott Advisors, Inc., a
consulting firm, from January 2006 through Janu20$0.Mr. Talbott previously served as an operadifiifjate of McCown De Leeuw & Co.,
LLC from November 1999 to December 2004. Additibnehe served as the Chairman of the Board of pelesum International, an
international telemarketing and market-researchpaom, from August 2000 to January 2001. Prior 891 3r. Talbott held various executive
positions with Comerica Bank, American Express @oafion, Bank of America and other entities. Herently serves as a board member of
the Preventative Medicine Research Institute, Kanhsaversity Board of Trustees and Christus/St.cémt Hospital Foundation. Mr. Talbott
has been retained as a member of the Board oftbiseaf our General Partner due to his extensiwgaifpnal experience, his private
consulting experience and his extensive profeskmmaact base.

Howard L. Carvethas served on the Board of Directors of our gergaeher since August 2005. Mr. Carver retireduinel2002 from
Ernst & Young. During his 35-year career with tivenf Mr. Carver held a variety of positions in &ixS. offices, culminating with the position
of managing partner responsible for the operatidhe Hartford, Connecticut office. Since June 20d2. Carver has served on the boards of
directors of Assurant, Inc. (formerly Fortis, Inand Phoenix National Trust Company (until its sal&pril 2004) and has been the chair of the
Audit Committee for both boards. Since Septemb@®420r. Carver had served on the board of direatb@pen Solutions, Inc. and was the
chair of that company’s Audit Committee (until Janu23, 2007 when Open Solutions, Inc was sold).Garver has been retained as a
member of the Board of Directors of our GeneratiRardue to his extensive financial and audit eigmee, and his risk management
background.

Additional Executive Officers (No-Board Members)
A brief biography of additional executive officassincluded below:

Michael L. Stachéas served as our Senior Vice President and Cluefaling Officer since our formation in April 20@4d had served
as Senior Vice President and Chief Operating OffideCornerstone since March 1999 through April20Rrior to joining Cornerstone,
Mr. Stache was with Loewen Group International, lac
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wholly owned subsidiary of The Loewen Group, Itl@iween March 1995 and March 1999. Mr. Stachessdsaed as Vice President of Fun
Home Advanced Planning for the United States anth@a for The Loewen Group from January 1999 uetidined Cornerstone in March
1999. Mr. Stache previously served in several difie€ capacities with The Loewen Group, includindgragional President of the North Central
Region between 1996 and 1999 and Regional Vicddemgsof Cemetery Operations in the Midwest betwE@95 and 1996. Mr. Stache sen
as Vice President of Operations for Osiris Hold@w@yporation between 1994 and 1995 and as Genenshdén between 1988 and 1994.

Robert Stachéas served as our Senior Vice President of Sales siur formation in April 2004 and had servedhia $ame capacity with
Cornerstone since March 1999 through April 2004. $tache was in charge of the North Central ReffioiThe Loewen Group, Inc. for both
funeral home and cemetery sales from 1996 to 11999Stache joined The Loewen Group in 1995, whextguired Osiris Holding
Corporation, where Mr. Stache had been Vice PrasiofeSales for the Cemetery Division. Mr. Stachieg¢d Osiris in 1988 as Vice President
of Sales for Colorado.

Paul Waimberghas served as our Vice President of Finance anpotate Development since our formation in April 2Ghd had served
as Vice President of Finance of Cornerstone sinaecM1999 through April 2004.

Mr. Waimberg was previously employed at The Loe&aup, Inc. from 1995 to 1999, where he was resptnfor all accounting
acquisition functions and internal and externaficial reporting as Vice President of Cemetery Aoting. He had approximately 80
employees reporting to him who were responsiblafiogeneral ledger functions for 500 companie®rRo joining The Loewen Group in
1995, he carried out all accounting responsibdifier Osiris Holding Corporation before it mergetbi The Loewen Group. Mr. Waimberg
joined Osiris in July 1990 as its Controll

Timothy K. Yoshas been our Vice President of Financial Repodimg) Investors Relations since November 2004. Rrigining us,
Mr. Yost was the Chief Financial officer of Spin@g/cinc. a national chain of coin-operated laundatsnHe began with that company in 1997.
From October 1995 through May 1997, he was a cbetrior the Magellan Corporations, a real estatatéd partnership syndicate specializ
in the development and acquisition of multi-ungidential housing properties. From October 199aufh October 1995, Mr. Yost was the
Head of Premium Accounting for Republic Westerrunasice Company, a division of U-Haul International.

The GP LLC Agreement specifies that the directérsun general partner shall be elected by a pliyratite of the Class A units of our
general partner, subject to the requirements deestiin footnote (1) to the table above. CFSI LL@kall of the outstanding Class A units.
CFSI LLC is controlled by the MDC IV Liquidating Uists.

Mr. Hellman serves as the sole member of Gen4 Rdsisor LLC, a Delaware limited liability companyhich is a trust advisor to the
MDC IV Liquidating Trusts, which together benefityaown 87.2% of CFSI LLC through their direct owship of approximately 10.1% of tl
Class B units of CFSI LLC and indirectly througleithownership of approximately 90.8% of the membigrinterests in Cornerstone Family
Services LLC, which owns 85% of the Class B unit€BSI LLC. CFSI LLC indirectly owns our 2% genepelrtner interest.

Messrs. M. Stache and R. Stache are brothers.

Board Meetings and Committees

From January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010, thedBafaDirectors of our general partner held four timegs. All directors then in office
attended all of these meetings, either in persdrydeleconference. We have standing Audit, Cotsfli¢rust and Compliance, and Nominati
Compensation and Corporate
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Governance Committees of the Board of Directorswfgeneral partner. The Board of Directors of gemeral partner appoints the member
such committees. The Audit Committee has a writtegrter approved by the board, which is postedusmebsite at www.stonemor.com
under the “Investor Relationsection. The current members of the committeesntineber of meetings held by each committee fronudgnl,
2010 to December 31, 2010, and a brief descriifdhe functions performed by each committee atéosth below:

Audit Committee (10 meetings)

The members of the Audit Committee are Messrs.dfna® (Chairman), Grunebaum and Carver. Messrsdirae, Carver and
Grunebaum attended all meetings of the Audit Conemifor the period noted above. The primary respdities of the Audit Committee are
assist the Board of Directors of our general panimés general oversight of our financial repogdj internal controls and audit functions, and it
is directly responsible for the appointment, ret@mtcompensation and oversight of the work ofiadependent auditors. Messrs. Freedman,
Carver and Grunebaum each qualify as “independerdér applicable standards established by the SHMNASDAQ for members of audit
committees.

In addition, the Audit Committee includes at leasé member who is determined by the Board of Darsodf our general partner to meet
the qualifications of an “audit committee finanagipert” in accordance with SEC rules, includingtttihe person meets the relevant definition
of an “independent” director. Mr. Freedman is theédgpendent director who has been determined to laedit committee financial expert.
Unitholders should understand that this designati@disclosure requirement of the SEC relatdditoFreedman’s experience and
understanding with respect to certain accountirdyarditing matters. The designation does not imposklr. Freedman any duties, obligatic
or liability that are greater than are generallp@sed on him as a member of the Audit Committeeta@doard of Directors of our general
partner, and his designation as an audit committeacial expert pursuant to this SEC requiremergsinot affect the duties, obligations or
liability of any other member of the Audit Comméter Board of Directors.

Conflicts Committee (3 meetings)

The members of the Conflicts Committee are Mes3eedman (Chairman), Carver and Grunebaum. Theapyinesponsibility of the
Conflicts Committee is to review matters that tivectors believe may involve conflicts of intereBhe Conflicts Committee determines if the
resolution of the conflict of interest is fair arehsonable to us. The members of the Conflicts Cittewrmay not be officers or employees of
our general partner or directors, officers, or esyipks of its affiliates and must meet the indeproglastandards to serve on an audit committee
of a board of directors established by NASDAQ aedain other requirements. Any matters approvethbyConflicts Committee will be
conclusively deemed to be fair and reasonable tapmoved by all of our partners, and not a brdgcbur general partner of any duties it may
owe us or our unitholders.

Conflicts of interest may arise between us andumitholders, on the one hand, and our general @aand its affiliates, including the
MDC IV Liquidating Trusts, on the other hand. Thesaflicts include decisions made by our generaings (such as the amount and timing of
borrowings or whether to acquire additional ceniegithat may result in our general partner reogivincentive.

Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governance @nmittee (4 meetings)

The members of the Nominating, Compensation angg&@ate Governance Committee are Messrs. Talbo#i(@an), Hellman, and
Lautman. All the members attended all meetinghefdommittee for the period noted above. The pymesponsibility of the Nominating,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committeeoigersee compensation decisions for the outsiéetdrs of our general partner and
executive officers of our general partner (in therd they are to be paid by our general partnewelkas our long-term incentive plan, and to
select and recommend nominees for election to treedBof Directors of our general partner.
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Trust and Compliance Committee (4 meetings)

The members of the Trust and Compliance Committed/gessrs. Talbott (Chairman), Freedman, GrunebauanCarver. Funds that are
held in merchandise trusts and perpetual caresteustmanaged by third-party investment managehsnispecified investment guidelines
adopted by the Trust and Compliance Committee oboard of directors and standards imposed by ktate

These investment managers are monitored by prartl investment advisors selected by our Trust@oahpliance Committee who adv
the Trust and Compliance Committee on the detertioimaf asset allocations, evaluate the investm@anagers and provide detailed monthly
reports on the performance of each merchandisparpgtual care trust. All the members attendethabtings of the committee for the period
noted above.

Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Managers

We have adopted a Code of Ethical Conduct appkctball of our financial managers, including otinpipal executive officer, principi
financial officer, principal accounting officer oontroller or persons performing similar functiofibe Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial
Managers incorporates guidelines designed to detargdoing and to promote honest and ethical canalud compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. The Code of Ethical Conduct foraRcial Managers is publicly available on our webander the “Investor Relations” section
(at www.stonemor.com). If any amendments are madieet Code of Ethical Conduct for Financial Managarif we or our general partner
grants any waiver, including any implicit waivempn a provision of the code to any of its finanerenagers, we will disclose the nature of
such amendment or waiver on our website or in artem Form 8-K.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Our general partner’s directors, officers and biersdfowners of more than 10 percent of commonsuait required to file reports of
ownership and reports of changes in ownership thigthSEC. Directors, officers and beneficial owrgfrmore than 10% of our common units
are also required to furnish us with copies obalth reports that are filed. Based on our reviewopies of such forms and amendments, we
believe that all of our directors, executive offe@nd greater than 10% beneficial owners compligd all filing requirements under
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act during the yealed December 31, 2010.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatior
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Our Compensation Process

Our business is managed by the directors, offiardsemployees of StoneMor GP LLC, our general partWe have no employees of
own. Accordingly, all decisions relating to compatisn of the executive officers and directors of general partner are made by the board of
directors of our general partner, which we refeasdhe board. The Nominating, Compensation angdate Governance Committee of the
board, which we refer to as the compensation cotagits responsible for making recommendationsedibard regarding the compensatio
executive officers and outside directors and faregeing all executive officer compensation progrgptans and policies, including those
involving the issuance of equity securities.

Our general partner does not receive any managefie®or other compensation for managing our busirtas is reimbursed by us for all
expenses incurred on our behalf. These expensleslénall expenses necessary or appropriate toath@uct of our business and allocable tc
The partnership agreement provides that our geparéter will determine in good faith the expenided are allocable to us. All items of cash
compensation reflected in the tables below werariied on our behalf by our general partner andbarsed by us.
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Objectives and Overview of Our Compensation Progrars

Our compensation programs are designed by the lamardompensation committee to attract and refgim duality executive officers, to
motivate them to achieve our business goals anthidimize the value of our unitholders’ investmeptligning the interests of our executive
officers with the interests of our unitholders. @usiness goals are to increase our revenuestsaoifil cash distributions from existing
operations, facilitate our growth through acquisii, promote a cohesive team effort and providemkplace environment that fosters
compliance with the laws and regulations applicableur business. Our compensation programs incdtdet-term elements, such as annual
base salary and annual incentive cash bonus, dasveinger term elements such as equity baseddaw@ur executive officers also receive
health, disability and life insurance benefits antbmobile allowances, and are entitled to defeoréion of their compensation pursuant to our
401(k) retirement plan. We do not match any contidns under that plan.

Our general partner has entered into written empkayt agreements, as amended, with four of our execofficers, Messrs. Miller,
Shane, M. Stache and R. Stache. Each agreementdn fnitial term of ongrear and automatically extends for successive eae terms unle:
either party gives a 90 day written notice of nenawal.

How the Elements of Our Executive Compensation Pragm Further Our Business Goals

The primary elements of our executive compensaifogram are described below. We have no formulalfocating between long or
short-term compensation, cash or non-cash compensat among different forms of non-cash compdosasll of which allocations are
determined in the discretion of the board and carsggon committee.

Base Salan

Base salary is the guaranteed element of our eixeafficers’ compensation. The amount of basergalkflects the subjective
assessment of the compensation committee and kakiag into consideration, the experience of thecetive, the competitive market for
similarly skilled executives, the complexity of tagecutive’s job, and our size, financial capaletitand business goals.

Annual Cash Incentive Progra

Our annual cash incentive program is designed tivate our executives to achieve our short-ternmiegs growth and cash distribution
goals. For 2010, our goal was to exceed adetermined level of earnings before depreciatiot@rest, taxes and amortization, or EBITDA.
amount earned under this program by each of owngxe officers named in the Summary Compensatianldis set forth in such table under
the caption “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensdtidime aggregate cash incentive payments avaifableur executive officers in 2010
were allocated in proportion to their base salafi&® minimum EBITDA goal, the other elements of annual cash incentive program and the
identity of the participants in the program weréedeined at the discretion of the board of direstond compensation committee, after
considering the recommendations of our chief exeewfficer.

Long Term Incentive Plan

Awards under our long-term incentive plan are desigto motivate our executives to remain employedfor a sufficient period of
time to achieve our longer term business goalsimeréase unit-holder value. Unless otherwise sjgetif the award agreements, unvested
awards under the long-term incentive plan are fredieupon an executive’s termination of employméhtrsuant to certain key employee
restricted phantom unit agreements and unit apgiieni rights agreements with our executives, umetatvards under our long-term incentive
plan are forfeited if employment terminates for aagson other than a change of control, death,
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permanent disability or retirement at age 65, itaie agreements, or other age approved by the ensgtion committee. The grant of awards
under our long-term incentive plan is made at tiserdtion of the board of directors after considgniecommendations of the compensation
committee and our chief executive officer.

The 2010 awards made under our ldaegn incentive plan to our executive officers waveards of 1,036 restricted phantom units, to ¢
of Messrs. Miller and Shane, pursuant to theiriistion equivalent rights, which become payahtezash or common units, at our election,
upon the separation of the executive from serviagpon the occurrence of certain other events fipddn the applicable agreement and unit
appreciation rights, which vest ratably over a@eof approximately four years.

The board does not have a program, plan or praitieme grants of awards in coordination with esle of material non-public
information.

Severance Payments

The employment agreements for each of Messrs. Mileane, M. Stache and R. Stache, which wereezhteto in 2004 and since
amended, provide for severance payments in the manod2.5 times base salary in the event an exeggtemployment is terminated by our
general partner without cause or by the executivggbod reason. In that circumstance, all of thecakve’s unvested equity awards will vest
and the executive will be entitled to the contimabf insurance benefits for an agreed period cash equivalent (see “Employment
Agreements”). The amount of the severance paynmahbther benefits provided for in the employmentagients were determined by
negotiation between the board and each of the éxeswand reflects the board’s belief at the timehsagreements were entered into that the
amounts of such payments and benefits and thenegtzunces under which they would be paid or providere reasonable. We do not provide
cash payments to executives that are triggereddbyaage of control of our company or our generdinges, but upon such a change of control
all of our executives’ unvested equity awards wst.

Perquisites

Our named executive officers participate in a vaday of benefit plans that are available to albof salaried employees, including
health, life and disability insurance plans. Weegaily do not offer our named executive officerg amaterial compensation in the form of
perquisites. Perquisites provided to our namedwiexofficers described in Footnote 3 to the Sumn@ompensation Table below are linked
to our compensation philosophy of encouraging dimgiterm retention of our executives.

Executive Pay Parit

We provide each of Messrs. Miller (our CEO, Prestdend Chairman) and Shane (our Executive Viceidag Chief Financial Officer
and Director) with identical salaries, bonusesglkerm incentives and perquisites, and we provathef Messrs. M. Stache (our Senior Vice
President and Chief Operating Officer) and R. Sggchur Senior Vice President—Sales) with identszdéries, bonuses and long-term
incentives and perquisites. The board and compiensedmmittee believe that pay parity among simi&el executives fosters team work and
minimizes internal dissension.

Other Matters

The compensation committee and board did not engatgde compensation consultants in 2010 but ditsicler available comparable
company data in making compensation related dewsin2010. The board has not established a pfaicthe adjustment of any compensation
award or payment if the relevant performance meason which they are based are restated or adjuBtedboard has not established any
security ownership guidelines for executive offcand considered the existing equity ownershipléevkrecipients of awards made during
2009. The board considered the impact of accoumtimthtax treatments to us and the recipients intoig awards in 2009 under our long-term
incentive plan.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Govesm&ommittee of the board of directors of our gaheartner has reviewed and
discussed with management the Compensation Dissuasid Analysis for the year ended December 310.2Based on such review and
discussions, the Compensation, Nominating and Gatp@&overnance Committee recommended to the Bbatdhe Compensation
Discussion and Analysis be included in this AnriRaport on Form 10-K.

This Compensation Committee Report shall not bengekincorporated by reference in any document pusiy or subsequently filed
with the SEC that incorporates by reference aliror portion of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, eptto the extent that we specifically
request that the report be incorporated by referenc

By the Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Quugze Committee.
Fenton R. Talbott, Chairme

Robert B. Hellman, Ji
Martin R. Lautmar
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

The following table sets forth the compensationraled to, earned by, or paid to our chief executifficer, our chief financial officer ar

our three other most highly compensated execufiieeos, referred to as named executive officavsdll services rendered in all capacities to

us and our subsidiaries.

Non-equity
Unit Incentive
Unit Option Plan All other
Awards (1) Awards (1) Compensation (2 Compensation (3

Name and Salary Total

Principal Position Year $) $ $ $) $) $)
Lawrence Miller 201C $392,30¢(4) $ 2324 $ — $ 291,70¢  $ 33,65¢ $ 740,3145)
Chiet Executive Officer,  200¢  $302,30(4) $188,00(  $41850( — $ 1468 $1,013,49(5)
i 200¢ $400,0004) $ — $ — % — 3 13,20C  $ 413,20(5)
William R. Shane 201C  $392,30(4) $ 23,24+ $ — $ 291,70: % 29,16¢ $ 736,42(5)
Executive Vice President, Chief 200¢  $392,30{(4) $188,00( $418,50( $ — $ 14,71F  $1,013,52(5)
Financial Officer and Directc 200¢  $400,00(4) $ — $ — $ — $ 13,20 $ 413,20(5)
Michael L. Stacht 201C  $279514) $ — $ — $ 15247¢ $ 27,83¢ $ 459,83((5)
Senior Vice President and Ch 200¢  $279,51(4) $ — $179,25( $ = $ 13,00 $ 471,7645)
Operating Officel 200¢ $28500(4) $ — $ — % — 3 12,000 $ 297,00(5)
Robert Stach 201C $279,51(4) $ — $ — $ 15247¢ 3 27,83t $ 459,83(5)
Senior Vice President—Sales  200¢  $279,514) $ — $179,25( % — $ 13,00 $ 471,765)
200¢ $28500(4) $ — $ — % — 3 12,000 $ 297,00((5)
Paul Waimber¢ 201( $174,69¢ $ — $ — $ 43,06: $ 3,33( $ 221,09.5)
Vice President—Finance and 200¢  $175,69¢ $ — $5975( $ — $ — $ 235,44{5)

Corporate Developmel

(1) Represents the aggregate grant date fair valugafds made during the year in accordance with EimaAccounting Statandards Boe
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 reférre as “ASC Topic 718" based on the assumptiohfosth in Note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements included in onnédal Report on Form 10-K. In 2010, Messrs. Midled Shane each received 1035.84

Restricted Phantom Units with an aggregate fauealf $23,245. In 2009, Messrs. Miller and Shareheaceived 10,000 Restricted
Phantom Units with an aggregate fair value of $288,and 175,000 Unit Appreciation Rights with agragate fair value of $418,250,
Messrs. M. Stache and R. Stache each received@ 8,00 Appreciation Rights with an aggregate faifue of $179,250, and Messr. P
Waimberg received 25,000 Unit Appreciation Rightthvan aggregate fair value of $59,7.
(2) Represents the amount distributed under ouuAh@ash Incentive Program. Payments under thegsabased upon attaining an
internally generated calcualtion of EBITD
(3) Includes $12,100 of auto allowance for Meshftiler and Shane and $11,000 for Messr. M. StaclteR. Stache. Includes $4,490 in
expenses related to the travel of the spouses séideMiller, M. Stache and R. Stache on busingss includes a payment of $17,066

for Messrs. Miller and Shane, $12,348 for MessrsSkhche and R. Stache and $3,330 for Messr. Wagmepresenting a distribution on

units that were set to be issued, but for admatiist reasons, were not issued prior to the divdddeclaration date
(4) Base salary is payable pursuant to the terms efgrloyment agreement effective as of Septembe2@. (Se¢ Employment

Agreement”)

(5) Forinformation regarding cash distributionattmay be received by our named executive offibgneasons of their ownership interests

in our general partner or its affiliates see “It&égh Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownangl Management and Related Unit-
holder Matter” and“Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarmmastand Director Independer”.
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2010, 2009 and 2008 Annual Cash Incentive Program
Payments under our Annual Cash Incentive Progranbased upon attaining an internally generateditzdion of EBITDA.

The table below details the target EBITDA and boanmunts granted to each named executive for thesyanded December 31, 2010,
2009 and 2008.

For the year ended December 3.

2010 2009 2008
Bonus Bonus
Target Actual Bonus Target Actual Target Actual
EBITDA EBITDA paid EBITDA EBITDA paid EBITDA EBITDA paid
Lawrence Miller $66,024,70 $71,892,10 $291,70: $55,242,00 $47,556,00 $— $54,290,000 $47,351,000 $—
William Shane $66,024,70 $71,892,10 $291,70: $55,242,00 $47,556,00 $— $54,290,00 $47,351,000 $—
Michael Stacht $66,024,70 $71,892,10 $152,47¢ $55,242,00 $47,556,00 $— $54,290,000 $47,351,000 $—
Robert Stach $66,024,70 $71,892,10 $152,47¢ $55,242,00 $47,556,00 $— $54,290,00 $47,351,000 $—
Paul Waimber¢ $66,024,70 $71,892,10 $ 43,06: $55,242,00 $47,556,00 $— $54,290,000 $47,351,000 $—

Total EBITDA generated for the years ended Decer8tie2010, 2009 and 2008 were approximately $71llibm $47.3 million and
$47.4 million, respectively. In 2009 and 2008, tisount was below our target levels of approxinya®b5.2 million and $54.3 million and
accordingly, we paid no cash incentive compensatio2010, we exceeded our target level of appraxaty $66.0 million in EBITDA and we
have accrued cash incentive compensation for theedaxecutives as noted in the Summary CompensBable above that was paid in 2011.

The EBITDA measurement utilized for our Annual Castentive Program is a non-GAAP financial meastife table below reconciles
Net Income as shown in our Consolidated Statemie@perations (the GAAP measure we believe mosetyozconciles to this calculation
EBITDA) to EBITDA used in our calculation of our Anal Cash Incentive Program:

For the year ended December 3.

2010 2009 2008
(amounts in thousands)

Net income (loss $(1,44¢6) $(4,38¢) $ 4,55¢
Acquisition related cost 5,71¢ 2,292 —
Interest expens 21,97: 14,40¢ 12,71«
Total income taxe (5,389 (1,94%) 8C
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,84t 6,52¢ 5,02¢
Amortization of cemetery proper 7,02 5,86¢ 6,36¢
Non-cash un-based compensatic 711 1,57¢ 2,26:
(Gains) losses from the sale or purchase of cedifimed asset 6,48¢ (349 —
Other nor-cash (gains) losst 50C 4,92: —
Increase in deferred cemetery revenue: 44,17¢ 26,63: 25,72(
Gains on acquisition (7,159 — —
Increase in deferred selling expen (9,567 (7,987 (9,379
EBITDA $71,89: $47,55¢ $47,35!

(&) Theincrease in deferred revenues does nattlyirige to the changes in deferred cemetery regsnnet, that can be calculated by
comparing our balance sheet position at differemts in time. This is because deferred cemetergmees, net, as presented on our
balance sheet also includes deferred unrealizet gaid losses on our merchandise trust assetse thasges are not included in net
income.
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS DURING THE YEAR ENDED D ECEMBER 31, 2010

The following table sets forth information regamgligrants of plan-based awards to our named execatficers during the year ended
December 31, 2010.

All other stock

Estimated possible payouts unde awards: Number of

non-equity incentive plan awards

Grant date fair

Threshold Maximum shares of stock or value of stock anc
Target units
Name Grant date $) $)(1) $) #(2) option awards
Lawrence Miller — $291,70: — — —
2/12/201( — — — 290.4: $ 5,55(
5/14/201( — — — 278.7: $ 5,711
8/13/2011( — — — 258.1¢ $ 5,86¢
11/12/2011 — — — 208.5( $ 6,11¢
William Shane — $291,70: — — —
2/12/201( — — — 290.4: $ 5,55(
5/14/201( — — — 278.7: $ 5,711
8/13/201( — — — 258.1¢ $ 5,86¢
11/12/201 — — — 208.5( $ 6,11¢
Michael Stacht — $152,47¢ — — —
Robert Stach — $152,47¢ — — —
Paul Waimber — $ 43,06 — — —

(1) Represents amounts awarded under our Annudl Basntive Program. Payments under the plan asedbapon attaining an internally
generated calculation of EBITDA. See Footnote theoSummary Compensation Talk

(2) Under an executive restricted phantom unit @gent entered into under our long-term incentiam pMessrs. Miller and Shane were
credited with 1,036 phantom unduring 2010 pursuant to their distribution equivaleghts.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010

The following table sets forth information with pet to outstanding equity awards at December @10 2or our named executive
officers.

Option Awards Unit Awards
Market
Number of Value of
Securities Number of Shares or
Underlying Securities Number of Units of
Unexercisec Underlying Option shares or Stock
Unexercised Exercise units That That Have
Options (#) Options (#) Option Have Not Not
Exercisable Unexercisable (2 Price ($) Expiration Date Vested (#) (1 Vested
Lawrence Miller 45,57 129,42° $18.8( 12/16/201. 11,03¢ $331,63:
William R. Shane 45,57: 129,42° $18.8( 12/16/201. 11,03¢ $331,63:
Michael L. Stach 19,53 55,46¢ $18.8( 12/16/201. — —
Robert Stach 19,53! 55,46¢ $18.8( 12/16/201. — —
Paul Waimber¢ 6,51( 18,49( $18.8( 12/16/201. — —

(1) Pursuant to an executive restricted phantorhagreement entered into under our long-term ineemtlan, on December 16, 2009,
Messrs. Miller and Shane each received 10,000 phanhits and were each credited with an additiay@36 phantom units during 2010
pursuant to their distribution equivalent rightbieTphantom units become payable, in cash or commibs, at our election, upon the
separation of th
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executive from service as an executive of our gargartner or upon the occurrence of certain otfvents. The market value has b
computed by multiplying the closing price of theraoon units on December 31, 2010 by the number wésted units

(2) Pursuant to a unit appreciation rights agredraptered into under our long-term incentive ptamDecember 16, 2009, Messrs. Miller,
Shane, M. Stache, R. Stache, and Waimberg weregganted 175,000, 175,000, 75,000, 75,000, andR5)8it appreciation rights,
respectively. The UARSs entitle each executive teeiee, in our whole common units or cash, at oectén, the excess of the fair value
the common unit on the exercise date over the éxeeise price of $18.80, which was the last trgdtirice of a common unit
immediately preceeding the grant. The Us vest ratably over a period of 48 months beginoimghe grant datt

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED DURING YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

The following table provides information about theue realized by the named executive officershenviesting of phantom units and
exercise of unit appreciation rights during thenyaded December 31, 2010.

Option awards Unit awards
Number of shares Value
Value Number of shares realized
acquired on realized on acquired on vesting on

exercise exercise vesting

# Q) % Q) # (2 $ (2

Lawrence Miller 30,75( $580,56( — —
William R. Shane 30,75( $580,56( — —
Michael L. Stach 22,25( $420,08( — —
Robert Stach 22,25( $420,08( — —
Paul Waimber 6,00( $113,28( 10,00( $63,30(

1) Represents the number of units issued pursuargyt@kployee restricted phantom unit agreementsezhteto under our lor-term
incentive plan. On March 18, 2010, Messrs. Milled &hane each exercised 10,750 time-vested and@pgdformance vested units,
Messrs. M. Stache and R. Stache each exercisetl 8n2&-vested and 14,000 performance vested warits Mr. Waimberg exercised
2,500 time-vested and 3,500 performance vested.Uftie fair value calculated hereunder is based tipofair value of our outstanding
common units at March 18, 2010 ($18.88), the dateatvards were exercise

(2) Mr. Waimberg exercised 10,000 UARs which had vestadker our Long Term Incentive Plan. The UARs ha@xercise price of $24.1
per share and their exercise resulted in the isguah2,077 units based upon the difference betwsefair value of our outstanding
common units on November 15, 2010 ($30.47), the datof which the number of units to be issued uperexercise of the UARs was
determined

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

The following is a summary of the material provigoof the employment agreements between our geparaler and Messrs. Miller,
Shane, M. Stache and R. Stache.

The employment agreements contemplate that eaclogegpwill serve as an officer of our general particach of the employment
agreements has an initial term that expires onefyem the effective date, but is automaticallyeded for successive one-year terms unless
either party gives written notice of non-renewald2ys prior to the end of the term.

The employment agreements provide for a base asalely of $350,000 for each of Messrs. Miller &tdhne and $250,000 for each of
Messrs. M. Stache and R. Stache, subject to ineli@abe discretion of our general partner. In &ddj each employee is eligible to receive an
annual bonus award based upon satisfaction of nyitagreed upon targets established by our gempengiher and approved by the board of
directors of our
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general partner or the compensation committee o§eneral partner. If no targets are establistexletmployee may, at the discretion of our
general partner, receive a bonus of up to 50% sé¢ Isalary for meeting budgeted goals. The emplsyalso entitled to participate in other
discretionary bonus or performance-based bonusamugyfor senior executives, as determined by thgpemsation committee of our general
partner, including unit incentive plans adoptedly general partner.

If the employee’s employment is terminated withcaxise or if the employee resigns for good reasenemployee will be entitled to
severance in an amount equal to the product of @mepls base salary at the time of termination sigreation and 2.5. The employment
agreements of Messrs. Miller and Shane define casi§a) fraud, willful misconduct or gross negligetby the employee that materially
adversary affects our reputation or the reputatioour general partner and continues after notigk & requested by the employee, an
opportunity to be heard, or (b) any chemical depecd that materially adversely affects the emplsygerformance of his duties and
responsibilities and for which the employee failsihdertake and maintain treatment. The employmgrgements of Messrs. M. Stache and R.
Stache define cause as (a) the gross neglectléulvidilure by the employee to perform his dutaesd responsibilities as set forth in the
employment agreement, which is not cured withirtytdays of notice to the employee; (b) any adrafid by the employee, whether relatin
our general partner or otherwise; (c) the convittio entry into a plea of nolo contendésethe employee with respect to any felony or
misdemeanor (other than a traffic offense whichsdua result in imprisonment); (d) the commissigrthie employee of any willful or
intentional act (including any violation of law) wh materially injures the reputation or materialyversely affects the business or business
relationships of our general partner; or (e) anjfwbifailure or willful breach (not covered by amf clauses above) of any of the material
obligations of the employment agreement. An emp@oyédl be deemed to have terminated his employrf@good reason if, among other
things, such employee resigns after the locatidth@fprincipal office of our general partner is radwutside a 75-mile radius of its former
location in Bristol, Pennsylvania; the employeeeisioved from his executive position; the employag & material change in duties or
compensation, or our general partner willfully meas the employment agreement.

During the employes’employment period and for one year thereaftergthployee is generally prohibited from engagingrig busines
that competes with our general partner in areaghich our general partner conducts business aseadate of termination. During the
employee’s employment period and for two yearsahfter, the employee is generally prohibited franlicing or inducing any of our
employees to terminate their employment with uaamept employment with anyone else or interfer@ similar manner with our business. 1
non-competition period may terminate earlier agieined by the board of directors of our generainea if (a) the employee is terminated
other than for cause and (b) such termination doésccur within 30 days after a change in conffok employment agreements define a
“change in control” as including (i) a bona fidéesaf all or substantially all of the assets of general partner to any person or entity other
than an affiliate, (ii) a merger, reorganizatioonsolidation or other transaction where more tHa# ®f the combined voting power of the
equity interests in our general partner ceases mamed by certain persons who own such inter¢skeaffective date of the employment
agreement or (iii) the acquisition of 40% or moféhe equity interests in our general partner by person not currently part of the ownership
of our general partner, except where the persan smployee benefit fund or one who effects thelpase at the request of or with the appr
of the board of directors of our general partner.
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POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE OF CO NTROL

The following table describes the potential payraemtd benefits under the employment agreementagmeéments relating to awards
granted under our long-term incentive plan to whiehnamed executive officers would be entitledruggsmination of employment if our
general partner terminated their employment withoautse or if the executive terminates for goodaeaassuming the termination took place
on December 31, 2010. A change of control of ouregal partner or of us would not trigger severgmagments but would accelerate the
vesting of the outstanding unvested awards gramel@r our long-term incentive plan.

Acceleration
and Continuation
Continuation of of Equity Awards
Medical/Welfare (Unamortized
Cash Severanc Expense as of Excise Tay Total
Benefits December 31, 201 Termination
Payment (Present Value) Gross Up Benefits
_®O —_®e ®) () %) (1) %)
Lawrence Miller $ 1,000,00! $ 28,39¢ $ 1,733,07 $ — $2,761,46!
William R. Shane $ 1,000,00! $ 36,78t¢ $ 1,733,07 $ — $2,769,85!
Michael L. Stach $ 712,50( $ 28,39¢ $ 632,81 $ — $1,373,71.
Robert Stach $ 712,50( $ 28,39¢ $ 632,81¢ $ — $1,373,71.
Paul Waimber $ — $ — $ 210,93¢ $ — $ 210,93t

(1) Messrs. Miller, Shane, M. Stache and R. Stachearh entitled to 2.5 times their base annual saldrg 2010 and 2009 base sal
amount disclosed in the executive compensatiore talsluded a reduction for a furlough program. Tash severance benefit does no
reduced for the furlough prograi

(2) Messrs. Miller, Shane, M. Stache and R. Stachearh entitled to continued coverage under our maédisurance program for tw
years.

(3) At December 31, 2010, Messrs. Miller and Shane éatth 11,036 deferred executive phantom units. kdeddiller, Shane, M. Stache,
Stache, and Waimberg each had 131,250, 131,2586G66,520, and 18,750 unvested UAR’s for whighdtrike price was $18.80. The
amount calculated hereunder is based upon thedhie of our outstanding common units at Decemtte2810 ($30.05). The fair value
of Messrs. Miller and Sharedeferred executive phantom units is equal tadta units outstanding multiplied by the DecemBgr 201(
fair value of our common units. The value of all RA is equaled to the total UAR’s granted multiglizy the remainder of the fair value
of our common units at December 31, 2010 less #ieke price ($18.80
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth compensation infotioafor 2010 for each member of our general pai$rgoard of directors who is not
also an executive officer. Our executive officeosnit receive additional compensation for servingh® board. See “Summary Compensation
Table” for disclosures related to our executivdesff directors, Lawrence Miller and William R. Slkean

Change in
Pension Value
Non-Equity and
Fees Earnel Incentive Plan Non-qualified
Option Deferred All Other
Or Paid Unit Awards Compensatior Compensatior Compensatior
In Cash Awards Total
%) ®@E) (©)] (%) Earnings (%) )
Howard Carver (1 $ 37,00( $31,23¢ $— $ — $ — $ — $68,23¢
Allen Freedman (1 $ 47,00( $33,45¢ $ — $ — $ — $ — $80,45¢
Peter Grunebaum (. $ 31,37 $32,84: $— $ — $ — $ — $64,217
Robert B. Hellman, Jr. (1 $ 29,50( $15,18: $ — $ — $ — $ — $44,68:
Martin R. Lautman (1 $ 29,50( $33,45¢ $ — $ — $ — $ — $62,95¢
Fenton R. Talbott (1 $ 38,25( $33,45¢ $— $ — $ — $ — $71,70¢

(1) Each board member receives an annual casheetzfi $22,500, an annual retainer in deferrediotstl phantom units of $12,500, a
meeting fee of $1,000 for each meeting of the bo&uirectors attended in person and $750 for eachmittee meeting attended in
person, a fee of $500 for participation in eachpbbne board call that is greater than one hodilgbs than two hours, and $1,000 for
participation in each telephone board call thavis hours or more. In addition, Mr. Freedman reesia fee of $2,500 per meeting as the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and Mr. Talbottewes a fee of $625 per meeting as the Chairmaimeo€onflicts Committee and the
Chairman of the Trust and Compliance Commit

(2) During 2010, each of Messrs. Carver, Freed@aanebaum, Hellman, Lautman and Talbott were avwhadmtal of 553.45 deferred
restricted phantom units in payment of the portbtheir annual retainer. The deferred restrictedrgom units are credited to a
mandatory deferred compensation account establfeeghch such person. For each deferred restnqitadtom unit in such account, we
credit the account, solely in additional deferrestricted phantom units, an amount of distribugguivalent rights so as to provide the
deferred restricted phantom unit holders a meapsuicipating on a one-for-one basis in distribng made to holders of our common
units. In 2010, Messrs. Freedman, Lautman and TtaN®re each credited with an additional 931.54defl restricted phantom units,
Mr. Grunebaum was credited with an additional 984i6ferred restricted phantom units, Mr. Carver eraglited with an additional
832.50 deferred restricted phantom units and Miniké: was credited with an additional 117.08 defémrestricted phantom units
pursuant to their distribution equivalent rights.addition to these amounts, Messrs. Freedmanmaauand Talbott each own an
additional 8,796.24 deferred restricted phantontsyir. Grunebaum owns an additional 8,530.77 deéerestricted phantom units,

Mr. Carver owns an additional 7,840.09 deferretrieted phantom units, and Mr. Hellman owns an toldal 933.41 deferred restricted
phantom units, in each case received in conneutitintheir annual directors compensation for ygarsr to 2010. Accordingly, at
December 31, 2010, the aggregate number of awatdtaading for each of our non-employee directaas 10,281.23 for each of
Messrs. Freedman, Lautman and Talbott, 9,988.26IfoGrunebaum, 9,226.04 for Mr. Carver and 1,683@ Mr. Hellman. Payments
to participants of the participant’'s mandatory defd compensation account will be made on theezasfi (i) separation of the participant
from service as a director, (ii) disability, (ilinforeseeable emergency, (iv) death, or (v) chafigentrol of our company or our general
partner Participants will be paid at our electiomur common units or cash. See Note 11 of our @msed Financial Statements
regarding assumptions we used underlying the vialuatf equity awards
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(3) See the table belov

Represents the aggregate grant date fair valugafds made during the year in accordance with ASficT718 based on the
assumptions set forth in Note 11 to the consoldiéiteancial statements included in our Annual RépoarForm 10-K.

The grant date fair value of each grant awardeshth director of our General Partner who was rsmt ah Executive Officer of Our
General Partner is as follows:

Fair value of units granted

Va:z?elrper

Allen Martin Fenton Peter Robert Howard
Grant date Unit Freedman Lautman Talbott Grunebaum Hellman Carver
2/12/201C $ 19.11 $ 4,88 $ 4,88 $ 4,88 $ 4,73t $ b5l¢ $ 4,351
3/9/2010 $ 21.1: $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12t $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢
5/11/201C $ 19.37 $ 3,12 $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢
5/14/201C $ 20.4¢ $ 5,10¢ $ 5,10¢ $ 5,10¢ $ 4,95 $ 61t $ 4,56(
8/13/201C $22.7: $ 5,33¢ $ 5,33¢ $ 5,33¢ $ 5,17¢ $ 721 $ 4,77:
8/24/201C $ 23.5¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢
11/9/201C $ 28.02 $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12 $ 3,12¢ $ 3,12¢
11/12/201C $ 29.3¢ $ 5,637 $ 5,63 $ 5,63 $ 547 $ 82¢ $ 5,052
Total $33,45¢ $33,45¢ $33,45¢ $ 32,84. $15,18: $31,23¢

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Our general partner has adopted the StoneMor Rartnie. Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended foeihployees, consultants and
directors, who perform services for us. The longatécentive plan permits the grant of awards cimgean aggregate of 1,124,000 common
units in the form of unit options, unit appreciatioghts, restricted units and phantom units. Tlaa 5 administered by the compensation
committee of our general partner’s board of direstdhe plan will continue in effect until the east of (i) the date determined by the board of
directors of our general partner; (ii) the date t@mmon units are no longer available for paynoé@wards under the plan; or (iii) the tenth
anniversary of the plan.

Our general partner’s board of directors or compgos committee may, in their discretion, terminatespend or discontinue the long-
term incentive plan at any time with respect to anits for which a grant has not yet been made.geuneral partner’s board of directors also
has the right to alter or amend the long-term itigerplan or any part of the plan from time to tinrecluding increasing the number of units
that may be delivered in accordance with awardutite plan, subject to any approvals if requiredhe exchange upon which the common
units are listed at that time. No change in angtamding grant may be made, however, that woul@radly impair the rights of the participant
without the consent of the participant.

Restricted Units and Phantom Units

A restricted unit is a common unit that is subgectorfeiture. Upon vesting, the grantee receivesrmmon unit that is not subject to
forfeiture. A phantom unit is a notional unit tleattitles the grantee to receive a common unit upervesting of the phantom unit, or, in the
discretion of the compensation committee, cashvadgiit to the fair market value of a common unite Tompensation committee may make
grants of restricted units and phantom units utiieeiplan to employees, consultants and directarsaating such terms as the compensation
committee shall determine under the plan, includivegperiod over which restricted units and phantmits granted will vest. The committee
may, in its discretion, base its determinationtongrantee’s period of service or upon the achieveraf specified financial objectives. In
addition, the restricted and phantom units willtugson a change of control of us, or our generghpea, subject to additional or contrary
provisions in the award agreement.

163



Table of Contents

If a grantee’s employment, consulting arrangemem@mbership on the board of directors terminatesifiy reason, the grantee’s
restricted units and phantom units will be autooaly forfeited unless, and to the extent, the cengation committee provides otherwise or
unless otherwise provided in an award agreememn@n units to be delivered with respect to thesards/may be common units acquirec
our general partner in the open market, commors @uitjuired by our general partner directly fronouany other person or any combinatiol
the foregoing. Our general partner will be entitliedeimbursement by us for the cost incurred guéing common units. If we issue new
common units with respect to these awards, thénotaber of common units outstanding will increase.

Distributions on restricted units may be subjedh#® same vesting requirements as the restrictitsl imthe compensation committee’s
discretion. The compensation committee, in itsréison, may also grant tandem distribution-equimahights with respect to phantom units.
These are rights that entitle the grantee to recessh equal to the cash distributions made ondhenon units. The compensation committee,
in its discretion, may also grant tandem unit distion rights with respect to restricted units,igthentitle the grantee to distributions we make
with respect to our restricted units.

We intend for the issuance of the common units upsting of the restricted units and phantom wniider the plan to serve as a means
of incentive compensation for performance and miohgrily as an opportunity to participate in theu#g appreciation of the common units.
Therefore, plan participants will not pay any colesation for the common units they receive, andmillereceive no remuneration for the units.

Unit Options and Unit Appreciation Rights

The long-term incentive plan permits the grantmiians and unit appreciation rights (“UARS”) covggicommon units. A UAR entitles
the grantee to a payment in cash or units, in theretion of the compensation committee, equathéoappreciation of the unit price between
grant date and the exercise date. The compengaiiomittee may make grants under the plan to empky@nsultants and directors
containing such terms, as the committee shall deter, including the grant of tandem distributionseglent rights. It is our intention not to
issue Unit Options and UARs with an exercise piéss than the fair market value of the units ondéie of the grant. In general, unit options
and UARs granted will become exercisable over afatetermined by the compensation committee anthé compensation committee’s
discretion, may provide for accelerated vestingruibe achievement of specified performance objestiin addition, unless otherwise provi
in an award agreement, the unit options and UARsb&come exercisable upon a change in controkainour general partner. Unless
otherwise provided in an award agreement, unibogtand UARs may be exercised only by the partitidaring his lifetime or by the person
to whom the participant’s right will pass by wilt the laws of descent and distribution.

If a grantee’s employment, consulting arrangemem@embership on the board of directors terminatdesifiy reason, the grantee’s
unvested options and UARs will be automaticallyffdded unless, and to the extent, the compensatiammittee provides otherwise or unless
otherwise provided in an award agreement. Uponcgsepf a unit option or UAR, the general partndl acquire common units in the open
market or directly from us or any other personmmy eombination of the foregoing. The general partmd be entitled to reimbursement by us
for the difference between the cost incurred iy @&cquiring these common units and proceeds éives from a grantee at the time of exerc
Thus, the cost of the unit options and UARs abbeeproceeds from grantees will be borne by uselfsgue new common units upon exercise
of the unit options, the total number of commontsioutstanding will increase, and our general garvill pay us the proceeds it received fr
the grantee upon exercise of the unit option.

The plan has been designed to furnish additionalpemsation to our employees, consultants and direeind to align their economic
interests with those of common unit holders. Awardsy be granted under the plan in substitutiorirofiar awards held by individuals who
become our employees, consultants or directorgasudt of an acquisition. These substitute awardg have exercise prices less than the fair
market value of a common unit on the date of stiligin.
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Risk Assessment in Compensation Policies and Pramtis for Employees

The compensation committee reviewed the elementsiofompensation policies and practices for afpleyees, including executive
officers, in order to evaluate whether risks thalrarise from such compensation policies and estare reasonably likely to have a material
adverse effect on our company. The compensatiomtiee concluded that the following features of compensation programs guard against
excessive risk-taking:

e compensation programs provide a balanced mix af-¢bom and longer-term incentives in the form a$le and equity
compensatior

» base salaries are consistent with emplc’ duties and responsibilitie

» corporate performance goals are appropriatelyosatoid targets that, if not achieved, result large percentage loss of
compensatior

» cash incentive awards are capped by the compensaiiomittee; an
« cash incentive awards are tied mostly to corpguatéormance goals, rather than individual perforogagoals

The compensation committee believes that, forrappleyees, including executive officers, our comgdios programs do not lead to
excessive risk-taking and instead encourage behthad supports sustainable value creation. Wesbelihat risks that may arise from our
compensation policies and practices for our emmsyacluding executive officers, are not reasonéikély to have a material adverse effect
on our company.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTI CIPATION

None of the persons who served as members of thandting, Compensation and Corporate Governancentittee (Fenton R. Talbott,
Robert B. Hellman, Jr. or Martin R. Lautman) in Q0ias ever been an officer or other employee otoorpany, or has any relationship
requiring disclosure under Item 404 of RegulatieK 8ther than as described in “Item 13. Certaina®ehships and Related Transactions, and
Director Independence.”

Additionally, there were no compensation commitiaterlocks” during 2010, which generally meanstthane of executive officers of
our general partner served as a director or mewitthe compensation committee of another entity, oihwhose executive officers served as a
director or member of the Nominating, Compensaéind Corporate Governance Committee of the boaditeftors of our general partner.

ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The following table sets forth, as of March 1, 20thik beneficial ownership of the common units wh®Mor as of March 1, 2011 held
by beneficial owners of 5% or more of the unitsnfy, by directors and named executive officerswsfgeneral partner and by all directors and
executive officers of our general partner as a grainless otherwise indicated, the address for eattholder is c/o StoneMor Partners L.P.,
311 Veterans Highway, Suite B, Levittown, PA 19088less otherwise indicated, the beneficial owrsned in the table is deemed to have
sole voting and sole dispositive power of the usésforth opposite such beneficial owner’'s name.
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Percentage
Common Units of Common Units
Beneficially Owned (6 Beneficially Ownec
Lawrence Miller (1) 179,70( *
William R. Shane (2 179,70( *
Michael Stach 50,07: *
Robert Stach 50,07: *
Paul Waimber¢ 9,671 *
Allen R. Freedman (& 32,43: *
Robert B. Hellman, J 5,00(¢ *
Martin R. Lautman, Ph.C 114,83¢ *
Fenton R. Talba 35,76¢ *
Peter Grunebaui 6,65( *
Howard L. Carve 4,56( *
All directors and executive officers as a group [f&2sons 646,86( 3.4%

* Less than one perce

(1) Includes 64,167 common units held by LDLM AssoaateP, and 28,500 common units held by Osiris Itmests, LP. Mr. Miller is th
grantor and trustee of the Miller Revocable Trustich is the general partner of LDLM Associates, M?. Miller is also a limited
partner of LDLM Associates, LP, holding 98% oflitaited partner interests. Mr. Miller and Mr. Shaare each 50% members of Osiris
Investments LLC, which is the general partner ofi®$nvestments LP. Mr. Miller therefore may beedeed to beneficially own all of tt
units beneficially owned by LDLM Associates, LP addiris Investments, LF

(2) Includes 64,167 common units held by Ten TwentyahB® 28,500 common units held by Osiris InvestmeR®s Mr. Shane is the gene
partner of Ten Twenty LP. Mr. Miller and Mr. Shaaue each 50% members of Osiris Investments LLCchvisi the general partner of
Osiris Investments LP. Mr. Shane therefore maydsntked to beneficially own all of the units benefilgi owned by Ten Twenty LP and
Osiris Investments, LF

(3) Includes 21,798 common units held by Mr. Freadi® spouse and over which Mr. Freedman may be eeé¢mhave beneficial
ownership.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table details information regardingr@quity compensation plan as of December 31,2010

(©

Number of securities

(b) available for future
(a) Weighted average issuance under equity
Number of securities to be exercise price of compensation
issued upon outstanding options plans (excluding securitie
exercise of outstanding
Plan category options, warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans appro\
by security holders (1 185,10« $ 17.7¢ 927,96(
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holde n/e n/e n/e
Total 185,10 $ 17.7¢ 927,96(

(1) Includes 73,734 in restricted and phantom uani$ 111,370 UAR'’s that would be issued upon egerbased upon the strike price of the
UAR and the fair value of our common units at Deben81, 2010

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an@®irector Independence
Independence of Directors

Even though most companies listed on the NASDAQo&I&elect Market are required to have a majofitpdependent directors
serving on the board of directors of the listed pany, the NASDAQ Global Select
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Market does not require a listed limited partngrdikie us to have a majority of independent dirextan the board of directors of its general
partner.

The board of directors has determined that AlleeeBman, Howard Carver, Martin Lautman, Robert Haflmr-enton Talbott and Peter
Grunebaum qualify as “independent” directors inordance with the applicable listing requirementdl8iSDAQ and the Exchange Act. In
making these determinations, the directors reviearetidiscussed information provided by the directord us with regard to each director’s
business and personal activities as they may redatar management and us.

Related Party Transactions Policy and Procedures

The board of directors of our general partner distadd the Conflicts Committee, which is authorize@xercise all of the power and
authority of the board of directors in connectioithvinvestigating, reviewing and acting on mattexferred or disclosed to it where a conflic
interest exists or arises and performing such dtigtions as the board may assign to the Conf@osmittee from time to time. Pursuant to
the Conflicts Committee Charter, the Conflicts Caittee is responsible for reviewing all matters itwiog a conflict of interest submitted to it
by the board of directors or as required by anytemiagreement involving a conflict of interestitbich we are a party. In approving or
ratifying any transaction or proposed transactiba,Conflicts Committee determines whether thes@aation complies with our policies on
conflicts of interests.

Distributions and Payments to our General Partner ad its Affiliates

We were formed as a Delaware limited partnershipito and operate cemetery and funeral home preggsteviously owned and
operated by Cornerstone. The following table sunmearthe distributions and payments to be madeship our general partner and its
affiliates in connection with our ongoing operatemd any liquidation. These distributions and payts&ere determined by and among
affiliated entities and, consequently, are notrdwult of arm’s-length negotiations.

Distributions of available cash to our We will generally make cash distributions 98% te tinitholders, including our general

general partner and its affiliates partner, in respect of the common units that it svand 2% to our general partner. If
distributions exceed target distribution levels; general partner will be entitled to
increasing percentages of the distributions, UpO8s of the distributions above the highest

level.
Payments to our general partner anc Our general partner and its affiliates do not ree@iny management fee or ot
affiliates compensation for the management of our businessffaids, but they are reimbursed for

expenses that they incur on our behalf, includiagegal and administrative expenses and
corporate overhead. As the sole purpose of thergkpartner is to act as our general
partner, substantially all of the expenses of @iregal partner are incurred on our behalf
and reimbursed by us or our subsidiaries. Our g¢partner determines the expenses that
are allocable to us in good fait

Withdrawal or removal of our general Part If our general partner withdraws or is removedg#seral partner interest and its incen
distribution rights will either be sold to the ngeneral partner for cash or converted into
common units, in each case for an amount equaletdair market value of those intere:

Liquidation Upon our liquidation, the unitholders and our gaheartner will be entitled to receive
liquidating distributions according to their resfiee capital account balance
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Ownership Interests in our General Partner

Our general partner owns our 2% general partnerast and our incentive distribution rights. Thkofeing table shows the owners of «
general partner:

Ownership of Outstandinc Ownership of Outstandinc

Class A Units of StoneMo Class B Units of StoneMo
Name GP LLC GP LLC
CFSILLC 100%(1) —
Lawrence Miller — 30%
William R. Shane — 30%
Michael Stacht — 20%
Robert Stach — 20%

(1) In connection with the conversion of Cornerstamto CFSI LLC, all of the outstanding shares ofr@rstone common stock were
converted into Class B units of CFSI LLC, and élthee outstanding shares of Cornerstone prefetak svere converted into Class A
units of CFSI LLC (since redeemed). CFSI LLC is edrdirectly by Cornerstone Family Services LLC (85fthe Class B units), the
MDC IV Liquidating Trusts (approximately 10.1% d¢iet Class B units), Messrs. Miller and Shane (e&efhom owns, along with fami
partnerships, approximately 1.2% of the Class Bsyinand other individuals, including the followidgectors and executive officers of
our general partner, each of whom owns less thaofit%te Class B units: M. Stache, R. Stache, WarmbEalbott, Lautman and
Freedman. Cornerstone Family Services LLC is, in,tawned directly by the MDC IV Liquidating Trus@pproximately 89.8%
membership interest), institutional investors (appmately 5.3% aggregate membership interest) éimer andividuals, including the
following directors and executive officers of owergral partner: Messrs. Miller, Shane and Lautrgach of Messrs. Shane and Miller
owns an approximately 1.6% membership interestomérstone Family Services LLC through family parghips and Mr. Lautman
owns less than approximately a 1% membership isténeCornerstone Family Services LLC. As a restitheir ownership interests in
CFSI LLC and Cornerstone Family Services LLC, eafctihese executive officers and directors of ourggal partner holds an indirect
interest in the Class A units of our general partwhich are described belo

The membership interests in our general partneregmesented by two classes of units, the Classis and the Class B units. Each of
Messrs. Miller and Shane owns 24 Class B unit8086 of the 80 outstanding Class B units and eadiessrs M. Stache and R. Stache owns
16 Class B units or 20% of the 80 outstanding CBassits. The compensation committee of our gengaeiher may issue up to 20 additional
Class B units to other executive officers of oungral partner without the consent of Mr. MillerMr. Shane. At such time that 100 or more
Class B units are issued and outstanding, Messherind Shane must consent to any additionakiseses of Class B units for so long as both
of them are executive officers of our general paramd holders of Class B units. If at that timé/ @me of Messrs. Miller and Shane is both an
executive officer of our general partner and a éoltaf Class B units, then only that one must consesuch additional issuances. If at that t
neither of Messrs. Miller and Shane is both an etiee officer of our general partner and a holdie€lass B units, then holders of a majority
outstanding Class B units must consent to sucltiaddl issuances. Additional issuances of ClassiBs wvill dilute all outstanding Class B
units on a pro rata basis.

The Class B units in the aggregate are entitlésDéb of all quarterly cash distributions that we papur general partner with respect to
its general partner interest and 25% of all qubrieash distributions that we pay to our generatrga with respect to its incentive distribution
rights.

Messrs. Miller, Shane, M. Stache, R. Stache, Waimbealbott, Lautman and Freedman also indirecty &€lass A units of our general
partner as a result of their direct and indirechewhip of membership interests in Cornerstone Fedairvices LLC and CFSI LLC discussed
in footnote (1) to the table above. These persaestty hold an aggregate of approximately 4.5%hef Class B units in CFSI LLC. In additic
Messrs. Miller, Shane and Lautman own an approxraggregate 3.9% membership interest in Cornergtangly Services
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LLC, which in turn owns 85% of the Class B units<drSI LLC, which will initially own all of the ClasA units of our general partner. As a
result, these persons collectively own, indireclly,aggregate of approximately 7.8% of the Clasmifs of our general partner. The Class A
units of our general partner are entitled to theaiming 50% interest on distributions that we paptir general partner with respect to its
general partner interest and the remaining 75%l distributions that we pay to our general partwith respect to its incentive distribution
rights

The Class A and Class B units of our general pagreesubject to certain transfer and purchasegigihd obligations upon the occurre
of certain events, such as:

» achange of control of CFSI LLC or our general pairt
» transfers by certain holders of Class A units afgeneral partner; ¢
» the death or disability of a holder of Class B siwit our general partne

Relationships and Related Transactions with CFSI LIC and Cornerstone Family Services LLC
Agreements Governing the Partnership

We, our general partner, our operating companyainelr parties have entered into various documerdsigreements that effected the
initial public offering transactions, including thresting of assets in, and the assumption of Itaslby, us and our subsidiaries, and the
application of the proceeds of the initial publfesing. These agreements are not the result ofsalength negotiations, and we cannot assure
you that they, or any of the transactions that threywide for, have been effected on terms at las$avorable to the parties to these agreen
as could have been obtained from unaffiliated tpadies. All of the transaction expenses incumetbnnection with these transactions,
including the expenses associated with transfeagsgts into our subsidiaries, have been paid ihenproceeds of the initial public offering.

Omnibus Agreement

On September 20, 2004 we entered into an omnilnezagnt with McCown De Leeuw, Cornerstone Familywises LLC, CFSI LLC,
our general partner and StoneMor Operating LLC.

Under the omnibus agreement, as long as our gepantaler is an affiliate of McCown De Leeuw, McCoa Leeuw will agree, and
will cause its controlled affiliates to agree, mengage, either directly or indirectly, in thestess of owning and operating cemeteries and
funeral homes (including the sales of cemeteryfandral home products and services) in the UnitateS. On November 30, 2010, MDC IV
Liquidating Trusts became successors to McCown &suly, and McCown De Leeuw was subsequently teredndthe MDC IV Liquidating
Trusts assumed and agreed to be bound by and peafbof the obligations and duties of McCown Desue/ under the omnibus agreement.

CFSI LLC had agreed to indemnify us for all fedesshte and local income tax liabilities attribuéato the operation of the assets
contributed by CFSI LLC to us prior to the 2004sihg of the public offering. CFSI LLC had also agpteo indemnify us against additional
income tax liabilities, if any, that arise from tbensummation of the 2004 transactions relateditdarmation in excess of those believed to
result at the time of the 2004 closing of our alipublic offering. We had estimated that $600,606tate income taxes and no federal income
taxes would be due as a result of these formatamsactions. CFSI LLC had also agreed to indemmsfggainst the increase in income tax
liabilities of our corporate subsidiaries resultingm any reduction or elimination of our net oparg losses to the extent those net operating
losses are used to offset any income tax gainamnire resulting from the prior operation of the &ss& CFSI LLC contributed to us in 2004,
from our formation transactions in excess of sugim @r income believed to result at the time 0f2084 closing of the initial public offering.
Until all of its indemnification obligations undére omnibus agreement had been satisfied in fHEIC.LC was subject to limitations on its
ability to dispose of or encumber its interest im general partner or the common units held bg}tépt upon a redemption of common units
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the partnership upon any exercise of the undemstitever-allotment option) and would also be prateith from incurring any indebtedness or
other liability. An amendment to the omnibus agreetdated January 24, 2011 was entered into tpadiles to the omnibus agreement (and
after due consideration approved by our conflicthmittee, which retained independent counsel; timensittee was chaired by

Mr. Carver). An accompanying certification by o@ngral partner established that as of the dateecditnendment, CFSI LLC’s
indemnification obligations under the omnibus agreet were discharged and CFSI LLC was no longegesutn the limitations and
prohibition described above in this paragraph. €iodemnification obligations pertain to the taxeapkar 2004 of CFSI LLC. To our
knowledge, there has been no inquiry from or irtan of proceedings by any taxing authority whiduld reasonably be expected to require
indemnification under the omnibus agreement. Weebe] the expiration has occurred of all applicatégutes of limitations (including any
extensions thereof) relating to the filing of @ktreturns which could reasonably be expecteddoire indemnification under the omnibus
agreement, except if there were certain omissiégsass income of more than 25% or fraud. Our galneartner has certified to its knowledge
there was no such omission or fraud. CFSI LLC $® alubject to certain limitations on its abilityttansfer its interest in our general partner or
the common units held by it if the effect of theposed transfer would trigger an “ownership changefer the Internal Revenue Code that
would limit our ability to use our federal net opgng loss carryovers. Please read Item 7 “ManagémBiscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accting Policies and Estimates—Income Taxes.”

The omnibus agreement may not be further amendigbwtithe prior approval of the conflicts committEeur general partner
determines that the proposed amendment will adiyeadiect holders of our common units. Any furttation, notice, consent, approval or
waiver permitted or required to be taken or givgrub under the indemnification provisions of thenilmus agreement as amended must be
taken or given by the conflicts committee of oung@l partner.

Relationship with MDC IV Liquidating Trusts

MDC IV Liquidating Trusts is the beneficial ownerapproximately 87.2% of the Class B units of CESC through its direct ownersh
of approximately 10.1% of the Class B units of CEBC and indirectly through its ownership of appimately 90.8% of the membership
interests in Cornerstone Family Services LLC, whoaims approximately 85% of the Class B units of CHSC.

Under the Limited Liability Company Agreement of BIFLLC, MDC IV Liquidating Trusts has the right tiesignate at least three
individuals, and such other greater number of iidials, to serve on the board of managers of CESI.ln addition, for so long as Mr. Miller
serves as an officer of CFSI LLC, he will also geas a manager of CFSI LLC, and for so long asS¥lane serves as an officer of CFSI LLC,
he will also serve as a manager of CFSI LLC. Radhe conversion of Cornerstone into CFSI LLCtackholders agreement among
Cornerstone and its stockholders required eaclkkisbdder to vote all of its shares of Cornerstoneléxt and maintain a board of directors of
Cornerstone comprised of at least three, and stigr greater number, of individuals designatedhgyMDC IV Liquidating Trusts.

The Limited Liability Company Agreement of CFSI LLd@ntains provisions that require CFSI LLC, throutgidirect control of our
general partner and its indirect control of us andsubsidiaries, to prevent us, our subsidianesaur general partner from taking certain
significant actions without the approval of CFSIC.LThese actions include:

» certain acquisitions, borrowings and capital exjitenels by us, our subsidiaries or our general gay
» issuances of equity interests in us or our subsé&iaanc
» certain dispositions of equity interests in, oreas®f, us, our general partner or our subsidia

Under the Second Amended and Restated Limited litlaliompany Agreement of Cornerstone Family SeasitLC, MDC IV
Liquidating Trusts has the right to designate astehree individuals, and such other greater numb@dividuals, to serve on the board of
managers of Cornerstone Family Services LLC. In
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addition, for so long as Mr. Miller serves as aficef of Cornerstone Family Services, LLC, he wio serve as a manager of Cornerstone
Family Services LLC, and for so long as Mr. Shaewes as an officer of Cornerstone Family Sernidgs, he will also serve as a manager of
Cornerstone Family Services, LLC.

Under the Second Amended and Restated Limited litlaliompany Agreement of Cornerstone Family SeasitLC and the Limited
Liability Company Agreement of CFSI LLC, each masagf Cornerstone Family Services LLC and each manaf CFSI LLC have agreed
cause Cornerstone Family Services LLC, CFSI LLC amyl of their respective subsidiaries, as the o@ebe, to designate at least three
individuals, and such other greater number of iidials designated by MDC IV Liquidating Trusts &g as members of the board of
managers of StoneMor Operating LLC; and to takd suations as may be necessary to cause the eleftaaditional persons designated by
MDC IV Liquidating Trusts as managers of StoneM@e@ating LLC and to amend the limited liability cpamy agreement of StoneMor
Operating LLC as necessary.

Iltem 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The following table sets forth the aggregate fesd pr accrued for professional services rendeyelddoitte & Touche LLP for the auc
of our annual financial statements for fiscal ye2040 and 2009 and the aggregate fees paid orextéou audit-related services and all other
services rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP fordisgears 2010 and 2009.

Year ended December 31,

2010 2009
Audit fees $1,077,84! $1,277,35;
Audit-related fee! 137,75 829,01(
Tax fees 875,00¢ 883,60(

$2,090,61! $2,989,96:

The category of “Audit fees” includes fees for amnual audit, quarterly reviews and services rexaiar connection with regulatory
filings with the SEC, such as the issuance of cotiétters and consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes fémsservices related to employee benefit plan auditernal control reviews and
accounting consultation.

The category of “Tax fees” includes fees for thasudtation and preparation of federal state andlltax returns.

All above audit services, audit-related services t@x services were pre-approved by the Audit Cames which concluded that the
provision of such services by Deloitte & Touche LivBs compatible with the maintenance of that firmidependence in the conduct of its
auditing functions. The Audit Committee’s outsidedaor independence policy provides for pre-apptafdall services performed by the
outside auditors.
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Item 15.

Part IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedi

(&) Financial Statements and Financial Sched

(1) The following financial statements of StoneMor Rart L.P. are included in Part II, Iltem
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01 02009
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008
Consolidated Statement of Common Stockholderstthees’ Equity for the years ended December 31020009 and 2008
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(c) Exhibits

Exhibit

Number
3.1*
3.2*
4.1.1°
4.1.2°

4.1.3

4.2.1°

4.2.2°

4.3*

4.4

Description

Certificate of Limited Partnership of StoneMor Pais L.P. (incorporated by reference to the Reggistn Statement on Form
S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissioipril 9, 2004 (Exhibit 3.1);

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limitegh@&ahip of StoneMor Partners L.P. dated as ofedelper 9, 200!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Regis’ s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 15, 200¢

Form of 7.66% Senior Secured Note Due 2009, dated 20, 2007 (incorporated by reference to ExHilditof Registrar's
Current Report on Formr-K filed on August 21, 2007

Form of 9.34% Series B Senior Secured Note Due 20df2d August 15, 2007 (incorporated by refereadexhibit 4.2 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on August 21, 2007

Form of Senior Secured Series C Note, dated Dece®ih@007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit @f. Registrant’s
Current Report on Forrr-K filed on December 28, 2007

Indenture, dated as of November 24, 2009, by ar@hgr$toneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LCQrnerstone
Family Services of West Virginia Subsidiary, In@siris Holding of Maryland Subsidiary, Inc., theagantors named therein
and Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee (incorfeatdy reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registrant’s @at Report on Form 8-
K filed on November 24, 2009

Form of 10.25% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporateceference to Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s CurrBeport on Form 8-K
filed on November 24, 200¢

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Novergde2009, by and among StoneMor Partners L.PneSfor Operating
LLC, Cornerstone Family Services of West VirginiabSidiary, Inc., Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidj, Inc., the Initial
Guarantors party thereto and Banc of America Seesrl.LC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4fRegistrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on November 24, 2009

Form of Revolving Credit Note (incorporated by refece to Exhibit 4.1 of Registré s Current Report on Forn-K filed on
September 27, 201(
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Exhibit
Number

4.5*

10.1.1°

10.1.2°

10.1.3°

10.1.4°

10.1.5°

10.1.6°

10.1.7°

10.1.8°

Description

Form of Acquisition Note (incorporated by referemad=xhibit 4.2 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on
September 27, 201(

Credit Agreement by and among StoneMor OperatinG,L&toneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., variadditional
borrowers, various lending institutions and Fleatibhal Bank, dated September 20, 2004 (Incorpdrayereference to Exhib
10.1 of Registrar's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Segte®) 2006, by and among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneRéotners
L.P., StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiarietsferth on the signature page to the Second Amendio the Credit
Agreement, the Lenders party to the Second Amentlitnghe Credit Agreement and Bank of America, Nafs Administrativ:
Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, as Collatémént for the benefit of the Lenders and otheruged Creditors, as Swinglil
Lender and as Letter of Credit Issuer (incorpordtgdeference to Exhibit 10.5 of Registrant’s CatrBeport on Form 8-K
filed on October 4, 2006

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated MayO0Q7, by and among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Pasthe®.,
StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiaries sethfon the signature page to the Third AmendmetttecCredit Agreement,
the Lenders party to the Third Amendment to thed@rgreement and Bank of America, N.A., as Admirstve Agent for the
benefit of the Lenders, as Collateral Agent forltleeefit of the Lenders and other Secured CreditmSwingline Lender and
as Letter of Credit Issuer (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’'s Quarterly RepmrtForm 10-Q for its
quarterly period ended March 31, 20C

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Jun@@97, by and among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMorrieastL.P.
StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiaries sehfon the signature page to the Fourth AmendmetitgtcCredit Agreement,
the Lenders party to the Fourth Amendment to thedi€Agreement and Bank of America, N.A., as Adstirsitive Agent for
the benefit of the Lenders, as Collateral Agenttifierbenefit of the Lenders and other Secured @nelias Swingline Lender
and as Letter of Credit Issuer (incorporated bgnezice to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’'s QuarterlypBe on Form 10-Q for its
quarterly period ended June 30, 20(

Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated JulyZ1]7, by and among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Rasth.P.,
StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiaries sahfon the signature page to the Fifth AmendmetitécCredit Agreement,
the Lenders party to the Fifth Amendment to thed@rdgreement and Bank of America, N.A., as Admiiriiive Agent for the
benefit of the Lenders, as Collateral Agent forlbkeaefit of the Lenders and other Secured CredigzrSwingline Lender and
as Letter of Credit Issuer (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.3 of Registrant’s Quarterly RepmmtForm 10-Q for its
quarterly period ended June 30, 20(

Commitment Letter, dated March 15, 2007, by ansvbeh StoneMor Operating LLC, all of its existingldnture direct and
indirect subsidiaries and Bank of America, N.A.nBaf America Securities LLC (incorporated by refere to Exhibit 10.1 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 9, 2007).

Fee Letter, dated March 15, 2007, by and betweeme®Mor Operating LLC and all of its existing andufite direct and indirec
subsidiaries and Bank of America, N.A., Banc of Aite Securities LLC (incorporated by reference xbiBit 10.2 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 9, 2007).

Extension Letter, dated May 31, 2007, by and betw&teneMor Operating LLC, Bank of America, N.A. danc of America
Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhilfi.7 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on FormQ@er its quarterly perio
ended June 30, 200°
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Exhibit
Number

10.1.9*

10.1.10°

10.1.11

10.1.12

10.1.13

10.1.14

10.1.1%

10.1.16

10.1.17

10.1.18

10.1.19

Description

Extension Letter, dated June 21, 2007, by and kestv&oneMor Operating LLC, Bank of America, N.Addanc of Americ:
Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhiifi.8 of Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on FormQ@er its quarterly perio
ended June 30, 200"

Extension Letter, dated July 31, 2007, by and betw&toneMor Operating LLC, Bank of America, N.Adéanc of America
Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhili.9 of Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on FormQ@er its quarterly perio
ended June 30, 200}

Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement by among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.Rn&Wor Operating
LLC, various subsidiaries, various lenders and multgers and Fleet National Bank, dated Septembe2@™ (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 of Registr's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Audys007, among StoneMor Operating LLC, as a Begrovarious
subsidiaries thereof, as additional Borrowers, &tbor Partners L.P. and StoneMor GP LLC, as GuaranBank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lendeddn/C Issuer, and the other Lenders Party Heretd,Banc of Americi
Securities LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bdakager (incorporated by reference to Exhibit Idf.Registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K filed on August 21, 2007

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit égent, dated November 2, 2007, by and among Ston&¥ad_LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCjoter subsidiaries thereof, the lenders party tbematl Bank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, iBg Line Lender and L/C Issuer (incorporated byrefice to Exhibi
10.1.11 of Registra’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20!

Joinder to Amended and Restated Credit AgreemehCaedit Documents, dated December 21, 2007 (ircatpd by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 28, 2007

Commitment Letter, effective as of February 25,208y and among Bank of America, N.A., Bank of AroaiSecurities, LLC
and StoneMor Operating LLC (incorporated by refegeto Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current RepaortFmrm 8-K filed
March 2, 2009)

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credéefvggnt, dated April 30, 2009, by and among StonebM®LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A.( incorporated by reference to Exhitiit1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 6, 2009)

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit ément, dated July 6, 2009, by and among StoneMdtIGR
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit4 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 84Edion November 24,
2009).

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Crediéérgent, dated November 24, 2009, by and among Btwm@P LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaierSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhiliit2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8{&dion November 24,
20009).

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Ageent, dated January 15, 2010, by and among Stan@Md&.LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitiit1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8{Kdion January 21,
2010).
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Exhibit
Number

10.1.20

10.1.21°

10.1.22

10.2.1*

10.2.2*

10.2.3*

10.2.4*

10.2.5*

10.2.6*

10.2.7*

10.2.8*

Description

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &gent, dated May 4, 2010, by and among StoneMokIGR
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhiliit1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 7, 2010)

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Credéefgent, dated September 22, 2010, by and amongl@ts GP LLC
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitiit1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8{kdion September 27,
2010).

Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credieément, dated January 28, 2011, by and among Stum@8RI LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaterSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhiliit1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 84&dion February 3,
2011).

Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, astefdAugust 15, 2007, by StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMartners L.P.,
StoneMor Operating LLC, and each of the Subsidissyers listed on the signature pages thereoffyocated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on August 21, 2007

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Nateh@se Agreement, dated November 2, 2007, by amhgi@toneMo
GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operalih@, its Subsidiaries set forth on the signaturggsathereof, and the
Noteholders (incorporated by reference to Exhitfit3lof Registrars Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007

Joinder to Amended and Restated Note Purchase grdeand Finance Documents, dated December 21, (B@fporatec
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 28, 2007

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Note &edkgreement, dated April 30, 2009, by and amdogedlor GF
LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating |.t€rtain Subsidiaries of StoneMor Partners L.[d.tae Noteholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 6, 2009)

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Note PaecAgreement, dated July 1, 2009, by and amonge$tonGP LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Partners L.P. andNb&eholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Reégis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 24, 2009

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Note Rsechgreement, dated November 24, 2009, by and g®mmeMol
GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operalih@, certain Subsidiaries of StoneMor Partners laid the Noteholde
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 24, 2009

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Note PsechAgreement, dated January 15, 2010, by and astmmgMor GP
LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating |.t€rtain Subsidiaries of StoneMor Partners L.[.tae Noteholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Regis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 21, 201C

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Note PsecAgreement, dated May 4, 2010, by and among Blon&P LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaierSubsidiaries of StoneMor Partners L.P. and\tbieholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Ragis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 7, 2010)
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Exhibit
Number

10.2.9*

10.3*

10.4.11

10.4.2*1

10.4.3

10.4.4*

10.4.5"

10.4.6*1

10.4.7+1

10.4.8*1

10.5.1+1

10.5.2*1

10.6.1+1

10.6.2*1

Description

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Noté&edAgreement, dated September 22, 2010, by aodg
StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMper@ting LLC, certain Subsidiaries of StoneMor Rarr$ L.P. and
the Noteholders (incorporated by reference to Bxkhib2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8{&d on
September 27, 201C

Purchase Agreement, dated November 18, 2009, bgmotg StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operatirg, |
Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia Sulasid Inc., Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidiatpc., the guarantors
named therein and Banc of America Securities LLafing on behalf of itself and as the representdtivehe purchasers
named therein (incorporated by reference to Exiibil of Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8{&dion November 24,
20009).

StoneMor Partners L.P. Lo-Term Incentive Plan, as amended April 19, 2010dfiporated by reference to Appendix A
Registrar’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on June 4, 20

Form of the Director Restricted Phantom Unit AgreetJnder the StoneMor Partners L.P. Ldregm Incentive Plan, dat
November 8, 2006 (incorporated by reference to ltikh.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 15, 2006

Form of the Key Employee Restricted Phantom Unitekgnent Under the StoneMor Partners L.P. -Term Incentive
Plan, dated November 8, 2006 (incorporated by eefe to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report-orm 8K filed on
November 15, 2006

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Untiee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term IncentivenPtlated as of
November 27, 2006 (incorporated by reference taliixih0.1 of Registrars Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 1, 2006

Director Restricted Phantom Unit Agreement by aetivieen StoneMor GP LLC and Robert Hellman date@ 23 200¢
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Regis’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 23, 2009

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Untlee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term IncentivenPtlated as of
December 16, 2009 (incorporated by reference todixt0.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK &ited on
December 22, 2009

Form of the Executive Restricted Phantom Unit Agrert Under the StoneMor Partners L.P. L-Term Incentive Plar
dated as of December 16, 2009 (incorporated byeeée to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Repor Form 8-K filed
on December 22, 200¢

Director Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement undee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Rilacorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2.8 of Registr's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20!

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP Ah€Lawrence Miller, effective as of SeptemberZim4
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Ragist’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdtBC and Lawrence Miller, effective as of Januar2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Ragis' s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP Ah€William R. Shane, effective as of Septembe2204
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Ragist’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneM®LBC and William R. Shane, effective as of Janugr2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007
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Exhibit
Number

10.7.1+1

10.7.2*1

10.8.1+1

10.8.2*1

10.9.1+

10.9.2"

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

Description

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah€Michael L. Stache, effective as of SeptemBe2204
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Regist’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLEC and Michael L. Stache, effective as of Japdar2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Regis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP Ah€ Robert Stache, effective as of September@m} 2
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Ragist’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLBC and Robert Stache, effective as of Januagpag8
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Regis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweesn8Mor GP LLC and Lawrence Miller, Robert B. Helimdr., Fento
R. Talbott, Jeffery A. Zawadsky, Martin R. Lautmatilliam R. Shane, Allen R. Freedman, effective t8egber 20, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of Regist’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweem&Mor GP LLC and Howard Carver and Peter Grunebadiective
February 16, 2007 (incorporated by reference talktxh0.9 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Fat6rQ for its quarterly
period ended September 30, 20(

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement by and betweaasor Partners L.P. and SCI Funeral Services, &mclowa
corporation (“SCI”) and a wholly-owned subsidiafyService Corporation International, a Texas coagion, joined by
certain of SCI's direct and indirect subsidiaryiges, effective October 13, 2005 (incorporatedéfgrence to Exhibit 10.1
of Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on October 17, 2005

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Sept@h2006, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC,gdiby its direc

and indirect subsidiary entities listed in Exhilito the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, and-&@ral Services, Inc.,
joined by its direct and indirect subsidiary eettiisted in Exhibit B to the Asset Purchase arld 8greement (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed on October 4, 2006

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Sept@3b2006, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC gdiby
StoneMor Michigan LLC and StoneMor Michigan SubaigliLLC, and SCI Funeral Services, Inc., SCI Miarig-uneral
Services, Inc. and Hawes, Inc. (incorporated bgrezfce to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Répa Form 8K filed on
October 4, 2006

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Sept@h2006, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC,gdiby
StoneMor Michigan LLC and StoneMor Michigan SubaigiLLC, and SCI Funeral Services, Inc., and SGitgan
Funeral Services, Inc. and Hillcrest Memorial Compéincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 ofjR&ant’s Current
Report on Form -K filed on October 4, 2006

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Decemd@04, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, joibgdts direct
and indirect subsidiary entities listed in Exhilito the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement ancehnet@ry Management
Services of Ohio, L.L.C., and SCI Funeral Servides,, joined by its direct and indirect subsidiantities listed in Exhibit
to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, as svbll 8CI Ohio Funeral Services, Inc., and Alderveo@@dhio) Cemetery
Management, Inc. (incorporated by reference to l&khiD.1 of Registrant's Current Report on Form &it&d on

December 7, 2007
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Exhibit
Number

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18.1

10.18.2

10.19*

10.20.1

Description

Transition Agreement, dated December 7, 2007, ldyeamong StoneMor Operating LLC, joined by thoséséirect anc
indirect subsidiary entities which are partieshie Purchase Agreement, as defined therein, andr@&@ral Services, Inc.,
joined by those of its direct and indirect subgigientities which are parties to the Purchase Agex¥ (incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registr’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 7, 2007

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Mar@030, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, StoneMiahigan LLC,
StoneMor Michigan Subsidiary LLC, SCI Funeral Seeg, LLC, SCI Michigan Funeral Services, Inc., ttdist Memorial
Company, Christian Memorial Cultural Center, IrRunrise Memorial Gardens Cemetery, Inc. and Fliatrdrial Park
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibitllof Registrar s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 30, 2010’

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Marc030, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, Plym&trehouse
Facilities LLC, SCI Funeral Services, LLC, SCI Migan Funeral Services, Inc., Hillcrest Memorial Gany, Sunrise
Memorial Gardens Cemetery, Inc., Flint MemoriallPAssociation, StoneMor Michigan LLC and StoneMoicMgan
Subsidiary LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhilfi.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8i&df on March 30,
2010).

Amended and Restated Purchase Agreement by andga®toneMor Operating LLC, StoneMor Indiana LLC, rg&iblor
Indiana Subsidiary LLC, Ohio Cemetery Holdings,.J#nsure Mortuaries of Indiana, LLC, Memory Garddftanagement
Corporation, Forest Lawn Funeral Home Propertie€; LGardens of Memory Cemetery LLC, Gill Funeralriig LLC,
Garden View Funeral Home, LLC, Royal Oak Memorialr@ens of Ohio Ltd., Heritage Hills Memory Gardef©hio Ltd.,
Robert E. Nelms and Lynnette Gray, as receivegdiapril 2, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Bihl0.1 of Registrant’s
Current Report on Fornm-K filed on May 5, 2010)

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated PurchasseAgnt by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, Stardiktiana
LLC, StoneMor Indiana Subsidiary LLC, Ohio Cemetelgldings, Inc., Ansure Mortuaries of Indiana, LLI@emory Gardens
Management Corporation, Forest Lawn Funeral Horopétties, LLC, Gardens of Memory Cemetery LLC, Gilineral Home
LLC, Garden View Funeral Home, LLC, Royal Oak Merabtardens of Ohio Ltd., Heritage Hills Memory @ans of Ohio
Ltd., Robert E. Nelms, Robert Nelms, LLC and Lynedsray, as receiver, dated June 21, 2010 (incatpdby reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 25, 2010

Settlement Agreement by and among StoneMor Indifita StoneMor Operating LLC, StoneMor Partners | @hapel Hill
Associates, Inc., Chapel Hill Funeral Home, In@yigton Memorial Funeral Home, Inc., Covington M@l Gardens, Inc.,
Forest Lawn Memorial Chapel Inc., Forest Lawn Meyr@ardens Inc., Fred W. Meyer, Jr. by James R. Mage&pecial
Administrator to the Estate of Fred W. Meyer, James R. Meyer, Thomas E. Meyer, Nancy Cade, and.RMeyer
Associates, LLC dated June 21, 2010 (incorporayeterence to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’'s CurrBeiport on Form 8-K
filed on June 25, 2010

Omnibus Agreement by and among McCown De Leeuw &IZpL.P., McCown De Leeuw & Co. IV AssociatesPL. MDC
Management Company IV, LLC, Delta Fund LLC, Cortens Family Services LLC, CFSI LLC, StoneMor Parsne.P.,
StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Operating LLC, dated &September 20, 2004 (incorporated by referendextubit 10.4 of the
Registrar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(
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Exhibit
Number

10.20.2

10.21*

10.22t
211
23.1
311

31.2

32.1

32.2

99.1*

99.2*

99.3*

Description

Amendment No. 1 to Omnibus Agreement entered intaad effective as of, January 24, 2011 by andngndDC IV Trust
U/T/A November 30, 2010, MDC IV Associates TrusTIX November 30, 2010, Delta Trust U/T/A Novembér 3010
(successors respectively to McCown De Leeuw & ®pLLP., a California limited partnership, McCowre Deeuw IV
Associates, L.P., a California limited partnersiidejta Fund LLC, a California limited liability comany, and MDC
Management Company IV, LLC, a California limitedbility company), Cornerstone Family Services LaMelaware limited
liability company, CFSI LLC, a Delaware limitedhiéity company, StoneMor Partners L.P., a Delawanéted partnership,
StoneMor GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability commpa for itself and on behalf of the Partnershifténcapacity as general
partner of the Partnership, and StoneMor Operating, a Delaware limited liability company (incorfated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 28, 2011

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreemgrdriad among StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor GP,IQESI LLC,
StoneMor Operating LLC, dated as of September @04 Zincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2h&f Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Director compensatior
Subsidiaries of Registrar
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LL

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13aa)l4f Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer Pigsnt and Chairman of
the Board of Directors

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule -14(a) of William R. Shane, Executive Vice Presidamil Chief Financie
Officer.

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sads-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exchange Rule 13-14(b)
of Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer, Presitt and Chairman of the Board of Directors (furasherewith)

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sadsa®xley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and ExcleaAgt Rule 13a-14(b)
of William R. Shane, Executive Vice President afde€Financial Officer (furnished herewitt

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agnent of StoneMor GP LLC, dated as of Septembe?Q@®4
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 19, 200°

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Lintitelility Company Agreement of StoneMor GP LLCtethas o
September 14, 2007 (incorporated by reference tobi»99.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on ForsK 8led on
September 19, 2007

Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated ldrhighility Company Agreement of StoneMor GP LLGted as of
December 18, 2007 (incorporated by reference todib@0.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK &ited on
December 28, 2007

Incorporated by reference, as indica
T  Management contract, compensatory plan or arrange
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

STONEMOR PARTNERS L.F
By: StoneMor GP LLC, its General Partr

March 29, 2011 By: /s/ L AWRENCEM ILLER
Lawrence Miller
Chief Executive Officer, President and
Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and orddtes indicated.

Signatures Title Date
/s/ L AWRENCEM ILLER Chief Executive Officer, President March 29, 2011
Lawrence Miller and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)
/sl WIiLLIAM R. SHANE Executive Vice President, Chief Financ March 29, 201
William R. Shane Officer and Director

(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ PauL W AIMBERG Vice Presider—Finance March 29, 201.:
Paul Waimberg
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/  ALLEN R. FREEDMAN Director March 29, 2011

/'s/ PETERK. G RUNEBAUM Director March 29, 201
/s/ ROBERTB. HELLMAN , JR. Director March 29, 2011

Robert B. Hellman, Jr.
/sl MARTINR. LAUTMAN , PH.D. Director March 29, 201
Martin R. Lautman, Ph.D.
/sl FENTONR. T ALBOTT Director March 29, 2011
/s/ HowaRDL. C ARVER Director March 29, 201

Howard L. Carver

180



Table of Contents

Exhibit

Number
3.1*
3.2*
4.1.1°
4.1.2°

4.1.3

4.2.1

4.2.2°

4.3*

4.4*

4.5*

10.1.1°

10.1.2°

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Certificate of Limited Partnership of StoneMor Pars L.P. (incorporated by reference to the Regjistn Statement on Form
S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissinrpril 9, 2004 (Exhibit 3.1);

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limitemhérahip of StoneMor Partners L.P. dated as ofedelper 9, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Rewgis s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 15, 200¢

Form of 7.66% Senior Secured Note Due 2009, dated 20, 2007 (incorporated by reference to ExHilditof Registrars
Current Report on Formr-K filed on August 21, 2007

Form of 9.34% Series B Senior Secured Note Due 20df2d August 15, 2007 (incorporated by refereadexhibit 4.2 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on August 21, 2007

Form of Senior Secured Series C Note, dated Deceih007 (incorporated by reference to Exhikit @f. Registrant’s
Current Report on Forrr-K filed on December 28, 2007

Indenture, dated as of November 24, 2009, by arahgnstoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LECG;nerstone
Family Services of West Virginia Subsidiary, In©siris Holding of Maryland Subsidiary, Inc., theagantors named therein
and Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee (incorfeatdy reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Registrant’s @at Report on Form 8-
K filed on November 24, 2009

Form of 10.25% Senior Note due 2017 (incorporatecefierence to Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s CurrBefport on Form 8-K
filed on November 24, 200¢

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Novergde009, by and among StoneMor Partners L.PneSfor Operating
LLC, Cornerstone Family Services of West VirginiabSidiary, Inc., Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidj, Inc., the Initial
Guarantors party thereto and Banc of America SeesiiiLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4fRegistrant’s Current
Report on Form -K filed on November 24, 2009

Form of Revolving Credit Note (incorporated by refece to Exhibit 4.1 of Registrant’s Current Reort~orm 8-K filed on
September 27, 201(

Form of Acquisition Note (incorporated by referemad=xhibit 4.2 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on
September 27, 201(

Credit Agreement by and among StoneMor OperatinG L%toneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., variadditional
borrowers, various lending institutions and Fleatidhal Bank, dated September 20, 2004 (Incorpdrayereference to Exhib
10.1 of Registrar's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Semed) 2006, by and among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneRéotners
L.P., StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiarieisferth on the signature page to the Second Amentito the Credit
Agreement, the Lenders party to the Second Amentitoeghe Credit Agreement and Bank of America, Nas. Administrativ:
Agent for the benefit of the Lenders, as Collatémént for the benefit of the Lenders and otheruged Creditors, as Swinglil
Lender and as Letter of Credit Issuer (incorporégdeference to Exhibit 10.5 of Registrant’s CatrReport on Form 8-K
filed on October 4, 2006
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10.1.3*

10.1.4*

10.1.5*

10.1.6*

10.1.7*

10.1.8*

10.1.9*

10.1.10

10.1.11

10.1.12

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated MayGQ72 by and among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Pasthé?.,
StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiaries sethfon the signature page to the Third AmendmettiecCredit Agreement,
the Lenders party to the Third Amendment to thed@regreement and Bank of America, N.A., as Admirsitive Agent for the
benefit of the Lenders, as Collateral Agent for lteaefit of the Lenders and other Secured Credie$wingline Lender and
as Letter of Credit Issuer (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Quarterly RepmrtForm 10-Q for its
guarterly period ended March 31, 20C

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated Jun@@7, by and among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMorrieastL.P.,
StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiaries sethfon the signature page to the Fourth AmendmetiigcCredit Agreement,
the Lenders party to the Fourth Amendment to tredi€Agreement and Bank of America, N.A., as Adiirsitive Agent for
the benefit of the Lenders, as Collateral Agentfierbenefit of the Lenders and other Secured @nexdias Swingline Lender
and as Letter of Credit Issuer (incorporated bgnerice to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Quarterlyp&s on Form 10-Q for its
quarterly period ended June 30, 20(

Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated JulyZ1]7, by and among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor [@asth.P.,
StoneMor Operating LLC and its subsidiaries sethfon the signature page to the Fifth AmendmettécCredit Agreement,
the Lenders party to the Fifth Amendment to thed@r&greement and Bank of America, N.A., as Adniirsisve Agent for the
benefit of the Lenders, as Collateral Agent forltkeeefit of the Lenders and other Secured Creditmr$Swingline Lender and
as Letter of Credit Issuer (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.3 of Registrant’s Quarterly RepmrtForm 10-Q for its
quarterly period ended June 30, 20(

Commitment Letter, dated March 15, 2007, by anevbeh StoneMor Operating LLC, all of its existingddnture direct and
indirect subsidiaries and Bank of America, N.A.nBaf America Securities LLC (incorporated by refere to Exhibit 10.1 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 9, 2007)

Fee Letter, dated March 15, 2007, by and betweene®Mor Operating LLC and all of its existing anduite direct and indirec
subsidiaries and Bank of America, N.A., Banc of Aite Securities LLC (incorporated by reference xaigit 10.2 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 9, 2007)

Extension Letter, dated May 31, 2007, by and betm&eneMor Operating LLC, Bank of America, N.A. d@anc of Americe
Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhiifi.7 of Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on FormQ@er its quarterly perio
ended June 30, 200"

Extension Letter, dated June 21, 2007, by and keetv&oneMor Operating LLC, Bank of America, N.Addanc of America
Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhilfi.8 of Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on FormQ@er its quarterly perio
ended June 30, 200}

Extension Letter, dated July 31, 2007, by and betw&toneMor Operating LLC, Bank of America, N.AdéBanc of Americ:
Securities LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhili.9 of Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on FormQ@er its quarterly perio
ended June 30, 200}

Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement by among StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.Rn&Wvor Operating
LLC, various subsidiaries, various lenders and maltders and Fleet National Bank, dated Septembe2@™ (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10 of Registr's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Adgg007, among StoneMor Operating LLC, as a Beerpvarious
subsidiaries thereof, as additional Borrowers, &tbor Partners L.P. and StoneMor GP LLC, as GuaranBank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lendeidd/C Issuer, and the other Lenders Party Heretd,Banc of Americi
Securities LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bdekager (incorporated by reference to Exhibit If.Registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K filed on August 21, 2007
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10.1.13

10.1.14

10.1.1%

10.1.16

10.1.17

10.1.18

10.1.19

10.1.20

10.1.21

10.1.22

10.2.1*

10.2.2*

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &gent, dated November 2, 2007, by and among Ston€¥d_LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCjotes subsidiaries thereof, the lenders party tbematl Bank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent, i Line Lender and L/C Issuer (incorporated byrefnce to Exhibi
10.1.11 of Registra’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20(

Joinder to Amended and Restated Credit AgreemehCaedit Documents, dated December 21, 2007 (imcated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registr’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 28, 2007

Commitment Letter, effective as of February 25,208y and among Bank of America, N.A., Bank of AinarSecurities, LL(C
and StoneMor Operating LLC (incorporated by refegeto Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current RepaortFmrm 8-K filed
March 2, 2009)

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Cred#efyggnt, dated April 30, 2009, by and among StoneBfot LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaieiSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A.( incorporated by reference to Exhiliit1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 6, 2009)

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &gent, dated July 6, 2009, by and among StoneMdadrl&R
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaieiSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhiliit4 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8{&dion November 24,
20009).

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credie#gent, dated November 24, 2009, by and among [Etum@P LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitfit2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 84Edion November 24,
2009).

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit &guent, dated January 15, 2010, by and among StanéMa.LC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhiliit1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 84&dion January 21,
2010).

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit émgent, dated May 4, 2010, by and among StoneMok IGR
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaierSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 7, 2010)

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Credéeftent, dated September 22, 2010, by and among@ty GP LLC
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtaierSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhiliit1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 84&dion September 27,
2010).

Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credieément, dated January 28, 2011, by and among Stum@R LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Operating LLC, thedlers and Bank of
America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhitiit1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8{Edion February 3,
2011).

Amended and Restated Note Purchase Agreement, aatefdAugust 15, 2007, by StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMartners L.P.
StoneMor Operating LLC, and each of the Subsidissyers listed on the signature pages thereofrfacated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on August 21, 2007

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated NatehBse Agreement, dated November 2, 2007, by amtgudtoneMo
GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operalih@, its Subsidiaries set forth on the signaturggsathereof, and the
Noteholders (incorporated by reference to Exhitiit3lof Registrar’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007
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10.2.3*

10.2.4*

10.2.5*

10.2.6*

10.2.7*

10.2.8*

10.2.9*

10.3*

10.4.1

10.4.2

10.4.3*1

10.4.4+1

10.4.5"

Joinder to Amended and Restated Note Purchase igrdeand Finance Documents, dated December 21, (@@fporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 28, 2007

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Note &#&edkgreement, dated April 30, 2009, by and amdoge®lor GF
LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating |.t€rtain Subsidiaries of StoneMor Partners L.[d.tae Noteholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Ragis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 6, 2009)

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Note PaecAgreement, dated July 1, 2009, by and amonge$tonGP LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Partners L.P. andNb&eholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 24, 2009

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Note Rsechgreement, dated November 24, 2009, by and g®mmeMol
GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operalih@, certain Subsidiaries of StoneMor Partners lafd the
Noteholders (incorporated by reference to ExhibiBlof Registrars Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 24,
2009).

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Note PseAgreement, dated January 15, 2010, by and a®immgMor GF
LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating |.t€rtain Subsidiaries of StoneMor Partners L.[.tae Noteholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Ragis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 21, 201C

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Note PsecAgreement, dated May 4, 2010, by and among Bton&P LLC,
StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operating LLCtairrSubsidiaries of StoneMor Partners L.P. andNbsholders
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Reégis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 7, 2010)

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated Notd&seAgreement, dated September 22, 2010, by aodgaStoneMao
GP LLC, StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operalih@, certain Subsidiaries of StoneMor Partners lafd the
Noteholders (incorporated by reference to ExhibiRlof Registrars Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 27
2010).

Purchase Agreement, dated November 18, 2009, bamotg StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor Operatlig, |
Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia Sulasid Inc., Osiris Holding of Maryland Subsidiatpc., the guarantors
named therein and Banc of America Securities Llgfing on behalf of itself and as the representdtivehe purchasers
named therein (incorporated by reference to Exiibil of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 84&dion November 24,
20009).

StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term Incentive Plargaraended April 19, 2010 (incorporated by refereic&ppendix A to
Registrar’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on June 4, 20

Form of the Director Restricted Phantom Unit AgreeiriUnder the StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Termritice Plan, dated
November 8, 2006 (incorporated by reference to lkhD.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
November 15, 2006

Form of the Key Employee Restricted Phantom Uniteggnent Under the StoneMor Partners L.P. -Term Incentive Plar
dated November 8, 2006 (incorporated by referemdexhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Report onR@-K filed on
November 15, 2006

Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Untlee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term IncentivenPtated as of
November 27, 2006 (incorporated by reference taltixh0.1 of Registrar’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 1, 2006

Director Restricted Phantom Unit Agreement by aetiieen StoneMor GP LLC and Robert Hellman date@ 23) 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Regis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 23, 2009
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10.4.6*1 Form of the Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement Unttee StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Term IncentivenPtlated as of
December 16, 2009 (incorporated by reference taliixt0.1 of Registrant’'s Current Report on Forri &ited on
December 22, 2009

10.4.7*1 Form of the Executive Restricted Phantom Unit Agrert Under the StoneMor Partners L.P. Long-Terneritige Plan,
dated as of December 16, 2009 (incorporated byerée to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Current Reépor Form 8-K filed on
December 22, 2009

10.4.8*1 Director Unit Appreciation Rights Agreement undee StoneMor Partners L.P. L¢c-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.2.8 of Registr's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20(

10.5.1*1 Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah&€Lawrence Miller, effective as of SeptemberZin4
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Ragist’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

10.5.2*1 Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLBC and Lawrence Miller, effective as of Januar®008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Regis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007
10.6.1*1 Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP abh&€William R. Shane, effective as of September2R04

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Regist’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

10.6.2*1 Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLEC and William R. Shane, effective as of Janugr2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Regis’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007
10.7.1*1 Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP ah&@€Michael L. Stache, effective as of SeptembBe204

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Regist's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

10.7.2*1 Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdtGC and Michael L. Stache, effective as of Japudar2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Regis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007
10.8.1*1 Employment Agreement by and between StoneMor GP Ah@€Robert Stache, effective as of September@m 2

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Regist’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

10.8.2*1 Addendum to Employment Agreement between StoneMdLEC and Robert Stache, effective as of Janua@pag
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Regis's Current Report on Forn-K filed on November 19, 2007

10.9.1%1 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweem®&Mor GP LLC and Lawrence Miller, Robert B. Helimadr., Fentol
R. Talbott, Jeffery A. Zawadsky, Martin R. Lautmatilliam R. Shane, Allen R. Freedman, effective teegber 20, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of Ragist’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for its qedst period ended
September 30, 2004

10.9.2*1 Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betweem8&Mor GP LLC and Howard Carver and Peter Grunebadiective
February 16, 2007 (incorporated by reference talixh0.9 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on FatthQ for its quarterly
period ended September 30, 20(

10.10* Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement by and betweaeNor Partners L.P. and SCI Funeral Services, amclowa
corporation (“SCI”) and a whollpwned subsidiary of Service Corporation Internalpa Texas corporation, joined by cer
of SCI's direct and indirect subsidiary entitieBgetive October 13, 2005 (incorporated by refeeetacExhibit 10.1 of
Registrar’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on October 17, 2005
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10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18.1

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Sept@3b2006, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC gdiby its direct
and indirect subsidiary entities listed in Exhilito the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, and-&@&ral Services, Inc.,
joined by its direct and indirect subsidiary eettiisted in Exhibit B to the Asset Purchase arld 8greement (incorporated |
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registr’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on October 4, 2006

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Sept@®h2006, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC,g§diby StoneMor
Michigan LLC and StoneMor Michigan Subsidiary LL&hd SCI Funeral Services, Inc., SCI Michigan Funseavices, Inc.
and Hawes, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exfil2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form {&d on October 4,
2006).

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Sept@8b2006, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC gdiby StoneMor
Michigan LLC and StoneMor Michigan Subsidiary LL&hd SCI Funeral Services, Inc., and SCI Michigandral Services,
Inc. and Hillcrest Memorial Company (incorporatsdreference to Exhibit 10.3 of Registrant’'s CurrBefport on Form 8-K

filed on October 4, 2006

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Decemp@d4, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, joibgdts direct and
indirect subsidiary entities listed in Exhibit Atioe Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement and by €Egmé@anagement Servic
of Ohio, L.L.C., and SCI Funeral Services, Incingal by its direct and indirect subsidiary entitisged in Exhibit B to the
Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, as well as b@&i6 Funeral Services, Inc., and Alderwoods (Qldemetery
Management, Inc. (incorporated by reference to lEkaD.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form &it&d on December 7,
2007).

Transition Agreement, dated December 7, 2007, lyeamong StoneMor Operating LLC, joined by thosésdirect anc
indirect subsidiary entities which are partieshe Purchase Agreement, as defined therein, andr&@@ral Services, Inc.,
joined by those of its direct and indirect subgigientities which are parties to the Purchase Agex¢ (incorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registr’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 7, 2007

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Mar&030, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, StoneMiahigan LLC,
StoneMor Michigan Subsidiary LLC, SCI Funeral Seeg, LLC, SCI Michigan Funeral Services, Inc., ¢tdist Memorial
Company, Christian Memorial Cultural Center, IrfRunrise Memorial Gardens Cemetery, Inc. and Fliatrdrial Park
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibitllof Registrar s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 30, 2010’

Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated Marc&030, by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, Plymtrehoust
Facilities LLC, SCI Funeral Services, LLC, SCI Migan Funeral Services, Inc., Hillcrest Memorial Gaany, Sunrise
Memorial Gardens Cemetery, Inc., Flint MemoriallPAssociation, StoneMor Michigan LLC and StoneMoicMgan
Subsidiary LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhilfi.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8i&df on March 30,
2010).

Amended and Restated Purchase Agreement by andyaBtoneMor Operating LLC, StoneMor Indiana LLC, r&iMor
Indiana Subsidiary LLC, Ohio Cemetery Holdings,.J#nsure Mortuaries of Indiana, LLC, Memory Garddftanagement
Corporation, Forest Lawn Funeral Home Propertie€; LGardens of Memory Cemetery LLC, Gill Funeralriig LLC,
Garden View Funeral Home, LLC, Royal Oak Memorialr@ens of Ohio Ltd., Heritage Hills Memory Gardeh®©hio Ltd.,
Robert E. Nelms and Lynnette Gray, as receivegdiapril 2, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Bithl0.1 of Registrant’s
Current Report on Fornm-K filed on May 5, 2010)
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10.18.2

10.19*

10.20.1

10.20.2

10.21*

10.22t
211
23.1
311

31.2

32.1

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated PurchasseAgnt by and among StoneMor Operating LLC, Stardiktiana
LLC, StoneMor Indiana Subsidiary LLC, Ohio Cemetelgldings, Inc., Ansure Mortuaries of Indiana, LLI@emory Gardens
Management Corporation, Forest Lawn Funeral Horopétties, LLC, Gardens of Memory Cemetery LLC, Giliheral Home
LLC, Garden View Funeral Home, LLC, Royal Oak Merabtardens of Ohio Ltd., Heritage Hills Memory @ans of Ohio
Ltd., Robert E. Nelms, Robert Nelms, LLC and Lynedsray, as receiver, dated June 21, 2010 (incatpdby reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on June 25, 2010

Settlement Agreement by and among StoneMor Indifita StoneMor Operating LLC, StoneMor Partners | ®hapel Hill
Associates, Inc., Chapel Hill Funeral Home, In@yigton Memorial Funeral Home, Inc., Covington M@l Gardens, Inc.,
Forest Lawn Memorial Chapel Inc., Forest Lawn Meyr@ardens Inc., Fred W. Meyer, Jr. by James R. Mage&pecial
Administrator to the Estate of Fred W. Meyer, James R. Meyer, Thomas E. Meyer, Nancy Cade, and.RMeyer
Associates, LLC dated June 21, 2010 (incorporayeterence to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’'s CurrBeiport on Form 8-K
filed on June 25, 2010

Omnibus Agreement by and among McCown De Leeuw &IZpL.P., McCown De Leeuw & Co. IV AssociatesPL. MDC
Management Company IV, LLC, Delta Fund LLC, Cortens Family Services LLC, CFSI LLC, StoneMor Parsne.P.,
StoneMor GP LLC, StoneMor Operating LLC, dated &September 20, 2004 (incorporated by referendextubit 10.4 of the
Registrar’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Omnibus Agreement entered intaad effective as of, January 24, 2011 by andngndDC IV Trust
U/T/A November 30, 2010, MDC IV Associates TrusTIX November 30, 2010, Delta Trust U/T/A Novembé&; 3010
(successors respectively to McCown De Leeuw & ®pLLP., a California limited partnership, McCowre Deeuw IV
Associates, L.P., a California limited partnersiidejta Fund LLC, a California limited liability comany, and MDC
Management Company IV, LLC, a California limitedbility company), Cornerstone Family Services LaMelaware limited
liability company, CFSI LLC, a Delaware limited hiéity company, StoneMor Partners L.P., a Delawanéted partnership,
StoneMor GP LLC, a Delaware limited liability commpa for itself and on behalf of the Partnershifténcapacity as general
partner of the Partnership, and StoneMor Operating, a Delaware limited liability company (incorfated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Registra’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 28, 2011

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreemgrdrad among StoneMor Partners L.P., StoneMor GP,IQESI LLC,
StoneMor Operating LLC, dated as of September @04 Zincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2h&f Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for its quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Director compensatiot
Subsidiaries of Registrar
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LL

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule -14(a) of Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive OfficereBident and Chairman
the Board of Directors

Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rule -14(a) of William R. Shane, Executive Vice Presidamil Chief Financie
Officer.

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sads-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and Exchange Rule 13-14(b)
of Lawrence Miller, Chief Executive Officer, Presitt and Chairman of the Board of Directors (furagsherewith)



Table of Contents

32.2 Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sadsa@xley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350) and ExclaaAgt Rule 13a-14(b) of
William R. Shane, Executive Vice President and €Rirancial Officer (furnished herewitt

99.1* Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agmnent of StoneMor GP LLC, dated as of SeptembeR@®4 (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Registr's Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 19, 200°

99.2* First Amendment to the Amended and Restated Lintitalility Company Agreement of StoneMor GP LLCtethas o
September 14, 2007 (incorporated by reference tobi»99.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on Forsi{ 8iled on September 19,
2007).

99.3* Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated ldritbility Company Agreement of StoneMor GP LLGted as of
December 18, 2007 (incorporated by reference todib®9.2 of Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK 8ifed on December 28,
2007).

Incorporated by reference, as indica
t  Management contract, compensatory plan or arrange



Exhibit 10.22
2011 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Effective March 8, 2011, directors who are not exiee officers of StoneMor GP LLC, the general partof StoneMor Partners
L.P., shall receive the following compensationtfegir services on the board of directors (the “Bi8pand committees of the Board:

. an annual retainer consisting of: (i) $22,500 péyabcash, (i) $12,500 payable in deferred restd phantom units; and
(iii) $10,000 payable in cash or deferred restdgteantom units

. a meeting fee of $1,000 for each meeting of ther@attended in person and a meeting fee of $756d0h committe
meeting attended in person; ¢

. a fee of $500 for participation in each telephowafd call that lasts longer than one hour, buttleas two hours, and a fee
of $1,000 for participation in each telephone Bazall that lasts two or more hou

In addition, the chairman of our Audit Committeeeiwes an annual retainer of $10,000 and the claairof each of our compensation
committee and trusts and compliance committee vesein annual retainer of $2,500 for serving agmiea of Board committees.



SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries (or Managed Entities*) of StoneMor Painers L.P. as of 12/31/2010

Subsidiary (or Managed Entity*) Name

Alleghany Memorial Park LL(C

Alleghany Memorial Park Subsidiary, Ir

Altavista Memorial Park LLC

Altavista Memorial Park Subsidiary, Ir

Arlington Development Compar

Augusta Memorial Park Perpetual Care Comg

Bethel Cemetery Associatiol

Beth Israel Cemetery Association of Woodbridge, Nensey?
Birchlawn Burial Park LLC

Birchlawn Burial Park Subsidiary, In

Cedar Hill Funeral Home, In

Cemetery Investments LL

Cemetery Investments Subsidiary, |

Cemetery Management Services, L.L

Cemetery Management Services of -Atlantic States, L.L.C
Cemetery Management Services of Ohio, L.L

Chapel Hill Associates, In

Chapel Hill Funeral Home, In

Clover Leaf Park Cemetery Associatic

Jurisdiction of Formation

Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
New Jerse)
Virginia
New Jerse)
New Jerse)
Virginia
Virginia
Maryland
Virginia
Virginia
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Michigan
Indiana

New Jerse)



Subsidiary (or Managed Entity*) Name
CMS West LLC

CMS West Subsidiary LL(
Columbia Memorial Park LL(

Columbia Memorial Park Subsidiary, Ir
Cornerstone Family Insurance Services,
Cornerstone Family Services of New Jersey,

Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia L

Cornerstone Family Services of West Virginia Sulasid Inc.

Cornerstone Funeral and Cremation Services
Covenant Acquisition LLC

Covenant Acquisition Subsidiary, Ir
Covington Memorial Funeral Home, Ir
Covington Memorial Gardens, In

Crown Hill Cemetery Associatior

Eloise B. Kyper Funeral Home, In
Forest Lawn Gardens, In

Forest Lawn Memorial Chapel, In

Forest Lawn Memory Gardens, It

Glen Haven Memorial Park LL'

Glen Haven Memorial Park Subsidiary, |

Henlopen Memorial Park LL!

Jurisdiction of Formation

Pennsylvanii
Pennsylvani:
Maryland
Maryland
Delaware
New Jerse)
West Virginia
West Virginia
Delaware
Virginia
Virginia
Indiana
Indiana

Ohio
Pennsylvanii
Pennsylvani:
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Maryland
Delaware



Subsidiary (or Managed Entity*) Name Jurisdiction of Formation

Henlopen Memorial Park Subsidiary LL Delaware
Henry Memorial Park LLC Virginia
Henry Memorial Park Subsidiary, Ir Virginia
Highland Memorial Park, Inc. Ohio
Hillside Memorial Park Association, Inc Ohio
Juniata Memorial Park LL¢ Pennsylvani:
KIRIS LLC Virginia
KIRIS Subsidiary, Inc Virginia
Lakewood/Hamilton Cemetery LL Tennesse
Lakewood/Hamilton Cemetery Subsidiary, | Tennesse
Lakewood Memory Gardens South LI Georgia
Lakewood Memory Gardens South Subsidiary, Georgia
Laurel Hill Memorial Park LLC Virginia
Laurel Hill Memorial Park Subsidiary, In Virginia
Laurelwood Holding Compar Pennsylvanii
Legacy Estates, In New Jerse)
Locustwood Cemetery Associatio New Jerse!
Loewen [Virginia] LLC Virginia
Loewen [Virginia] Subsidiary, Inc Virginia
Lorraine Park Cemetery LL Delaware
Lorraine Park Cemetery Subsidiary, | Maryland



Subsidiary (or Managed Entity*) Name

Modern Park Development LL

Modern Park Development Subsidiary, |
Northlawn Memorial Gardens

Oak Hill Cemetery LLC

Oak Hill Cemetery Subsidiary, In

Ohio Cemetery Holdings, Inc

Osiris Holding Finance Compal

Osiris Holding of Maryland LLC

Osiris Holding of MarylanSubsidiary, Inc
Osiris Holding of Pennsylvania LL

Osiris Holding of Rhode Island LL

Osiris Holding of Rhode Island Subsidiary, |
Osiris Management, Ini

Osiris Telemarketing Cor|

Perpetual Gardens.Com, Ir

Plymouth Warehouse Facilities LL

PVD Acquisitions LLC

PVD Acquisitions Subsidiary, Ini
Rockbridge Memorial Gardens LL
Rockbridge Memorial Gardens Subsidiary Comp
Rolling Green Memorial Park LL!

Jurisdiction of Formation

Maryland
Maryland
Ohio
Virginia
Virginia
Ohio
Delaware
Delaware
Maryland
Pennsylvanii
Rhode Islanc
Rhode Islanc
New Jerse)
New York
Delaware
Delaware
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia

Pennsylvanii



Subsidiary (or Managed Entity*) Name

Rose Lawn Cemeteries LL

Rose Lawn Cemeteries Subsidiary, Incorpori
Roselawn Development LL

Roselawn Development Subsidiary Corpora
Russell Memorial Cemetery LL

Russell Memorial Cemetery Subsidiary, |
Shenandoah Memorial Park LL
Shenandoah Memorial Park Subsidiary,
Sierra View Memorial Par

Southern Memorial Sales LL

Southern Memorial Sales Subsidiary, |
Springhill Memory Gardens LL!

Springhill Memory Gardens Subsidiary, I
Star City Memorial Sales LL!

Star City Memorial Sales Subsidiary, I
Stephen R. Haky Funeral Home, I

Stitham LLC

Stitham Subsidiary, Incorporat

StoneMor Alabama LL(

StoneMor Alabama Subsidiary, Ir

StoneMor Arkansas Subsidiary LL

Jurisdiction of Formation

Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
Virginia
California
Virginia
Virginia
Maryland
Maryland
Virginia
Virginia
Pennsylvani:
Virginia
Virginia
Alabama
Alabama

Arkansas



Subsidiary (or Managed Entity*) Name

StoneMor California, Inc
StoneMor California Subsidiary, In
StoneMor Cemetery Products LL
StoneMor Colorado LL(

StoneMor Colorado Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Florida Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Georgia LL(

StoneMor Georgia Subsidiary, Ir
StoneMor Hawaiian Joint Venture Group LI
StoneMor Hawaii LLC

StoneMor Hawaii Subsidiary, In
StoneMor Holding of Pennsylvania LL
StoneMor lllinois LLC

StoneMor lllinois Subsidiary LL(
StoneMor Indiana LL(

StoneMor Indiana Subsidiary LL
StoneMor lowa LLC

StoneMor lowa Subsidiary LL!
StoneMor Kansas LL¢

StoneMor Kansas Subsidiary LL
StoneMor Kentucky LLC

Jurisdiction of Formation

California
California
Pennsylvanii
Colorado
Colorado
Florida
Georgia
Georgia
Hawaii
Hawaii
Hawaii
Pennsylvanii
Illinois
Illinois
Indiana
Indiana

lowa

lowa

Kansas
Kansas

Kentucky



Subsidiary (or Managed Entity*) Name Jurisdiction of Formation

StoneMor Kentucky Subsidiary LL Kentucky
StoneMor Michigan LLC Michigan
StoneMor Michigan Subsidiary LL Michigan
StoneMor Missouri LLC Missouri
StoneMor Missouri Subsidiary LL Missouri
StoneMor North Carolina LL( North Caroling
StoneMor North Carolina Subsidiary LL North Caroling
StoneMor North Carolina Funeral Services, | North Caroling
StoneMor Ohio LLC Ohio
StoneMor Ohio Subsidiary, In Ohio
StoneMor Operating LL( Delaware
StoneMor Oregon LL( Oregon
StoneMor Oregon Subsidiary LL Oregon
StoneMor Pennsylvania LL Pennsylvanii
StoneMor Pennsylvania Subsidiary LI Pennsylvanii
StoneMor Puerto Rico LL! Puerto Ricc
StoneMor Puerto Rico Subsidiary L1 Puerto Ricc
StoneMor South Carolina LL South Caroling
StoneMor South Carolina Subsidiary LI South Caroling
StoneMor Tennessee Subsidiary, | Tennesse
StoneMor Washington, In Washingtor



Subsidiary (or Managed Entity*) Name

StoneMor Washington Subsidiary LL
Sunset Memorial Gardens LL

Sunset Memorial Gardens Subsidiary, |
Sunset Memorial Park LL:

Sunset Memorial Park Subsidiary, |i
Temple Hill LLC

Temple Hill Subsidiary Corporatic

The Valhalla Cemetery Company LL

The Valhalla Cemetery Subsidiary Corporat
Tioga County Memorial Gardens LL
Virginia Memorial Service LLC

Virginia Memorial Service Subsidiary Corporati
WNCI LLC

W N C Subsidiary, Inc

Wicomico Memorial Parks LL(

Wicomico Memorial Parks Subsidiary, Ir
Willowbrook Management Corj

Woodlawn Memorial Park Subsidiary LL

Jurisdiction of Formation

Washingtor
Virginia
Virginia
Maryland
Maryland
Virginia
Virginia
Alabama
Alabama
Pennsylvanii
Virginia
Virginia
Delaware
Maryland
Maryland
Maryland
Connecticul

Pennsylvani:

* Entity is not a StoneMor Partners L.P. subsidiant,is managed by contract with a subsid



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement No. 333-170870 on Form S-3Registration Statement No. 333-
143863 on Form S-8 of our report relating to tmaficial statements of StoneMor Partners L.P. abdidiaries (the “Company”) dated
March 29, 2011 (which report expresses an unqedlifipinion and includes an explanatory paragralalimg to the restatement discussed in
Note 18), and our report dated March 29, 2011 edl# the effectiveness of the Comg’s internal control over financial reporting (which
report expresses an adverse opinion on internataaver financial reporting), appearing in therAral Report on Form 10-K of the Company
for the year ended December 31, 2010.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 29, 2011



CERTIFICATION
Exhibit 31.1

I, Lawrence Miller, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, ofi@Wor Partners L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f), for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrast’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize apbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedymanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2011

By: /s/ Lawrence Millel

Lawrence Miller

President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




CERTIFICATION

Exhibit 31.2

I, William R. Shane, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, ofi@Wor Partners L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f), for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrast’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemnmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize apbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedymanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2011

By: /s/ William R. Shan
William R. Shane
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Off
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18l tUnited States Code), the

undersigned officer of StoneMor GP, LLC, the gehpeatner of StoneMor Partners, L.P. (the “Parthigr§, does hereby certify with respect
to the Annual Report of the Partnership on FornK1for the year ended December 31, 2010 (the “Ré&pthrat:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. Theinformation contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctiadiand results of operations
the Partnershig

/s/ Lawrence Mille
President and Chief Executive Offic Date: March 29, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxletyoA2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code) and is not ¢éiled as part of the Report or as a separatéatisre document.



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18l tUnited States Code), the
undersigned officers of StoneMor GP, LLC, the gahpartner of StoneMor Partners, L.P. (the “Paghigx’), does hereby certify with respect
to the Annual Report of the Partnership on FornK1for the year ended December 31, 2010 (the “Réptirat:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSetction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
2.  The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Partnershig

/s/ William R. Shane
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi Date: March 29, 201

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxletyoA2002 (Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code) and is not éiled as part of the Report or as a separatdadisce documen



